
CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF
Scottsbluff City Hall Council Chambers
2525 Circle Drive, Scottsbluff, NE 69361

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

Regular Meeting
June 3, 2019

6:00 PM

1. Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance.

3. For public information, a copy of the Nebraska Open Meetings Act is available for 
review.

4. Notice of changes in the agenda by the city clerk (Additions may not be made to this 
agenda less than 24 hours before the beginning of the meeting unless added under Item 5 
of this agenda.)

5. Citizens with business not scheduled on the agenda (As required by state law, no matter 
may be considered under this item unless council determines that the matter requires 
emergency action.)

6. Closed Session

a) Council reserves the right to enter into closed session if deemed necessary if the 
item is on the agenda as per Section 84-1410 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes.

7. Consent Calendar: (Items in the consent calendar are proposed for adoption by one 
action for all items unless any member of the council requests that an item be 
considered separately.)

a) Approve the minutes of the May 20, 2019 Regular Meeting.

b) Council to set a public hearing for June 17, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. for the 
Redevelopment Plan submitted jointly by AKAJRV 314, LLC (successor in 
interest to HVS, LLP) and Original Equipment Co. dba Aulick Industries.  

c) Council to approve the bid specifications for the 23 Club Baseball Demolition 
and Site Grading and Complex Improvements, authorizing the city clerk to 
advertise for bids to be received by June 27, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. 

d) Council to acknowledge receipt of and take no action on a liability claim from 
Acerina Anaya. The claim will be withdrawn and forwarded to the City’s 
insurance carrier.

8. Claims

a) Council to consider and take action on claims of the City.

9. Scottsbluff Youth Council 

a) (Informational only):

10. Petitions, Communications, Public Input:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 1 / 578



2

a) Council to receive a presentation on City of Scottsbluff NPPD Retail.

b) Council to receive a presentation on Scotts Bluff County Trends Study.

c) Council to consider and take action on a Community Festival Permit from the 
Scottsbluff Firefighter’s Local 1454 for a Circus on June 8th and 9th at 
Panhandle Coop; 900 Block of Broadway, Scottsbluff.

d) Council to consider and take action on a Business Promotional Event Permit for 
Riverside Zoological Foundation dba Riverside Discovery Center at 1600 So. 
Beltline Hwy, for a Chimps & Cheese fundraiser event to include a special 
designated liquor license on June 28, 2019 from 5:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.

11. Reports from Staff, Boards & Commissions:

a) Council to receive an update, discuss, and consider action on the Riverside 
Discovery Center Contract.

12. Public Comments:   The purpose of this agenda item is to allow for public comment of 
items for potential discussion at a future Council Meeting.  Comments brought to the 
Council are for information only.  The Council will not take any action on the item 
except for referring it to staff to address or placement on a future Council Agenda.  This 
comment period will be limited to three (3) minutes per person

13. Council reports (informational only): This item is intended for Council Members to update 
and inform other Council Members of meetings attended since the last City Council 
meeting.

14. Adjournment.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 2 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Closed1

Council reserves the right to enter into closed session if deemed 
necessary if the item is on the agenda as per Section 84-1410 of the 
Nebraska Revised Statutes.

Staff Contact: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 3 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Consent1

Approve the minutes of the May 20, 2019 Regular Meeting.

Staff Contact: City Council

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 4 / 578



1 

 Regular Meeting 

                                                                                                        May 20, 2019 

 

            The Scottsbluff City Council met in a regular meeting on May 20, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. in the 

Council Chambers of City Hall, 2525 Circle Drive, Scottsbluff.  A notice of the meeting had been 

published on May 17, 2019, in the Star Herald, a newspaper published and of general circulation in the 

City. The notice stated the date, hour and place of the meeting, that the meeting would be open to the 

public, that anyone with a disability desiring reasonable accommodations to attend the Council meeting 

should contact the City Clerk’s Office, and that an agenda of the meeting kept continuously current was 

available for public inspection at the office of the City Clerk in City Hall; provided, the City Council 

could modify the agenda at the meeting if it determined that an emergency so required.  A similar notice, 

together with a copy of the agenda, also had been emailed to each council member, made available to 

radio stations KNEB, KMOR, KOAQ, and television stations KSTF and NBC Nebraska, and the Star 

Herald.  The notice was also available on the city’s website on May 17, 2019.   

 Mayor Gonzales presided and City Clerk Wright recorded the proceedings. The Pledge of 

Allegiance was recited.  Mayor Gonzales welcomed everyone in attendance and encouraged all citizens to 

participate in the Council meeting asking those wishing to speak to come to the microphone and state 

their name and who they are representing for the record. Mayor Gonzales informed those in attendance 

that a copy of the Nebraska open meetings act is posted in the back of the room on the west wall for the 

public’s review. The following Council Members were present: Raymond Gonzales, Scott Shaver, Jeanne 

McKerrigan, Nathan Green and Terry Schaub.  Also present were City Manager Johnson and City 

Attorney Kent Hadenfeldt.  Absent: None.    

  Mayor Gonzales asked if there were any changes to the agenda. There were none.  

  Mayor Gonzales asked if any citizens with business not scheduled on the agenda wished to 

include an item providing the City Council determines the item requires emergency action. There were 

none.            

          Moved by Council Member Schaub, seconded by Council Member McKerrigan that, 

 

a) “The minutes of the May 6, 2019 Regular Meeting be approved,” 

b) “The minutes of the May 9, 2019 Budget Workshop Special Meeting be approved,” 

c) “Council to approve the Request for Proposal for the Library Carpet Replacement and      

authorize the City Clerk to advertise for bids to be received by June 12, 2019 at 2:00 p.m.” 

”YEAS”, McKerrigan, Green, Schaub, and Gonzales.  “NAYS,” Shaver.  Absent: None.   

 

 Moved by Council Member Schaub, seconded by Council Member McKerrigan, “that the following 

claims be approved and paid as provided by law out of the respective funds designated in the list of 

claims dated May 20, 2019, as on file with the City Clerk and submitted to the City Council,”  “YEAS”, 

Green, Schaub, Shaver, Gonzales, and McKerrigan.  “NAYS,” None.  Absent: None.   

CLAIMS 

3M COMPANY,PAVEMENT MARKING TAPE,9997.48;  ACCELERATED RECEIVABLES 

SOLUTIONS,WAGE ATTACHMENT,367.82;  ACTION COMMUNICATIONS INC.,BATTERIES 

FOR PORTABLE RADIOS,1022;ADVANCE AUTO PARTS,WW #986- OIL AND AIR 

FILTER,57.31;  AL'S TOWING,TOW SERVICE-PD,85; ALVARO SILVA,CONTRACTUAL,585; 

AMAZON.COM HEADQUARTERS,MISC.,1765.58; ANITA'S GREENSCAPING INC,CONT. 

SRVCS.,252; B & H INVESTMENTS, INC,DEP. SUP.,40.5; B&C STEEL CORPORATION,EQUIP 

MAINT CEM,83.41; BLUFFS SANITARY SUPPLY INC.,JAN. SUP.,702.75; BRODERICK, 

MATTHEW,SCHOOLS & CONF-PD,160; CAPITAL BUSINESS SYSTEMS INC.,CONT. 

SRVCS.,620.46; CELLCO PARTNERSHIP,CELL PHONES,261.26; CITIBANK N.A.,WIRELESS 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 5 / 578



2 

LASER REMOTE,49.98; CITY OF GERING,RECYCLING AND TRASH DISPOSAL FEES,44186.45;   

CITYOF SCB,CIP-PO UNMARKED/POSTAGE-PD,71.6; CLARK PRINTING LLC,PRGRM.,1252.95;  

COLE TOOL DISTRIBUTORSLLC,CENTRAL GARAGE- TERMINAL RELEASE TOOL SET,49.95;   

COLONIAL LIFE & ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY,INSURANCE,48.7; COMPUTER 

CONNECTION INC,CONTRACTUAL-PD,44;  CONTRACTORS MATERIALS INC.,SUPP - ADA 

PANELS,334.09; CORE & MAIN LP,METERS,50346.71; CREDIT BUREAU OF COUNCIL 

BLUFFS,FEE & MONTHLY EMPL.SCREEN - APRIL 2019,144; CROELL INC,DEPT SUP,510.39; 

CYNTHIA GREEN,DEP. SUP.,24.06; DALE'S TIRE & RETREADING, INC.,EQUIP MAINT 

PARK,27.75; DAVID M GLENN JR.,STATEWIDE EOD TRAINING- GLENN,160; DUANE E. 

WOHLERS,HAULING RECYCLING TO DENVER, CO,1600; EBSCO INDUSTRIES, 

INC,SBSCRP.,1190; ELLIOTT EQUIPMENT COMPANY INC.,ES #824- HYDRAULIC PIPE,275.42;   

FAT BOYS TIRE AND AUTO,EQUIP MAINT PARK,193.85; FEDERAL EXPRESS 

CORPORATION,POSTAGE,111.75; FLOYD'S TRUCK CENTER SCOTTSBLUFF,ENGINE 1 

STALLED, FUEL SYSTEM CHECKS,6419.33;  FRANCHATIMATTHEW,CONTRACTUAL,72;RAY 

TELEVISON GROUP INC,CONTRACTUAL SVC,2780; HAWKINS, INC.,CHEMICALS,1345.01; 

HULLINGER GLASS & LOCKS INC.,BLDG. MAIN.,73.25; IDEAL LAUNDRY AND CLEANERS, 

INC.,UNIFORMS-PD,976.02;  INDEPENDENT PLUMBING AND HEATING, INC,GROUND 

MAINT PARK,280.75;  INFINITY CONSTRUCTION, INC.,FACILITY REPAIR,18740; INGRAM 

LIBRARYSERVICESINC,BKS.&AV,2115.78;INTERNALREVENUESERVICE,WITHHOLDINGS,54

974.77;  INTERNATIONALASSOCIATION OF ELECTRICAL INSPECTORS,DEPT MMBRSHP,120;  

INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC  MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION-HR,POLICE OFFICER TESTING 

MATERIALS,334.5; INTRALINKS, INC,DELL PRECISION 5820 - GIS,5896.23; INVENTIVE 

WIRELESS OF NE, LLC,CONTRACTUAL REC,40.35;JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL,SMALL 

CAPITALCEM,17778;OHNSONEARL,CONTRACTUAL,1000;KEMBELJARED,CONTRACTUAL, 

72;  KNOW HOW LLC,EQUIP MAINT,701.44; KRIZ DAVIS,BUILD MAINT PARK,94.14; 

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC,CENTRAL GARAGE- SOLVENT & CABLE TIES,73.89;  LEAGUE 

ASSOCIATION OF RISK MANAGEMENT,ENDORSEMENT #10 BACKHOE - CEMETERY,426.06;   

LEAGUE OF NEBRASKA MUNICIPALITIES,2019 NCMA ANNUAL CONF. - N.JOHNSON,125; 

LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGEMENT,CONSULTING-PD,100; M.C. SCHAFF & 

ASSOCIATES, INC,FACILITY REPAIR,4150;  MATHESON TRI-GAS INC,CENTRAL GARAGE- 

BAND SAW BLADES,196.02;  MENARDS, INC,DEPT SUPP PARK,568.88;  MICHAEL B 

KEMBEL,BUILDING MAINT,103;  MIDLANDS NEWSPAPERS, INC,LEGAL PUBLISHING,4639.9;  

MIDWEST MOTOR SUPPLY CO INC,CENTRAL GARAGE- HYD BATTERY CRIMPER,74.95; 

MIRACLE RECREATION EQUIPMENT,EQUIP MAINT PARK,26642.59; MUNIMETRIX SYSTEMS 

CORP,IMAGESILO - MARCH & APRIL 2019,79.98;  NE CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENT 

CENTER,NE CHILD SUPPORT PYBLE,1204.3; NE DEPT OF REVENUE,SALES TAX,22611.45; 

NEBRASKA INTERACTIVE, LLC,DRIVERS LIC. REQ. - HR,174; NEBRASKA MACHINERY 

CO,BRACKETS, FENDER, PLATE FOR COMPOST FACILITY,1110.1; NEBRASKA PUBLIC 

POWERDISTRICT,ELECTRIC,43585.84;NEBRASKARURALRADIOASSOCIATION,CONTRACTU

AL SVC,225;  NEBRASKALAND TIRE, INC,POLICE #19- NEW TIRES,253.04; NELSON 

TRENT,CENTRAL GARAGE- SLACK ADJUSTER,37.5; NEOPOST,POSTAGE,1000;  NEOPOST 

USA INC,CONTRACTUAL,2417.13; NETWORKFLEET, INC,GPS SERVICE,356.83; NEXT YOUNG 

PROFESSIONALS,MEMBERSHIP DUES - NATHAN JOHNSON,75;  NORTHWEST PIPE 

FITTINGS, INC. OF SCOTTSBLUFF,GROUND MAINT PARK,120.41; OCLC ONLINE COMPUTER 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 6 / 578



3 

LIBRARY CENTER, INC,CONT. SRVCS.,364.49; OREGON TRAIL PLUMBING, HEATING & 

COOLING INC,BUILD MAINT REC,200; PANHANDLE COOPERATIVE ASSOCIATION,FLEET 

GASOLINE,23533.44; PANHANDLE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES INC,SAMPLES,60; PH&S 

PRODUCTS LLC,INVEST SUPPL-PD,90;PLATTE VALLEY BANK,HEALTH SAVINGS 

ACCOUNT,9819.26;POSTMASTER,POSTAGE,1112.16;QUILLCORPORATION,OFFICESUPPLIES,

571.89;  RECORDED BOOKS INC,SBSCRP.,399.22;  REGIONAL CARE INC,CLAIMS,35887.52; 

RICHARD P CASTILLO,CONTRACTUAL,72;  ROCKSTEP SCOTTSBLUFF LLC,OCCUPATION 

TAX REMITTANCE,38496.05;  RODRIGUEZ JOSE R,TOW SERVICE-PD,190; RURAL HEALTH 

DEVELOPMENT, INC.,ECONOMIC DEV,6383.33; S M E C,EMPLOYEE DEDUCTION,156.5;  

SAFETYLINE CONSULTANTS, INC,DEPT SUPPL-PD,60.2; SANDBERG IMPLEMENT, 

INC,EQUIP MAINT,103.55; SCB COUNTY,DEPT CNTRCL SRVCS,167.5;  SCB FIREFIGHTERS 

UNION LOCAL 1454,FIRE EE DUES,225; SCHANK HOLDINGS INC,BUILDING MAINT,228; 

SCHOLASTIC LIBRARY PUBLISHING,BKS.,146.85; SCOTT AARON,CONTRACTUAL,36; 

SCOTTSBLUFF POLICE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION,POLICE EE DUES,552; SCOTTSBLUFF 

WINSUPPLY COMPANY,DEPT SUP,220.81;   SHERIFF'S OFFICE,LEGAL FEES-PD,73.98;  

SIMMONS OLSEN LAW FIRM, P.C.,CONTRACTUAL SERVICES,17850.29; SIMON 

CONTRACTORS,CONCRETE FOR STREET REPAIR,4593.16; SNELL SERVICES INC.,EQUIP. 

MAIN.,631; SONNY'S TOWING,TOW SERVICE-PD,645; SOUNDSLEEPER SECURITY 

INC.,CONTRACTUAL SVC,1600; THE PEAVEY CORP,INVEST SUPPL-PD,64.2; TORRINGTON 

SOD FARMS,DEPT SUPP CEM,42.5;  TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORPORATION,HIDTA CAR 

LEASE,343.53;  TWIN CITY AUTO, INC,EQUIP MAINT PARK,440.81; ULINE INC,SAFETY 

GLASSES AND EARPLUGS,169.6; UNION BANK & TRUST,RETIREMENT,35997.89; UNIQUE 

MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC,CONT. SRVCS.,134.25; VOGEL WEST, INC,PACKING KIT FOR 

PAINT STRIPER,98; WESTERN PATHOLOGY CONSULTANTS, INC,RANDOM TESTING - 

APRIL 2019,156; WESTERN TRAVEL TERMINAL, LLC,VEH MAINT-PD,496; WILSON 

ZACHARIAH,CONTRACTUAL,108;  WOODS & AITKEN LLP,PROF.SERVICES - IBEW LOCAL 

NO 1597 NEGOTIATIONS,3567.91;  WYOMING CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT,CHILD 

SUPPORT,738.08; ZM LUMBER INC,GROUNS MAINT PARK,62.97; REFUNDS; TREVOR 

TEICHROEB, 42.48; KENNETH M MOSELEY, 14.94; BEVERLY GREENE, 13.17; VARIETIES 

LLC, 18.94. 

 City Manager Johnson presented the April 2019 Financial Report to the City Council explaining 

we have five months remaining in the current fiscal year; sales tax numbers are down around 

$100,000.00.  

 Mayor Gonzales opened the public hearing at 6:05 p.m. for the purpose of reviewing and 

obtaining comment on a Redevelopment Plan submitted by Platte Valley Bank for the Platte Valley 

Addition Improvements Project. Legal Counsel Hadenfeldt explained his firm represents Platte Valley 

Companies as well, but regarding this matter, will be representing the City, stating that individuals from 

Platte Valley Companies were informed and were free to choose other counsel, if warranted, to review 

documents. He went over the three criteria for Tax Increment Financing (TIF), the first being the 

Comprehensive Plan of the City.  Mr. Hadenfeldt stated this does fit within the plan due to the Hwy 26 

commercial neighborhood boundary for which it is zoned. The second, “But For” test states the project 

would not occur “but for” TIF financing. Mr. Hadenfeldt explained the key regarding this particular 

project is the improvements, which does not include the building in place, but does include public 

improvements for streets, sidewalks, drainage, and the parking lot.  The Third, Cost Benefit Analysis, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 7 / 578



4 

states the City is not at risk for any financial contribution and there is no cost to the City or other taxing 

authorities.           

 Mr. Zac Karpf, Chief Operating Officer of Platte Valley Companies approached Council to give a 

brief summary of the Redevelopment Plan.  He stated the project goals are geared towards employee, 

customer, and citizen safety.  He went on to explain there are three areas that are qualified costs to 

accomplish the goals which include; asphalt/concrete demolition, drainage improvements, and raised 

sidewalks/ crosswalks, including lighting.  

 Council Member Shaver asked about the cost and what is associated with it, commenting he does 

not think it fits the “but for” test because the community center would not be done “but for” TIF.  Legal 

Counsel Hadenfeldt explained they would not do the improvements “but for” TIF and would not occur 

without TIF financing. They have already done the improvement on which the increment is going to 

generate the revenue with their own private funds; stating you need to focus on the actual project applied 

for and not the improvement that generates the increment.  Mr. Karpf went on to explain there are 

expenses that have not taken place yet, but have been planned. 

 Council Member Schaub asked if the drainage improvements could be explained.  Mr. Karpf 

showed a visual identifying several new outlets which will flow to the drain fixing a public drainage 

issue. 

 Mayor Gonzales closed the public hearing at 6:20 p.m. 

 

 Mayor Gonzales opened the public hearing at 6:21 p.m. for the purpose of reviewing and 

obtaining comment on a Redevelopment Plan submitted by 1dash5 Enterprises, LLC for the Scooter’s 

Drive thru Coffee Kiosk Project. Legal Counsel Hadenfeldt explained his firm represents 1dash5 

Enterprises, LLC as well, but regarding this matter will be representing the City for purposes of TIF.  He 

stated Mr. Gary Rimington, President of 1dash5 Enterprises, LLC, was notified he could get alternate 

Counsel if he desired.  Mr. Hadenfeldt then went over the three criteria for TIF; the first being whether it 

conforms to the Comprehensive Plan of the City; stating this project is in the South West District which 

includes neighborhood commercial property and does not need to be rezoned.  The second element, the 

“But For” test, needs to confirm the project would not occur “but for” TIF financing. The projected area is 

in a flood plain and will incur significant cost for site development and would not occur “but for” TIF. 

The third confirms the Cost Benefit Analysis, which identifies a notice was sent to all taxing authorities. 

It also looks at the impact to public entities and employers in the area determining there is no affect to 

them. 

 Mr. Zac Karpf, with Platte Valley Companies, approached Council on behalf of Mr. Gary 

Rimington who was absent.  Mr. Karpf commented he is familiar with Mr. Rimington’s business 

practices, stating he is a very good local business man who has made a good significant investment in 

Scottsbluff.           

 Ms. Andrea Margheim, business owner, commented she is concerned with traffic in the area 

especially near the four way stop, stating it can get very congested, wondering how this would help the 

problem.  

 Ms. Starr Lehl, Economic Development Director, stated this is a great TIF project because it is in 

a flood plain, stating Mr. Rimington is going to spend money to build the area up; he is happy it is in a 

high traffic area and is pleased with the response of his other shop which led to him put another in 

Scottsbluff. She also commented he is investing a lot in Western Nebraska. 

 Mayor Gonzales closed the public hearing at 6:28 p.m. 

 

 Mayor Gonzales opened the public hearing at 6:29 p.m. to consider a Class C Liquor License for 

B49 Operating, LLC dba The Tangled Tumbleweed. Ms. Esther Benson and Police Chief Kevin Spencer 

were sworn in to testify about the liquor license.  Moved by Council Member Shaver, seconded by 

Council Member Schaub “that the following exhibits, presented on behalf of the City Council, be entered 

into the record: 1) B49 Operating, LLC dba The Tangled Tumbleweed, Liquor License Application; 2) 

City Council check list for section 53-132 cum supp 2016; 3) written statement of Police Chief Kevin 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 8 / 578



5 

Spencer dated May 17, 2019; 4) written statement of City Clerk dated May 20, 2019; 5) written statement 

from the Development Services Department dated May 1, 2019; “YEAS,” Shaver, Gonzales, Schaub, 

McKerrigan, and Green. “NAYS,” None. Absent: None. 

 Ms. Esther Benson testified she recently purchased the Tangled Tumbleweed, stating her 

experience with alcohol has been the last three years working at the business. She has passed the TIPS 

training and all her servers have as well.  Her policy is to not hire anyone under the age of 21 who will be 

serving; they ask for ID from anyone who looks under the age of 50 and also ask everyone if they have 

their ID on them.  If they do not have their ID, they are not served.     

 Police Chief Spencer reported he does extensive background checks on all applicants to make 

sure they are fit, willing, and able.  He reported nothing showed on the report and he has no issues with 

the application.             

 Mayor Gonzales closed the public hearing at 6:34 p.m.  Council Member Schaub made the 

motion, seconded by Council Member McKerrigan, “to approve the Class C Liquor License for B49 

Operating, LLC dba The Tangled Tumbleweed, 1823 Avenue A, Scottsbluff, NE and forward a positive 

recommendation to the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission,” “YEAS, ”Schaub, McKerrigan, 

Gonzales, Green, and Shaver. “NAYS,” None. Absent: None. 

 Council Member Schaub, seconded by Council Member Green made a motion, “to make a 

positive recommendation to the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission naming Esther J. Benson as the 

Liquor License Manager of B49 Operating, LLC dba The Tangled Tumbleweed,” “YEAS,” Gonzales, 

Green, McKerrigan, Shaver, and Schaub. “NAYS,” None. Absent: None. 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  19-05-02 

 

 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

SCOTTSBLUFF, NEBRASKA: 

 

1.  On May 20, 2019 the matter of the application of a Class C liquor license for B49 Operating, LLC 

dba The Tangled Tumbleweed, 1823 Avenue A, Scottsbluff, NE 69361 came on for consideration 

by the Council.  The following exhibits were offered and received: 

 

  Exhibit 1 - Application of Class C liquor license for B49 Operating, LLC dba The Tangled     

Tumbleweed, 1823 Avenue A, Scottsbluff, NE 69361 

  Exhibit 2 - City Council Check List for Section 53-132 (Reissue 2016) 

 Exhibit 3 - Written statement of Police Chief dated May 17, 2019 

 Exhibit 4 - Written statement of City Clerk dated May 20, 2019 

 Exhibit 5 - Written statement of Development Services Department dated May 1, 2019 

  

2.  Witnesses were sworn and testimony was received in support of the application at the public 

hearing on this date from Esther J. Benson, Manager; Police Chief Kevin Spencer spoke on behalf 

of the City. 

 

3.  Upon consideration of the evidence and the criterion to be considered by the City Council 

pursuant to law, the City Council finds as follows: 

 a. Applicant has demonstrated a fitness, willingness, and ability to properly serve or 

sell liquor in conformance to the rules and regulations of the Nebraska Liquor 

Control Act. 

 

b. Applicant has met its burden with regard to the check list provided by Section 53-

132 R.R.S. (2016) and demonstrates a willingness and ability to properly serve or 

sell liquor in conformance to the rules and regulations of the Nebraska Liquor 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 9 / 578



6 

Control Act and its management and control appears to be sufficient to insure 

compliance with such rules and regulations. 

 

4.  By reason of the above, the Applicant has met the burden of proof and persuasion in producing 

evidence pertaining to the criterion prescribed in the Nebraska Statutes. 

Based on the above findings, the City Council approves the application and recommends to the 

Nebraska Liquor Control Commission that a Retail Class C liquor license for B49 Operating, LLC 

dba The Tangled Tumbleweed at the premises described in the application. 

 

5.  The City Clerk shall transmit a copy of this Resolution to the Commission. 

 

6.  Cost of publication: $15.27. 

 

Passed and approved this 20th day of May, 2019. 

 

 

         ____________________________________ 

           Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

  City Clerk 

“seal” 
  

 

 No one was present to give a report from Scottsbluff Youth Council. 

 

 Mayor Gonzales read the Proclamation for Emergency Services Week. After the reading, Council 

Member Schaub recognized Mr. Kyle Meininger and Mr. Beau Walsh with Valley Ambulance Service 

who were present at the meeting. Mr. Meininger thanked Council and all the EMS providers for their 

service. 

 

 Ms. Jeri Goodman, “Farmer’s Market” representative, approached Council concerning the 

Business Promotional Event Permit for the Downtown Scottsbluff Association, sponsors of the “Farmer’s 

Market.” Ms. Goodman stated the market will start June 1, 2019 and run through September 28, 2019; the 

hours are 8:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.  Council Member Shaver asked if there was a fee to reserve the Plaza 

and if vendors charged sales tax.  Mr. Johnson stated there is no fee to use the Plaza and Ms. Goodman 

stated each vendor is responsible for charging and collecting their own sales tax.  Council Member 

Schaub made the motion, seconded by Mayor Gonzales, “to approve a Business Promotional Event 

Permit for the Downtown Scottsbluff Association, sponsors of the “Farmer’s Market” at the 18
th
 Street 

Downtown Plaza on Saturday mornings, 6/1/19-9/28/19; 8:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.,” “YEAS,” McKerrigan, 

Green, Schaub, and Gonzales. “NAYS,” Shaver. Absent: None. 

 

 Ms. Brenda Leisy with the Scotts Bluff Area Visitor’s Bureau approached Council regarding the 

Community Festival Permit for the Tour De Nebraska – Scottsbluff Welcome Event on June 21, 2019 

from 5:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.   Ms. Leisy explained this is a bicycle event of 400-500 cyclists that will 

come thru the area.  She is asking that Broadway between 18
th
 and 19

th
 Streets be closed due to the influx 

of pedestrian traffic and is requesting the use of the Plaza for providing entertainment. During discussion, 

Council Member Shaver commented he would like to see the bicyclists come up 1
st
 Avenue rather than 

Broadway due to traffic. Council Member Green expressed concern with people backing up if the 

intersection is blocked off. Police Chief Spencer acknowledged the concerns stating they will make 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 10 / 578



7 

adjustments at the time to make sure traffic is flowing, adding the Police Department will have a 

presence.  Council Member Schaub made the motion, seconded by Council Member McKerrigan, “to 

approve a Community Festival Permit for the Scotts Bluff Area Visitor’s Bureau at the Downtown Plaza, 

including vendors, street closure, and noise permit for the Tour de Nebraska – Scottsbluff Welcome Event 

on June 21, 2019 from 5:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m., “YEAS,” Green, Schaub, Shaver, Gonzales, and 

McKerrigan. “NAYS,” None. Absent: None. 

 

 Regarding the Special Designated Liquor License for the event, Ms. Andrea Margheim with 

Flyover Brewing Company was present to answer questions from Council and provide information. She 

stated with a group this size they will only have alcohol at the Plaza, which will be fenced off.  They will 

ID and wristband people when they purchase alcohol and will have volunteers walking around making 

sure everyone who has alcohol is wearing a wristband, to prevent underage drinking.  Police Chief 

Spencer requested to have the Police Department provide security for the event as well. Council Member 

Schaub made the motion, seconded by Council Member McKerrigan, “to approve a Special Designated 

Liquor License for BDS3C, LLC dba Flyover Brewing Company and Scotts Bluff Area Visitor’s Bureau 

to serve beer at a Community Festival Event at the Downtown Plaza on June 21, 2019 from 4:00 p.m. to 

10:00 p.m., “YEAS,” Shaver, Gonzales, Schaub, McKerrigan, and Green. “NAYS,” None. Absent: None. 

 

 Mr. Johnson presented the bids for the City’s Sewer Camera Van and Equipment.  The City 

received bids from MacQueen Equipment for $186,187.00 and Key Equipment & Supply Co. for 

$221,243.00; both bids met specifications and included a trade in. A bid was also received from Aries 

Industries, Inc. for $202,430.00 which did not meet specifications and had no trade in.  Staff is requesting 

approval of the bid from MacQueen Equipment for $186,187.00; Mr. Johnson added this bid is over 

budget of $1,187.00 which will come out of department supplies. Council Member Green made the 

motion, seconded by Council Member Shaver, “to award the bid for the City’s Sewer Camera Van and 

Equipment to MacQueen Equipment for $186,187.00,” “YEAS,” Schaub, McKerrigan, Gonzales, Green, 

and Shaver. “NAYS,” None. Absent: None. 

 

 Concerning Resolution No. 19-05-03 approving the Redevelopment Plan submitted by Platte 

Valley Bank for the Platte Valley Addition Improvements Project, Council Member Shaver commented 

again he does not think the project fits the “but for” test.  Legal Counsel Hadenfeldt explained the value 

comes from the buildings put up, causing the increment; the projects are the public improvements.  

Council Member Schaub made the motion, seconded by Council Member McKerrigan, “to approve 

Resolution No. 19-05-03 regarding the Redevelopment Plan submitted by Platte Valley Bank for the 

Platte Valley Addition Improvements Project,” “YEAS,” Gonzales, Green, McKerrigan, and Schaub. 

“NAYS, Shaver. Absent: None.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. _19-05-03 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

SCOTTSBLUFF, NEBRASKA: 

Recitals: 

a. Pursuant to the Community Development Law, NEB. REV. STAT. § 18-2101 et seq. (the 
"Act"), a redevelopment plan for the Platte Valley Addition Improvements project submitted by Platte 
Valley Bank (the "Redevelopment Plan") has been submitted to the Scottsbluff Community Redevelopment 
Authority ("CRA"). The Redevelopment Plan proposes to redevelop an area of the City which the City 
Council has declared to be blighted and substandard and in need of redevelopment. The Redevelopment 
Plan includes the use of tax increment financing. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 11 / 578



8 

b. The Redevelopment Plan has been reviewed by the Planning Commission, which found 
that the Redevelopment Plan conforms to the 2016 Scottsbluff Comprehensive Plan (the "Comprehensive 
Plan"). The Planning Commission recommended approval of the Redevelopment Plan to the CRA and City 
Council. 

c. The Redevelopment Plan has been reviewed by the CRA, which found that the 
Redevelopment Plan conforms to the Comprehensive Plan, that the project as proposed in the 
Redevelopment Plan would not be economically feasible or occur in the project area without tax increment 
financing, and that the costs and benefits of the project, including costs and benefits to other affected 
political subdivisions, the economy of the community, and the demand for public and private services, 
having been analyzed by the CRA, are in the long term best interests of the community. 

d. The CRA recommended approval of the Redevelopment Plan to the City Council. 

e. On May 20, 2019, the City Council held a public hearing on the proposal to approve the 
Redevelopment Plan. 

f. The City Council has reviewed and conducted a cost-benefit analysis of the Redevelopment 
Plan and makes the findings and recommendations as documented in writing in this Resolution. 

Resolved: 

1. The Redevelopment Plan is determined to be feasible and in conformity with the 
Comprehensive Plan and with the legislative declarations and determinations set forth in the Act. 

2. The project as proposed in the Redevelopment Plan would not be economically feasible or 
occur in the project area without tax increment financing and the costs and benefits of the project, including costs 
and benefits to other affected political subdivisions, the economy of the community, and the demand for public 
and private services, having been analyzed by the City Council, are in the long-term best interests of the 
community. 

3. The City Council approves the Redevelopment Plan. 

 
4. In accordance with NEB. REV. STAT. § 18-2147, and as proposed in the Redevelopment 

Plan, the City Council provides that any ad valorem tax on the Project Site as set forth in the Redevelopment 
Plan, for the benefit of any public body be divided for a period of 15 years after the effective date as 
provided in § 18-2147, which effective date shall be determined in a Redevelopment Contract entered into 
between the Redeveloper and the CRA. Said tax shall be divided as follows: 

(a) That proportion of the ad valorem tax which is produced by levy at the rate 
fixed each year by or for each public body upon the redevelopment project valuation (as 
defined in the Act) shall be paid into the funds of each such public body in the same 
proportion as all other taxes collected by or for the bodies; 

(b) That proportion of the ad valorem tax on real property in the 
redevelopment project in excess of such amount, if any, shall be allocated to and, when 
collected, paid into a special fund of the CRA to be used solely to pay the principal of, the 
interest on, and any premiums due in connection with the bonds of, loans, notes or advances of 
money to, or indebtedness incurred by, whether funded, refunded, assumed, or otherwise, 
the CRA for financing or refinancing, in whole or in part, the project set forth in the 
Redevelopment Plan. When such bonds, loans, notes, advances of money, or indebtedness, 
including interest and premiums due have been paid, the CRA shall so notify the County 
Assessor and County Treasurer and all ad valorem taxes upon taxable real property in the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 12 / 578



9 

redevelopment project shall be paid into the funds of the respective public bodies; and 

(c) Any interest and penalties due for delinquent taxes shall be paid in the funds 
of each public body in the same proportion as are all other taxes collected by or for the public 
body. 

5. The Mayor and Clerk are authorized and directed to execute such documents and take such 
further actions as are necessary to carry out the purposes and intent of this Resolution and the 
Redevelopment Plan. 

6. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

PASSED and APPROVED on May 20, 2019 

 

 

 

               ___________________________________ 

       Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

 

__________________________________ 

City Clerk         (Seal) 

 

 

 Regarding Resolution No. 19-05-04 approving the Redevelopment Plan submitted by 1dash5 

Enterprises, LLC for the Scooter’s Drive thru Coffee Kiosk Project, Council Member Schaub stated he 

would like to hear more from Mr. Rimington about traffic concerns, wanting to table the item.  Legal 

Counsel Hadenfeldt explained the three elements of criteria for Tax Increment Financing is what Council 

reviews; the traffic concerns are looked at by City staff and committees and can be addressed in the 

future.  Council Member Schaub rescinded his motion to table.  Council Member Shaver, seconded by 

Council Member McKerrigan, made the motion, “to approve Resolution No. 19-05-04 regarding the 

Redevelopment Plan submitted by 1dash5 Enterprises, LLC for the Scooter’s Drive thru Coffee Kiosk 

Project,” “YEAS, McKerrigan, Shaver, Green, Schaub, and Gonzales. “NAYS,” None. Absent: None. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 19-05-04 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SCOTTSBLUFF, NEBRASKA: 

Recitals: 
a. Pursuant to the Community Development Law, NEB. REV. STAT. § 18-2101 et seq. (the 

"Act"), a redevelopment plan for the Scooter's Drive Thru Coffee Kiosk project submitted by ldash5 

Enterprises, LLC (the "Redevelopment Plan") has been submitted to the Scottsbluff Community 

Redevelopment Authority ("CRA"). The Redevelopment Plan proposes to redevelop an area of the City 

which the City Council has declared to be blighted and substandard and in need of redevelopment. The 

Redevelopment Plan includes the use of tax increment financing. 

b. The Redevelopment Plan has been reviewed by the Planning Commission, which found 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 13 / 578



10 

that the Redevelopment Plan conforms to the 2016 Scottsbluff Comprehensive Plan (the "Comprehensive 
Plan"). The Planning Commission recommended approval of the Redevelopment Plan to the CRA and City 
Council. 

c. The Redevelopment Plan has been reviewed by the CRA, which found that the 
Redevelopment Plan conforms to the Comprehensive Plan, that the project as proposed in the 
Redevelopment Plan would not be economically feasible or occur in the project area without tax increment 
financing, and that the costs and benefits of the project, including costs and benefits to other affected 
political subdivisions, the economy of the community, and the demand for public and private services, 
having been analyzed by the CRA, are in the long term best interests of the community. 

 

d. The CRA recommended approval of the Redevelopment Plan to the City Council. 

e. On May 20, 2019, the City Council held a public hearing on the proposal to approve the 
Redevelopment Plan. 

f. The City Council has reviewed and conducted a cost-benefit analysis of the Redevelopment 
Plan and makes the findings and recommendations as documented in writing in this Resolution. 

Resolved: 

1. The Redevelopment Plan is determined to be feasible and in conformity with the 
Comprehensive Plan and with the legislative declarations and determinations set forth in the Act. 

2. The project as proposed in the Redevelopment Plan would not be economically feasible or 
occur in the project area without tax increment financing and the costs and benefits of the project, including 
costs and benefits to other affected political subdivisions, the economy of the community, and the demand for 
public and private services, having been analyzed by the City Council, are in the long-term best interests of the 
community. 

3. The City Council approves the Redevelopment Plan. 

 
4. In accordance with NEB. REV. STAT. § 18-2147, and as proposed in the Redevelopment 

Plan, the City Council provides that any ad valorem tax on the Project Site as set forth in the Redevelopment 
Plan, for the benefit of any public body be divided for a period of 15 years after the effective date as 
provided in § 18-2147, which effective date shall be determined in a Redevelopment Contract entered into 
between the Redeveloper and the CRA. Said tax shall be divided as follows: 

(a) That proportion of the ad valorem tax which is produced by levy at the rate 
fixed each year by or for each public body upon the redevelopment project valuation (as 
defined in the Act) shall be paid into the funds of each such public body in the same 
proportion as all other taxes collected by or for the bodies; 

(b) That proportion of the ad valorem tax on real property in the 
redevelopment project in excess of such amount, if any, shall be allocated to and, when 
collected, paid into a special fund of the CRA to be used solely to pay the principal of, the 
interest on, and any premiums due in connection with the bonds of, loans, notes or advances of 
money to, or indebtedness incurred by, whether funded, refunded, assumed, or otherwise, 
the CRA for financing or refinancing, in whole or in part, the project set forth in the 
Redevelopment Plan. When such bonds, loans, notes, advances of money, or indebtedness, 
including interest and premiums due have been paid, the CRA shall so notify the County 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 14 / 578



11 

Assessor and County Treasurer and all ad valorem taxes upon taxable real property in the 
redevelopment project shall be paid into the funds of the respective public bodies; and 

(c) Any interest and penalties due for delinquent taxes shall be paid in the funds 
of each public body in the same proportion as are all other taxes collected by or for the public 
body. 

5. The Mayor and Clerk are authorized and directed to execute such documents and take such 
further actions as are necessary to carry out the purposes and intent of this Resolution and the 
Redevelopment Plan. 

6. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

PASSED and APPROVED on May 20, 2019 

____________________________________ 
             Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 
City Clerk    (Seal) 

 

 

 Ms. Starr Lehl, Economic Development Director, approached Council concerning the request to 

modify the Economic Development Assistance Agreement for Elite Urgent Care and Family Health, 

LLC. Ms. Lehl explained Elite Urgent Care received an Economic Development loan for $75,000.00, but 

has experienced delays in construction. Because of the delays, Ms. Alicia Gonzales-Longoria, sole 

member, is asking to change the interest accrual date to March 1, 2019 and first annual payment to April 

1, 2020. Council Member Shaver asked if she received the money when she was supposed to, questioning 

the modification; Ms. Lehl stated yes, the contract is such that payments are made when the business is 

open and revenue comes in. Council Member Green asked if the job credit was delayed as well, with Ms. 

Lehl stating yes.  Council Member Schaub made the motion, seconded by Council Member McKerrigan, 

“to approve the request to modify the Economic Development Assistance Agreement for Elite Urgent 

Care and Family Health, LLC.,” “YEAS,” Green, Schaub, Gonzales, and McKerrigan. “NAYS,” Shaver. 

Absent: None. 

 

 Regarding the request to modify the Economic Development Assistance Agreement for Pioneer 

Animal Clinic, LLC, Ms. Lehl explained this is similar to the previous item; Pioneer Animal Clinic 

received an Economic Development loan of $700,000.00 and experienced delays in construction also. 

They would like to change the interest accrual date to May 1, 2019 and first monthly payment to July 1, 

2019. Council Member Green asked when we delay the payments, what the savings is to the company.  

Ms. Lehl stated with Pioneer Animal Clinic the amount is over $7,000.00, but the payment is delayed and 

not lost, we receive the money at a later time. Council Member Schaub made the motion, seconded by 

Council Member McKerrigan, “to approve the request to modify the Economic Development Assistance 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 15 / 578



12 

Agreement for Pioneer Animal Clinic, LLC,” “YEAS,” Gonzales, Schaub, McKerrigan, and Green. 

“NAYS,” Shaver. Absent: None. 

 

 Mr. Johnson stated Council Member Shaver had approached him about annexing properties into 

the City and based on that conversation would like direction from Council on how they would like to 

proceed.  He stated there are two ways to annex, by property owners request, which would require three 

readings of an Ordinance or by force annexation, which we can do as a governmental entity.  Mr. Johnson 

explained the annex matrix is based off of properties that have City utilities available and added we have 

had property owners request to annex, but in order to do so, the property owners between would have to 

agree to do so as well. He used the City Wastewater Treatment plant as an example, stating all properties 

between the plant and City limits would have to be annexed before the Wastewater Treatment plant.   

Council Member Shaver commented if the availability is there, those properties should be part of the City. 

 During discussion, Council Member McKerrigan asked what the drawback would be to a 

business owner if they chose not to annex.  Mr. Johnson explained they pay more for utilities, the 

Insurance Services Office (ISO) rating in the County is higher than the City, there is not 24 hour Policing 

in the County, and we have a fulltime Fire Department, commenting a property owner is better off in the 

City.  After discussion, Mayor Gonzales asked to continue to work with business owners by pushing the 

benefits of the City, letting them approach us; he does not support force annexation; Council Member 

Schaub agreed. Council Members Shaver and Green disagreed, stating if a property owner has City 

services and they are standing in the way of another property being able to annex, this should be 

something Council looks at.    

 

 Mr. Johnson gave an update on Westmoor pool due to request from Council.  Currently 12 

lifeguards, two pool managers, and ten recreation aids have been hired.  Because of this, the planned 

opening date of the pool is June 1
st
.  Family passes are level with last year at $125.00/season, individual 

$75.00/season, and adult day pass $3.50.  Additional lifeguard interviews are scheduled this week; we 

hope to hire more to be able to extend the closing date of the pool to after Labor Day.    

 

 There were no comments from the public.  Under Council Reports, Council Member Shaver 

stated there will be no 911 committee meeting this month.  Council Member McKerrigan reported the 

Senior Center is excited about being a pit stop for the Tour de Nebraska; Tri City Active Living Advisory 

conducted their walk audits and will have a report available soon.  Council Member Green stated the Zoo 

committee had new faces, they discussed the new chimp exhibit, a fundraiser, and going to other cities to 

garner funds. Council Member Schaub stated he has not heard anything from the East Overland 

Revitalization Committee. 

 

 Council Member Schaub made the motion, seconded by Council Member Green, “to adjourn the 

meeting at 7:29 p.m.,” “YEAS,” Schaub, McKerrigan, Gonzales, Green, and Shaver.  “NAYS,” None. 

Absent: None. 

 

  

 

       ___________________________________ 

                       Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

City Clerk   

“SEAL” 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 16 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Consent2

Council to set a public hearing for June 17, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. for 
the Redevelopment Plan submitted jointly by AKAJRV 314, LLC 
(successor in interest to HVS, LLP) and Original Equipment Co. 
dba Aulick Industries.  

Staff Contact: City Council

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 17 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Consent3

Council to approve the bid specifications for the 23 Club Baseball 
Demolition and Site Grading and Complex Improvements, 
authorizing the city clerk to advertise for bids to be received by 
June 27, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. 

Staff Contact: City Council

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 18 / 578



CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

FOR THE 
 

23 Club Baseball Complex 
Demolition and Site Grading 

 
for the 

 
City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska 

  
CONTRACT 002-169-18 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Prepared by: 
 

 
 

120 East 16th Street, Suite A 
Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361 

 
May, 2019 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 19 / 578



 I 

 23 Club Baseball Complex 
 Demolition and Site Grading 
 
 
 CONTRACT # 002-169-18 
 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
Advertisement for Bids ............................................................................................ 00030 
Instructions for Bidders .............................................................................................C-200 
Utility Companies .................................................................................................... 00205 
Easements ....................................................................................................................................... 00210 
Bid ............................................................................................................................C-410 
Bid Bond ...................................................................................................................C-430 
Notice of Award ........................................................................................................C-510 
Agreement ............................................................................................................... 00520 
Notice to Proceed .....................................................................................................C-550 
Performance Bond ...................................................................................................C-610 
Payment Bond ..........................................................................................................C-615 
General Conditions...................................................................................................C-700 
Supplementary Conditions ...................................................................................... 00800 
Special Schedules ................................................................................................... 00870 
 
DIVISION 1 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
Schedule of Work .................................................................................................... 01010 
Owner Furnished Items ........................................................................................... 01015 
Measurement & Payment ........................................................................................ 01025 
Alternates ................................................................................................................ 01030 
Construction Coordination ....................................................................................... 01040 
Construction Survey Work ....................................................................................... 01050 
Regulatory Requirements ........................................................................................ 01060 
Asbestos Containing Materials ................................................................................ 01120 
Protection of Potable Water Supplies ...................................................................... 01130 
Special Construction Procedures ............................................................................ 01170 
Project Meetings ..................................................................................................... 01200 
Shop Drawings ........................................................................................................ 01340 
Contractor's Quality Control .................................................................................... 01440 
Construction Observation & Staking Schedule ........................................................ 01441 
Protection of Work and Property ............................................................................. 01540 
Construction Cleaning ............................................................................................. 01560 
Traffic Control .......................................................................................................... 01570 
Project Identification & Signing ................................................................................ 01580 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 20 / 578



 II 

System Startup ........................................................................................................ 01660 
Warranties & Bonds ................................................................................................ 01740 
Maintenance of Backfill ........................................................................................... 01800 
 
DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
 
Building Demolition.................................................................................................. 02060 
Demolition - Selective .............................................................................................. 02071 
Earthwork - Site Grading ......................................................................................... 02210 
Surface Restoration................................................................................................. 02212 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 21 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page i 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Page 
Article 1 – Defined Terms.............................................................................................................................. 1 

Article 2 – Copies of Bidding Documents ...................................................................................................... 1 

Article 3 – Qualifications of Bidders .............................................................................................................. 1 

Article 4 – Site and Other Areas; Existing Site Conditions; Examination of Site; Owner’s Safety Program;       
Other Work at the Site ................................................................................................................ 1 

Article 5 – Bidder’s Representations ............................................................................................................. 3 

Article 6 – Pre-Bid Conference ...................................................................................................................... 4 

Article 7 – Interpretations and Addenda ...................................................................................................... 4 

Article 8 – Bid Security .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Article 9 – Contract Times ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Article 10 – Liquidated Damages .................................................................................................................. 5 

Article 11 – Substitute and “Or-Equal” Items ............................................................................................... 5 

Article 12 – Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others ...................................................................................... 6 

Article 13 – Preparation of Bid ...................................................................................................................... 6 

Article 14 – Basis of Bid ................................................................................................................................. 7 

Article 15 – Submittal of Bid ......................................................................................................................... 7 

Article 16 – Modification and Withdrawal of Bid ......................................................................................... 7 

Article 17 – Opening of Bids .......................................................................................................................... 8 

Article 18 – Bids to Remain Subject to Acceptance ...................................................................................... 8 

Article 19 – Evaluation of Bids and Award of Contract ................................................................................. 8 

Article 20 – Bonds and Insurance ................................................................................................................. 9 

Article 21 – Signing of Agreement ................................................................................................................ 9 

Article 22 – Sales and Use Taxes ................................................................................................................... 9 

Article 23 – Out-Of-State Bidders ............................................................................................................... 10 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 22 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 1 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINED TERMS 

1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated in the General 
Conditions and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these Instructions to 
Bidders have the meanings indicated below: 

A. Issuing Office – The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued. 

ARTICLE 2 – COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS 

2.01 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents may be obtained from the Issuing Office in the number 
and format stated in the advertisement or invitation to bid. 

2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor 
Engineer assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of 
incomplete sets of Bidding Documents. 

2.03 Owner and Engineer, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, do 
so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not authorize or confer a license 
for any other use. 

ARTICLE 3 – QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS 

3.01 To demonstrate Bidder’s qualifications to perform the Work, after submitting its Bid and within 
five (5) days of Owner’s request, Bidder shall be prepared to submit (a) written evidence 
establishing its qualifications such as financial data, previous experience, and present 
commitments, and (b) evidence of Bidder’s authority to do business in the state where the 
Project is located. 

3.02 A Bidder’s failure to submit required qualification information within the times indicated may 
disqualify Bidder from receiving an award of the Contract. 

3.03 No requirement in this Article 3 to submit information will prejudice the right of Owner to seek 
additional pertinent information regarding Bidder’s qualifications. 

3.04 Bidder is advised to carefully review those portions of the Bid Form requiring Bidder’s 
representations and certifications. 

ARTICLE 4 – SITE AND OTHER AREAS; EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS; EXAMINATION OF SITE; OWNER’S 
SAFETY PROGRAM; OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

4.01 Site and Other Areas 

A. The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. By definition, the Site includes rights-of-
way, easements, and other lands furnished by Owner for the use of the Contractor. Any 
additional lands required for temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or 
storage of materials and equipment, and any access needed for such additional lands, are 
to be obtained and paid for by Contractor. 

4.02 Existing Site Conditions 

A. Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental Conditions 

1. The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

a. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions 
at or adjacent to the Site. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 23 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 2 

b. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface 
or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities). 

c. reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site. 

d. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

2. Owner will make copies of reports and drawings referenced above available to any 
Bidder on request. These reports and drawings are not part of the Contract 
Documents, but the Technical Data contained therein upon whose accuracy Bidder is 
entitled to rely, as provided in the General Conditions, has been identified and 
established in the Supplementary Conditions. Bidder is responsible for any 
interpretation or conclusion Bidder draws from any Technical Data or any other data, 
interpretations, opinions, or information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings. 

3. If the Supplementary Conditions do not identify Technical Data, the default definition 
of Technical Data set forth in Article 1 of the General Conditions will apply. 

4. Geotechnical Baseline Report: The Bidding Documents contain a Geotechnical Baseline 
Report (GBR). The GBR describes certain select subsurface conditions that are 
anticipated to be encountered by Contractor during construction in specified locations 
(“Baseline Conditions”). The GBR is a Contract Document. 

The Baseline Conditions in the GBR are intended to reduce uncertainty and the degree 
of contingency in submitted Bids. However, Bidders cannot rely solely on the Baseline 
Conditions. Bids should be based on a comprehensive approach that includes an 
independent review and analysis of the GBR, all other Contract Documents, Technical 
Data, other available information, and observable surface conditions. Not all potential 
subsurface conditions are baselined. 

Nothing in the GBR is intended to relieve Bidders of the responsibility to make their 
own determinations regarding construction costs, bidding strategies, and Bid prices, 
nor of the responsibility to select and be responsible for the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and for safety precautions 
and programs incident thereto. 

B. Underground Facilities: Information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding Documents 
with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site are set forth in the 
Contract Documents and are based upon information and data furnished to Owner and 
Engineer by owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or others. 

C. Adequacy of Data: Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished 
to prospective Bidders with respect to subsurface conditions, other physical conditions, and 
Underground Facilities, and possible changes in the Bidding Documents due to differing or 
unanticipated subsurface or physical conditions appear in Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 
of the General Conditions. Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data 
furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to a Hazardous Environmental Condition at 
the Site, if any, and possible changes in the Contract Documents due to any Hazardous 
Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site which was not shown or 
indicated in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be 
within the scope of the Work, appear in Paragraph 5.06 of the General Conditions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 24 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 3 

4.03 Site Visit and Testing by Bidders 

A. Bidder shall conduct the required Site visit during normal working hours, and shall not 
disturb any ongoing operations at the Site. 

B. Bidder is not required to conduct any subsurface testing, or exhaustive investigations of 
Site conditions. 

C. On request, and to the extent Owner has control over the Site, and schedule permitting, 
the Owner will provide Bidder access to the Site to conduct such additional examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, and studies as Bidder deems necessary for preparing and 
submitting a successful Bid. Owner will not have any obligation to grant such access if doing 
so is not practical because of existing operations, security or safety concerns, or restraints 
on Owner’s authority regarding the Site. 

D. Bidder shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations regarding excavation and 
location of utilities, obtain all permits, and comply with all terms and conditions established 
by Owner or by property owners or other entities controlling the Site with respect to 
schedule, access, existing operations, security, liability insurance, and applicable safety 
programs. 

E. Bidder shall fill all holes and clean up and restore the Site to its former condition upon 
completion of such explorations, investigations, tests, and studies. 

4.04 Owner’s Safety Program 

A. Site visits and work at the Site may be governed by an Owner safety program. As the 
General Conditions indicate, if an Owner safety program exists, it will be noted in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

ARTICLE 5 – BIDDER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

5.01 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to: 

A. examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, and any data and reference items 
identified in the Bidding Documents; 

B. visit the Site, conduct a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and adjacent areas, 
and become familiar with and satisfy itself as to the general, local, and Site conditions that 
may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work; 

C. become familiar with and satisfy itself as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, 
progress, and performance of the Work; 

D. carefully study all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings, and (2) 
reports and drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at or adjacent 
to the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially with 
respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings; 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 25 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 4 

E. consider the information known to Bidder itself; information commonly known to 
contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations 
obtained from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and the Site-related reports and 
drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such 
information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of 
the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction 
to be employed by Bidder; and (3) Bidder’s safety precautions and programs; 

F. agree, based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, 
that at the time of submitting its Bid no further examinations, investigations, explorations, 
tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for performance of the 
Work at the price bid and within the times required, and in accordance with the other 
terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents; 

G. become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by Owner and others at 
the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents; 

H. promptly give Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies 
that Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution 
thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder; 

I. determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey 
understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance and furnishing of the Work; 
and 

J. agree that the submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by 
Bidder that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article, that without 
exception the Bid and all prices in the Bid are premised upon performing and furnishing the 
Work required by the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 6 – PRE-BID CONFERENCE 

6.01 No pre-bid conference is planned at this time.  However prospective bidders are encouraged to 
contact the engineer and arrange for access to the site or to request further information as 
necessary. 

ARTICLE 7 – INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA 

7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to 
Engineer in writing. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Engineer in 
response to such questions will be issued by Addenda delivered to all parties recorded as having 
received the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than three (3) days prior to the date 
for opening of Bids may not be answered. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. 
Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 

7.02 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, supplement, or change the Bidding Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 26 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 5 

ARTICLE 8 – BID SECURITY 

8.01 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of five (5) 
percent of Bidder’s maximum Bid price (determined by adding the base bid and all alternates) 
and in the form of a certified check, bank money order, or a Bid bond (on the form included in 
the Bidding Documents) issued by a surety meeting the requirements of Paragraphs 6.01 and 
6.02 of the General Conditions. 

8.02 The Bid security of the apparent Successful Bidder will be retained until Owner awards the 
contract to such Bidder, and such Bidder has executed the Contract Documents, furnished the 
required contract security, and met the other conditions of the Notice of Award, whereupon the 
Bid security will be released. If the Successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the Contract 
Documents and furnish the required contract security within 15 days after the Notice of Award, 
Owner may consider Bidder to be in default, annul the Notice of Award, and the Bid security of 
that Bidder will be forfeited. Such forfeiture shall be Owner’s exclusive remedy if Bidder 
defaults. 

8.03 The Bid security of other Bidders that Owner believes to have a reasonable chance of receiving 
the award may be retained by Owner until the earlier of seven days after the Effective Date of 
the Contract or 61 days after the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders 
will be released. 

8.04 Bid security of other Bidders that Owner believes do not have a reasonable chance of receiving 
the award will be released within seven days after the Bid opening. 

ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT TIMES 

9.01 The number of days within which, or the dates by which, the Work is to be substantially 
completed, and completed and ready for final payment, are set forth in the Agreement. 

ARTICLE 10 – LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

10.01 Provisions for liquidated damages, if any, for failure to timely attain a Milestone, Substantial 
Completion, or completion of the Work in readiness for final payment, are set forth in the 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 11 – SUBSTITUTE AND “OR-EQUAL” ITEMS 

11.01 The Contract for the Work, as awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment 
specified or described in the Bidding Documents without consideration during the bidding and 
Contract award process of possible substitute or “or-equal” items. In cases in which the Contract 
allows the Contractor to request that Engineer authorize the use of a substitute or “or-equal” 
item of material or equipment, application for such acceptance may not be made to and will not 
be considered by Engineer until after the Effective Date of the Contract. 

11.02 All prices that Bidder sets forth in its Bid shall be based on the presumption that the Contractor 
will furnish the materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents, as 
supplemented by Addenda. Any assumptions regarding the possibility of post-Bid approvals of 
“or-equal” or substitution requests are made at Bidder’s sole risk. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 27 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 6 

ARTICLE 12 – SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS 

12.01 A Bidder shall be prepared to retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or 
entities for the performance of the Work if required by the Bidding Documents (most commonly 
in the Specifications) to do so. If a prospective Bidder objects to retaining any such 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, and the concern is not relieved by an 
Addendum, then the prospective Bidder should refrain from submitting a Bid. 

12.02 Subsequent to the submittal of the Bid, Owner may not require the Successful Bidder or 
Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity against which 
Contractor has reasonable objection. 

12.03 If requested by Owner, the apparent Successful Bidder, and any other Bidder so requested, shall 
within five days after Bid opening, submit to Owner a list of the Subcontractors or Suppliers 
proposed for the major portions of the Work. 

If requested by Owner, such list shall be accompanied by an experience statement with 
pertinent information regarding similar projects and other evidence of qualification for each 
such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity. If Owner or Engineer, after due 
investigation, has reasonable objection to any proposed Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or 
entity, Owner may, before the Notice of Award is given, request apparent Successful Bidder to 
submit an acceptable substitute, in which case apparent Successful Bidder shall submit a 
substitute, Bidder’s Bid price will be increased (or decreased) by the difference in cost 
occasioned by such substitution, and Owner may consider such price adjustment in evaluating 
Bids and making the Contract award. 

12.04 If apparent Successful Bidder declines to make any such substitution, Owner may award the 
Contract to the next lowest Bidder that proposes to use acceptable Subcontractors, Suppliers, or 
other individuals or entities. Declining to make requested substitutions will constitute grounds 
for forfeiture of the Bid security of any Bidder. Any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity 
so listed and against which Owner or Engineer makes no written objection prior to the giving of 
the Notice of Award will be deemed acceptable to Owner and Engineer subject to subsequent 
revocation of such acceptance as provided in Paragraph 7.06 of the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 13 – PREPARATION OF BID 

13.01 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents. 

A. All blanks on the Bid Form shall be completed in ink and the Bid Form signed in ink. 
Erasures or alterations shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the Bid Form. A Bid 
price shall be indicated for each section, Bid item, alternate, adjustment unit price item, 
and unit price item listed therein. 

B. If the Bid Form expressly indicates that submitting pricing on a specific alternate item is 
optional, and Bidder elects to not furnish pricing for such optional alternate item, then 
Bidder may enter the words “No Bid” or “Not Applicable.” 

13.02 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by a corporate officer (whose 
title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The 
corporate address and state of incorporation shall be shown.  

13.03 A Bid by a partnership shall be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner 
(whose title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. 
The partnership’s address for receiving notices shall be shown. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 28 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 7 

13.04 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member or 
other authorized person and accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of 
formation of the firm and the firm’s address for receiving notices shall be shown. 

13.05 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder’s name and address for receiving notices. 

13.06 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by an authorized representative of each joint venturer 
in the manner indicated on the Bid Form. The joint venture’s address for receiving notices shall 
be shown. 

13.07 All names shall be printed in ink below the signatures. 

13.08 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall 
be filled in on the Bid Form. 

13.09 Postal and e-mail addresses and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall 
be shown. 

13.10 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder’s authority and qualification to do business in the state 
where the Project is located, or Bidder shall covenant in writing to obtain such authority and 
qualification prior to award of the Contract and attach such covenant to the Bid. Bidder’s state 
contractor license number, if any, shall also be shown on the Bid Form. 

ARTICLE 14 – BASIS OF BID 

14.01 The Basis of Bid shall be defined by the Bid Form C-410. 

ARTICLE 15 – SUBMITTAL OF BID 

15.01 With each copy of the Bidding Documents, a Bidder is furnished one separate unbound copy of 
the Bid Form, and, if required, the Bid Bond Form. The unbound copy of the Bid Form is to be 
completed and submitted with the Bid security and the other documents required to be 
submitted under the terms of Article 7 of the Bid Form. 

15.02 A Bid shall be received no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in 
the advertisement or invitation to bid and shall be enclosed in a plainly marked package with 
the Project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for which the Bid is 
submitted), the name and address of Bidder, and shall be accompanied by the Bid security and 
other required documents. If a Bid is sent by mail or other delivery system, the sealed envelope 
containing the Bid shall be enclosed in a separate package plainly marked on the outside with 
the notation “BID ENCLOSED.” A mailed Bid shall be addressed to the Owner as listed in the 
Advertisement for Bids. 

15.03 Bids received after the date and time prescribed for the opening of bids, or not submitted at the 
correct location or in the designated manner, will not be accepted and will be returned to the 
Bidder unopened. 

ARTICLE 16 – MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID 

16.01 A Bid may be withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the same manner that a 
Bid must be executed and delivered to the place where Bids are to be submitted prior to the 
date and time for the opening of Bids. Upon receipt of such notice, the unopened Bid will be 
returned to the Bidder. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 29 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 8 

16.02 If a Bidder wishes to modify its Bid prior to Bid opening, Bidder must withdraw its initial Bid in 
the manner specified in Paragraph 16.01 and submit a new Bid prior to the date and time for the 
opening of Bids. 

16.03 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with Owner 
and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a 
material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid, 
and the Bid security will be returned. Thereafter, if the Work is rebid, that Bidder will be 
disqualified from further bidding on the Work. 

ARTICLE 17 – OPENING OF BIDS 

17.01 Bids will be opened at the time and place indicated in the advertisement or invitation to bid and, 
unless obviously non-responsive, read aloud publicly. An abstract of the amounts of the base 
Bids and major alternates, if any, will be made available to Bidders after the opening of Bids. 

ARTICLE 18 – BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE 

18.01 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid Form, but 
Owner may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of 
this period. 

ARTICLE 19 – EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 

19.01 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, 
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. Owner will reject the Bid of any Bidder that 
Owner finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to not be responsible. If Bidder purports 
to add terms or conditions to its Bid, takes exception to any provision of the Bidding Documents, 
or attempts to alter the contents of the Contract Documents for purposes of the Bid, then the 
Owner will reject the Bid as nonresponsive; provided that Owner also reserves the right to waive 
all minor informalities not involving price, time, or changes in the Work. 

19.02 Discrepancies in the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in the favor 
of the unit prices.  Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the 
correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum.  Discrepancies between the 
written price and the figure price shall be resolved in favor of the written price. 

19.03 If Owner awards the contract for the Work, such award shall be to the responsible Bidder 
submitting the lowest responsive Bid. 

19.04  Evaluation of Bids 

A. In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed 
requirements, and such alternates, unit prices, and other data, as may be requested in the 
Bid Form or prior to the Notice of Award. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 30 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 9 

B. In the comparison of Bids, alternates will be applied in the same order of priority as listed in 
the Bid Form. To determine the Bid prices for purposes of comparison, Owner shall 
announce to all bidders a “Base Bid plus alternates” budget after receiving all Bids, but 
prior to opening them. For comparison purposes alternates will be accepted, following the 
order of priority established in the Bid Form, until doing so would cause the budget to be 
exceeded. After determination of the Successful Bidder based on this comparative process 
and on the responsiveness, responsibility, and other factors set forth in these Instructions, 
the award may be made to said Successful Bidder on its base Bid and any combination of its 
additive alternate Bids for which Owner determines funds will be available at the time of 
award. 

19.05 In evaluating whether a Bidder is responsible, Owner will consider the qualifications of the 
Bidder and may consider the qualifications and experience of Subcontractors and Suppliers 
proposed for those portions of the Work for which the identity of Subcontractors and Suppliers 
must be submitted as provided in the Bidding Documents. 

19.06 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to establish the 
responsibility, qualifications, and financial ability of Bidders and any proposed Subcontractors or 
Suppliers. 

ARTICLE 20 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

20.01 Article 6 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets 
forth Owner’s requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the 
Successful Bidder delivers the Agreement (executed by Successful Bidder) to Owner, it shall be 
accompanied by required bonds and insurance documentation. 

ARTICLE 21 – SIGNING OF AGREEMENT 

21.01 When Owner issues a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the 
unexecuted counterparts of the Agreement along with the other Contract Documents as 
identified in the Agreement. Within 15 days thereafter, Successful Bidder shall execute and 
deliver the required number of counterparts of the Agreement (and any bonds and insurance 
documentation required to be delivered by the Contract Documents) to Owner. Within ten days 
thereafter, Owner shall deliver one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement to Successful 
Bidder, together with printed and electronic copies of the Contract Documents as stated in 
Paragraph 2.02 of the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 22 – SALES AND USE TAXES 

22.01 The final determination of exempt status of Sales and Use Taxes lies with the State Department 
of Revenue.  If applicable, the Owner will issue the Contractor the appropriate tax exemption 
certificates/appointments in accordance with local and state laws. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 31 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 10 

ARTICLE 23 – OUT-OF-STATE BIDDERS  

23.01 It shall be the Bidder's responsibility to make himself aware of all applicable State laws and 
regulations governing out-of-state contractors.  

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 32 / 578



 

 
Standard-Scottsbluff  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Utility Companies Section 00205 - Page 1 
 

DOCUMENT 00205 UTILITY COMPANIES 
 
 
PART 1  Water & Sewer 
 
  City of Scottsbluff 
  (308) 630-0926 
  (308) 630-6258 - water 
 
PART 2  Electrical 
 
  Nebraska Public Power District 
  515 1st Avenue 
  Scottsbluff, NE 
  (877) 275-6773 
 
PART 3  Telephone, Cable TV and Fiber-optics: 
 
  Century Link 
  Location of Buried Cable 
  (800) 788-3600 
 
  Allo Communications  
  (308) 633-5000 
 
  Charter Digital Communications 
  Location of Buried Cable 
  (308) 635-3163 
 
PART 4  Natural Gas: 
 
  Black Hills Energy 
  (800) 563-0012 
 
PART 5  Digger's Hotline of Nebraska: 
 
  (800) 331-5666 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 33 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page i 

23 Club Baseball Complex 
 Demolition and Site Grading 

for the 
City of Scottsbluff 

 
Contract 002-169-18 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Page 

Article 1 – Bid Recipient ................................................................................................................................ 1 

Article 2 – Bidder’s Acknowledgements ....................................................................................................... 1 

Article 3 – Bidder’s Representations ............................................................................................................. 1 

Article 4 – Bidder’s Certification ................................................................................................................... 2 

Article 5 – Basis of Bid ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Article 6 – Time of Completion ..................................................................................................................... 3 

Article 7 – Attachments to this Bid ............................................................................................................... 3 

Article 8 – Defined Terms.............................................................................................................................. 3 

Article 9 – Bid Submittal................................................................................................................................ 4 

Bid Items ....................................................................................................................................................... 5 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 34 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page 1 

ARTICLE 1 – BID RECIPIENT 

1.01 This Bid is submitted to: 

[Insert name and address of Owner] 

1.02 The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement 
with Owner in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or 
indicated in the Bidding Documents for the prices and within the times indicated in this Bid and 
in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 2 – BIDDER’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

2.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Instructions to Bidders, including without 
limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. This Bid will remain subject to 
acceptance for 60 days after the Bid opening, or for such longer period of time that Bidder may 
agree to in writing upon request of Owner.  Bidder will sign and submit the Agreement with the 
Bonds and other documents required by the Bidding Requirements within fifteen (15) days after 
the date of Owner’s Notice of Award. 

ARTICLE 3 – BIDDER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

3.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents that: 

A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, and any data and 
reference items identified in the Bidding Documents, and hereby acknowledges receipt of 
the following Addenda: 

Addendum No.  Addendum, Date 

   

   

   

   

B. Bidder has visited the Site, conducted a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and 
adjacent areas, and become familiar with and satisfied itself as to the general, local, and 
Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

C. Bidder is familiar with and has satisfied itself as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect 
cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

D. Bidder has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface 
conditions at or adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to 
existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site that have been identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and 
drawings, and (2) reports and drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if 
any, at or adjacent to the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, 
especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 35 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page 2 

E. Bidder has considered the information known to Bidder itself; information commonly 
known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and 
observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and any Site-related 
reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of 
such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance 
of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction to be employed by Bidder; and (3) Bidder’s safety precautions and programs. 

F. Bidder agrees, based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding 
paragraph, that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data 
are necessary for the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work at the price bid 
and within the times required, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of 
the Bidding Documents. 

G. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the 
Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents. 

H. Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or 
discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and confirms that the 
written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder. 

I. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all 
terms and conditions for the performance and furnishing of the Work. 

J. The submission of this Bid constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that 
Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article, and that without exception the 
Bid and all prices in the Bid are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work 
required by the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 4 – BIDDER’S CERTIFICATION 

4.01 Bidder certifies that: 

A. This Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed 
individual or entity and is not submitted in conformity with any collusive agreement or 
rules of any group, association, organization, or corporation; 

B. Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false 
or sham Bid; 

C. Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and 

D. Bidder has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing 
for the Contract.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 4.01.D: 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of 
value likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process; 

2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to 
influence the bidding process to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish bid prices at 
artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and 
open competition; 

3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, 
with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish bid prices 
at artificial, non-competitive levels; and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 36 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page 3 

4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, 
persons or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or 
affect the e execution of the Contract. 

ARTICLE 5 – BASIS OF BID 

5.01 Bidder will complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents for the prices (s) 
indicated on the bid pages following this Section. 

ARTICLE 6 – TIME OF COMPLETION 

6.01 Bidder agrees that the Work will be substantially complete and will be completed and ready for 
final payment in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions on or before the 
dates or within the number of calendar days indicated in the Agreement. 

6.02 Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages. 

ARTICLE 7 – ATTACHMENTS TO THIS BID 

7.01 The following documents are submitted with and made a condition of this Bid: 

A. Required Bid security; 

B. Evidence of authority to do business in the state of the Project; or a written covenant to 
obtain such license within the time for acceptance of Bids; and 

C. Required Bidder Qualification Statement with supporting data (as applicable). 

ARTICLE 8 – DEFINED TERMS 

8.01 The terms used in this Bid with initial capital letters have the meanings stated in the Instructions 
to Bidders, the General Conditions, and the Supplementary Conditions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 37 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page 4 

 

ARTICLE 9 – BID SUBMITTAL 

BIDDER: [Indicate correct name of bidding entity] 

 

By: 
[Signature]  

[Printed name]  
(If Bidder is a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership, or a joint venture, attach 
evidence of authority to sign.) 

Attest: 
[Signature]  

[Printed name]  

Title:  

Submittal Date:  

Address for giving notices: 

 

 

 

Telephone Number:  

Fax Number:  

Contact Name and e-mail address:  

  

 

Note: Security companies executing bonds must be on the Treasury Department’s most current list 
(Circular 570 as amended) and they must be authorized to transact business in the state in 
which the work is to be performed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 38 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 5

Schedule A - Demo and Site Grading

A-1

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Mobilization 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-2

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Site Demolition & Clearing 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-3

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-4

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Site Surface Restoration 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Total Schedule A $

Including bonding, labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary to mobilize equipment to and from the site, as specified, for 
the following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for any demolition and removal of existing 
structures, trees, shrubs, and unsuitable material from the site prior to installation of the proposed facilities, as specified, for the 
following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all labor, materials, equipment and incidentals necessary for the approval and maintenance of the 
Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan, including silt fences, and other protection items, as required by NDEQ or local agency, as 
specified, for the following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary to restore the surface around the control 
building and site plan facilities including grading, seeding, gravel surface replacement, channel grading, and clean up to all areas 
affected by construction, as specified, for the following lump sum price:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 39 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.15 Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc.
Section 00410-7

TOTAL SCHEDULE A A-1 to A-5 $_______________

TOTAL BID $_______________

BID SUMMARY

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 40 / 578



PENAL SUM FORM 

EJCDC® C-430, Bid Bond (Penal Sum Form). Published 2013. 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.  

Page 1 of 2 
 

BID BOND 

Any singular reference to Bidder, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

BIDDER (Name and Address): 
  
  
  
SURETY (Name, and Address of Principal Place of Business): 
  
  
  
OWNER (Name and Address): 
  
  
  
BID 
 Bid Due Date:  
 Description (Project Name— Include Location): 
  
BOND 
 Bond Number:  
 Date:  
 Penal sum  $ 
  (Words)  (Figures) 
Surety and Bidder, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Bid Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 
BIDDER SURETY 
 (Seal)  (Seal) 
Bidder’s Name and Corporate Seal Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:  By:  
 Signature  Signature (Attach Power of Attorney) 
   
    
 Print Name  Print Name 
   
    
 Title  Title 
 
Attest:  Attest:  
 Signature  Signature 
   
 Title  Title 
Note: Addresses are to be used for giving any required notice. 
 Provide execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers, if necessary.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 41 / 578



PENAL SUM FORM 

EJCDC® C-430, Bid Bond (Penal Sum Form). Published 2013. 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.  

Page 2 of 2 
 

1. Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 
assigns to pay to Owner upon default of Bidder the penal sum set forth on the face of this Bond.  Payment of the 
penal sum is the extent of Bidder’s and Surety’s liability.  Recovery of such penal sum under the terms of this Bond 
shall be Owner’s sole and exclusive remedy upon default of Bidder.  

2. Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of Bidder to deliver within the time required by the Bidding 
Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding 
Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents. 

3. This obligation shall be null and void if: 

3.1 Owner accepts Bidder’s Bid and Bidder delivers within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or any 
extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding 
Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents, or 

3.2 All Bids are rejected by Owner, or 

3.3 Owner fails to issue a Notice of Award to Bidder within the time specified in the Bidding Documents (or any 
extension thereof agreed to in writing by Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety when required 
by Paragraph 5 hereof). 

4. Payment under this Bond will be due and payable upon default of Bidder and within 30 calendar days after 
receipt by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default from Owner, which notice will be given with reasonable 
promptness, identifying this Bond and the Project and including a statement of the amount due. 

5. Surety waives notice of any and all defenses based on or arising out of any time extension to issue Notice of 
Award agreed to in writing by Owner and Bidder, provided that the total time for issuing Notice of Award including 
extensions shall not in the aggregate exceed 120 days from the Bid due date without Surety’s written consent. 

6. No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default 
required in Paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and Surety and in no case later than one year after the Bid due 
date. 

7. Any suit or action under this Bond shall be commenced only in a court of competent jurisdiction located in the 
state in which the Project is located. 

8. Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and sent to Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses shown 
on the face of this Bond. Such notices may be sent by personal delivery, commercial courier, or by United States 
Registered or Certified Mail, return receipt requested, postage pre-paid, and shall be deemed to be effective upon 
receipt by the party concerned. 

9. Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a current and effective Power of Attorney evidencing the authority 
of the officer, agent, or representative who executed this Bond on behalf of Surety to execute, seal, and deliver such 
Bond and bind the Surety thereby. 

10. This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable statutory requirements. Any applicable requirement of any 
applicable statute that has been omitted from this Bond shall be deemed to be included herein as if set forth at 
length. If any provision of this Bond conflicts with any applicable statute, then the provision of said statute shall 
govern and the remainder of this Bond that is not in conflict therewith shall continue in full force and effect. 

11. The term “Bid” as used herein includes a Bid, offer, or proposal as applicable. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 42 / 578



EJCDC® C-510 (Rev. 1), Notice of Award. 
Prepared and published 2013 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.   

Page 1 of 1 
 

 
 

NOTICE OF AWARD 

Date of Issuance:    

Owner:   Owner's Contract No.:  

Engineer:  Engineer's Project No.:  

Project:  Contract Name:  

Bidder:  

Bidder’s Address:  

TO BIDDER: 

You are notified that Owner has accepted your Bid dated [_________________________________] for the above 
Contract, and that you are the Successful Bidder and are awarded a Contract for: 

 _____________________________________________________________________________________ . 
[describe Work, alternates, or sections of Work awarded] 

The Contract Price of the awarded Contract is:  $ _______ 

Three (3) unexecuted counterparts of the Agreement accompany this Notice of Award. 

You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date of this Notice of Award: 

 
1. Deliver to Owner three (3) counterparts of the Agreement, fully executed by Bidder. 

2. Deliver with the executed Agreement(s) the Contract security [e.g., performance and payment bonds] 
and insurance documentation as specified in the Instructions to Bidders and General Conditions, 
Articles 2 and 6.  

 
Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle Owner to consider you in default, 
annul this Notice of Award, and declare your Bid security forfeited.   

Within ten days after you comply with the above conditions, Owner will return to you one fully executed 
counterpart of the Agreement, together with any additional copies of the Contract Documents as indicated in 
Paragraph 2.02 of the General Conditions. 

  
                          

By: ________________________________________(Authorized Signature)__  

Title:   _Baker & Associates, Inc. (Engineer)_______________________________   

  
 ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE 
 
 Receipt of the above NOTICE OF AWARD is hereby acknowledged 

by               , 

this the __________________ day of ________________________ 20__. 

By         

Title         

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 43 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 1 
 

DOCUMENT 00520 AGREEMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of the ________ day of ___________________ 

in the year 20___ by and between 

_____________________________________ (hereinafter called OWNER) and 

_____________________________________ 

(hereinafter called CONTRACTOR). 

 

CONTRACT NAME:   23 Club Baseball Complex  

      Demolition and Site Grading 

 

OWNER and CONTRACTOR, in consideration of the mutual covenants 
hereinafter set forth, agree as follows: 

 
 
Article 1. WORK. 
 
 

CONTRACTOR shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract 
Documents.  The Work is described as follows: 

 
 ??To be completed when project is awarded?? 
 
 
 
 
 
Article 2. CONTRACT PRICE. 
 

2.1 OWNER shall pay CONTRACTOR for completion of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents in current funds as 
demonstrated on the attached Bid Forms with a total agreement price of 
$___________________ , as described in Article 1 above. 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 44 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 2 
 

Article 3. ENGINEER. 
 

The Project has been designed by Baker & Associates, Inc, 120 East 16th, Suite 
A, Scottsbluff, NE 69361, who is hereinafter called ENGINEER and who is to act 
as OWNER's representative, assume all duties and responsibilities and have the 
rights and authority assigned to ENGINEER in the Contract Documents in 
connection with completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. 

 
Article 4. CONTRACT TIME. 
 

4.1 The Work will be substantially completed within 30 days from the date 
when the Contract Time commences to run as provided in paragraph 4.01 
of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in 
accordance with paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions within 45 
days from the date when the Contract Time commences to run. 

 
4.2 Liquidated Damages. 

 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR recognize that time is of the essence of this 
Agreement and the OWNER will suffer financial loss if the Work is not 
completed within the times specified in paragraph 4.1 above, plus any 
extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 11 of the General 
Conditions.  They also recognize the delays, expense and difficulties 
involved in proving in a legal or arbitration preceding the actual loss 
suffered by OWNER if the Work is not completed on time.  Accordingly, 
instead of requiring any such proof, OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree 
that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty) 
CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER $300.00 for each day that expires after 
the time specified in paragraph 4.1 for Substantial Completion until the 
Work is substantially complete.  After Substantial Completion if 
CONTRACTOR shall neglect, refuse or fail to complete the remaining 
Work within the Contract Time or any proper extension thereof granted by 
OWNER,  CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER $300.00 for each day that 
expires after the time specified in paragraph 4.1 for completion and 
readiness for final payment.   

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 45 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 3 
 

Article 5. PAYMENT PROCEDURES. 
 

CONTRACTOR shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 
15 of the General Conditions.  Applications for Payment will be processed by 
ENGINEER as provided in the General Conditions. 

 
5.1 Progress Payments. 

 
OWNER shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price 
on the basis of CONTRACTOR's Applications for Payment as 
recommended by ENGINEER, on or about the last day of each month 
during construction as provided below.  All progress payments will be on 
the basis of the progress of the Work measured by the schedule of values 
established in paragraph 2.03 of the General Conditions (and in the case 
of Unit Price Work based on the number of units completed) or, in the 
event there is no schedule of values, as provided in the General 
Requirements. 

 
A. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in 

an amount equal to the percentage indicated below, but, in each 
case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less 
such amounts as ENGINEER shall determine, or OWNER may 
withhold, in accordance with paragraph 15.01.C.5 of the General 
Conditions.  

 
1. Payment shall be equal to 90% of Work completed (10% 

retainage).  If the Contract has reached the 50% completion 
status, as determined by ENGINEER, and if the character 
and progress of the Work have been satisfactory to OWNER 
and ENGINEER, OWNER on recommendation of 
ENGINEER, may determine that as long as the character 
and progress of the Work remain satisfactory to them, there 
will be a 5% retainage on account of Work completed in 
which case the remaining progress payments prior to 
Substantial Completion will be in an amount equal to 95% of 
the Work completed.   

 
2. Payment for materials shall be equal to 90% of materials 

and equipment not incorporated in the Work (but delivered, 
suitably stored and accompanied by documentation 
satisfactory to OWNER as provided in paragraph 15.02 of 
the General Conditions). 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 46 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 4 
 

B. Upon Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in 
an amount sufficient to increase total payments to CONTRACTOR 
to 100% of the Contract Price, less such amounts as ENGINEER 
shall determine, or OWNER may withhold, in accordance with 
paragraph 15.01.C.5 of the General Conditions. 

 
5.2 Final Payment. 

 
Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with 
paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions, OWNER shall pay the 
remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by ENGINEER as 
provided in said paragraph 15.06. 

 
Article 6. CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS. 
 
In order to induce OWNER to enter into this Agreement CONTRACTOR makes the 
following representations: 
 

6.1 CONTRACTOR has familiarized itself with the nature and extent of the 
Contract Documents, Work, site, locality, and all local conditions and 
Laws and Regulations that in any manner may affect cost, progress, 
performance or furnishing of the Work. 

 
6.2 CONTRACTOR has studied carefully all reports of explorations and tests 

of subsurface conditions and drawings of physical conditions which are 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 5.03 
of the General Conditions, and accepts the determination set forth in the 
Supplementary Conditions of the extent of the technical data contained in 
such reports and drawings upon which CONTRACTOR is entitled to reply. 

 
6.3 CONTRACTOR has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes 

responsibility for obtaining and carefully studying) all such examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, reports and studies (in addition to or to 
supplement those referred to in paragraph 6.2 above) which pertain to the 
subsurface or physical conditions at or contiguous to the site or otherwise 
may affect the cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the Work as 
CONTRACTOR considers necessary for the performance or furnishing of 
the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Time and in 
accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents, including specifically the provisions of paragraph 5.03 of the 
General Conditions; and no additional examinations, investigations, 
explorations, tests, reports, studies or similar information or data are or 
will be required by CONTRACTOR for such purposes. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 47 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 5 
 

 
6.4 CONTRACTOR has reviewed and checked all information and data 

shown or indicated on the Contract Documents with respect to existing 
Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site and assumes 
responsibility for the accurate location of said Underground Facilities.  No 
additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, 
studies or similar information or data in respect of said Underground 
Facilities are or will be required by CONTRACTOR in order to perform and 
furnish the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Time and in 
accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents, including specifically the provisions of paragraph 5.05 of the 
General Conditions. 

 
6.5 CONTRACTOR has correlated the results of all such observations, 

examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports and studies with 
the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents.  

  
6.6 CONTRACTOR has given ENGINEER written notice of all conflicts, errors 

or discrepancies that he has discovered in the Contract Documents and 
the written resolution thereof by ENGINEER is acceptable to 
CONTRACTOR.  

 
Article 7. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

 
The Contract Documents which comprise the entire agreement between OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR concerning the Work consist of the following: 
 
 7.1 This Agreement (pages 1 to 7, inclusive). 
 
 7.2 Exhibits to this Agreement including ______________________ 
 
 7.3 Notice of Award, identified as Document C-510 and consisting of 1 page. 
 
 7.4 Notice to Proceed, identified as Document C-550 and consisting of 1 

page 
 

7.5 Performance Bond, identified as Documents C-610 and consisting of 3 
pages. 

 
 7.6 Payment Bond, identified as Documents C-615 and consisting of 3 pages. 
 

7.7 General Conditions (pages 1 to 62, inclusive). 
 

7.8 Supplementary Conditions (Document 0800, inclusive). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 48 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 6 
 

 
7.9 Specifications bearing the title 23 Club Baseball Complex – Demolition 

and Site Grading  listed in table of contents thereof. 
 
7.10 Drawings bearing the title 23 Club Baseball Complex – Demolition and 

Site Grading as listed in the table of contents of the Specifications. 
 

7.11 Addenda numbers _________ to __________, inclusive. 
 

7.12 CONTRACTOR's Bid (Document C-410, inclusive). 
 

7.13 The following which may be delivered or issued after the Effective Date of 
the Agreement and are not attached hereto:  All Written Amendments and 
other documents amending, modifying, or supplementing the Contract 
Documents pursuant to paragraphs 11.01 of the General Conditions. 

 
7.14 The documents listed in paragraphs 7.2 et seq. above are attached to this 

Agreement (except as expressly noted otherwise above). 
 
There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 7.  The 
Contract Documents may only be amended, modified or supplemented as provided in 
paragraphs 11.01 of the General Conditions. 
 
Article 8. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 

8.1 Terms used in this Agreement which are defined in Article 1 of the 
General Conditions will have the meanings indicated in the General 
Conditions.   

 
8.2 No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the 

Contract Documents will be binding on another party hereto without the 
written consent of the party sought to be bound; and specifically but 
without limitation moneys that may become due and moneys that are due 
may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the 
effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically 
stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment no 
assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or 
responsibility under the Contract Documents. 

 
8.3 OWNER and CONTRACTOR each binds itself, its partners, successors, 

assigns and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, 
successors, assigns and legal representatives in respect of all covenants, 
agreements and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 49 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 7 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, OWNER and CONTRACTOR have signed this Agreement in 
triplicate.  One counterpart each has been delivered to OWNER, CONTRACTOR and 
ENGINEER.  All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or identified by 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR or by ENGINEER on their behalf. 
 
This Agreement will be effective on _______________________, 20__. 
  
OWNER        CONTRACTOR       

 
 

 
 

 
 
BY         BY         
 
TITLE        TITLE        
 
 
 
 

[CORPORATE SEAL]     [CORPORATE SEAL] 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest         Attest        
 
Mailing Address for giving notices    Mailing Address for giving notices 
 

 
 

 
(If OWNER is a public body,     License No.        
attach evidence of authority    
to sign and resolution or       Agent for service of process: 
other documents authorizing   
execution of Agreement).              

(If CONTRACTOR is a corporation, 
attach evidence of authority to sign.) 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 50 / 578



EJCDC® C-550, Notice to Proceed.  
Prepared and published 2013 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.   

Page 1 of 1 

 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
Owner:  Owner's Contract No.:  

Contractor:  Contractor’s Project No.:  

Engineer:  Engineer's Project No.:  

Project:  Contract Name:   

  Effective Date of Contract:  

 
TO CONTRACTOR: 
 
 Owner hereby notifies Contractor that the Contract Times under the above Contract will commence to run on 
[_____________________, 20__].  [see Paragraph 4.01 of the General Conditions] 
 
On that date, Contractor shall start performing its obligations under the Contract Documents.  No Work shall be 
done at the Site prior to such date.  In accordance with the Agreement, [the date of Substantial Completion is 
________________________, and the date of readiness for final payment is_____________________] or [the 
number of days to achieve Substantial Completion is _____________________, and the number of days to 
achieve readiness for final payment is _____________________]. 
 

Before starting any Work at the Site, Contractor must comply with the following:  
[Note any access limitations, security procedures, or other restrictions] 

Owner:  

  

 Authorized Signature 
By:  

Title:  
Date Issued:  

 
 
 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE - CONTRACTOR 
 
 Receipt of the above NOTICE TO PROCEED is hereby acknowledged 

by               , 

this the __________________ day of ________________________ 20__. 

By          Title         
 
  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 51 / 578



EJCDC® C-610, Performance Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          1 of 3 
 

 

PERFORMANCE BOND 

CONTRACTOR (name and address): 
 
 
 
 

SURETY (name and address of principal place of business): 
 
 
 

OWNER (name and address): 
 
 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

Effective Date of the Agreement: 
Amount: 
Description (name and location):  

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): 
Amount: 
Modifications to this Bond Form:            None               See Paragraph 16 

 

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Performance Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL  SURETY 

  (seal)    (seal) 
Contractor’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:     By:   
       Signature   Signature (attach power of attorney) 
 
        
Print Name    Print Name 
 
        
Title    Title 
 
Attest:    Attest:    
 Signature   Signature  
 
        
Title    Title 
 
Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to 
Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 52 / 578



EJCDC® C-610, Performance Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          2 of 3 
 

1.  The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 
themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 
assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Construction 
Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

2.  If the Contractor performs the Construction Contract, the Surety 
and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond, except 
when applicable to participate in a conference as provided in 
Paragraph 3. 

3.  If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, 
the Surety’s obligation under this Bond shall arise after: 

3.1  The Owner first provides notice to the Contractor and 
the Surety that the Owner is considering declaring a Contractor 
Default. Such notice shall indicate whether the Owner is 
requesting a conference among the Owner, Contractor, and 
Surety to discuss the Contractor’s performance.  If the Owner 
does not request a conference, the Surety may, within five (5) 
business days after receipt of the Owner’s notice, request such a 
conference.  If the Surety timely requests a conference, the 
Owner shall attend.  Unless the Owner agrees otherwise, any 
conference requested under this Paragraph 3.1 shall be held 
within ten (10) business days of the Surety’s receipt of the 
Owner’s notice.  If the Owner, the Contractor, and the Surety 
agree, the Contractor shall be allowed a reasonable time to 
perform the Construction Contract, but such an agreement shall 
not waive the Owner’s right, if any, subsequently to declare a 
Contractor Default;  

3.2  The Owner declares a Contractor Default, terminates 
the Construction Contract and notifies the Surety; and 

3.3  The Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the 
Contract Price in accordance with the terms of the Construction 
Contract to the Surety or to a contractor selected to perform the 
Construction Contract. 

4.  Failure on the part of the Owner to comply with the notice 
requirement in Paragraph 3.1 shall not constitute a failure to comply 
with a condition precedent to the Surety’s obligations, or release the 
Surety from its obligations, except to the extent the Surety 
demonstrates actual prejudice. 

5.  When the Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, the 
Surety shall promptly and at the Surety’s expense take one of the 
following actions: 

5.1  Arrange for the Contractor, with the consent of the 
Owner, to perform and complete the Construction Contract; 

5.2  Undertake to perform and complete the Construction 
Contract itself, through its agents or independent contractors; 

5.3  Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified 
contractors acceptable to the Owner for a contract for 
performance and completion of the Construction Contract, 
arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the 
Owner and a contractor selected with the Owners concurrence, 
to be secured with performance and payment bonds executed 

by a qualified surety equivalent to the bonds issued on the 
Construction Contract, and pay to the Owner the amount of 
damages as described in Paragraph 7 in excess of the Balance of 
the Contract Price incurred by the Owner as a result of the 
Contractor Default; or 

5.4  Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for 
completion, or obtain a new contractor, and with reasonable 
promptness under the circumstances: 

5.4.1  After investigation, determine the amount for 
which it may be liable to the Owner and, as soon as 
practicable after the amount is determined, make payment 
to the Owner; or 

5.4.2  Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the 
Owner, citing the reasons for denial. 

6. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 5 with 
reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default 
on this Bond seven days after receipt of an additional written notice 
from the Owner to the Surety demanding that the Surety perform its 
obligations under this Bond, and the Owner shall be entitled to 
enforce any remedy available to the Owner.  If the Surety proceeds as 
provided in Paragraph 5.4, and the Owner refuses the payment or the 
Surety has denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice 
the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the 
Owner. 

7. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.2, or 5.3, then 
the responsibilities of the Surety to the Owner shall not be greater 
than those of the Contractor under the Construction Contract, and 
the responsibilities of the Owner to the Surety shall not be greater 
than those of the Owner under the Construction Contract.  Subject to 
the commitment by the Owner to pay the Balance of the Contract 
Price, the Surety is obligated, without duplication for: 

7.1  the responsibilities of the Contractor for correction of 
defective work and completion of the Construction Contract; 

7.2  additional legal, design professional, and delay costs 
resulting from the Contractor’s Default, and resulting from the 
actions or failure to act of the Surety under Paragraph 5; and 

7.3 liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are 
specified in the Construction Contract, actual damages caused by 
delayed performance or non-performance of the Contractor. 

8. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.3, or 5.4, the 
Surety’s liability is limited to the amount of this Bond. 

9. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner or others for 
obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction 
Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced 
or set off on account of any such unrelated obligations.  No right of 
action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than 
the Owner or its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 
assigns. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 53 / 578



EJCDC® C-610, Performance Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          3 of 3 
 

10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including 
changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related 
subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.  

11. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be 
instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in 
which the work or part of the work is located and shall be instituted 
within two years after a declaration of Contractor Default or within 
two years after the Contractor ceased working or within two years 
after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this 
Bond, whichever occurs first.  If the provisions of this paragraph are 
void or prohibited by law, the minimum periods of limitations 
available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be 
applicable. 

12. Notice to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be 
mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their 
signature appears. 

13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory 
or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was 
to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said 
statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and 
provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement 
shall be deemed incorporated herein.  When so furnished, the intent 
is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a 
common law bond. 

14. Definitions 

14.1  Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount 
payable by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction 
Contract after all proper adjustments have been made including 
allowance for the Contractor for any amounts received or to be 
received by the Owner in settlement of insurance or other claims 

for damages to which the Contractor is entitled, reduced by all 
valid and proper payments made to or on behalf of the 
Contractor under the Construction Contract. 

14.2  Construction Contract: The agreement between the 
Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all 
Contract Documents and changes made to the agreement and 
the Contract Documents. 

14.3  Contractor Default: Failure of the Contractor, which 
has not been remedied or waived, to perform or otherwise to 
comply with a material term of the Construction Contract. 

14.4  Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not 
been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required 
under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or 
comply with the other material terms of the Construction 
Contract. 

14.5  Contract Documents: All the documents that comprise 
the agreement between the Owner and Contractor. 

15. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and 
subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to 
be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be 
Contractor. 

16. Modifications to this Bond are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 54 / 578



EJCDC® C-615, Payment Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          1 of 3 

PAYMENT BOND 

CONTRACTOR (name and address):  

 

 

 

SURETY (name and address of principal place of business): 

 

 

 

OWNER (name and address): 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
Effective Date of the Agreement: 
Amount: 
Description (name and location): 
 

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): 
Amount: 
Modifications to this Bond Form:            None              See Paragraph 18 

 
  

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Payment Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY 

  (seal)    (seal) 
Contractor’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:     By:                                                                
 Signature  Signature (attach power of attorney) 
 
      
Print Name   Print Name 
 
      
Title   Title 
 
Attest:     Attest:    
 Signature   Signature  
 
        
Title   Title 
 
Notes:  (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference 
to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 55 / 578



EJCDC® C-615, Payment Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          2 of 3 

 
1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 

themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns to the Owner to pay for labor, 
materials, and equipment furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract, which is 
incorporated herein by reference, subject to the following 
terms. 

2. If the Contractor promptly makes payment of all sums due 
to Claimants, and defends, indemnifies, and holds 
harmless the Owner from claims, demands, liens, or suits 
by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, 
materials, or equipment furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract, then the Surety 
and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this 
Bond. 

3.  If there is no Owner Default under the Construction 
Contract, the Surety’s obligation to the Owner under this 
Bond shall arise after the Owner has promptly notified the 
Contractor and the Surety (at the address described in 
Paragraph 13) of claims, demands, liens, or suits against 
the Owner or the Owner’s property by any person or 
entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment 
furnished for use in the performance of the Construction 
Contract, and tendered defense of such claims, demands, 
liens, or suits to the Contractor and the Surety. 

4. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions in Paragraph 
3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety’s expense 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner against a 
duly tendered claim, demand, lien, or suit. 

5. The Surety’s obligations to a Claimant under this Bond 
shall arise after the following: 

5.1  Claimants who do not have a direct contract with 
the Contractor, 

 
5.1.1 have furnished a written notice of non-

payment to the Contractor, stating with 
substantial accuracy the amount claimed 
and the name of the party to whom the 
materials were, or equipment was, 
furnished or supplied or for whom the 
labor was done or performed, within 
ninety (90) days after having last 
performed labor or last furnished 
materials or equipment included in the 
Claim; and 

 
5.1.2 have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the 

address described in Paragraph 13). 

5.2  Claimants who are employed by or have a direct 
contract with the Contractor have sent a Claim to 
the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 
13). 

6. If a notice of non-payment required by Paragraph 5.1.1 is 
given by the Owner to the Contractor, that is sufficient to 
satisfy a Claimant’s obligation to furnish a written notice of 
non-payment under Paragraph 5.1.1. 

7. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 
5.1 or 5.2, whichever is applicable, the Surety shall 
promptly and at the Surety’s expense take the following 
actions: 

7.1 Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the 
Owner, within sixty (60) days after receipt of the 
Claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and 
the basis for challenging any amounts that are 
disputed; and 

7.2 Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed 
amounts. 

7.3 The Surety’s failure to discharge its obligations 
under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2 shall not be deemed to 
constitute a waiver of defenses the Surety or 
Contractor may have or acquire as to a Claim, 
except as to undisputed amounts for which the 
Surety and Claimant have reached agreement.  If, 
however, the Surety fails to discharge its 
obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2, the Surety 
shall indemnify the Claimant for the reasonable 
attorney’s fees the Claimant incurs thereafter to 
recover any sums found to be due and owing to 
the Claimant. 

8. The Surety’s total obligation shall not exceed the amount 
of this Bond, plus the amount of reasonable attorney’s 
fees provided under Paragraph 7.3, and the amount of this 
Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good 
faith by the Surety. 

9.  Amounts owed by the Owner to the Contractor under the 
Construction Contract shall be used for the performance 
of the Construction Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, 
under any construction performance bond.  By the 
Contractor furnishing and the Owner accepting this Bond, 
they agree that all funds earned by the Contractor in the 
performance of the Construction Contract are dedicated 
to satisfy obligations of the Contractor and Surety under 
this Bond, subject to the Owner’s priority to use the funds 
for the completion of the work. 

10. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner, Claimants, or 
others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated 
to the Construction Contract.  The Owner shall not be 
liable for the payment of any costs or expenses of any 
Claimant under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond 
no obligation to make payments to or give notice on 
behalf of Claimants, or otherwise have any obligations to 
Claimants under this Bond. 

11. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including 
changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related 
subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 56 / 578



EJCDC® C-615, Payment Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          3 of 3 

12. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under 
this Bond other than in a court of competent jurisdiction in 
the state in which the project that is the subject of the 
Construction Contract is located or after the expiration of 
one year from the date (1) on which the Claimant sent a 
Claim to the Surety pursuant to Paragraph 5.1.2 or 5.2, or 
(2) on which the last labor or service was performed by 
anyone or the last materials or equipment were furnished 
by anyone under the Construction Contract, whichever of 
(1) or (2) first occurs.  If the provisions of this paragraph 
are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of 
limitation available to sureties as a defense in the 
jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 

13. Notice and Claims to the Surety, the Owner, or the 
Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address 
shown on the page on which their signature appears.  
Actual receipt of notice or Claims, however accomplished, 
shall be sufficient compliance as of the date received. 

14. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a 
statutory or other legal requirement in the location where 
the construction was to be performed, any provision in 
this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal 
requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and 
provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal 
requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein.  When 
so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed 
as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond. 

15. Upon requests by any person or entity appearing to be a 
potential beneficiary of this Bond, the Contractor and 
Owner shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall 
permit a copy to be made. 

16. Definitions 

16.1  Claim: A written statement by the Claimant 
including at a minimum: 

1.  The name of the Claimant; 
2.  The name of the person for whom the labor 

was done, or materials or equipment 
furnished;  

3. A copy of the agreement or purchase order 
pursuant to which labor, materials, or 
equipment was furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract; 

4.  A brief description of the labor, materials, or 
equipment furnished; 

5.  The date on which the Claimant last 
performed labor or last furnished materials or 
equipment for use in the performance of the 
Construction Contract; 

6. The total amount earned by the Claimant for 
labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of 
the date of the Claim; 

7. The total amount of previous payments 
received by the Claimant; and 

8. The total amount due and unpaid to the 
Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment 
furnished as of the date of the Claim. 

16.2  Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct 
contract with the Contractor or with a 
subcontractor of the Contractor to furnish labor, 
materials, or equipment for use in the performance 
of the Construction Contract. The term Claimant 
also includes any individual or entity that has 
rightfully asserted a claim under an applicable 
mechanic’s lien or similar statute against the real 
property upon which the Project is located. The 
intent of this Bond shall be to include without 
limitation in the terms of “labor, materials, or 
equipment” that part of the water, gas, power, 
light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service, or 
rental equipment used in the Construction 
Contract, architectural and engineering services 
required for performance of the work of the 
Contractor and the Contractor’s subcontractors, 
and all other items for which a mechanic’s lien may 
be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, 
materials, or equipment were furnished. 

16.3  Construction Contract: The agreement between 
the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover 
page, including all Contract Documents and all 
changes made to the agreement and the Contract 
Documents. 

16.4  Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has 
not been remedied or waived, to pay the 
Contractor as required under the Construction 
Contract or to perform and complete or comply 
with the other material terms of the Construction 
Contract. 

16.5  Contract Documents: All the documents that 
comprise the agreement between the Owner and 
Contractor. 

17.  If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a 
contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this 
Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term 
Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor. 

18. Modifications to this Bond are as follows: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 57 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved. 

 

This document has important legal consequences; consultation with an attorney is encouraged with 
respect to its use or modification.  This document should be adapted to the particular circumstances of 
the contemplated Project and the controlling Laws and Regulations. 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS 
OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 58 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved. 

These General Conditions have been prepared for use with the Agreement Between Owner and 
Contractor for Construction Contract (EJCDC® C-520, Stipulated Sum, or C-525, Cost-Plus, 2013 Editions). 
Their provisions are interrelated and a change in one may necessitate a change in the other. 

To prepare supplementary conditions that are coordinated with the General Conditions, use EJCDC’s 
Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions (EJCDC® C-800, 2013 Edition). The full EJCDC 
Construction series of documents is discussed in the Commentary on the 2013 EJCDC Construction 
Documents (EJCDC® C-001, 2013 Edition). 

 

 

Copyright © 2013: 

 

National Society of Professional Engineers 

1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 

(703) 684-2882 

www.nspe.org 

 

American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 

(202) 347-7474 

www.acec.org 

 

American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 

(800) 548-2723 

www.asce.org 

 

 

 

The copyright for this document is owned jointly by the three sponsoring organizations listed above.  
The National Society of Professional Engineers is the Copyright Administrator for the EJCDC documents; 
please direct all inquiries regarding EJCDC copyrights to NSPE. 

 

NOTE: EJCDC publications may be purchased at www.ejcdc.org, or from any of the sponsoring 
organizations above. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 59 / 578

http://www.nspe.org/
http://www.acec.org/
http://www.asce.org/
http://www.ejcdc.org/


EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page i 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 
Article 1 – Definitions and Terminology ......................................................................................... 1 

1.01 Defined Terms ........................................................................................................................ 1 

1.02 Terminology ........................................................................................................................... 5 

Article 2 – Preliminary Matters ....................................................................................................... 6 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance ........................................................................ 6 

2.02 Copies of Documents ............................................................................................................. 6 

2.03 Before Starting Construction ................................................................................................. 6 

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives ........................... 7 

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules ............................................................................................. 7 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals ........................................................................................................... 7 

Article 3 – Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse .................................................................... 8 

3.01 Intent ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

3.02 Reference Standards .............................................................................................................. 8 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies ................................................................................. 8 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents ............................................................................ 9 

3.05 Reuse of Documents ............................................................................................................ 10 

Article 4 – Commencement and Progress of the Work ................................................................ 10 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed ...................................................... 10 

4.02 Starting the Work ................................................................................................................. 10 

4.03 Reference Points .................................................................................................................. 10 

4.04 Progress Schedule ................................................................................................................ 10 

4.05 Delays in Contractor’s Progress ........................................................................................... 11 

Article 5 – Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

5.01 Availability of Lands ............................................................................................................. 12 

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas ................................................................................................. 12 

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions ..................................................................................... 13 

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions ........................................................................ 14 

5.05 Underground Facilities ......................................................................................................... 15 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 60 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page ii 

 

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site ...................................................................... 17 

Article 6 – Bonds and Insurance ................................................................................................... 19 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds ........................................................................... 19 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions ............................................................................................ 19 

6.03 Contractor’s Insurance ......................................................................................................... 20 

6.04 Owner’s Liability Insurance .................................................................................................. 23 

6.05 Property Insurance ............................................................................................................... 23 

6.06 Waiver of Rights ................................................................................................................... 25 

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds ................................................... 25 

Article 7 – Contractor’s Responsibilities ....................................................................................... 26 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence ....................................................................................... 26 

7.02 Labor; Working Hours .......................................................................................................... 26 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment ..................................................................................... 26 

7.04 “Or Equals” ........................................................................................................................... 27 

7.05 Substitutes ........................................................................................................................... 28 

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others ............................................................. 29 

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties .................................................................................................... 31 

7.08 Permits ................................................................................................................................. 31 

7.09 Taxes .................................................................................................................................... 32 

7.10 Laws and Regulations ........................................................................................................... 32 

7.11 Record Documents ............................................................................................................... 32 

7.12 Safety and Protection ........................................................................................................... 32 

7.13 Safety Representative .......................................................................................................... 33 

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs ....................................................................................... 33 

7.15 Emergencies ......................................................................................................................... 34 

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals .................................................................. 34 

7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee................................................................... 36 

7.18 Indemnification .................................................................................................................... 37 

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services ......................................................................... 37 

Article 8 – Other Work at the Site ................................................................................................ 38 

8.01 Other Work .......................................................................................................................... 38 

8.02 Coordination ........................................................................................................................ 39 

8.03 Legal Relationships ............................................................................................................... 39 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 61 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page iii 

 

Article 9 – Owner’s Responsibilities .............................................................................................. 40 

9.01 Communications to Contractor ............................................................................................ 40 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer ..................................................................................................... 40 

9.03 Furnish Data ......................................................................................................................... 40 

9.04 Pay When Due ...................................................................................................................... 40 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings .......................................................... 40 

9.06 Insurance .............................................................................................................................. 40 

9.07 Change Orders ...................................................................................................................... 40 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals ........................................................................................ 41 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities .............................................................................. 41 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition ............................................................... 41 

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements .................................................................................... 41 

9.12 Safety Programs ................................................................................................................... 41 

Article 10 – Engineer’s Status During Construction ...................................................................... 41 

10.01 Owner’s Representative ....................................................................................................... 41 

10.02 Visits to Site .......................................................................................................................... 41 

10.03 Project Representative ......................................................................................................... 42 

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work ..................................................................................................... 42 

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments .................................................................... 42 

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work .................................................................................... 42 

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work ................ 42 

10.08 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities .................................................... 42 

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program ......................................................................................... 43 

Article 11 – Amending the Contract Documents; Changes in the Work ...................................... 43 

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents .......................................................... 43 

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work ............................................................................. 44 

11.03 Unauthorized Changes in the Work ..................................................................................... 44 

11.04 Change of Contract Price ..................................................................................................... 44 

11.05 Change of Contract Times .................................................................................................... 45 

11.06 Change Proposals ................................................................................................................. 45 

11.07 Execution of Change Orders ................................................................................................. 46 

11.08 Notification to Surety ........................................................................................................... 47 

Article 12 – Claims ......................................................................................................................... 47 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 62 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page iv 

 

12.01 Claims ................................................................................................................................... 47 

Article 13 – Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work ........................................................ 48 

13.01 Cost of the Work .................................................................................................................. 48 

13.02 Allowances ........................................................................................................................... 50 

13.03 Unit Price Work .................................................................................................................... 51 

Article 14 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work ....... 52 

14.01 Access to Work ..................................................................................................................... 52 

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals ........................................................................................ 52 

14.03 Defective Work..................................................................................................................... 53 

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work ............................................................................................. 53 

14.05 Uncovering Work ................................................................................................................. 53 

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work .................................................................................................. 54 

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work .................................................................................... 54 

Article 15 – Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period .......................... 55 

15.01 Progress Payments ............................................................................................................... 55 

15.02 Contractor’s Warranty of Title ............................................................................................. 58 

15.03 Substantial Completion ........................................................................................................ 58 

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy ..................................................................................................... 59 

15.05 Final Inspection .................................................................................................................... 59 

15.06 Final Payment ....................................................................................................................... 59 

15.07 Waiver of Claims .................................................................................................................. 61 

15.08 Correction Period ................................................................................................................. 61 

Article 16 – Suspension of Work and Termination ....................................................................... 62 

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work .................................................................................................. 62 

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause ......................................................................................... 62 

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience ............................................................................. 63 

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate ............................................................................ 63 

Article 17 – Final Resolution of Disputes ...................................................................................... 64 

17.01 Methods and Procedures ..................................................................................................... 64 

Article 18 – Miscellaneous ............................................................................................................ 64 

18.01 Giving Notice ........................................................................................................................ 64 

18.02 Computation of Times .......................................................................................................... 64 

18.03 Cumulative Remedies .......................................................................................................... 64 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 63 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page v 

 

18.04 Limitation of Damages ......................................................................................................... 65 

18.05 No Waiver ............................................................................................................................ 65 

18.06 Survival of Obligations ......................................................................................................... 65 

18.07 Controlling Law .................................................................................................................... 65 

18.08 Headings ............................................................................................................................... 65 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 64 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 1 of 65 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 

1.01 Defined Terms 

A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with 
initial capital letters, including the term’s singular and plural forms, will have the meaning 
indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with 
initial capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and 
paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms. 

1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which 
clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract 
Documents. 

2. Agreement—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Contractor, that sets 
forth the Contract Price and Contract Times, identifies the parties and the Engineer, 
and designates the specific items that are Contract Documents. 

3. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by 
Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and 
which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the 
Contract Documents. 

4. Bid—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices 
for the Work to be performed. 

5. Bidder—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner. 

6. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements, the proposed Contract Documents, 
and all Addenda. 

7. Bidding Requirements—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, 
Bid Bond or other Bid security, if any, the Bid Form, and the Bid with any attachments. 

8. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes 
an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or 
the Contract Times, or other revision to the Contract, issued on or after the Effective 
Date of the Contract. 

9. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with 
the procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price 
or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the 
requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the 
Contract Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other 
relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. 

10. Claim—(a) A demand or assertion by Owner directly to Contractor, duly submitted in 
compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein: seeking an adjustment 
of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer 
concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work 
under the Contract Documents; contesting Engineer’s decision regarding a Change 
Proposal; seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to 
address; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract; or (b) a 
demand or assertion by Contractor directly to Owner, duly submitted in compliance 
with the procedural requirements set forth herein, contesting Engineer’s decision 
regarding a Change Proposal; or seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 65 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 2 of 65 

has declined to address. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a 
Claim. 

11. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated 
biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other 
material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed 
pursuant to (a) the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. (“CERCLA”); (b) the Hazardous Materials 
Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§5101 et seq.; (c) the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq. (“RCRA”); (d) the Toxic Substances Control Act, 
15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; (e) the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; (f) the 
Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.; or (g) any other federal, state, or local statute, 
law, rule, regulation, ordinance, resolution, code, order, or decree regulating, relating 
to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or 
dangerous waste, substance, or material. 

12. Contract—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner and 
Contractor concerning the Work. 

13. Contract Documents—Those items so designated in the Agreement, and which 
together comprise the Contract. 

14. Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion 
of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. . 

15. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall: (a) 
achieve Milestones, if any; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the 
Work. 

16. Contractor—The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for 
performance of the Work. 

17. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 13.01 for definition. 

18. Drawings—The part of the Contract that graphically shows the scope, extent, and 
character of the Work to be performed by Contractor. 

19. Effective Date of the Contract—The date, indicated in the Agreement, on which the 
Contract becomes effective. 

20. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement. 

21. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the 
Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times. 

22. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Constituents of 
Concern in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or 
property exposed thereto.  The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for 
the execution of the Work, or that are to be incorporated in the Work, and that are 
controlled and contained pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and 
the requirements of the Contract, does not establish a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition. 

23. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, 
rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, 
agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 66 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 3 of 65 

24. Liens—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Contract-related funds, real 
property, or personal property. 

25. Milestone—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Contract 
requires Contractor to achieve by an intermediate completion date or by a time prior 
to Substantial Completion of all the Work. 

26. Notice of Award—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner’s acceptance of 
the Bid. 

27. Notice to Proceed—A written notice by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which 
the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to 
perform the Work. 

28. Owner—The individual or entity with which Contractor has contracted regarding the 
Work, and which has agreed to pay Contractor for the performance of the Work, 
pursuant to the terms of the Contract. 

29. Progress Schedule—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing 
the sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor’s plan to 
accomplish the Work within the Contract Times. 

30. Project—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, 
contractors, and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, 
commissioning, and start-up, and of which the Work to be performed under the 
Contract Documents is a part. 

31. Project Manual—The written documents prepared for, or made available for, 
procuring and constructing the Work, including but not limited to the Bidding 
Documents or other construction procurement documents, geotechnical and existing 
conditions information, the Agreement, bond forms, General Conditions, 
Supplementary Conditions, and Specifications. The contents of the Project Manual 
may be bound in one or more volumes. 

32. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned 
to assist Engineer at the Site. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative 
or “RPR” includes any assistants or field staff of Resident Project Representative. 

33. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are 
representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which 
such portion of the Work will be judged. 

34. Schedule of Submittals—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of 
required submittals and the time requirements for Engineer’s review of the submittals 
and the performance of related construction activities. 

35. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating 
portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for 
reviewing Contractor’s Applications for Payment. 

36. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or 
information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and 
submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work.  Shop Drawings, 
whether approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 67 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 4 of 65 

37. Site—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner 
upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and 
such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor. 

38. Specifications—The part of the Contract that consists of written requirements for 
materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, 
and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable to the 
Work. 

39. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with 
any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work. 

40. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 
progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified 
part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so 
that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it 
is intended. The terms “substantially complete” and “substantially completed” as 
applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. 

41. Successful Bidder—The Bidder whose Bid the Owner accepts, and to which the Owner 
makes an award of contract, subject to stated conditions. 

42. Supplementary Conditions—The part of the Contract that amends or supplements 
these General Conditions. 

43. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor 
having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials 
or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor. 

44. Technical Data—Those items expressly identified as Technical Data in the 
Supplementary Conditions, with respect to either (a) subsurface conditions at the Site, 
or physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site 
(except Underground Facilities) or (b) Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site. 
If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to 
conditions at the Site, then the data contained in boring logs, recorded measurements 
of subsurface water levels, laboratory test results, and other factual, objective 
information regarding conditions at the Site that are set forth in any geotechnical or 
environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor are 
hereby defined as Technical Data with respect to conditions at the Site under 
Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.06. 

45. Underground Facilities—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, 
manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any 
encasements containing such facilities, including but not limited to those that convey 
electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other 
communications, fiber optic transmissions, cable television, water, wastewater, storm 
water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. 

46. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices. 

47. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof 
required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the 
result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to 
produce such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and 
equipment into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, 
start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 68 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 5 of 65 

48. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the 
Effective Date of the Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, 
ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work. 

1.02 Terminology 

A. The words and terms discussed in the following paragraphs are not defined but, when used 
in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning. 

B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives: 

1. The Contract Documents include the terms “as allowed,” “as approved,” “as ordered,” 
“as directed” or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional 
judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives “reasonable,” “suitable,” 
“acceptable,” “proper,” “satisfactory,” or adjectives of like effect or import are used to 
describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that 
such exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to 
evaluate, in general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract 
Documents and with the design concept of the Project as a functioning whole as 
shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement 
indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is not intended to and 
shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct 
the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility 
contrary to the provisions of Article 10 or any other provision of the Contract 
Documents. 

C. Day: 

1. The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next 
midnight. 

D. Defective: 

1. The word “defective,” when modifying the word “Work,” refers to Work that is 
unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it: 

a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or 

b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, 
test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or 

c. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment (unless 
responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at 
Substantial Completion in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or 15.04). 

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide: 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, 
shall mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or 
some other specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable 
condition. 

2. The word “install,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, 
shall mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or 
equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 69 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 6 of 65 

3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used in connection with services, materials, 
or equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment 
complete and ready for intended use. 

4. If the Contract Documents establish an obligation of Contractor with respect to 
specific services, materials, or equipment, but do not expressly use any of the four 
words “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “provide,” then Contractor shall furnish and 
install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-
known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract 
Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning. 

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance 

A. Bonds: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, 
Contractor shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish. 

B. Evidence of Contractor’s Insurance: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of 
the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each 
named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or 
elsewhere in the Contract), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be 
provided by Contractor in accordance with Article 6. 

C. Evidence of Owner’s Insurance: After receipt of the executed counterparts of the 
Agreement and all required bonds and insurance documentation, Owner shall promptly 
deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions or otherwise), the certificates and other 
evidence of insurance required to be provided by Owner under Article 6. 

2.02 Copies of Documents 

A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor four printed copies of the Contract (including one fully 
executed counterpart of the Agreement), and one copy in electronic portable document 
format (PDF). Additional printed copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of 
reproduction. 

B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the 
Contract, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other 
design professionals.  Owner shall make such original printed record version of the Contract 
available to Contractor for review. Owner may delegate the responsibilities under this 
provision to Engineer. 

2.03   Before Starting Construction 

A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Contract (or as 
otherwise specifically required by the Contract Documents), Contractor shall submit to 
Engineer for timely review: 

1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for 
starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones 
specified in the Contract; 

2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 70 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 7 of 65 

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and 
prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides 
the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress 
payments during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate 
amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work. 

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives 

A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, 
Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding 
among the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 
2.03.A, procedures for handling Shop Drawings, Samples, and other submittals, processing 
Applications for Payment, electronic or digital transmittals, and maintaining required 
records. 

B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific 
individual to act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and 
responsibilities under the Contract.  Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit 
and receive information, render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on 
behalf of each respective party. 

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules 

A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference, 
attended by Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate, will be held to review for 
acceptability to Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with 
Paragraph 2.03.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and 
adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be 
made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer. 

1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly 
progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance 
will not impose on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, 
scheduling, or progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from 
Contractor’s full responsibility therefor. 

2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a 
workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals. 

3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and 
substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component 
parts of the Work. 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals 

A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract, the Owner, Engineer, and Contractor 
may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, text, data, documents, 
drawings, information, and graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other 
submittals, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, or through access to a 
secure Project website. 

B. If the Contract does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then 
Owner, Engineer, and Contractor shall jointly develop such protocols. 

C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes 
no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items 
resulting from the recipient’s use of software application packages, operating systems, or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 71 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 8 of 65 

computer hardware differing from those used in the drafting or transmittal of the items, or 
from those established in applicable transmittal protocols. 

ARTICLE 3 – DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE 

3.01 Intent 

A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if 
required by all. 

B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or 
part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the 
electronic or digital versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies 
derived from such electronic or digital versions) and the printed record version, the printed 
record version shall govern. 

D. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether 
written or oral. 

E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided 
herein. 

3.02 Reference Standards 

A. Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations 

1. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, reference 
standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or 
Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the 
standard specification, manual, reference standard, code, or Laws or Regulations in 
effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Contract if there 
were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract 
Documents. 

2. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, 
or any instruction of a Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or 
responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, 
consultants, agents, or employees, from those set forth in the part of the Contract 
Documents prepared by or for Engineer. No such provision or instruction shall be 
effective to assign to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to 
supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake 
responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents 
prepared by or for Engineer. 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 

A. Reporting Discrepancies: 

1. Contractor’s Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each 
part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check 
and verify pertinent figures and dimensions therein, particularly with respect to 
applicable field measurements. Contractor shall promptly report in writing to Engineer 
any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy that Contractor discovers, or has actual 
knowledge of, and shall not proceed with any Work affected thereby until the conflict, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 72 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 9 of 65 

error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by 
Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued 
pursuant to Paragraph 11.01. 

2. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents: If, before or during the performance of 
the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within 
the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable 
Law or Regulation, (b) actual field conditions, (c) any standard specification, manual, 
reference standard, or code, or (d) any instruction of any Supplier, then Contractor 
shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall not proceed with the 
Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15) until 
the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or 
interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract 
Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01. 

3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, 
error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had 
actual knowledge thereof. 

B. Resolving Discrepancies: 

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the 
provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer shall 
take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between 
such provisions of the Contract Documents and: 

a. the provisions of any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, 
or the instruction of any Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by 
reference as a Contract Document); or 

b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the 
Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents 
would result in violation of such Law or Regulation). 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents 

A. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall 
submit to the Engineer all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract 
Documents (sometimes referred to as requests for information or interpretation—RFIs), or 
relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, as soon as possible 
after such matters arise. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the 
Contract Documents, and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder. 

B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or 
decision on the issue submitted, or initiate an amendment or supplement to the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s written clarification, interpretation, or decision will be final and 
binding on Contractor, unless it appeals by submitting a Change Proposal, and on Owner, 
unless it appeals by filing a Claim. 

C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the 
Contract Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or 
otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will promptly give 
written notice to Owner and Contractor that Engineer is unable to provide a decision or 
interpretation. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on resolution of such a matter 
in question, either party may pursue resolution as provided in Article 12. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 73 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 10 of 65 

3.05 Reuse of Documents 

A. Contractor and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not: 

1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, 
or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of 
Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions, or reuse any such 
Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the 
Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and 
specific written verification or adaptation by Engineer; or 

2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse 
any such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner’s express written 
consent, or violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents. 

B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the 
Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract 
Documents for record purposes. 

ARTICLE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed 

A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of 
the Contract or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to 
Proceed. A Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective 
Date of the Contract. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the 
sixtieth day after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the 
Contract, whichever date is earlier. 

4.02 Starting the Work 

A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times 
commence to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to such date. 

4.03 Reference Points 

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction 
which in Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the 
Work. Contractor shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve 
the established reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or 
relocations without the prior written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to 
Engineer whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or 
requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be 
responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points or property 
monuments by professionally qualified personnel. 

4.04 Progress Schedule 

A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 
2.05 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below. 

1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in 
Paragraph 2.05) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in 
changing the Contract Times. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 74 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 11 of 65 

2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times 
shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 11. 

B. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes 
or disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution 
of any disputes or disagreements, or during any appeal process, except as permitted by 
Paragraph 16.04, or as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing. 

4.05 Delays in Contractor’s Progress 

A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or 
interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled 
to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor’s 
entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment 
being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for 
delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. Delay, 
disruption, and interference attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or 
Supplier shall be deemed to be within the control of Contractor. 

C. If Contractor’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by 
unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and 
those for which they are responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable 
adjustment in Contract Times. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract 
Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete 
the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor’s sole and 
exclusive remedy for the delays, disruption, and interference described in this paragraph. 
Causes of delay, disruption, or interference that may give rise to an adjustment in Contract 
Times under this paragraph include but are not limited to the following: 

1. severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and 
earthquakes; 

2. abnormal weather conditions; 

3. acts or failures to act of utility owners (other than those performing other work at or 
adjacent to the Site by arrangement with the Owner, as contemplated in Article 8); 
and 

4. acts of war or terrorism. 

D. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting 
from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility 
that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents, or not shown or indicated 
with reasonable accuracy, and those resulting from Hazardous Environmental Conditions, 
are governed by Article 5. 

E. Paragraph 8.03 governs delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or 
progress of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent 
to the Site. 

F. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for 
any delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or 
interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 75 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 12 of 65 

G. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or 
Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the commencement of the delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering event. 

ARTICLE 5 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 

5.01 Availability of Lands 

A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or 
restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which 
Contractor must comply in performing the Work. 

B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement 
of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements 
are to be made and Owner’s interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a 
mechanic’s or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and 
Regulations. 

C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for 
temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment. 

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas 

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas: 

1. Contractor shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the 
storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, 
adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or 
otherwise, and other adjacent areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not 
unreasonably encumber the Site and such other adjacent areas with construction 
equipment or other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility 
for (a) damage to the Site; (b) damage to any such other adjacent areas used for 
Contractor’s operations; (c) damage to any other adjacent land or areas; and (d) for 
injuries and losses sustained by the owners or occupants of any such land or areas; 
provided that such damage or injuries result from the performance of the Work or 
from other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is 
responsible. 

2. If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area 
because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of 
the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible, Contractor shall (a) take 
immediate corrective or remedial action as required by Paragraph 7.12, or otherwise; 
(b) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with 
such owner or occupant, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute 
resolution proceeding, or at law; and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 
Regulations, indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of 
each and any of them from and against any such claim, and against all costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, 
brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party 
indemnified hereunder to the extent caused directly or indirectly, in whole or in part 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 76 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 13 of 65 

by, or based upon, Contractor’s performance of the Work, or because of other actions 
or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible. 

B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work the 
Contractor shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste 
materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, 
rubbish, and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and 
the Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work 
Contractor shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, appliances, construction 
equipment and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all 
property not designated for alteration by the Contract Documents. 

D. Loading of Structures: Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be 
loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any 
part of the Work or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures that will endanger 
them. 

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
adjacent to the Site; 

2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities); and 

3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with 
respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract 
Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely 
upon the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any 
geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to 
Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, 
but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or 
shown or indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any 
such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 77 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 14 of 65 

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 

A. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is 
uncovered or revealed at the Site either: 

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Contractor is 
entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.03 is materially inaccurate; or 

2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications; or 

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or 

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered 
and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the 
Contract Documents; 

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further 
disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection 
therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), notify Owner and 
Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such 
condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except with respect to an 
emergency) until receipt of a written statement permitting Contractor to do so. 

B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, 
Engineer will promptly review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine 
the necessity of Owner’s obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the 
condition; conclude whether the condition falls within any one or more of the differing site 
condition categories in Paragraph 5.04.A above; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule 
information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the 
Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in 
question and the need for any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and advise Owner 
in writing  of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations. 

C. Owner’s Statement to Contractor Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer’s 
written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement 
to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical condition in 
question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating 
whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or 
rejecting Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in 
part. 

D. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract 
Times, or both, to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical 
condition, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or 
decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; 
subject, however, to the following: 

a. such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in 
Paragraph 5.04.A; 

b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in 
Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; and, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 78 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 15 of 65 

c. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned 
on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 
within the Contract Times. 

2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract 
Times with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if: 

a. Contractor knew of the existence of such condition at the time Contractor made a 
commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the 
submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract, or 
otherwise; or 

b. the existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or 
revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study 
of the Site and contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements 
or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor’s 
making such commitment; or 

c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 5.04.A. 

3. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor’s entitlement to and the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any 
such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

4. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later 
than 30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Contractor 
regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question. 

5.05 Underground Facilities 

A. Contractor’s Responsibilities: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract 
Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site is 
based on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such 
Underground Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly 
provided in the Supplementary Conditions: 

1. Owner and Engineer do not warrant or guarantee the accuracy or completeness of any 
such information or data provided by others; and 

2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor 
shall have full responsibility for: 

a. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground 
Facilities at the Site; 

b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents 
as being at the Site; 

c. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such 
Underground Facilities, during construction; and 

d. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities at the Site, and 
repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work. 

B. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that an Underground Facility that is uncovered 
or revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not 
shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, then Contractor shall, promptly after 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 79 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 16 of 65 

becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or 
performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 7.15), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to 
that owner and to Owner and Engineer. 

C. Engineer’s Review: Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and conclude 
whether such Underground Facility was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, 
or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy; obtain any pertinent cost or 
schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the 
Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the Underground Facility in question; 
determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications 
to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground 
Facility; and advise Owner in writing  of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and 
protection of such Underground Facility. 

D. Owner’s Statement to Contractor Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of 
Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written 
statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Facility in 
question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such Underground Facility, 
indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting 
or rejecting Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations in whole or in 
part. 

E. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility at the 
Site that was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or 
indicated with reasonable accuracy, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, 
causes an increase or decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, 
performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following: 

a. Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be 
aware of or to have anticipated the existence or actual location of the 
Underground Facility in question; 

b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in 
Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; 

c. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned 
on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 
within the Contract Times; and 

d. Contractor gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.05.B. 

2. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor’s entitlement to and the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any 
such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

3. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later 
than 30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Contractor 
regarding the Underground Facility in question. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 80 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 17 of 65 

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and 

2. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with 
respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract 
Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely on 
the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or 
environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for 
such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against 
Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, 
but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and 
procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or 
shown or indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any 
such other data, interpretations, opinions or information. 

C. Contractor shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous 
Environmental Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such 
removal or remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents to be within the 
scope of the Work. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all 
Constituents of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or 
anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible, and for any associated costs; and for the 
costs of removing and remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition created by the 
presence of any such Constituents of Concern. 

E. If Contractor encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose 
removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents as being 
within the scope of the Work, or if Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is 
responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, then Contractor shall 
immediately: (1) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (2) stop all Work in connection 
with such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required 
by Paragraph 7.15); and (3) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm 
such notice in writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the 
necessity for Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take 
corrective action, if any. Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such 
actions as are necessary to permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and provide 
Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 5.06.F. If Contractor or anyone for 
whom Contractor is responsible created the Hazardous Environmental Condition in 
question, then Owner may remove and remediate the Hazardous Environmental Condition, 
and impose a set-off against payments to account for the associated costs. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 81 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 18 of 65 

F. Contractor shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental 
Condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits 
related thereto, and delivered written notice to Contractor either (1) specifying that such 
condition and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work, 
or (2) specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely. 

G. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 
any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such 
Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by 
Contractor, then within 30 days of Owner’s written notice regarding the resumption of 
Work, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may impose a set-off. 

H. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work 
based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under 
such special conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area 
affected by such condition to be deleted from the Work, following the contractual change 
procedures in Article 11. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by 
Owner’s own forces or others in accordance with Article 8. 

I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them 
from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees 
and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition (1) was 
not shown or indicated in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Contract Documents, 
identified as Technical Data entitled to limited reliance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06.B,  or 
identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (2) 
was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in 
this Paragraph 5.06.I shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and 
against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

J. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the failure to 
control, contain, or remove a Constituent of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor or 
by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible, or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition 
created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this 
Paragraph 5.06.J shall obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and 
against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

K. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 do not apply to the presence of 
Constituents of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed 
at the Site. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 82 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 19 of 65 

ARTICLE 6 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 

A. Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, each in an amount at 
least equal to the Contract Price, as security for the faithful performance and payment of all 
of Contractor’s obligations under the Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until one 
year after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction 
period specified in Paragraph 15.08, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by 
Laws or Regulations, the Supplementary Conditions, or other specific provisions of the 
Contract. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the 
Supplementary Conditions or other specific provisions of the Contract. 

B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract except as provided otherwise by 
Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in “Companies 
Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as 
Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (as amended and 
supplemented) by the Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. 
Department of the Treasury. A bond signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be 
accompanied by a certified copy of that individual’s authority to bind the surety.  The 
evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date the agent or attorney-in-fact 
signed the accompanying bond. 

C. Contractor shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or 
authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds in the required 
amounts. 

D. If the surety on a bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, 
or its right to do business is terminated in any state or jurisdiction where any part of the 
Project is located, or the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Contractor 
shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving 
rise to such notification, provide another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with 
the bond and surety requirements above. 

E. If Contractor has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Contractor from 
the Site and exercise Owner’s termination rights under Article 16. 

F. Upon request, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to any Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or other person or entity claiming to have furnished labor or materials used in the 
performance of the Work. 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions 

A. Owner and Contractor shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in this Article and in 
the Supplementary Conditions. 

B. All insurance required by the Contract to be purchased and maintained by Owner or 
Contractor shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or 
authorized, in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located, to issue insurance 
policies for the required limits and coverages. Unless a different standard is indicated in the 
Supplementary Conditions, all companies that provide insurance policies required under 
this Contract shall have an A.M. Best rating of A-VII or better. 

C. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional 
insured (as identified in this Article, in the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the 
Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Contractor has obtained and is 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 83 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 20 of 65 

maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required by the Contract.  Upon 
request by Owner or any other insured, Contractor shall also furnish other evidence of such 
required insurance, including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and 
documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Contractor may block 
out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or 
endorsement furnished under this provision. 

D. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional 
insured (as identified in this Article, the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the 
Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Owner has obtained and is maintaining 
the policies, coverages, and endorsements required of Owner by the Contract (if any).  
Upon request by Contractor or any other insured, Owner shall also provide other evidence 
of such required insurance (if any), including but not limited to copies of policies and 
endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles.  
Owner may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in 
any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision. 

E. Failure of Owner or Contractor to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other 
party’s full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or 
Contractor to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, shall not be 
construed as a waiver of the other party’s obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance. 

F. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the insurance required of such party by 
the Contract, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase 
prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the 
required coverage. 

G. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the 
Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise 
Owner’s termination rights under Article 16. 

H. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required 
insurance, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent insurance to protect such other 
party’s interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, 
and the Contract Price shall be adjusted accordingly. 

I. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract 
necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor or Contractor’s interests. 

J. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities granted to Owner and other individuals and 
entities in the Contract. 

6.03 Contractor’s Insurance 

A. Workers’ Compensation: Contractor shall purchase and maintain workers’ compensation 
and employer’s liability insurance for: 

1. claims under workers’ compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee 
benefit acts. 

2. United States Longshoreman and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act and Jones Act 
coverage (if applicable). 

3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death 
of Contractor’s employees (by stop-gap endorsement in monopolist worker’s 
compensation states). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 84 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 21 of 65 

4. Foreign voluntary worker compensation (if applicable). 

B. Commercial General Liability—Claims Covered: Contractor shall purchase and maintain 
commercial general liability insurance, covering all operations by or on behalf of 
Contractor, on an occurrence basis, against: 

1. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any 
person other than Contractor’s employees. 

2. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage. 

3. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction 
of tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

C. Commercial General Liability—Form and Content: Contractor’s commercial liability policy 
shall be written on a 1996 (or later) ISO commercial general liability form (occurrence form) 
and include the following coverages and endorsements: 

1. Products and completed operations coverage: 

a. Such insurance shall be maintained for three years after final payment. 

b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured (as identified in 
the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract) evidence of 
continuation of such insurance at final payment and three years thereafter. 

2. Blanket contractual liability coverage, to the extent permitted by law, including but not 
limited to coverage of Contractor’s contractual indemnity obligations in Paragraph 
7.18. 

3. Broad form property damage coverage. 

4. Severability of interest. 

5. Underground, explosion, and collapse coverage. 

6.  Personal injury coverage. 

7. Additional insured endorsements that include both ongoing operations and products 
and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 
20 37 10 01 (together); or CG 20 10 07 04 and CG 20 37 07 04 (together); or their 
equivalent. 

8. For design professional additional insureds, ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, 
“Additional Insured—Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named 
Insured” or its equivalent. 

D. Automobile liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain automobile liability insurance 
against claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property 
damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The 
automobile liability policy shall be written on an occurrence basis. 

E. Umbrella or excess liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain umbrella or excess 
liability insurance written over the underlying employer’s liability, commercial general 
liability, and automobile liability insurance described in the paragraphs above. Subject to 
industry-standard exclusions, the coverage afforded shall follow form as to each and every 
one of the underlying policies. 

F. Contractor’s pollution liability insurance: Contractor shall purchase and maintain a policy 
covering third-party injury and property damage claims, including clean-up costs, as a result 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 85 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 22 of 65 

of pollution conditions arising from Contractor’s operations and completed operations. This 
insurance shall be maintained for no less than three years after final completion. 

G. Additional insureds: The Contractor’s commercial general liability, automobile liability, 
umbrella or excess, and pollution liability policies shall include and list as additional 
insureds Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions; include coverage for the respective officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of 
all such additional insureds; and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall 
provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those 
arising from both ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis. 
Contractor shall obtain all necessary endorsements to support these requirements. 

H. Contractor’s professional liability insurance: If Contractor will provide or furnish 
professional services under this Contract, through a delegation of professional design 
services or otherwise, then Contractor shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining 
applicable professional liability insurance. This insurance shall provide protection against 
claims arising out of performance of professional design or related services, and caused by 
a negligent error, omission, or act for which the insured party is legally liable. It shall be 
maintained throughout the duration of the Contract and for a minimum of two years after 
Substantial Completion. If such professional design services are performed by a 
Subcontractor, and not by Contractor itself, then the requirements of this paragraph may 
be satisfied through the purchasing and maintenance of such insurance by such 
Subcontractor. 

I. General provisions: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 shall: 

1. include at least the specific coverages provided in this Article. 

2. be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in this Article and in the 
Supplementary Conditions, or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater. 

3. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, 
materially changed, or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has 
been given to Contractor.  Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, 
Contractor shall provide a copy of the notice to Owner, Engineer, and each other 
insured under the policy. 

4. remain in effect at least until final payment (and longer if expressly required in this 
Article) and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be correcting, removing, or 
replacing defective Work as a warranty or correction obligation, or otherwise, or 
returning to the Site to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents. 

5. be appropriate for the Work being performed and provide protection from claims that 
may arise out of or result from Contractor’s performance of the Work and Contractor’s 
other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by 
Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts 
any of them may be liable. 

J. The coverage requirements for specific policies of insurance must be met by such policies, 
and not by reference to excess or umbrella insurance provided in other policies. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 86 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 23 of 65 

6.04 Owner’s Liability Insurance 

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 6.03, 
Owner, at Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain at Owner’s expense Owner’s own 
liability insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations 
under the Contract Documents. 

B. Owner’s liability policies, if any, operate separately and independently from policies 
required to be provided by Contractor, and Contractor cannot rely upon Owner’s liability 
policies for any of Contractor’s obligations to the Owner, Engineer, or third parties. 

6.05 Property Insurance 

A. Builder’s Risk: Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall 
purchase and maintain builder’s risk insurance upon the Work on a completed value basis, 
in the amount of the full insurable replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible 
amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and 
Regulations). This insurance shall: 

1. include the Owner and Contractor as named insureds, and all Subcontractors, and any 
individuals or entities required by the Supplementary Conditions to be insured under 
such builder’s risk policy, as insureds or named insureds. For purposes of the 
remainder of this Paragraph 6.05, Paragraphs 6.06 and 6.07, and any corresponding 
Supplementary Conditions, the parties required to be insured shall collectively be 
referred to as “insureds.” 

2. be written on a builder’s risk “all risk” policy form that shall at least include insurance 
for physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials 
and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes 
of loss: fire; lightning; windstorm; riot; civil commotion; terrorism; vehicle impact; 
aircraft; smoke; theft; vandalism and malicious mischief; mechanical breakdown, 
boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic 
activity, and other earth movement; flood; collapse; explosion; debris removal; 
demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations; water damage (other 
than that caused by flood); and such other perils or causes of loss as may be 
specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions. If insurance against mechanical 
breakdown, boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; 
volcanic activity, and other earth movement; or flood, are not commercially available 
under builder’s risk policies, by endorsement or otherwise, such insurance may be 
provided through other insurance policies acceptable to Owner and Contractor. 

3. cover, as insured property, at least the following: (a) the Work and all materials, 
supplies, machinery, apparatus, equipment, fixtures, and other property of a similar 
nature that are to be incorporated into or used in the preparation, fabrication, 
construction, erection, or completion of the Work, including Owner-furnished or 
assigned property; (b) spare parts inventory required within the scope of the Contract; 
and (c) temporary works which are not intended to form part of the permanent 
constructed Work but which are intended to provide working access to the Site, or to 
the Work under construction, or which are intended to provide temporary support for 
the Work under construction, including scaffolding, form work, fences, shoring, 
falsework, and temporary structures. 

4. cover expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property 
(including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 87 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 24 of 65 

5. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in temporary storage at the 
Site or in a storage location outside the Site (but not including property stored at the 
premises of a manufacturer or Supplier). 

6. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in transit. 

7. allow for partial occupation or use of the Work by Owner, such that those portions of 
the Work that are not yet occupied or used by Owner shall remain covered by the 
builder’s risk insurance. 

8. allow for the waiver of the insurer’s subrogation rights, as set forth below. 

9. provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of 
loss covered. 

10. not include a co-insurance clause. 

11. include an exception for ensuing losses from physical damage or loss with respect to 
any defective workmanship, design, or materials exclusions. 

12. include performance/hot testing and start-up. 

13. be maintained in effect, subject to the provisions herein regarding Substantial 
Completion and partial occupancy or use of the Work by Owner, until the Work is 
complete. 

B. Notice of Cancellation or Change: All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other 
evidence thereof) required to be purchased and maintained in accordance with this 
Paragraph 6.05 will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not 
be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written 
notice has been given to the purchasing policyholder. Within three days of receipt of any 
such written notice, the purchasing policyholder shall provide a copy of the notice to each 
other insured. 

C. Deductibles: The purchaser of any required builder’s risk or property insurance shall pay for 
costs not covered because of the application of a policy deductible. 

D. Partial Occupancy or Use by Owner: If Owner will occupy or use a portion or portions of the 
Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 15.04, then 
Owner (directly, if it is the purchaser of the builder’s risk policy, or through Contractor) will 
provide notice of such occupancy or use to the builder’s risk insurer. The builder’s risk 
insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or 
occupancy; rather, those portions of the Work that are occupied or used by Owner may 
come off the builder’s risk policy, while those portions of the Work not yet occupied or 
used by Owner shall remain covered by the builder’s risk insurance. 

E. Additional Insurance: If Contractor elects to obtain other special insurance to be included in 
or supplement the builder’s risk or property insurance policies provided under this 
Paragraph 6.05, it may do so at Contractor’s expense. 

F. Insurance of Other Property: If the express insurance provisions of the Contract do not 
require or address the insurance of a property item or interest, such as tools, construction 
equipment, or other personal property owned by Contractor, a Subcontractor, or an 
employee of Contractor or a Subcontractor, then the entity or individual owning such 
property item will be responsible for deciding whether to insure it, and if so in what 
amount. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 88 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 25 of 65 

6.06 Waiver of Rights 

A. All policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 6.05, expressly including the builder’s 
risk policy, shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or 
damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any insureds thereunder, or 
against Engineer or its consultants, or their officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors. Owner and Contractor waive all rights 
against each other and the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and 
damages caused by, arising out of, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss 
covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in 
addition, waive all such rights against Engineer, its consultants, all Subcontractors, all 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, and the 
officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors 
of each and any of them, under such policies for losses and damages so caused. None of 
the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to 
the proceeds of insurance held by Owner or Contractor as trustee or fiduciary, or otherwise 
payable under any policy so issued. 

B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each 
and any of them, for: 

1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending 
beyond direct physical loss or damage to Owner’s property or the Work caused by, 
arising out of, or resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; 
and 

2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or 
resulting from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property 
insurance maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during 
partial occupancy or use pursuant to Paragraph 15.04, after Substantial Completion 
pursuant to Paragraph 15.03, or after final payment pursuant to Paragraph 15.06. 

C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss 
referred to in Paragraph 6.06.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of 
payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of 
recovery against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, or the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors of each and any of 
them. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for assuring that the agreement under which a 
Subcontractor performs a portion of the Work contains provisions whereby the 
Subcontractor waives all rights against Owner, Contractor, all individuals or entities 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, the Engineer and its consultants, 
and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out 
of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by builder’s risk 
insurance and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. 

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds 

A. Any insured loss under the builder’s risk and other policies of insurance required by 
Paragraph 6.05 will be adjusted and settled with the named insured that purchased the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 89 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 26 of 65 

policy. Such named insured shall act as fiduciary for the other insureds, and give notice to 
such other insureds that adjustment and settlement of a claim is in progress. Any other 
insured may state its position regarding a claim for insured loss in writing within 15 days 
after notice of such claim. 

B. Proceeds for such insured losses may be made payable by the insurer either jointly to 
multiple insureds, or to the named insured that purchased the policy in its own right and as 
fiduciary for other insureds, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause. 
A named insured receiving insurance proceeds under the builder’s risk and other policies of 
insurance required by Paragraph 6.05 shall distribute such proceeds in accordance with 
such agreement as the parties in interest may reach, or as otherwise required under the 
dispute resolution provisions of this Contract or applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. If no other special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, 
the money so received applied on account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof 
covered by Change Order, if needed. 

ARTICLE 7 – CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence 

A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, 
devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary 
to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction. 

B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident 
superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer 
except under extraordinary circumstances. 

7.02 Labor; Working Hours 

A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the 
Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at 
all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site. 

B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or 
property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract 
Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday 
through Friday. Contractor will not perform Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal 
holiday. Contractor may perform Work outside regular working hours or on Saturdays, 
Sundays, or legal holidays only with Owner’s written consent, which will not be 
unreasonably withheld. 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment 

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and 
assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, 
construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, 
telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and 
incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, 
whether or not such items are specifically called for in the Contract Documents. 

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be of good quality and new, 
except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All special warranties and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 90 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 27 of 65 

guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of Owner. If 
required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of 
required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment. 

C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, 
protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable 
Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents. 

7.04 “Or Equals” 

A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract 
Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, 
the Contract Price has been based upon Contractor furnishing such item as specified. The 
specification or description of such an item is intended to establish the type, function, 
appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is 
followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or “or equal” item is permitted, 
Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or 
equipment, or items from other proposed suppliers under the circumstances described 
below. 

1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of material or equipment 
proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so 
that no change in related Work will be required, Engineer shall deem it an “or equal” 
item. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of material or equipment 
will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if: 

a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that: 

1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, 
appearance, strength, and design characteristics; 

2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the 
results imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole; 

3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service; 
and 

4) it is not objectionable to Owner. 

b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work: 

1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; 
and 

2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named 
in the Contract Documents. 

B. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed “or 
equal” item at Contractor’s expense. 

C. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 
evaluate each “or-equal” request.  Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional 
data about the proposed “or-equal” item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. 
No “or-equal” item will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is 
complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an “or-equal”, which will be 
evidenced by an approved Shop Drawing or other written communication. Engineer will 
advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 91 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 28 of 65 

D. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: Neither approval nor denial of an “or-equal” request 
shall result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer’s denial of an “or-equal” request 
shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision 
of the Contract Documents. 

E. Treatment as a Substitution Request: If Engineer determines that an item of material or 
equipment proposed by Contractor does not qualify as an “or-equal” item, Contractor may 
request that Engineer considered the proposed item as a substitute pursuant to Paragraph 
7.05. 

7.05 Substitutes 

A. Unless the specification or description of an item of material or equipment required to be 
furnished under the Contract Documents contains or is followed by words reading that no 
substitution is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other 
items of material or equipment under the circumstances described below. To the extent 
possible such requests shall be made before commencement of related construction at the 
Site. 

1. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to 
determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is functionally equivalent to 
that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Engineer will not accept requests 
for review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment from anyone other 
than Contractor. 

2. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 7.05.B, as 
supplemented by the Specifications, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate under 
the circumstances. 

3. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed 
substitute item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The 
application: 

a. shall certify that the proposed substitute item will: 

1) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the 
general design, 

2) be similar in substance to that specified, and 

3) be suited to the same use as that specified. 

b. will state: 

1) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will 
necessitate a change in Contract Times, 

2) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a 
change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other 
direct contract with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the 
design to the proposed substitute item, and 

3) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection 
with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty. 

c. will identify: 

1) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 92 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 29 of 65 

2) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services. 

d. shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or 
indirectly from use of such substitute item, including but not limited to changes in 
Contract Price, shared savings, costs of redesign, and claims of other contractors 
affected by any resulting change. 

B. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 
evaluate each substitute request, and to obtain comments and direction from Owner. 
Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute 
item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No substitute will be ordered, 
furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is complete and Engineer determines 
that the proposed item is an acceptable substitute. Engineer’s determination will be 
evidenced by a Field Order or a proposed Change Order accounting for the substitution 
itself and all related impacts, including changes in Contract Price or Contract Times. 
Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. 

C. Special Guarantee: Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor’s expense a 
special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute. 

D. Reimbursement of Engineer’s Cost: Engineer will record Engineer’s costs in evaluating a 
substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor. Whether or not Engineer approves a 
substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for 
the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed substitute. 
Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for making 
changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with 
Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute. 

E. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed 
substitute at Contractor’s expense. 

F. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: If Engineer approves the substitution request, 
Contractor shall execute the proposed Change Order and proceed with the substitution. 
The Engineer’s denial of a substitution request shall be final and binding, and may not be 
reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents. Contractor 
may challenge the scope of reimbursement costs imposed under Paragraph 7.05.D, by 
timely submittal of a Change Proposal. 

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others 

A. Contractor may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the 
Work.  Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner. 

B. Contractor shall retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for 
the performance of designated parts of the Work if required by the Contract to do so. 

C. Subsequent to the submittal of Contractor’s Bid or final negotiation of the terms of the 
Contract, Owner may not require Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other 
individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against which Contractor has 
reasonable objection. 

D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Contractor shall submit to 
Owner the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already 
deemed such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable, during the bidding process or 
otherwise). Such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed acceptable to Owner 
unless Owner raises a substantive, reasonable objection within five days. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 93 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 30 of 65 

E. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work. Owner also may require 
Contractor to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not require 
a replacement to which Contractor has a reasonable objection. If Contractor has submitted 
the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for 
acceptance by Owner, and Owner has accepted it (either in writing or by failing to make 
written objection thereto), then Owner may subsequently revoke the acceptance of any 
such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified solely on the basis 
of substantive, reasonable objection after due investigation. Contractor shall submit an 
acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity. 

F. If Owner requires the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work, then Contractor shall be 
entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, with respect to the 
replacement; and Contractor shall initiate a Change Proposal for such adjustment within 30 
days of Owner’s requirement of replacement. 

G. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, 
whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the 
completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

H. On a monthly basis Contractor shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors 
and Suppliers having a direct contract with Contractor, and of all other Subcontractors and 
Suppliers known to Contractor at the time of submittal. 

I. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of 
the Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor’s own acts and omissions. 

J. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and all other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any 
of the Work. 

K. Contractor shall restrict all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities 
performing or furnishing any of the Work from communicating with Engineer or Owner, 
except through Contractor or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed 
herein. 

L. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall 
not control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or 
delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade. 

M. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be pursuant to an 
appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to 
the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of Owner 
and Engineer. 

N. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information 
about amounts paid to Contractor on account of Work performed for Contractor by the 
particular Subcontractor or Supplier. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 94 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 31 of 65 

O. Nothing in the Contract Documents: 

1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; nor 

2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the 
payment of any money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations. 

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties 

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in 
the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, 
process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by 
others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the 
Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual 
knowledge of Owner or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for 
the payment of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be 
disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents. 

B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising 
out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in 
the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any 
invention, design, process, product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not 
identified as being subject to payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by 
patent rights or copyrights. 

C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement 
of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or 
resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or 
device not specified in the Contract Documents. 

7.08 Permits 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall obtain and pay for 
all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in 
obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and 
inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time 
of the submission of Contractor’s Bid (or when Contractor became bound under a 
negotiated contract). Owner shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections for 
providing permanent service to the Work 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 95 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 32 of 65 

7.09 Taxes 

A.  Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 
Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which 
are applicable during the performance of the Work. 

7.10 Laws and Regulations 

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by 
applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for 
monitoring Contractor’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations. 

B. If Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to 
know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and 
losses, and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each 
and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 
such Work or other action. It shall not be Contractor’s responsibility to make certain that 
the Work described in the Contract Documents is in accordance with Laws and Regulations, 
but this shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor’s obligations under Paragraph 3.03. 

C. Owner or Contractor may give notice to the other party of any changes after the 
submission of Contractor’s Bid (or after the date when Contractor became bound under a 
negotiated contract) in Laws or Regulations having an effect on the cost or time of 
performance of the Work, including but not limited to changes in Laws or Regulations 
having an effect on procuring permits and on sales, use, value-added, consumption, and 
other similar taxes.  If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on 
the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times 
resulting from such changes, then within 30 days of such notice Contractor may submit a 
Change Proposal, or Owner may initiate a Claim. 

7.11  Record Documents 

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one printed record copy of all Drawings, 
Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written 
interpretations and clarifications, and approved Shop Drawings. Contractor shall keep such 
record documents in good order and annotate them to show changes made during 
construction. These record documents, together with all approved Samples, will be 
available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall deliver 
these record documents to Engineer. 

7.12 Safety and Protection 

A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not 
relieve Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the 
performance of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations.  
Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the 
necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to: 

1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work; 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 96 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 33 of 65 

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in 
storage on or off the Site; and 

3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, 
pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and Underground 
Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of 
construction. 

B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of 
persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or 
loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. 
Contractor shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property, Underground Facilities, 
and other utilities; and other contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent 
to the Site, when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them 
in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property or work in 
progress. 

C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner’s safety programs, if 
any.  The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner’s safety programs that are 
applicable to the Work. 

D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor’s 
safety program with which Owner’s and Engineer’s employees and representatives must 
comply while at the Site. 

E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.12.A.2 or 7.12.A.3 
caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to 
perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be 
remedied by Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of 
Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone 
employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not 
attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of 
Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them). 

F. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall continue until such 
time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and 
Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 15.06.B that the Work is acceptable (except as 
otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion). 

G. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall resume whenever 
Contractor or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site to fulfill warranty or 
correction obligations, or to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents. 

7.13 Safety Representative 

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site 
whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining 
and supervising of safety precautions and programs. 

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs 

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data 
sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 97 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 34 of 65 

exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or 
Regulations. 

7.15 Emergencies 

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the 
Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, 
injury, or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes 
that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have 
been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a 
change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in 
response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued. 

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals 

A. Shop Drawing and Sample Submittal Requirements: 

1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have: 

a. reviewed and coordinated the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings 
and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract 
Documents; 

b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified 
performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog 
numbers, and similar information with respect thereto; 

c. determined and verified the suitability of all materials and equipment offered 
with respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, 
assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and 

d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor’s responsibilities 
for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has 
satisfied Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to 
Contractor’s review of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal. 

3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any 
variations that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the 
Contract Documents. This notice shall be set forth in a written communication 
separate from the Shop Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, in the case of 
Shop Drawings by a specific notation made on each Shop Drawing submitted to 
Engineer for review and approval of each such variation. 

B. Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples: Contractor shall submit Shop 
Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the 
accepted Schedule of Submittals. Each submittal will be identified as Engineer may require. 

1. Shop Drawings: 

a. Contractor shall submit the number of copies required in the Specifications. 

b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, 
dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data 
to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 98 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 35 of 65 

provide and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited 
purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D. 

2. Samples: 

a. Contractor shall submit the number of Samples required in the Specifications. 

b. Contractor shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent 
data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as 
Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the submittal for the limited 
purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D. 

3. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the 
Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s review and 
approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of 
Contractor. 

C. Other Submittals: Contractor shall submit other submittals to Engineer in accordance with 
the accepted Schedule of Submittals, and pursuant to the applicable terms of the 
Specifications. 

D. Engineer’s Review: 

1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with 
the Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer’s review and approval will 
be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or 
incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract 
Documents and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. 

2. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs 
incident thereto. 

3. Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of 
the assembly in which the item functions. 

4. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve 
Contractor from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents unless Contractor has complied with the requirements of Paragraph 
7.16.A.3 and Engineer has given written approval of each such variation by specific 
written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or 
Sample. Engineer will document any such approved variation from the requirements 
of the Contract Documents in a Field Order. 

5. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve 
Contractor from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 
7.16.A and B. 

6. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample, or of a variation from 
the requirements of the Contract Documents, shall not, under any circumstances, 
change the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such changes are included in a 
Change Order. 

7. Neither Engineer’s receipt, review, acceptance or approval of a Shop Drawing, Sample, 
or other submittal shall result in such item becoming a Contract Document. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 99 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 36 of 65 

8. Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and 
commitments set forth in approved Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph 7.16.D.4. 

E. Resubmittal Procedures: 

1. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required 
number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples 
for review and approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to 
revisions other than the corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals. 

2. Contractor shall furnish required submittals with sufficient information and accuracy 
to obtain required approval of an item with no more than three submittals. Engineer 
will record Engineer’s time for reviewing a fourth or subsequent submittal of a Shop 
Drawings, sample, or other item requiring approval, and Contractor shall be 
responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for such time. Owner may impose a set-
off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges. 

3. If Contractor requests a change of a previously approved submittal item, Contractor 
shall be responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner 
may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for 
such charges, unless the need for such change is beyond the control of Contractor. 

7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to 
rely on Contractor’s warranty and guarantee. 

B. Contractor’s warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by: 

1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than 
Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom 
Contractor is responsible; or 

2. normal wear and tear under normal usage. 

C. Contractor’s obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work 
that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor’s 
obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents: 

1. observations by Engineer; 

2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment; 

3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment 
related thereto by Owner; 

4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner; 

5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal; 

6. the issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer; 

7. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or 

8. any correction of defective Work by Owner. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 100 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 37 of 65 

D. If the Contract requires the Contractor to accept the assignment of a contract entered into 
by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, and correction obligations contained in 
the assigned contract shall govern with respect to Contractor’s performance obligations to 
Owner for the Work described in the assigned contract. 

7.18 Indemnification 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other 
obligations of Contractor under the Contract  or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance 
of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily 
injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other 
than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent 
caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or 
any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of 
the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. 

B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the 
survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to 
perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the 
indemnification obligation under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not be limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for 
Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 

C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not extend to 
the liability of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of: 

1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, 
opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or 

2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of 
the injury or damage. 

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services 

A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services 
are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless 
such services are required to carry out Contractor’s responsibilities for construction means, 
methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to 
provide professional services in violation of applicable Laws and Regulations. 

B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, 
materials, or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, 
Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must 
satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly 
licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, 
specifications, certifications, and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 101 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 38 of 65 

Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such 
professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional’s written approval when 
submitted to Engineer. 

C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy, and 
completeness of the services, certifications, or approvals performed by such design 
professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance 
and design criteria that such services must satisfy. 

D. Pursuant to this paragraph, Engineer’s review and approval of design calculations and 
design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with 
performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except 
design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 
7.16.D.1. 

E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria 
specified by Owner or Engineer. 

ARTICLE 8 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

8.01 Other Work 

A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents, the Owner may 
perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may be performed by 
Owner’s employees, or through contracts between the Owner and third parties. Owner 
may also arrange to have third-party utility owners perform work on their utilities and 
facilities at or adjacent to the Site. 

B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or 
through contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Contractor written notice 
thereof prior to starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information regarding 
the start of any utility work at or adjacent to the Site, Owner shall provide such information 
to Contractor. 

C. Contractor shall afford each other contractor that performs such other work, each utility 
owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner’s 
employees, proper and safe access to the Site, and provide a reasonable opportunity for 
the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other 
work. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required 
to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly 
integrate with such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by 
cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor 
may cut or alter others' work with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose 
work will be affected. 

D. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor’s Work depends upon work 
performed by others under this Article 8, Contractor shall inspect such other work and 
promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other 
work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of 
Contractor’s Work. Contractor’s failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such 
other work as fit and proper for integration with Contractor’s Work except for latent 
defects and deficiencies in such other work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 102 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 39 of 65 

8.02 Coordination 

A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent 
to the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or to 
arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the Site, the following will be 
set forth in the Supplementary Conditions or provided to Contractor prior to the start of 
any such other work: 

1. the identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for 
coordination of the activities among the various contractors; 

2. an itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and 
responsibility; and 

3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities. 

B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole 
authority and responsibility for such coordination. 

8.03 Legal Relationships 

A. If, in the course of performing other work at or adjacent to the Site for Owner, the Owner’s 
employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner for whom the 
Owner is responsible causes damage to the Work or to the property of Contractor or its 
Subcontractors, or delays, disrupts, interferes with, or increases the scope or cost of the 
performance of the Work, through actions or inaction, then Contractor shall be entitled to 
an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor 
must submit any Change Proposal seeking an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or 
the Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the damaging, delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering event. The entitlement to, and extent of, any such equitable 
adjustment shall take into account information (if any) regarding such other work that was 
provided to Contractor in the Contract Documents prior to the submittal of the Bid or the 
final negotiation of the terms of the Contract. When applicable, any such equitable 
adjustment in Contract Price shall be conditioned on Contractor assigning to Owner all 
Contractor’s rights against such other contractor or utility owner with respect to the 
damage, delay, disruption, or interference that is the subject of the adjustment. 
Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such 
adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract 
Times. 

B. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner 
performing other work at or adjacent to the Site. If Contractor fails to take such measures 
and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any such other 
contractor or utility owner, then Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to 
Contractor, and assign to such other contractor or utility owner the Owner’s contractual 
rights against Contractor with respect to the breach of the obligations set forth in this 
paragraph. 

C. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, 
Contractor shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable 
direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a result of 
Contractor’s failure to take reasonable and customary measures with respect to Owner’s 
other work. In response to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference, Owner may 
impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 103 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 40 of 65 

D. If Contractor damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, 
or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Contractor’s 
failure to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such impacts, or if any claim 
arising out of Contractor’s actions, inactions, or negligence in performance of the Work at 
or adjacent to the Site is made by any such other contractor or utility owner against 
Contractor, Owner, or Engineer, then Contractor shall (1) promptly attempt to settle the 
claim as to all parties through negotiations with such other contractor or utility owner, or 
otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law, 
and (2) indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them from and against any such claims, and against all costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out 
of or relating to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference. 

ARTICLE 9 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

9.01 Communications to Contractor 

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all 
communications to Contractor through Engineer. 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer 

A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Contractor 
makes no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer’s 
status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former Engineer. 

9.03 Furnish Data 

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents. 

9.04 Pay When Due 

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in the 
Agreement. 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings 

A. Owner’s duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 
5.01. 

B. Owner’s duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points 
are set forth in Paragraph 4.03. 

C. Article 5 refers to Owner’s identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports 
of explorations and tests of conditions at the Site, and drawings of physical conditions 
relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site. 

9.06 Insurance 

A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and 
property insurance are set forth in Article 6. 

9.07 Change Orders 

A. Owner’s responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 11. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 104 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 41 of 65 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 

A. Owner’s responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth 
in Paragraph 14.02.B. 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities 

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible 
for, Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, 
or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will 
not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition 

A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is 
set forth in Paragraph 5.06. 

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 

A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that 
financial arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner’s obligations under the Contract 
Documents (including obligations under proposed changes in the Work). 

9.12 Safety Programs 

A. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been 
informed. 

B. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor. 

ARTICLE 10 – ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 

10.01 Owner’s Representative 

A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during the construction period. The duties and 
responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative 
during construction are set forth in the Contract. 

10.02 Visits to Site 

A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of 
construction as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and 
qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the 
various aspects of Contractor’s executed Work. Based on information obtained during such 
visits and observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the 
Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be 
required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or 
quantity of the Work. Engineer’s efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a 
greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the 
Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep 
Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against 
defective Work. 

B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority 
and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 10.08.  Particularly, but without limitation, during 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 105 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 42 of 65 

or as a result of Engineer’s visits or observations of Contractor’s Work, Engineer will not 
supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions 
and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and 
Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. 

10.03 Project Representative 

A. If Owner and Engineer have agreed that Engineer will furnish a Resident Project 
Representative to represent Engineer at the Site and assist Engineer in observing the 
progress and quality of the Work, then the authority and responsibilities of any such 
Resident Project Representative will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, and 
limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in Paragraph 10.08. If Owner 
designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who is not 
Engineer’s consultant, agent, or employee, the responsibilities and authority and 
limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 14. 

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments 

A. Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, are set 
forth in Paragraph 7.16. 

B. Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design drawings 
submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, are set forth in 
Paragraph 7.19. 

C. Engineer’s authority as to Change Orders is set forth in Article 11. 

D. Engineer’s authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 15. 

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work 

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work 
performed by Contractor as set forth in Paragraph 13.03. 

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work 

A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and 
judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth herein for 
initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of the Work. In rendering such 
decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality to Owner or Contractor, and will 
not be liable to Owner, Contractor, or others in connection with any proceedings, 
interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or rendered in good faith. 

10.08 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities 

A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 10 or under any other 
provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to 
exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or 
performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise 
to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee 
or agent of any of them. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 106 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 43 of 65 

B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will 
not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the 
Work. 

D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation 
and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates 
of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by 
Paragraph 15.06.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the 
requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals, that the 
results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents. 

E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 10.08 shall also 
apply to the Resident Project Representative, if any. 

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site, Engineer’s employees and representatives will comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Owner’s and Contractor’s safety programs (if any) of which 
Engineer has been informed. 

ARTICLE 11 – AMENDING THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; CHANGES IN THE WORK 

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents 

A. The Contract Documents may be amended or supplemented by a Change Order, a Work 
Change Directive, or a Field Order. 

1. Change Orders: 

a. If an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents includes a change in 
the Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must 
be set forth in a Change Order. A Change Order also may be used to establish 
amendments and supplements of the Contract Documents that do not affect the 
Contract Price or Contract Times. 

b. Owner and Contractor may amend those terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work, 
(2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) 
other engineering or technical matters, without the recommendation of the 
Engineer. Such an amendment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

2. Work Change Directives: A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price 
or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the modification 
ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a 
subsequently issued Change Order, following negotiations by the parties as to the 
Work Change Directive’s effect, if any, on the Contract Price and Contract Times; or, if 
negotiations are unsuccessful, by a determination under the terms of the Contract 
Documents governing adjustments, expressly including Paragraph 11.04 regarding 
change of Contract Price. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 107 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 44 of 65 

adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days 
after the completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Directive.  Owner must 
submit any Claim seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, 
or both, no later than 60 days after issuance of the Work Change Directive. 

3. Field Orders: Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work if the changes do not 
involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible 
with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated 
by the Contract Documents. Such changes will be accomplished by a Field Order and 
will be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, which shall perform the Work 
involved promptly. If Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in 
the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then before proceeding with the Work 
at issue, Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal as provided herein. 

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work 

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any 
time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. Such 
changes shall be supported by Engineer’s recommendation, to the extent the change 
involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other 
engineering or technical matters. Such changes may be accomplished by a Change Order, if 
Owner and Contractor have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract 
Times or Contract Price; or by a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such 
document, Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Work involved; or, in the case of a 
deletion in the Work, promptly cease construction activities with respect to such deleted 
Work. Added or revised Work shall be performed under the applicable conditions of the 
Contract Documents. Nothing in this paragraph shall obligate Contractor to undertake work 
that Contractor reasonably concludes cannot be performed in a manner consistent with 
Contractor’s safety obligations under the Contract Documents or Laws and Regulations. 

11.03  Unauthorized Changes in the Work 

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract 
Documents, as amended, modified, or supplemented, except in the case of an emergency 
as provided in Paragraph 7.15 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 
14.05. 

11.04 Change of Contract Price 

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 
adjustment in the Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06.  Any 
Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Article 12. 

B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows: 

1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents, then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items 
involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03); or 

2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents, then by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for 
overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 11.04.C.2); or 

3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 108 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 45 of 65 

the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 13.01) plus a 
Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 
11.04.C). 

C. Contractor’s Fee: When applicable, the Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit shall be 
determined as follows: 

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or 

2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the 
various portions of the Cost of the Work: 

a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.B.1 and 13.01.B.2, the Contractor’s fee 
shall be 15 percent; 

b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 13.01.B.3, the Contractor’s fee shall be five 
percent; 

c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus 
a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a and 
11.04.C.2.b is that the Contractor’s fee shall be based on: (1) a fee of 15 percent 
of the costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.A.1 and 13.01.A.2 by the 
Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, and (2) with 
respect to Contractor itself and to any Subcontractors of a tier higher than that of 
the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, a fee of five percent of the 
amount (fee plus underlying costs incurred) attributable to the next lower tier 
Subcontractor; provided, however, that for any such subcontracted work the 
maximum total fee to be paid by Owner shall be no greater than 27 percent of 
the costs incurred by the Subcontractor that actually performs the work; 

d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 13.01.B.4, 
13.01.B.5, and 13.01.C; 

e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which 
results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in 
cost plus a deduction in Contractor’s fee by an amount equal to five percent of 
such net decrease; and 

f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment 
in Contractor’s fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in 
accordance with Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a through 11.04.C.2.e, inclusive. 

11.05 Change of Contract Times 

A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 
adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any 
Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Article 
12. 

B. An adjustment of the Contract Times shall be subject to the limitations set forth in 
Paragraph 4.05, concerning delays in Contractor’s progress. 

11.06 Change Proposals 

A. Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an adjustment in the 
Contract Times or Contract Price; appeal an initial decision by Engineer concerning the 
requirements of the Contract Documents or relating to the acceptability of the Work under 
the Contract Documents; contest a set-off against payment due; or seek other relief under 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 109 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 46 of 65 

the Contract. The Change Proposal shall specify any proposed change in Contract Times or 
Contract Price, or both, or other proposed relief, and explain the reason for the proposed 
change, with citations to any governing or applicable provisions of the Contract Documents. 

1. Procedures: Contractor shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer promptly (but 
in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after 
such initial decision. The Contractor shall submit supporting data, including the 
proposed change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to the Engineer and 
Owner within 15 days after the submittal of the Change Proposal. The supporting data 
shall be accompanied by a written statement that the supporting data are accurate 
and complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is the entire 
adjustment to which Contractor believes it is entitled as a result of said event. 
Engineer will advise Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and consider any 
comments or response from Owner regarding the Change Proposal. 

2. Engineer’s Action: Engineer will review each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after 
receipt of the Contractor’s supporting data, either deny the Change Proposal in whole, 
approve it in whole, or deny it in part and approve it in part. Such actions shall be in 
writing, with a copy provided to Owner and Contractor. If Engineer does not take 
action on the Change Proposal within 30 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at 
any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of 
Engineer’s inaction the Change Proposal is deemed denied, thereby commencing the 
time for appeal of the denial under Article 12. 

3. Binding Decision: Engineer’s decision will be final and binding upon Owner and 
Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor appeals the decision by filing a Claim under 
Article 12. 

B. Resolution of Certain Change Proposals: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design 
(as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or 
other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties that the 
Engineer is unable to resolve the Change Proposal. For purposes of further resolution of 
such a Change Proposal, such notice shall be deemed a denial, and Contractor may choose 
to seek resolution under the terms of Article 12. 

11.07 Execution of Change Orders 

A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering: 

1. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, 
including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in 
accordance with a Work Change Directive; 

2. changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Contractor has duly 
contested such set-off; 

3. changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 11.02, (b) 
required because of Owner’s acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 14.04 or 
Owner’s correction of defective Work under Paragraph 14.07, or (c) agreed to by the 
parties, subject to the need for Engineer’s recommendation if the change  in the Work 
involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other 
engineering or technical matters; and 

4. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other changes, which embody the 
substance of any final and binding results under Paragraph 11.06, or Article 12. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 110 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 47 of 65 

B. If Owner or Contractor refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed 
under the terms of this Paragraph 11.07, it shall be deemed to be of full force and effect, as 
if fully executed. 

11.08 Notification to Surety 

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting 
the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but 
not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be 
Contractor’s responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect 
the effect of any such change. 

ARTICLE 12 – CLAIMS 

12.01 Claims 

A. Claims Process: The following disputes between Owner and Contractor shall be submitted 
to the Claims process set forth in this Article: 

1. Appeals by Owner or Contractor of Engineer’s decisions regarding Change Proposals; 

2. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other 
relief under the Contract Documents; and 

3. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the 
design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of 
the Work, or other engineering or technical matters. 

B. Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party 
to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event 
giving rise thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within 30 days of the 
decision under appeal. The party submitting the Claim shall also furnish a copy to the 
Engineer, for its information only. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with 
the party making the Claim. In the case of a Claim by Contractor seeking an increase in the 
Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, Contractor shall certify that the Claim is made in 
good faith, that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that to the best of 
Contractor’s knowledge and belief the amount of time or money requested accurately 
reflects the full amount to which Contractor is entitled. 

C. Review and Resolution: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full 
consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the 
exchange of information and direct negotiations.  The parties may extend the time for 
resolving the Claim by mutual agreement. All actions taken on a Claim shall be stated in 
writing and submitted to the other party, with a copy to Engineer. 

D. Mediation: 

1. At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Contractor may mutually agree to 
mediation of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate shall stay the Claim 
submittal and response process. 

2. If Owner and Contractor agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, 
either Owner or Contractor may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the 
Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the termination. If 
the mediation proceeds but is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the Claim 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 111 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 48 of 65 

submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the conclusion of the 
mediation, as determined by the mediator. 

3. Owner and Contractor shall each pay one-half of the mediator’s fees and costs. 

E. Partial Approval: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in 
part, such action shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other 
party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for final resolution of disputes. 

F. Denial of Claim: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim 
may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does 
not take action on the Claim within 90 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any 
time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of the inaction, 
the Claim is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial. A 
denial of the Claim shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of the denial the other 
party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for the final resolution of disputes. 

G. Final and Binding Results: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, 
whether through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a 
Claim is approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, and such actions become 
final and binding; then the results of the agreement or action on the Claim shall be 
incorporated in a Change Order to the extent they affect the Contract, including the Work, 
the Contract Times, or the Contract Price. 

ARTICLE 13 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

13.01 Cost of the Work 

A. Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work: The term Cost of the Work means the sum 
of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined 
below. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.01 are used for two distinct purposes: 

1. To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract 
Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or 

2. To determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other 
adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is determined 
on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor is entitled only to those additional or 
incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event 
giving rise to the adjustment. 

B. Costs Included: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in 
the Cost of the Work shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of 
the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 13.01.C, and shall 
include only the following items: 

1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of 
the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. 
Such employees shall include, without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other 
personnel employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed 
full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the 
Work. Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the 
cost of fringe benefits, which shall include social security contributions, 
unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers’ compensation, health and 
retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, and vacation and holiday pay applicable 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 112 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 49 of 65 

thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on 
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent 
authorized by Owner. 

2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including 
costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field services required in 
connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner 
deposits funds with Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash 
discounts shall accrue to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates, and refunds and returns 
from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor 
shall make provisions so that they may be obtained. 

3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by 
Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from 
subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to 
Owner, who will then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will 
be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the 
basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work and fee shall 
be determined in the same manner as Contractor’s Cost of the Work and fee as 
provided in this Paragraph 13.01. 

4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically 
related to the Work. 

5. Supplemental costs including the following: 

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of 
Contractor’s employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work. 

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, 
equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and 
hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of 
the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed 
which remain the property of Contractor. 

c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, 
whether rented from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements 
approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, 
loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs 
shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any 
such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no 
longer necessary for the Work. 

d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which 
Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations. 

e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of 
them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses. 

f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not 
compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection 
with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the 
deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with 
Paragraph 6.05), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 113 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 50 of 65 

other than the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. 
Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval 
of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of 
the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor’s fee. 

g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site. 

h. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier 
services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work. 

i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance that Contractor is required by 
the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain. 

C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items: 

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor’s officers, executives, principals 
(of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, 
engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and 
contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by 
Contractor, whether at the Site or in Contractor’s principal or branch office for general 
administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule 
of job classifications referred to in Paragraph 13.01.B.1 or specifically covered by 
Paragraph 13.01.B.4. The payroll costs and other compensation excluded here are to 
be considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor’s fee. 

2. Expenses of Contractor’s principal and branch offices other than Contractor’s office at 
the Site. 

3. Any part of Contractor’s capital expenses, including interest on Contractor’s capital 
employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments. 

4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, 
including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or 
equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property. 

5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not 
specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 13.01.B. 

D. Contractor’s Fee: When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus, 
Contractor’s fee shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any 
Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in 
Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor’s fee shall be 
determined as set forth in Paragraph 11.04.C. 

E. Documentation: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined 
pursuant to this Article 13, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable 
to Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data. 

13.02 Allowances 

A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named 
in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such 
sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 114 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 51 of 65 

B. Cash Allowances: Contractor agrees that: 

1. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade 
discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at 
the Site, and all applicable taxes; and 

2. Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, 
profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included 
in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional 
payment on account of any of the foregoing will be valid. 

C. Contingency Allowance: Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the 
sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs. 

D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by 
Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by 
allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted. 

13.03 Unit Price Work 

A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price 
Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an 
amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price 
Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement. 

B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for 
the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to 
Contractor for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities. 

C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be 
adequate to cover Contractor’s overhead and profit for each separately identified item. 

D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work 
performed by Contractor.  Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer’s preliminary 
determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by 
recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer’s written decision 
thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual 
conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of 
the following paragraph. 

E. Within 30 days of Engineer’s written decision under the preceding paragraph, Contractor 
may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may file a Claim, seeking an adjustment in the 
Contract Price if: 

1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially 
and significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; 

2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and 

3. Contractor believes that it is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of 
having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a 
decrease in Contract Price, and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any 
such increase or decrease. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 115 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 52 of 65 

ARTICLE 14 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE 
WORK 

14.01 Access to Work 

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, 
independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction will have access to the 
Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. 
Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them 
of Contractor’s safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as 
applicable. 

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals 

A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work (or specific parts 
thereof) for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and 
testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests. 

B. Owner shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, 
or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspections and tests expressly required 
by the Contract Documents to be furnished and paid for by Owner, except that costs 
incurred in connection with tests or inspections of covered Work shall be governed by the 
provisions of Paragraph 14.05. 

C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part 
thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other 
representative of such public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging 
and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, 
and furnish Engineer the required certificates of inspection or approval. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and 
tests required: 

1. by the Contract Documents, unless the Contract Documents expressly allocate 
responsibility for a specific inspection or test to Owner; 

2. to attain Owner’s and Engineer’s acceptance of materials or equipment to be 
incorporated in the Work; 

3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents; 

4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to 
be incorporated into the Work; and 

5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to 
Contractor’s purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work. 

Such inspections and tests shall be performed by independent inspectors, testing 
laboratories, or other qualified individuals or entities acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

E. If the Contract Documents require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved by Owner, 
Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Contractor shall assume full 
responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals. 

F. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered 
by Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by 
Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor’s 
expense unless Contractor had given Engineer timely notice of Contractor’s intention to 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 116 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 53 of 65 

cover the same and Engineer had not acted with reasonable promptness in response to 
such notice. 

14.03 Defective Work 

A. Contractor’s Obligation: It is Contractor’s obligation to assure that the Work is not 
defective. 

B. Engineer’s Authority: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, 
and to reject defective Work. 

C. Notice of Defects: Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has 
actual knowledge will be given to Contractor. 

D. Correction, or Removal and Replacement: Promptly after receipt of written notice of 
defective Work, Contractor shall correct all such defective Work, whether or not fabricated, 
installed, or completed, or, if Engineer has rejected the defective Work, remove it from the 
Project and replace it with Work that is not defective. 

E. Preservation of Warranties: When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no 
action that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, if any, 
on said Work. 

F. Costs and Damages: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations 
with respect to defective Work, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
arising out of or relating to defective Work, including but not limited to the cost of the 
inspection, testing, correction, removal, replacement, or reconstruction of such defective 
Work, fines levied against Owner by governmental authorities because the Work is 
defective, and the costs of repair or replacement of work of others resulting from defective 
Work. Prior to final payment, if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as to the 
measure of such claims, costs, losses, and damages resulting from defective Work, then 
Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. 

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work 

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner 
prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior to final 
payment, to Engineer’s confirmation that such acceptance is in general accord with the 
design intent and applicable engineering principles, and will not endanger public safety). 
Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages attributable to Owner’s 
evaluation of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved 
by Engineer as to reasonableness), and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent 
not otherwise paid by Contractor. If any such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, the 
necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work shall be 
incorporated in a Change Order. If the parties are unable to agree as to the decrease in the 
Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted, then Owner may 
impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. If the acceptance of 
defective Work occurs after final payment, Contractor shall pay an appropriate amount to 
Owner. 

14.05 Uncovering Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to require additional inspection or testing of the Work, whether 
or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 117 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 54 of 65 

B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Contractor shall, if 
requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer’s observation, and then replace 
the covering, all at Contractor’s expense. 

C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer 
or inspected or tested by others, then Contractor, at Engineer’s request, shall uncover, 
expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may 
require, that portion of the Work in question, and provide all necessary labor, material, and 
equipment. 

1. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall be responsible for 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such uncovering, 
exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or 
reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work 
of others); and pending Contractor’s full discharge of this responsibility the Owner 
shall be entitled to impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. 

2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an 
increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly 
attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, 
replacement, and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount 
or extent thereof, then Contractor may submit a Change Proposal within 30 days of 
the determination that the Work is not defective. 

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work 

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable 
materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed 
Work will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop 
the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; 
however, this right of Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of 
Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, 
any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them. 

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work 

A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct 
defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer, or if 
Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if 
Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, then Owner 
may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct or remedy any such deficiency. 

B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07, Owner shall proceed 
expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude 
Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and 
suspend Contractor’s services related thereto, and incorporate in the Work all materials 
and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are 
stored elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner’s representatives, agents and 
employees, Owner’s other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer’s consultants access to 
the Site to enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph. 

C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the 
rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07 will be charged against Contractor as set-
offs against payments due under Article 15. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 118 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 55 of 65 

include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed 
or damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor’s defective Work. 

D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in 
the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner’s rights and 
remedies under this Paragraph 14.07. 

ARTICLE 15 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD 

15.01 Progress Payments 

A. Basis for Progress Payments: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will 
serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application 
for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will 
be based on the number of units completed during the pay period, as determined under 
the provisions of Paragraph 13.03. Progress payments for cost-based Work will be based on 
Cost of the Work completed by Contractor during the pay period. 

B. Applications for Payments: 

1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress 
payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer 
for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the 
Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such 
supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is 
requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but 
delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the 
Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other 
documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free 
and clear of all Liens, and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by 
appropriate property insurance, a warehouse bond, or other arrangements to protect 
Owner’s interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner. 

2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an 
affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account 
of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate 
obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment. 

3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the 
Agreement. 

C. Review of Applications: 

1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including 
each resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present 
the Application to Owner, or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing 
Engineer’s reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor 
may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application. 

2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment 
will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s 
observations of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design 
professional, and on Engineer’s review of the Application for Payment and the 
accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of Engineer’s knowledge, 
information and belief: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 119 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 56 of 65 

a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated; 

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents 
(subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon 
Substantial Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the 
Contract Documents, a final determination of quantities and classifications for 
Unit Price Work under Paragraph 13.03, and any other qualifications stated in the 
recommendation); and 

c. the conditions precedent to Contractor’s being entitled to such payment appear 
to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the 
Work. 

3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that: 

a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been 
performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in 
progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities 
specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract; or 

b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle 
Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold 
payment to Contractor. 

4. Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending 
payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including final payment, 
will impose responsibility on Engineer: 

a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or 

b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, 
or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or 

c. for Contractor’s failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to 
Contractor’s performance of the Work, or 

d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has 
used the money paid on account of the Contract Price, or 

e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to 
Owner free and clear of any Liens. 

5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in 
Engineer’s opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated 
in Paragraph 15.01.C.2. 

6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer’s 
opinion to protect Owner from loss because: 

a. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 
14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition for which Contractor is responsible; or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 120 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 57 of 65 

e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would 
constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify termination for cause 
under the Contract Documents. 

D. Payment Becomes Due: 

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s 
recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will 
become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor. 

E. Reductions in Payment by Owner: 

1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner 
is entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following: 

a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor’s conduct in the 
performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or 
damages on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance or furnishing of 
the Work, including but not limited to claims, costs, losses, or damages from 
workplace injuries, adjacent property damage, non-compliance with Laws and 
Regulations, and patent infringement; 

b. Contractor has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid 
damage, delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the 
Site; 

c. Contractor has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition for which Contractor is responsible; 

e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal 
reviews, evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return 
visits to manufacturing or assembly facilities; 

f. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

g. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 
14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04; 

h. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

i. an event that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify a 
termination for cause has occurred; 

j. liquidated damages have accrued as a result of Contractor’s failure to achieve 
Milestones, Substantial Completion, or final completion of the Work; 

k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has 
delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and 
discharge of such Liens; 

l. there are other items entitling Owner to a set off against the amount 
recommended. 

2. If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge 
or on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Contractor 
immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action 
and the specific amount of the reduction, and promptly pay Contractor any amount 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 121 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 58 of 65 

remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay 
Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner 
and Contractor, if Contractor remedies the reasons for such action. The reduction 
imposed shall be binding on Contractor unless it duly submits a Change Proposal 
contesting the reduction. 

3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner’s refusal of payment was not justified, 
the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by 
Paragraph 15.01.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement. 

15.02 Contractor’s Warranty of Title 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment 
furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all Liens and other title 
defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven 
days after the time of payment by Owner. 

15.03 Substantial Completion 

A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall 
notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete and 
request that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Contractor shall at the 
same time submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be 
completed or corrected before final payment. 

B. Promptly after Contractor’s notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an 
inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not 
consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving 
the reasons therefor. 

C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a 
preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial 
Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of items to be completed or 
corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the 
preliminary certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any 
provisions of the certificate or attached punch list. If, after considering the objections to the 
provisions of the preliminary certificate, Engineer concludes that the Work is not 
substantially complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the preliminary 
certificate to Owner, notify Contractor in writing that the Work is not substantially 
complete, stating the reasons therefor. If Owner does not object to the provisions of the 
certificate, or if despite consideration of Owner’s objections Engineer concludes that the 
Work is substantially complete, then Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver 
to Owner and Contractor a final certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised punch 
list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the preliminary 
certificate as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any objections from Owner. 

D. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and 
Contractor will confer regarding Owner’s use or occupancy of the Work following 
Substantial Completion, review the builder’s risk insurance policy with respect to the end of 
the builder’s risk coverage, and confirm the transition to coverage of the Work under a 
permanent property insurance policy held by Owner.  Unless Owner and Contractor agree 
otherwise in writing, Owner shall bear responsibility for security, operation, protection of 
the Work, property insurance, maintenance, heat, and utilities upon Owner’s use or 
occupancy of the Work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 122 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 59 of 65 

E. After Substantial Completion the Contractor shall promptly begin work on the punch list of 
items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Contractor 
may submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list items, following the 
progress payment procedures set forth above. 

F. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial 
Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and 
complete or correct items on the punch list. 

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy 

A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially 
completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract 
Documents, or which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately 
functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended 
purpose without significant interference with Contractor’s performance of the remainder 
of the Work, subject to the following conditions: 

1. At any time Owner may request in writing that Contractor permit Owner to use or 
occupy any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If 
and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, 
Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 15.03.A 
through E for that part of the Work. 

2. At any time Contractor may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor 
considers any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to 
issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer 
shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of 
completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially 
complete, Engineer will notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons 
therefor. If Engineer considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the 
provisions of Paragraph 15.03 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial 
Completion of that part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect 
thereof and access thereto. 

4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to 
compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 regarding builder’s risk or other 
property insurance. 

15.05 Final Inspection 

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is 
complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and 
will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the 
Work, or agreed portion thereof, is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately 
take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies. 

15.06 Final Payment 

A. Application for Payment: 

1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all 
corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, 
guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 123 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 60 of 65 

inspection, annotated record documents (as provided in Paragraph 7.11), and other 
documents, Contractor may make application for final payment. 

2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously 
delivered) by: 

a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents; 

b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment; 

c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all 
Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens 
or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment. 

d. a list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and 

e. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all 
Lien rights arising out of the Work, and of Liens filed in connection with the Work. 

3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 15.06.A.2 and as 
approved by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit 
of Contractor that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, 
and equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (b) all payrolls, material and 
equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner 
might in any way be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other 
burdens on Owner's property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any 
Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, Contractor 
may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner 
against any Lien, or Owner at its option may issue joint checks payable to Contractor 
and specified Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

B. Engineer’s Review of Application and Acceptance: 

1. If, on the basis of Engineer’s observation of the Work during construction and final 
inspection, and Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and 
accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is 
satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor’s other obligations under 
the Contract have been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final 
Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer’s recommendation of final 
payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Such 
recommendation shall account for any set-offs against payment that are necessary in 
Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from loss for the reasons stated above with 
respect to progress payments. At the same time Engineer will also give written notice 
to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable, subject to the provisions of 
Paragraph 15.07. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to 
Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, 
in which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the 
Application for Payment. 

C. Completion of Work: The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is 
ready for final payment as established by the Engineer’s written recommendation of final 
payment. 

D. Payment Becomes Due: Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the final Application 
for Payment and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer 
(less any further sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer’s recommendation, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 124 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 61 of 65 

including but not limited to set-offs for liquidated damages and set-offs allowed under the 
provisions above with respect to progress payments) will become due and shall be paid by 
Owner to Contractor. 

15.07 Waiver of Claims 

A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights 
against Contractor. Owner expressly reserves claims and rights arising from unsettled Liens, 
from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 15.05, from 
Contractor’s failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special 
guarantees specified therein, from outstanding Claims by Owner, or from Contractor’s 
continuing obligations under the Contract Documents. 

B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all 
claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly 
submitted or appealed under the provisions of Article 17. 

15.08 Correction Period 

A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as 
may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the 
Contract Documents, or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents), any Work is 
found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that 
Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other 
adjacent areas used by Contractor as permitted by Laws and Regulations, is found to be 
defective, then Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with 
Owner’s written instructions: 

1. correct the defective repairs to the Site or such other adjacent areas; 

2. correct such defective Work; 

3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and 
replace it with Work that is not defective, and 

4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to 
the work of others, or to other land or areas resulting therefrom. 

B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner’s written instructions, or 
in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have 
the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and 
replaced. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 
such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all 
costs of repair or replacement of work of others). 

C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous 
service before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item 
may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications. 
 

D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected 
or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period hereunder with 
respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such 
correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 125 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 62 of 65 

E. Contractor’s obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and 
warranties. The provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a 
waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 

ARTICLE 16 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a 
period of not more than 90 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. 
Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the 
Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract 
Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such 
suspension. Any Change Proposal seeking such adjustments shall be submitted no later 
than 30 days after the date fixed for resumption of Work. 

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will constitute a default by 
Contractor and justify termination for cause: 

1. Contractor’s persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or 
suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule); 

2. Failure of Contractor to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the 
Contract Documents; 

3. Contractor’s disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; or 

4. Contractor’s repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer. 

B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 16.02.A occurs, then after giving 
Contractor (and any surety) ten days written notice that Owner is considering a declaration 
that Contractor is in default and termination of the contract, Owner may proceed to: 

1. declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor (and any surety) notice that 
the Contract is terminated; and 

2. enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond. 

C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has 
terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take 
possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the 
Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete 
the Work as Owner may deem expedient. 

D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 16.02.B if 
Contractor within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its 
failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure. 

E. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 16.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to 
receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the 
Contract Price exceeds the cost to complete the Work, including all related claims, costs, 
losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals) sustained by Owner, such excess will be paid 
to Contractor. If the cost to complete the Work including such related claims, costs, losses, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 126 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 63 of 65 

and damages exceeds such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. 
Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as 
to their reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change 
Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this paragraph, Owner shall not be 
required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed. 

F. Where Contractor’s services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not 
affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may 
thereafter accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor or any surety 
under any payment bond or performance bond. Any retention or payment of money due 
Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability. 

G. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions 
of Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond shall govern over any inconsistent 
provisions of Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D. 

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience 

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and 
without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such 
case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items): 

1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents 
prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for 
overhead and profit on such Work; 

2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services 
and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents 
in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead 
and profit on such expenses; and 

3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs 
incurred to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal. 

B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, 
or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 

A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 
consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) 
Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or 
(3) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then 
Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided 
Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate 
the contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 
16.03. 

B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if 
Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is 
submitted, or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to 
be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the 
Work until payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. 
The provisions of this paragraph are not intended to preclude Contractor from submitting a 
Change Proposal for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 127 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 64 of 65 

expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor’s stopping the Work as permitted 
by this paragraph. 

ARTICLE 17 – FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES 

17.01 Methods and Procedures 

A. Disputes Subject to Final Resolution: The following disputed matters are subject to final 
resolution under the provisions of this Article: 

1. A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in 
full; and 

2. Disputes between Owner and Contractor concerning the Work or obligations under 
the Contract Documents, and arising after final payment has been made. 

B. Final Resolution of Disputes: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner 
or Contractor may: 

1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in the 
Supplementary Conditions; or 

2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution 
process; or 

3. if no dispute resolution process is provided for in the Supplementary Conditions or 
mutually agreed to, give written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the 
dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction. 

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS 

18.01 Giving Notice 

A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it 
will be deemed to have been validly given if: 

1. delivered in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the individual or 
to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for which it is intended; or 

2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last 
business address known to the sender of the notice. 

18.02 Computation of Times 

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract by days, it will be computed to 
exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period 
falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable 
jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation. 

18.03 Cumulative Remedies 

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and 
remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be 
construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of 
them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty 
or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract. The provisions of this paragraph will 
be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with 
each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 128 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 65 of 65 

18.04 Limitation of Damages 

A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, 
and other matters at issue, neither Owner nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to 
Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in 
connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

18.05 No Waiver 

A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, 
nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract. 

18.06 Survival of Obligations 

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or 
given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the 
Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or 
termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor. 

18.07 Controlling Law 

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located. 

18.08 Headings 

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute 
parts of these General Conditions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 129 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 1 

                               

SECTION 01010 SCHEDULE OF WORK 
 
PART 1  SCHEDULE: 
 

Work shall begin after the conclusion of the baseball season and by 
approval of the owner and 23 Club.  Work is anticipated to start by 
August 1, 2019 to allow for construction activities to following upon 
completion.  

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

SECTION 01015 OWNER FURNISHED ITEMS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The Owner will furnish no labor, no equipment, and no materials to the 
Contractor, except as listed following.  It is the intention of this Contract to 
require the Contractor to furnish all labor, materials and equipment necessary 
to complete the construction of the work as outlined in the Specifications and 
as shown on the Drawings and Detail Drawings. 

 
PART 2  WATER: 
 

All water required for flushing, testing and disinfection of water mains installed 
or storage tanks recoated under this contract (as applicable), shall be 
furnished to the Contractor without charge so long as such water is used 
without obvious waste.  The Contractor shall make all provisions necessary to 
obtain the water from the designated place and to convey it to the place of 
use without waste.  Water required for cleaning or compaction activities shall 
be furnished by the Contractor. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 130 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 2 

                               

SECTION 01025 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT: 
 
PART 1 Unit Prices:  
 

It is to be understood that the quantities of each item of work set forth in the 
Bid are approximate only and will be revised depending on field conditions 
encountered.  The Owner has the right to revise quantities in its best interest 
without affecting any of the unit prices set forth above.  In all cases, the stated 
unit prices Bid shall be used in determining the final value of the completed 
work. 
 

PART 2  Application for Payment: 
 
Attached to the end of Section 01000 is a copy of Form 01025-A, the 
Application for Payment that will be used for this project.  The Contractor shall 
submit the application for payment on this form, or in similar form, if approved 
in writing, by the Engineer.  This form is available on electronic media. 
 

PART 3  Change Order Procedures: 
 
The Contractor shall request in writing all change order items prior to 
proceeding with any such work.  The request shall include detailed unit and/or 
lump sums prices and justification for the proposed work.  Should the Owner 
or Engineer request a modification to the project which requires a change 
order, the Contractor shall submit a written cost of the modifications to the 
Engineer prior to beginning the modification.  The final documentation for a 
change order will be submitted on Form 01025-B as attached to Section 
01000. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

SECTION 01030 ALTERNATE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES: 
 
PART 1 The following construction activities are either additions to the Contract, for 

which the Owner is unsure of the certainty of their being included in the 
proposed construction; or are alternate methods of construction which may 
replace a specified construction activity. 

 
PART 2  No alternates are included at this time but may be added by addendum 
if necessary  
 

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 131 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 3 

                               

 
SECTION 01040 CONSTRUCTION COORDINATION: 

 
The Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating all phases of his/her 
operations with the Engineer and Owner.  Advance notice of not less than 48 
hours will be given to the Engineer prior to any operations.  

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01050 CONSTRUCTION SURVEY WORK: 
 
PART 1  Construction Staking: 
 

The Engineer will provide control points and project benchmark(s) for the 
project.  A minimum of two control points will be provided with a project 
benchmark, plus an additional point and benchmark for each additional 10 
acres of site. It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to maintain all stakes 
and reference elevations and replacement of stakes shall be at the 
Contractor's expense. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01060 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to familiarize himself/herself with the 
regulatory requirements with regard to the location of the project and the type 
of work to be performed under the Contract. 

 
PART 2  SAFETY: 
 

All regulations pertaining to safety, to include Occupational Safety & Health 
Association (OSHA) Standards, shall be strictly adhered to by the Contractor.  
Particular care shall be exercised in connection with the operation of vehicles 
and other equipment on the site.  Safety barriers and equipment shall be 
provided by the Contractor as required. 

 
PART 3  PERMITS: 
 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to obtain all necessary permits as 
required by State and Local codes to perform the work required as part of this 
Contract. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 132 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 4 

                               

 
PART 4  SWPPP: 
 

The Contractor shall prepare a Stormwater Pollution Prevent Plan as required 
by State and Local agencies.  The Engineer will provide Site Plan and Detail 
Drawings based on the layout and materials the Contractor would like to 
submit to the reviewing agency.  The Contractor shall maintain the SWPPP 
until all permit requirements are satisfied, including maintenance of all erosion 
features until final acceptance by the review agency. 
 

PART 5  BUILDING CODES: 
 

The following Standard Codes of construction practices are hereby made a 
portion of these Specifications and shall govern all applicable construction 
activities carried out under this Contract. 

 
4.1 National Electrical Code (NEC) 

 
4.2  Building Code, Plumbing Code, Energy Conservation Code and 

Mechanical Code as adopted by the Owner or controlling agency.   
This shall include any specific regulations or standards adopted by the 
Owner/agency that identify construction practices.  If the Owner or 
agency has not adopted such codes, the International Codes shall 
govern. 

 
4.3  The Americans with Disabilities Act of 2010 (ADA) and Nebraska 

Accessibility Guidelines (NAG). 
  

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
SECTION 01120 ASBESTOS CONTAINING MATERIALS: 

 
PART 1  During construction or remodeling activities involving existing buildings, there 

exists the possibility that Asbestos Containing Materials (ACM) may be 
encountered.  The Building Owner may not be aware of the location of all 
ACM within the building.  It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to request 
information from the building owner as to the known locations of ACM and to 
familiarize himself with those known locations. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 133 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 5 

                               

 
PART 2  If during any construction activity, any suspected ACM is encountered by the 

Contractor, he shall stop all construction activities immediately.  The 
Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately of the suspected ACM to allow 
evaluation of the suspected material and the appropriate course of action.  If 
the material is found to be ACM and abatement/cleanup procedures are 
required, the Contract time shall be extended by formal change order to cover 
the delays encountered by the abatement/cleanup activities. 

 
PART 3  If the Contractor has negligently disturbed an area known to contain ACM, the 

Contractor shall be held solely responsible for the resulting cleanup 
operations and elimination of the hazard. 

 
PART 4  No materials supplied under this contract shall contain asbestos in any form. 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
SECTION 01130  PROTECTION OF POTABLE WATER SUPPLIES (ORGANIC 

CHEMICALS) 
 
PART 1  To prevent contamination of the potable water supplies the Contractor shall 

not use any solvents, petroleum derived products, caustic or poisonous 
substances during construction activities involving, potable water pipelines, 
well and well test hole drilling, water tanks and or any part of a municipal 
water system that comes into contact with potable water supplies. 

 
PART 2  Special care shall be exercised during refueling and or lubrication activities to 

prevent spillage of petroleum products that may come in contact with potable 
water supplies. 

 
PART 3  No substances found on The Environmental Protection Agency List of 

Monitored Substances or having an Environmental Protection Agency 
Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) shall be allowed on the job site. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 134 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 6 

                               

SECTION 01170 SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION PROVISIONS: 
 

The following modifications, additions and special provisions are hereby 
made a part of these Specifications and shall take precedence over any 
conflicting requirements. 

 
 HISTORICAL AND ARCHEOLOGICAL  
 

If during the course of construction, evidence of deposits of historical or 
archeological interest is found, the Contractor shall cease operations affecting 
the find and shall notify the Federal Funding Agency, and the Nebraska State 
Historic Preservation Office, (402) 471-4775.  No further disturbance of the 
deposits shall ensue until the Contractor has been notified, in writing, by the 
Owner that he may proceed.  The Owner will issue a notice to proceed only 
after the state officials have surveyed the find and made a determination to 
the Federal Funding Agency and the State Historic Preservation Office.  
Compensation to the Contractor, if any, for lost time or changes in 
construction to avoid the find, shall be determined in accordance with 
changed conditions or change order provisions of the Specifications. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01200 SPECIAL PROJECT MEETINGS: 
 

The Contractor shall be required to attend a Pre-Construction meeting with 
the Owner and Engineer prior to the start of construction.  The meeting will be 
held at the Owner's business offices. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 135 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 7 

                               

SECTION 01340 SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA AND SUBMITTALS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The Contractor shall provide the Engineer with catalog material, capacities, 
performance curves, dimensions, weights or any other information which may 
be necessary in order that the conformity with the Specifications may be 
reviewed for each proposed piece of equipment.  The Contractor shall furnish 
five (5) copies of submittals and/or shop drawings.  All such material shall be 
furnished to the Engineer within thirty (30) days after the date of the "Notice to 
Proceed".  No material or equipment shall be installed without a shop 
drawing/submittal indicating a “Reviewed” Action on the Shop 
Drawing/Submittal Transmittal form. 

 
PART 2 SHOP DRAWING REVIEW: 
 

2.1 The ENGINEER will review CONTRACTOR's shop drawings and 
related submittals (as indicated below) with respect to the ability of the 
detailed work, when complete, to be a properly functioning integral 
element of the overall system designed by the ENGINEER. 

 
2.2 Before submitting a shop drawing or any related material to the 

ENGINEER, the CONTRACTOR shall:   
  

A. Review each such submission for conformance with the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and operations of 
construction, and safety precautions and programs incidental 
thereto, all of which are the sole responsibility of 
CONTRACTOR; and 

  
B. Approve each submittal before delivering it to the ENGINEER, 

providing a stamp on each such submission indicating the 
CONTRACTOR’S review and approval of the submittal. 

  
2.3 The CONTRACTOR shall certify the shop drawing have been reviewed 

by and approved with respect to the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety precautions 
and programs incidental thereto by utilizing (and signing) the submittal 
transmittal form (Form 01340A) following this Division. 

 
2.4 The ENGINEER shall assume that no shop drawing or related 

submittal comprises a variation to the specified material or equipment 
unless CONTRACTOR advises the ENGINEER otherwise, via a 
written instrument, which is acknowledged by the ENGINEER in 
writing. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 136 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 8 

                               

2.5 The shop drawings to be submitted for a particular construction activity 
are identified in the SECTION describing the construction activity.  
Shop drawings to be submitted, in addition to those listed elsewhere in 
the Contract Documents, are identified following.   

 
 
   Item:  ____________________________ 
     ____________________________ 
     ____________________________ 
 
 

2.6 In the event that the ENGINEER will require more than ten (10) 
working days to perform the review, the ENGINEER shall so notify 
CONTRACTOR.  The ENGINEER shall return shop drawings with 
comments provided that each submission has been called for and is 
stamped by CONTRACTOR as indicated above.  The ENGINEER 
shall return, without comment, material not called for or which has not 
been approved by CONTRACTOR. 

 
PART 3  RESPONSIBILITY: 
 

The Contractor shall not be relieved of his/her responsibility to supply 
equipment meeting all requirements of the Specifications by any reviews of 
submittals or shop drawings by the Engineer. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

SECTION 01440  CONTRACTOR'S QUALITY CONTROL: 
 
PART 1  GENERAL:  
 

The work performed under these specifications shall be executed in the best 
and most workmanlike manner by qualified, careful and competent personnel 
of the respective trades in strict accordance with these specifications, 
applicable drawings, appropriate codes and the best current construction 
practices. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 137 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 9 

                               

PART 2  QUALITY CONTROL: 
 

The Engineer may elect to have a commercial testing laboratory conduct 
testing at random locations or areas where work or materials are of 
questionable qualities in his opinion.  In the event such tests indicate the 
quality of materials or work is at or above the minimum Contract 
specifications, the Owner will make payment for the tests.  The cost of the 
test results that indicate qualities of work or materials below the minimum 
Contract specifications will be charged to the Contractor's account. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01441  CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION & TESTING SCHEDULE 
 

Contractor requests for material testing or construction observations at times 
other than normal working hours 7:00 a.m. - 6:00 p.m. weekdays, shall be at 
the discretion of the Engineer.  In any event, the contractor's account will be 
charged one-half times the Engineer's rate being charged the Owner for all 
hours worked; except on legal holidays (Federal and/or Owner) which will be 
charged at the Engineer's full rate. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

SECTION 01540 PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY: 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible to check and determine that all 
necessary precautions have been taken to protect all property, both public 
and private, in all areas where this Contract is being accomplished.  Damage 
caused from failure by the Contractor to exercise care in the performance of 
work shall be immediately replaced or restored to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer without additional cost to the Owner. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 138 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 10 

                               

SECTION 01560 CONSTRUCTION CLEANING: 
 
PART 1  DAILY CLEANUP: 
 

1.1  The areas where work is in progress shall be kept as neat and clean 
as is consistent with the work in progress.  Materials, wrappings, 
containers which might be scattered by wind or become a hazard to 
pedestrians shall be placed in appropriate containers, disposed of or 
otherwise cared for. 

 
1.2  All debris shall be removed from the job site each day.  All scrap and 

debris shall be disposed of, off of the Owner's property, at no additional 
cost to the Owner. 

 
PART 2  FINISH GRADING: 
 

2.1  The Contractor shall grade the trench line and all surrounding areas, 
where the grade has been disturbed during construction, to a smooth 
grade to affect a neat and workmanlike appearance. 

 
2.2  Any adjacent areas which are damaged by the Contractor, due to 

demolition or removals, shall be repaired to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer or be replaced. 

 
PART 3  FINAL CLEANUP: 
 

3.1  Upon completion of the project, the Contractor shall remove all rubbish 
and accumulated materials and scrap from the premises leaving the 
job site in a clean, acceptable condition. 

 
3.2  All salvageable items shall remain the property of the Owner and shall 

be disposed of as directed by the Owner's representative.   
 

3.3  Excess excavated materials and construction debris, if any, shall be 
hauled away to a location selected by the Contractor, off the Owner's 
property, easements, and rights-of-way. 

 
3.4  It is intended that the Contractor leave the work area in a similar and 

equal condition as existed prior to commencement of construction. 
 

3.5  Every effort shall be made to protect and preserve the environment.  
Erosion shall be controlled and kept to a minimum.  No discharge of 
fuels or waste liquids which would be harmful to the environment shall 
be allowed. 

 
PART 4  Reference Section 02212, SURFACE RESTORATION 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 139 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 11 

                               

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01570 TRAFFIC CONTROL: 
 

The Contractor shall be required to furnish, install and maintain traffic control 
devices in accordance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD), Federal Highway Administration, U.S. Department of 
Transportation.  Traffic control devices shall be used when the Work is in 
street right of way. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01740 WARRANTIES AND BONDS: 
 
PART 1  PERFORMANCE BOND:  
 

The Contractor shall be required to maintain the Performance Bond during 
the life of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of final 
acceptance of all work performed under the Contract. 

 
PART 2  PAYMENT BOND:  
 

The Contractor shall be required to maintain the Payment Bond during the life 
of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of final acceptance 
of all work performed under the Contract. 

 
PART 3  EQUIPMENT GUARANTEE: 
 

All equipment and installation shall be guaranteed by the Contractor for one 
year after the date of substantial completion of the entire Contract.  The 
Contractor shall immediately repair or replace any defects within the 
guarantee period due to faulty equipment, material, installation or 
workmanship at his own expense. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 140 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 12 

                               

SECTION 01800 MAINTENANCE OF BACKFILL: 
 

All backfill shall be maintained in a satisfactory condition, and all places 
where settlement is evident shall be filled by the Contractor and maintained 
during the life of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of 
final acceptance of all work performed under the Contract.  When the 
Contractor is notified by the Engineer or Owner that any backfill is hazardous, 
the Contractor shall correct or make repairs of such hazardous conditions at 
once.  Any utilities and pavements damaged by any such settlement shall be 
the responsibility of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall be responsible for 
all claims for damages filed with the court, actions brought against the Owner 
for, and on account of, such damage. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 141 / 578



                              

 

FO
R

M
 0

10
25

-A
 

FO
R

M
 0

10
25

-A
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 142 / 578



                              

CHANGE ORDER NO. 1
DATE:

Engineers - Architects - Surveyors PROJECT: PROJECT NUMBER
Since 1977 PROJECT TITLE

OWNER: OWNER NAME CONTRACTOR: OWNER NAME
120 East 16th Street ADDRESS ADDRESS
Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361 CITY, STATE  ZIP CITY, STATE  ZIP
(308) 632-3123 PHONE PHONE
Fax:  632-7253 FAX FAX

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION / JUSTIFICATION: AMOUNT

1.)

2.)

3.)

4.)

5.)

6.)

7.)

8.)

REVISION IN CONTRACT AMOUNT:

CURRENT CONTRACT PRICE + (-) PREVIOUS CHANGE ORDERS

AMOUNT THIS CHANGE ORDER

REVISED CONTRACT AMOUNT

REVISED CONTRACT TIME + (-) BY CALENDAR DAYS

 SUBMITTED BY CONTRACTOR DATE:

 ACCEPTED BY B & A DATE:

 APPROVED BY OWNER DATE:

Baker & Associates, Inc.       Engineers * Architects * Surveyors       120 East 16th Street, Suite A, Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361

FORM 01025-B 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 143 / 578



                              

FORM 01340-C 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 144 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Building Demolition Section 02060 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 02060 BUILDING DEMOLITION 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

It is the intention of this Section for the Contractor to provide all labor, 
materials, equipment, and transportation necessary for the demolition, 
removal and disposal of all building materials. 

 
PART 2 NOTIFICATION: 
 

Before any work is initiated under this Contact, the Contractor shall notify all 
utility companies to insure all services have been disconnected and/or 
removed from the premises prior to commencement of any work.  No work 
shall be permitted until the Owner and Engineer are notified in writing that all 
service utilities have been disconnected to a point beyond demolition lines 
and there is no further hazard in continuing with the work under this Contract 
due to such services. 

 
PART 3 SAFETY: 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising 
all safety precautions and programs in connection with the work.  The 
Contractor shall take all necessary precautions to prevent damage, injury or 
loss to all employees and/or bystanders on or near the project site due to 
work under this Contract. 

 
PART 4 PROTECTION OF PROPERTY: 
 

The Contractor will be responsible for providing all necessary equipment to 
protect the existing structures adjacent to the building to be demolished.  
Work proceeding near and/or adjacent to structures to remain shall proceed 
with extreme care to prevent even minor damages to the structure.  
Trespassing on to other property not in possession of the Owner shall only be 
permitted with written permission of the land owner and the Contractor shall 
be responsible for repairing all damages incurred during the trespassing 
whether permission is obtain or not.  All damages incurred from work under 
this Contract shall be repaired or reimbursed to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer and Owner. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 145 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Building Demolition Section 02060 - Page 2 
 

PART 5 DEMOLITION: 
 

5.1 Scope of Work: 
 

The Contractor shall demolish the building and the foundation walls to 
one (1) foot below finish grade including floors and remove the same 
from the site. 

 
5.2 Disposal: 

 
A. All salvageable materials within the building shall become 

property of the Contractor to be disposed of as seen fit and 
proper.  All non-salvageable materials shall be delivered to the 
City's landfill in the manner to be determined by the operator of 
the landfill.  Landfill fees will be waved by the City.  No waste 
material, rubbish or debris shall be stored or allowed to 
accumulate within the building or in the immediate vicinity, but 
shall be removed from the premises as rapidly as practicable. 

 
B. The Contractor shall be responsible to control the dust created 

by the demolition and removal procedures. 
 

5.3 Clean-up: 
 

After the building has been completely demolished and removed, the 
Contractor shall cleanup and dispose of all rubbish and debris from the 
site.  Existing utility lines shall be capped or removed as required by 
the Engineer.  Sanitary sewer and water lines shall be sealed water 
tight and inspected by the City prior to burial.  Gas and electrical lines 
shall be disconnected as recommended by the utility company and in-
spected by the utility company prior to covering. 

 
5.4 Restoration: 

 
A. The Contractor shall backfill and compact the site to natural 

ground elevation using approved materials.  The backfill 
material shall be free of rock larger than 2" in diameter and 
other debris including organic and frozen materials.  The 
Contractor shall provide a sample of the proposed material to 
the Engineer and receive written approval from the Engineer 
before placement of the material.  Backfill shall be compacted in 
maximum 6-inch layers to not less than 90 percent of the 
maximum dry density.  (Standard Proctor ASTM D698) 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 146 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Building Demolition Section 02060 - Page 3 
 

B. The Contractor shall install 4-inches of approved topsoil 
material on top of the backfill for seeding by others. 

 
 

 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 147 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Selective Demolition Section 02071 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 02071 SELECTIVE DEMOLITION 
 
    
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

It is the intention of this Section for the Contractor to provide all labor, 
materials, equipment, and transportation necessary for the demolition, 
removal and disposal of building materials. 

 
PART 2 SAFETY:    
 

The Contractor will be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising 
safety precautions, programs in connection with the work, and necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to employees, equipment, and 
the general public. 

 
PART 3 PROTECTION OF PROPERTY: 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible for providing necessary equipment to 
protect the existing structure including, but not limited to, walls, floors, 
ceilings, roofs and trusses.  Removal equipment shall be used carefully 
around existing structures to prevent damage.  The Contractor shall repair 
damages to the satisfaction of the Owner and Engineer at no additional costs.  
No repairs shall begin prior to the Engineer approving the methods of repair.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for reimbursing the Engineer for 
additional costs and services provided due to such damages. 

 
PART 4 DEFINITIONS:  
   

4.1 “Remove and Dispose”:   
 

Remove and legally dispose of items not indicated to be reinstalled, 
salvaged, or to remain the Owner's property.  Items removed for 
disposal shall become the property of the Contractor. 

   
4.2 “Remove and Salvage to Owner”: 
 

Items indicated to be removed and salvaged shall remain the Owner's 
property.  Remove, clean, and pack or crate items, as appropriate, to 
protect against damage.  Identify contents of containers and deliver to 
Owner's designated storage area. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 148 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Selective Demolition Section 02071 - Page 2 
 

4.3 “Remove and Reinstall”:   
 

Remove items indicated; clean, service, and otherwise prepare them 
for reuse; store and protect against damage.  Reinstall items in 
locations indicated. 

   
4.4 “Existing to Remain”:   
 

Protect indicated items against damage and soiling during demolition.  
When permitted by the Engineer, items may be removed to a suitable, 
protected storage location during demolition and then cleaned and 
reinstalled in their original locations. 

 
PART 5 REMOVAL: 
 

5.1 Saw lines for concrete or asphalt, where applicable, shall be cut at the 
limits of the selective demolition.  Saw lines shall be clean, square, 
plumb/level, and straight. 

 
5.2 Reinforcing shall be cut and ground smooth.  No sharp edges or 

protruding reinforcing shall be allowed. 
 

5.3 The existing structure to remain adjacent to the area of selective 
demolition shall be dressed to have a finished edge at the limits of 
selective demolition.  The border shall be of similar type and quality of 
the original building.  Residual damage from removed items (filling of 
bolt holes, pipe penetrations, etc.) shall also be repaired to match the 
original construction. 

 
PART 6 DISPOSAL: 
 

6.1 Demolition debris shall be removed from the site daily.  Under no 
circumstance shall debris be piled outside over night. 

 
6.2 The Contractor shall be responsible to control the dust created by the 

demolition and removal procedures. 
 
 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 149 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Earthwork - Site Grading Section 02210 - Page 1 
  

SECTION 02210 EARTHWORK - SITE GRADING 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

This Section covers earthwork excavation, embankment and fill construction. 
It is the intention of this Section for the Contractor to furnish all equipment and 
labor to perform the construction activities described following: 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 Moisture Content: 
 

A. Material may be moisture conditioned at the site of excavation 
or at the embankment/fill site at the Contractor's option.  
Material which contains excess moisture shall be dried until the 
required compaction can be obtained. 

 
B. The materials shall be conditioned to have a moisture content at 

the time of compaction such that the specified compaction may 
be obtained with the equipment being used.  At all times, it shall 
be the responsibility of the Contractor to employ such means as 
may be necessary to secure a uniform moisture content 
throughout the material being compacted. 

 
2.2 Suitability: 

 
A. The Engineer shall determine the suitability of the materials in 

the various portions of the work in accordance with the 
provisions specified herein.  Oversize material or unsuitable 
material shall be broken down to acceptable sizes or shall be 
removed from the work. 

 
B. Material from excavation which is suitable for compacted 

embankment/fill shall be dense and homogeneous when 
compacted.  The material shall be free of all organic material 
and of all material larger than five (5) inches in maximum 
dimensions. 

 
C. All excavated materials that are free of oversize materials that 

would prevent the placing of material in lifts of the thickness 
specified and are free of organic material, are suitable for the 
construction of normal embankment, roadway embankment and 
fill for drainage. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 150 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Earthwork - Site Grading Section 02210 - Page 2 
  

D. All excess and/or unsuitable material shall be hauled from the 
site and disposed of off of the Owner's property.  

 
PART 3 METHODS: 
 

3.1 Foundation Preparation: 
 

A. All trees, stumps, brush and other vegetation shall be removed 
prior to excavation and disposed of by the Contractor. 

 
B. The Contractor shall remove a minimum of 6-inches of topsoil or 

that amount needed to remove organic material from the area.  
All suitable topsoil material removed shall be stockpiled and 
used later as topsoil on areas to receive grass seeding.  The 
replaced topsoil thickness shall be a minimum 0.5 foot. 

 
C. Surfaces upon which the fill or embankment is to be constructed 

shall be scarified to a depth of 0.5 foot, moisture conditioned 
and compacted for a depth of 0.5 foot, to not less than 95% of 
the Standard Proctor Density when tested in accordance with 
ASTM D-698.  Non-cohesive soils not applicable to Standard 
Proctor Density testing shall be compacted to 70% relative 
density as determined by ASTM 4253.  Material unsuitable for 
embankment foundations shall be removed as directed and 
replaced with suitable material and compacted as compacted 
embankment. 

 
3.2 Embankment/fill shall be constructed in horizontal layers which extend 

the full width of the cross section.  Thickness of the layers shall not 
exceed 0.5 foot after compaction.  When a layer of material is 
dissimilar from the preceding layer, the materials shall be blended by 
discing, mixing, scarifying, or a combination of these methods.  
Compacted embankment/fill shall be compacted to not less than 95% 
of Standard Proctor Density at optimum moisture.  Non-cohesive soils 
not applicable to Standard Proctor Density testing shall be compacted 
to 70% relative density as determined by ASTM 4253 & 4354. 

 
3.3 During construction, the Contractor shall keep the top of the 

embankment/fill at such elevation and section to provide natural 
surface drainage at all times.  If the Contractor stops work on any 
portion of the embankment on account of rain or impending rain, the 
surface shall be sealed by passing rubber-tired equipment or flat drum 
rollers over the surface.  Before work is resumed in the area, the 
surface shall be scarified to a depth of not less than 0.5 foot, re-
leveled, moisture conditioned, and recompacted to specified density 
prior to placing the succeeding layer of embankment/fill. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 151 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Earthwork - Site Grading Section 02210 - Page 3 
  

 
3.4 Excavation Beyond Established Lines: 

 
Precautions shall be taken to preserve, in an undisturbed condition, 
material beyond the designated lines of the excavations, except 
unstable material ordered removed by the Engineer.  Material 
loosened beyond the excavation limits as a result of excavation 
operations shall be considered defective work and be compacted or 
removed and replaced with compacted fill, as directed by the Engineer. 

 
PART 4 FINISH GRADING: 
 

4.1 Sections and Slopes: 
 

A. Excavation sections, profiles and slopes shall be cut true and 
straight in conformity with the lines and grades shown on the 
Drawings within the following tolerances, measured normal to 
the excavated surfaces: 

 
    Surface    Tolerance 
 
   General Grading    .2 foot  
 
   Profile or invert of ditches 
   and channels, open areas,   .1 foot 
   parks, athletic fields, and fine  
   grading around buildings. 
 

B. The extreme of such tolerances shall not be continuous over a 
distance of 25 feet measured at any place, in any direction, 
parallel to the excavated surface.  No additional payment shall 
be made for over-excavation. 

 
4.2 Temporary openings left in the embankment/fill for structures of other 

requirements shall have transverse bonding slopes no steeper than 4 
feet horizontal to 1 foot vertical. 

 
PART 5 DEWATERING: 
 

The excavation shall be dewatered to the extent required for construction 
operations to proceed under dry conditions.  See Section 02140.  

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 152 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Earthwork - Site Grading Section 02210 - Page 4 
  

PART 6 TESTS: 
 

Compaction testing of compacted embankment or fill shall be conducted by 
the Engineer as deemed necessary.  If additional testing is required beyond a 
reasonable amount to determine the quality and effectiveness of the 
compaction work, or as a result of the Contractor having to re-do portions of 
the work to meet the requirements described herein, then the costs of any 
such additional compaction testing required by the Engineer shall be paid for 
by the Contractor.  Generally, testing will be performed at the maximum 
occurrence of the following schedule: 

 
  1.  One test at each installation 
  2.  One test for each 500 cubic yards of material 
 
PART 7 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT: 
 

No direct payment will be made for earthwork/site grading unless a 
Bid/Proposal item specifically addresses earthwork quantities.  Such 
construction shall be considered incidental to the construction activity 
requiring the earthwork/site grading. 

 
PART 8 SURFACE RESTORATION: 
 

See Section 02212. 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 153 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 1 
  

SECTION 02212 SURFACE RESTORATION 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

1.1 The Contractor shall return all areas disturbed during construction to a 
condition equal to, or better than, that which existed prior to 
construction, regardless of whether or not such disturbed areas are 
within or outside of easements or right-of-ways. 

 
1.2 This shall include, but not be limited to the following: 

 
A. Replacement of pavement and sidewalk areas, 

 
B. Replacement of grass sod in lawn areas, 

 
C. Repair of sprinkler systems where disturbed or damaged by 

construction activities, 
 

D. Repair of underground utilities disturbed or damaged by 
construction activities, 

 
E. Repair and/or replacement of fences cut or removed as required 

by construction activities, 
 

F. Restoration of ditches, channels, or swales to their original 
invert elevations and cross sections, 

 
G. Reseeding and/or resodding of all vegetated areas disturbed by 

construction activities, and 
 

H. Other work required to restore such areas to their former 
condition. 

 
PART 2 STRUCTURES: 
 

2.1 The site areas for structures shall be graded as indicated on the 
Drawings, or as directed by the Engineer.  The final grading shall 
provide a neat appearance and shall facilitate positive drainage to 
natural water courses and allow for positive drainage away from 
structures. 

 
2.2 After finish grading is accepted by the Engineer, the Contractor shall 

then install the appropriate ground cover as specified or as indicated 
on the drawings. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 154 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 2 
  

 
PART 3 UTILITIES: 

    
3.1 Areas to Receive Paving: 

 
A. Paving, curb and gutter, sidewalks or other improvements 

destroyed, removed, or damaged during construction shall be 
replaced with the same type, of equal or better quality, 
consistent with the undisturbed portions of the improvements 
existing prior to the trench excavation, except as described 
following. 

 
B. Edges of existing pavement, sidewalk or curb and gutter shall 

be saw cut, or otherwise prepared, to provide a smooth uniform 
edge. 

 
C. Upon completion and testing of backfilling by the Engineer, a 

6-inch base course shall be added.  Base course compaction 
shall be 95% maximum dry density (ASTM D698).  

   
D. The paving shall be replaced to the same depth as the 

undisturbed paving (or the following minimum depths), using 
hot-mix asphaltic cement or concrete as indicated on the 
Drawings. 

 
1. All hot-mix asphaltic cement pavement used in 

restoration work shall be a minimum 6-inches thick, full 
depth asphalt.   Preparation for the asphaltic cement 
paving shall include prime and tack coats.  After placing 
the material, the pavement shall be compacted with a 
smooth roller.  All proposed methods shall be as 
specified herein, and/or reviewed by the Engineer. 

 
2. Concrete thickness shall be a minimum 6-inch for areas 

to receive traffic and 5-inch for all other concrete paving 
unless otherwise shown on the Drawings.  All proposed 
methods shall be as specified herein, and/or reviewed by 
the Engineer. 

 
E. All concrete used in the restoration work shall conform to the 

requirements of Division 3, "Concrete".  Joints of concrete shall 
match/duplicate the existing joint pattern. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 155 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 3 
  

    
3.2 Areas to Receive Gravel Surfacing: 

 
A. Gravel surfacing shall be replaced to the same depth as that 

existing prior to excavation, or as a minimum, gravel shall be 2-
inches thick.  No gravel surfacing shall be replaced prior to the 
acceptance of the backfill by the Engineer. 

 
B. The gravel surfacing shall conform to the following gradation 

requirements. 
 
   Sieve Designation  % Passing  Tolerance 
 
    3/4-inch    100   0 
    #4    64   ±14 
    #8    52   ±15 
    #40    24   ±21 
    #200 (CL)    15   -7 
     
    Plasticity Index   10-32 
 

3.3 Areas with Topsoil and/or Vegetation Cover: 
 

A. When excavation is through lawns, fields, pasture land, or any 
other areas having a vegetation cover, or any areas where there 
is naturally existing topsoil, the Contractor shall strip and 
stockpile separately all topsoil. 

 
B. This material shall then be replaced on top of the final backfill, 

after installation of the pipeline.  When excavated material must 
be stored on lawns or other grassed areas, burlap or other 
suitable coverings shall be used to protect such areas. 

 
C. When so indicated on the Drawings, or elsewhere in these 

Specifications, special seeding or the installation of grass sod 
shall be required in areas where grass has been disturbed or 
removed during construction. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 156 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 4 
  

PART 4 PAYMENT OF RESTORATION ACTIVITIES: 
 

4.1 General: 
 

Restoration activities shall be considered incidental to the contract 
unless a specific item in Document 00300 "BID" addresses payment of 
the restoration activity.  Where separate payment is allowed, the 
following methods of payment shall apply. 

 
4.2 Asphaltic Cement Pavement and Concrete Pavement: 

 
Payment for the replacement of asphaltic cement pavement and 
concrete pavement shall be per lineal foot as measured along the 
pipeline for utility construction and per square yard for other 
construction.  Payment will be under the Bid Item "Pavement Removal 
and Replacement". 

 
4.3 Concrete Sidewalk: 

 
Payment for the replacement of concrete sidewalks shall be per square 
foot, as measured in place.  Payment will be under the Bid Item 
"Replacement of Concrete Sidewalk". 

 
4.4 Concrete Curb and Gutter: 

 
Payment for the replacement of concrete curb and gutter shall be per 
lineal foot as measured along the gutter line.  Payment will be under 
the Bid Item "Replacement of Concrete Curb and Gutter". 

 
4.5 Miscellaneous Pavement Replacement: 

 
A. Payment for the replacement of miscellaneous paving shall be 

per square yard, as measured in place.  Payment will be under 
the Bid Item "Miscellaneous Pavement Removal and 
Replacement: 

 
B. Payment for miscellaneous pavement replacement will require 

written authorization prior to removal of existing paving. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 157 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 5 
  

4.6 Areas to Receive Gravel Surfacing: 
 

Payment for the replacement of gravel surfacing shall be per lineal foot 
as measured along the pipeline for utility construction and per square 
yard for other construction.  Payment will be under the Bid Item 
"Replacement of Gravel Surfacing". 

 
4.7 Areas with Topsoil and/or Vegetation Cover: 

 
Payment for the replacement of topsoil and/or vegetation cover shall 
be per lineal foot as measured along the pipeline for utility construction 
and per square yard for other construction.  Payment will be under the 
Bid Item "Reseeding" or "Re-Sodding", as applicable. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 158 / 578



CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

FOR THE 
 

23 Club Baseball Complex 
Improvements  

 
for the 

 
City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska 

  
CONTRACT 002-169-18 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Prepared by: 
 

 
 

120 East 16th Street, Suite A 
Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361 

 
May, 2019 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 159 / 578



 I

23 Club Baseball Complex  
for the  

City of Scottsbluff 
 
 
 CONTRACT # 002-168-17 
 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
Advertisement for Bids ............................................................................................ 00030 
Instructions for Bidders ............................................................................................ C-200 
Utility Companies .................................................................................................... 00205 
Easements ....................................................................................................................................... 00210 
Bid ........................................................................................................................... C-410 
Bidder's Qualifications .................................................................................................................. 00420 
Bid Bond .................................................................................................................. C-430 
Notice of Award ....................................................................................................... C-510 
Agreement ............................................................................................................... 00520 
Notice to Proceed .................................................................................................... C-550 
Performance Bond .................................................................................................. C-610 
Payment Bond ......................................................................................................... C-615 
General Conditions.................................................................................................. C-700 
Supplementary Conditions ...................................................................................... 00800 
 
DIVISION 1 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
Schedule of Work .................................................................................................... 01010 
Owner Furnished Items ........................................................................................... 01015 
Measurement & Payment ........................................................................................ 01025 
Alternates ................................................................................................................ 01030 
Construction Coordination ....................................................................................... 01040 
Construction Survey Work ....................................................................................... 01050 
Regulatory Requirements ........................................................................................ 01060 
Asbestos Containing Materials ................................................................................ 01120 
Protection of Potable Water Supplies ...................................................................... 01130 
Special Construction Procedures ............................................................................ 01170 
Project Meetings ..................................................................................................... 01200 
Shop Drawings ........................................................................................................ 01340 
Contractor's Quality Control .................................................................................... 01440 
Construction Observation & Staking Schedule ........................................................ 01441 
Protection of Work and Property ............................................................................. 01540 
Construction Cleaning ............................................................................................. 01560 
Traffic Control .......................................................................................................... 01570 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 160 / 578



 II

Project Identification & Signing ................................................................................ 01580 
System Startup ........................................................................................................ 01660 
Warranties & Bonds ................................................................................................ 01740 
Maintenance of Backfill ........................................................................................... 01800 
 
DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
 
Earthwork - Site Grading ......................................................................................... 02210 
Surface Restoration ................................................................................................. 02212 
Excavation & Backfill for Structures......................................................................... 02221 
Excavation, Backfill and Compaction for Utilities ..................................................... 02222 
Subgrade for C & G, Sidewalk and Streets ............................................................. 02230 
Base Course for C & G, Sidewalk and Streets ........................................................ 02233 
Concrete Sidewalk .................................................................................................. 02516 
Pipeline Materials - Polyethylene (Storm Sewer) .................................................... 02616 
Storm Drainage Inlets .............................................................................................. 02721 
Storm Sewer Pipeline Installation ............................................................................ 02723 
Fencing - Chain Link ............................................................................................... 02832 
Seeding ................................................................................................................... 02930 
Sod .......................................................................................................................... 02931 
 
DIVISION 3 - CONCRETE 
 
Concrete Formwork ................................................................................................. 03100 
Reinforcing Steel ..................................................................................................... 03210 
Structural Concrete ................................................................................................. 03310 
Concrete Mixing, Moving & Testing ......................................................................... 03311 
Concrete Mix Design ............................................................................................... 03313 
 
DIVISION 4 - MASONRY 
 
Concrete Unit Masonry ............................................................................................ 04220 
Workmanship .......................................................................................................... 04300 
 
DIVISION 6 – WOOD & PLASTICS 
 
Casework ................................................................................................................ 06410 
  
DIVISION 8 - DOORS & WINDOWS 
 
Counter Door ........................................................................................................... 08332 
Overhead Doors ...................................................................................................... 08360 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 161 / 578



 III

DIVISION 9 - FINISHES 
 
Gypsum Drywall ...................................................................................................... 09250 
Painting - Architectural ............................................................................................ 09905 
 
DIVISION 10 - SPECIALTIES 
 
Washroom Accessories ........................................................................................... 10800 
 
DIVISION 13 - SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION 
 
Metal Building Systems ......................................................................................... 133419 
 
DIVISION 15 - MECHANICAL 
 
Piping & Plumbing ................................................................................................... 15050 
Plumbing Piping Materials ....................................................................................... 15410 
Plumbing Fixtures.................................................................................................... 15440 
 
DIVISION 16 - ELECTRICAL 
 
General Electric ....................................................................................................... 16000 
Basic Materials & Methods ...................................................................................... 16100 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 162 / 578



 

 
23 Club – Demo   Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Advertisement Section 00030 - Page 1 
  
 23 Club Baseball Complex 
 Demolition and Site Grading 

for the 
City of Scottsbluff 

 
Contract 002-169-18 

 
 ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS 
 
1. Sealed Bids for the construction of 23 Club  shall be received by the City of 

Scottsbluff  at the City office 2525 Circle Drive, Scottsbluff, NE  69361 on or 
before Thursday, June 27th at 2:00 PM at which time the Bids will be publicly 
opened and read.  Any Bids received after the above specified time will be 
immediately returned to the Bidder unopened. 

 
The site of the work is located 29th Street and  2nd Avenue in Scottsbluff.   

 
The major items of work and approximate quantities under this contract are as 
follows: 

 
Construction of a new concessions building, concrete paving, 
concrete stadium seating, dugouts, awnings, and other utilities and 
structures.  

 
2. The Contract Documents containing the detailed Drawings and Specifications for 

the construction of the work, together with the proposed construction contract, 
may be seen at the office of the Consulting Engineers, Baker & Associates, 120 
East 16th Street-Suite A, Scottsbluff, NE 69361, (308)632-3123.  Electronic copy 
(CD) may be obtained for $15 .   Hard copies may be obtained for a fee of $80 
(non-refundable).  Plans and specifications shipped ground will be charged an 
extra $15. 

  
3. Bid security in the amount of five percent (5%) unqualified of the amount of 

maximum Bid price shall be required with each Bid. 
 
4. No Bidder may withdraw his Bid within 60 days after the actual date of the 

opening thereof. 
 
5. Right is reserved in the interest of the Owner to reject any or all Bids and to 

waive any informality in the Bids received. 
 
 
      FOR THE CITY OF SCOTTSBLUFF 
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 163 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page i 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Page 
Article 1 – Defined Terms.............................................................................................................................. 1 

Article 2 – Copies of Bidding Documents ...................................................................................................... 1 

Article 3 – Qualifications of Bidders .............................................................................................................. 1 

Article 4 – Site and Other Areas; Existing Site Conditions; Examination of Site; Owner’s Safety Program;       
Other Work at the Site ................................................................................................................ 1 

Article 5 – Bidder’s Representations ............................................................................................................. 3 

Article 6 – Pre-Bid Conference ...................................................................................................................... 4 

Article 7 – Interpretations and Addenda ...................................................................................................... 4 

Article 8 – Bid Security .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Article 9 – Contract Times ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Article 10 – Liquidated Damages .................................................................................................................. 5 

Article 11 – Substitute and “Or-Equal” Items ............................................................................................... 5 

Article 12 – Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others ...................................................................................... 6 

Article 13 – Preparation of Bid ...................................................................................................................... 6 

Article 14 – Basis of Bid ................................................................................................................................. 7 

Article 15 – Submittal of Bid ......................................................................................................................... 7 

Article 16 – Modification and Withdrawal of Bid ......................................................................................... 7 

Article 17 – Opening of Bids .......................................................................................................................... 8 

Article 18 – Bids to Remain Subject to Acceptance ...................................................................................... 8 

Article 19 – Evaluation of Bids and Award of Contract ................................................................................. 8 

Article 20 – Bonds and Insurance ................................................................................................................. 9 

Article 21 – Signing of Agreement ................................................................................................................ 9 

Article 22 – Sales and Use Taxes ................................................................................................................... 9 

Article 23 – Out-Of-State Bidders ............................................................................................................... 10 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 164 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 1 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINED TERMS 

1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated in the General 
Conditions and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these Instructions to 
Bidders have the meanings indicated below: 

A. Issuing Office – The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued. 

ARTICLE 2 – COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS 

2.01 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents may be obtained from the Issuing Office in the number 
and format stated in the advertisement or invitation to bid. 

2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing Bids; neither Owner nor 
Engineer assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of 
incomplete sets of Bidding Documents. 

2.03 Owner and Engineer, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, do 
so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not authorize or confer a license 
for any other use. 

ARTICLE 3 – QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS 

3.01 To demonstrate Bidder’s qualifications to perform the Work, after submitting its Bid and within 
five (5) days of Owner’s request, Bidder shall be prepared to submit (a) written evidence 
establishing its qualifications such as financial data, previous experience, and present 
commitments, and (b) evidence of Bidder’s authority to do business in the state where the 
Project is located. 

3.02 A Bidder’s failure to submit required qualification information within the times indicated may 
disqualify Bidder from receiving an award of the Contract. 

3.03 No requirement in this Article 3 to submit information will prejudice the right of Owner to seek 
additional pertinent information regarding Bidder’s qualifications. 

3.04 Bidder is advised to carefully review those portions of the Bid Form requiring Bidder’s 
representations and certifications. 

ARTICLE 4 – SITE AND OTHER AREAS; EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS; EXAMINATION OF SITE; OWNER’S 
SAFETY PROGRAM; OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

4.01 Site and Other Areas 

A. The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. By definition, the Site includes rights-of-
way, easements, and other lands furnished by Owner for the use of the Contractor. Any 
additional lands required for temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or 
storage of materials and equipment, and any access needed for such additional lands, are 
to be obtained and paid for by Contractor. 

4.02 Existing Site Conditions 

A. Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental Conditions 

1. The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

a. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions 
at or adjacent to the Site. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 165 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 2 

b. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface 
or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities). 

c. reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site. 

d. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

2. Owner will make copies of reports and drawings referenced above available to any 
Bidder on request. These reports and drawings are not part of the Contract 
Documents, but the Technical Data contained therein upon whose accuracy Bidder is 
entitled to rely, as provided in the General Conditions, has been identified and 
established in the Supplementary Conditions. Bidder is responsible for any 
interpretation or conclusion Bidder draws from any Technical Data or any other data, 
interpretations, opinions, or information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings. 

3. If the Supplementary Conditions do not identify Technical Data, the default definition 
of Technical Data set forth in Article 1 of the General Conditions will apply. 

4. Geotechnical Baseline Report: The Bidding Documents contain a Geotechnical Baseline 
Report (GBR). The GBR describes certain select subsurface conditions that are 
anticipated to be encountered by Contractor during construction in specified locations 
(“Baseline Conditions”). The GBR is a Contract Document. 

The Baseline Conditions in the GBR are intended to reduce uncertainty and the degree 
of contingency in submitted Bids. However, Bidders cannot rely solely on the Baseline 
Conditions. Bids should be based on a comprehensive approach that includes an 
independent review and analysis of the GBR, all other Contract Documents, Technical 
Data, other available information, and observable surface conditions. Not all potential 
subsurface conditions are baselined. 

Nothing in the GBR is intended to relieve Bidders of the responsibility to make their 
own determinations regarding construction costs, bidding strategies, and Bid prices, 
nor of the responsibility to select and be responsible for the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and for safety precautions 
and programs incident thereto. 

B. Underground Facilities: Information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding Documents 
with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site are set forth in the 
Contract Documents and are based upon information and data furnished to Owner and 
Engineer by owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or others. 

C. Adequacy of Data: Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished 
to prospective Bidders with respect to subsurface conditions, other physical conditions, and 
Underground Facilities, and possible changes in the Bidding Documents due to differing or 
unanticipated subsurface or physical conditions appear in Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 
of the General Conditions. Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data 
furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to a Hazardous Environmental Condition at 
the Site, if any, and possible changes in the Contract Documents due to any Hazardous 
Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site which was not shown or 
indicated in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be 
within the scope of the Work, appear in Paragraph 5.06 of the General Conditions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 166 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 3 

4.03 Site Visit and Testing by Bidders 

A. Bidder shall conduct the required Site visit during normal working hours, and shall not 
disturb any ongoing operations at the Site. 

B. Bidder is not required to conduct any subsurface testing, or exhaustive investigations of 
Site conditions. 

C. On request, and to the extent Owner has control over the Site, and schedule permitting, 
the Owner will provide Bidder access to the Site to conduct such additional examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, and studies as Bidder deems necessary for preparing and 
submitting a successful Bid. Owner will not have any obligation to grant such access if doing 
so is not practical because of existing operations, security or safety concerns, or restraints 
on Owner’s authority regarding the Site. 

D. Bidder shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations regarding excavation and 
location of utilities, obtain all permits, and comply with all terms and conditions established 
by Owner or by property owners or other entities controlling the Site with respect to 
schedule, access, existing operations, security, liability insurance, and applicable safety 
programs. 

E. Bidder shall fill all holes and clean up and restore the Site to its former condition upon 
completion of such explorations, investigations, tests, and studies. 

4.04 Owner’s Safety Program 

A. Site visits and work at the Site may be governed by an Owner safety program. As the 
General Conditions indicate, if an Owner safety program exists, it will be noted in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

ARTICLE 5 – BIDDER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

5.01 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to: 

A. examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, and any data and reference items 
identified in the Bidding Documents; 

B. visit the Site, conduct a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and adjacent areas, 
and become familiar with and satisfy itself as to the general, local, and Site conditions that 
may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work; 

C. become familiar with and satisfy itself as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, 
progress, and performance of the Work; 

D. carefully study all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings, and (2) 
reports and drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at or adjacent 
to the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, especially with 
respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings; 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 167 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 4 

E. consider the information known to Bidder itself; information commonly known to 
contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations 
obtained from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and the Site-related reports and 
drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of such 
information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of 
the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction 
to be employed by Bidder; and (3) Bidder’s safety precautions and programs; 

F. agree, based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, 
that at the time of submitting its Bid no further examinations, investigations, explorations, 
tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for performance of the 
Work at the price bid and within the times required, and in accordance with the other 
terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents; 

G. become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by Owner and others at 
the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents; 

H. promptly give Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies 
that Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution 
thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder; 

I. determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey 
understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance and furnishing of the Work; 
and 

J. agree that the submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by 
Bidder that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article, that without 
exception the Bid and all prices in the Bid are premised upon performing and furnishing the 
Work required by the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 6 – PRE-BID CONFERENCE 

6.01 No pre-bid conference is planned at this time.  However prospective bidders are encouraged to 
contact the engineer and arrange for access to the site or to request further information as 
necessary. 

ARTICLE 7 – INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA 

7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to 
Engineer in writing. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by Engineer in 
response to such questions will be issued by Addenda delivered to all parties recorded as having 
received the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than three (3) days prior to the date 
for opening of Bids may not be answered. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. 
Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 

7.02 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, supplement, or change the Bidding Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 168 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 5 

ARTICLE 8 – BID SECURITY 

8.01 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner in an amount of five (5) 
percent of Bidder’s maximum Bid price (determined by adding the base bid and all alternates) 
and in the form of a certified check, bank money order, or a Bid bond (on the form included in 
the Bidding Documents) issued by a surety meeting the requirements of Paragraphs 6.01 and 
6.02 of the General Conditions. 

8.02 The Bid security of the apparent Successful Bidder will be retained until Owner awards the 
contract to such Bidder, and such Bidder has executed the Contract Documents, furnished the 
required contract security, and met the other conditions of the Notice of Award, whereupon the 
Bid security will be released. If the Successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the Contract 
Documents and furnish the required contract security within 15 days after the Notice of Award, 
Owner may consider Bidder to be in default, annul the Notice of Award, and the Bid security of 
that Bidder will be forfeited. Such forfeiture shall be Owner’s exclusive remedy if Bidder 
defaults. 

8.03 The Bid security of other Bidders that Owner believes to have a reasonable chance of receiving 
the award may be retained by Owner until the earlier of seven days after the Effective Date of 
the Contract or 61 days after the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders 
will be released. 

8.04 Bid security of other Bidders that Owner believes do not have a reasonable chance of receiving 
the award will be released within seven days after the Bid opening. 

ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT TIMES 

9.01 The number of days within which, or the dates by which, the Work is to be substantially 
completed, and completed and ready for final payment, are set forth in the Agreement. 

ARTICLE 10 – LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

10.01 Provisions for liquidated damages, if any, for failure to timely attain a Milestone, Substantial 
Completion, or completion of the Work in readiness for final payment, are set forth in the 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 11 – SUBSTITUTE AND “OR-EQUAL” ITEMS 

11.01 The Contract for the Work, as awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment 
specified or described in the Bidding Documents without consideration during the bidding and 
Contract award process of possible substitute or “or-equal” items. In cases in which the Contract 
allows the Contractor to request that Engineer authorize the use of a substitute or “or-equal” 
item of material or equipment, application for such acceptance may not be made to and will not 
be considered by Engineer until after the Effective Date of the Contract. 

11.02 All prices that Bidder sets forth in its Bid shall be based on the presumption that the Contractor 
will furnish the materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents, as 
supplemented by Addenda. Any assumptions regarding the possibility of post-Bid approvals of 
“or-equal” or substitution requests are made at Bidder’s sole risk. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 169 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 6 

ARTICLE 12 – SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS 

12.01 A Bidder shall be prepared to retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or 
entities for the performance of the Work if required by the Bidding Documents (most commonly 
in the Specifications) to do so. If a prospective Bidder objects to retaining any such 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, and the concern is not relieved by an 
Addendum, then the prospective Bidder should refrain from submitting a Bid. 

12.02 Subsequent to the submittal of the Bid, Owner may not require the Successful Bidder or 
Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity against which 
Contractor has reasonable objection. 

12.03 If requested by Owner, the apparent Successful Bidder, and any other Bidder so requested, shall 
within five days after Bid opening, submit to Owner a list of the Subcontractors or Suppliers 
proposed for the major portions of the Work. 

If requested by Owner, such list shall be accompanied by an experience statement with 
pertinent information regarding similar projects and other evidence of qualification for each 
such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity. If Owner or Engineer, after due 
investigation, has reasonable objection to any proposed Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or 
entity, Owner may, before the Notice of Award is given, request apparent Successful Bidder to 
submit an acceptable substitute, in which case apparent Successful Bidder shall submit a 
substitute, Bidder’s Bid price will be increased (or decreased) by the difference in cost 
occasioned by such substitution, and Owner may consider such price adjustment in evaluating 
Bids and making the Contract award. 

12.04 If apparent Successful Bidder declines to make any such substitution, Owner may award the 
Contract to the next lowest Bidder that proposes to use acceptable Subcontractors, Suppliers, or 
other individuals or entities. Declining to make requested substitutions will constitute grounds 
for forfeiture of the Bid security of any Bidder. Any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity 
so listed and against which Owner or Engineer makes no written objection prior to the giving of 
the Notice of Award will be deemed acceptable to Owner and Engineer subject to subsequent 
revocation of such acceptance as provided in Paragraph 7.06 of the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 13 – PREPARATION OF BID 

13.01 The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents. 

A. All blanks on the Bid Form shall be completed in ink and the Bid Form signed in ink. 
Erasures or alterations shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the Bid Form. A Bid 
price shall be indicated for each section, Bid item, alternate, adjustment unit price item, 
and unit price item listed therein. 

B. If the Bid Form expressly indicates that submitting pricing on a specific alternate item is 
optional, and Bidder elects to not furnish pricing for such optional alternate item, then 
Bidder may enter the words “No Bid” or “Not Applicable.” 

13.02 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by a corporate officer (whose 
title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The 
corporate address and state of incorporation shall be shown.  

13.03 A Bid by a partnership shall be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner 
(whose title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. 
The partnership’s address for receiving notices shall be shown. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 170 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 7 

13.04 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member or 
other authorized person and accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of 
formation of the firm and the firm’s address for receiving notices shall be shown. 

13.05 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder’s name and address for receiving notices. 

13.06 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by an authorized representative of each joint venturer 
in the manner indicated on the Bid Form. The joint venture’s address for receiving notices shall 
be shown. 

13.07 All names shall be printed in ink below the signatures. 

13.08 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall 
be filled in on the Bid Form. 

13.09 Postal and e-mail addresses and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall 
be shown. 

13.10 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder’s authority and qualification to do business in the state 
where the Project is located, or Bidder shall covenant in writing to obtain such authority and 
qualification prior to award of the Contract and attach such covenant to the Bid. Bidder’s state 
contractor license number, if any, shall also be shown on the Bid Form. 

ARTICLE 14 – BASIS OF BID 

14.01 The Basis of Bid shall be defined by the Bid Form C-410. 

ARTICLE 15 – SUBMITTAL OF BID 

15.01 With each copy of the Bidding Documents, a Bidder is furnished one separate unbound copy of 
the Bid Form, and, if required, the Bid Bond Form. The unbound copy of the Bid Form is to be 
completed and submitted with the Bid security and the other documents required to be 
submitted under the terms of Article 7 of the Bid Form. 

15.02 A Bid shall be received no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in 
the advertisement or invitation to bid and shall be enclosed in a plainly marked package with 
the Project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for which the Bid is 
submitted), the name and address of Bidder, and shall be accompanied by the Bid security and 
other required documents. If a Bid is sent by mail or other delivery system, the sealed envelope 
containing the Bid shall be enclosed in a separate package plainly marked on the outside with 
the notation “BID ENCLOSED.” A mailed Bid shall be addressed to the Owner as listed in the 
Advertisement for Bids. 

15.03 Bids received after the date and time prescribed for the opening of bids, or not submitted at the 
correct location or in the designated manner, will not be accepted and will be returned to the 
Bidder unopened. 

ARTICLE 16 – MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID 

16.01 A Bid may be withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the same manner that a 
Bid must be executed and delivered to the place where Bids are to be submitted prior to the 
date and time for the opening of Bids. Upon receipt of such notice, the unopened Bid will be 
returned to the Bidder. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 171 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 8 

16.02 If a Bidder wishes to modify its Bid prior to Bid opening, Bidder must withdraw its initial Bid in 
the manner specified in Paragraph 16.01 and submit a new Bid prior to the date and time for the 
opening of Bids. 

16.03 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with Owner 
and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner that there was a 
material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid, 
and the Bid security will be returned. Thereafter, if the Work is rebid, that Bidder will be 
disqualified from further bidding on the Work. 

ARTICLE 17 – OPENING OF BIDS 

17.01 Bids will be opened at the time and place indicated in the advertisement or invitation to bid and, 
unless obviously non-responsive, read aloud publicly. An abstract of the amounts of the base 
Bids and major alternates, if any, will be made available to Bidders after the opening of Bids. 

ARTICLE 18 – BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE 

18.01 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid Form, but 
Owner may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of 
this period. 

ARTICLE 19 – EVALUATION OF BIDS AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 

19.01 Owner reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, 
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. Owner will reject the Bid of any Bidder that 
Owner finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to not be responsible. If Bidder purports 
to add terms or conditions to its Bid, takes exception to any provision of the Bidding Documents, 
or attempts to alter the contents of the Contract Documents for purposes of the Bid, then the 
Owner will reject the Bid as nonresponsive; provided that Owner also reserves the right to waive 
all minor informalities not involving price, time, or changes in the Work. 

19.02 Discrepancies in the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in the favor 
of the unit prices.  Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the 
correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum.  Discrepancies between the 
written price and the figure price shall be resolved in favor of the written price. 

19.03 If Owner awards the contract for the Work, such award shall be to the responsible Bidder 
submitting the lowest responsive Bid. 

19.04  Evaluation of Bids 

A. In evaluating Bids, Owner will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed 
requirements, and such alternates, unit prices, and other data, as may be requested in the 
Bid Form or prior to the Notice of Award. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 172 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 9 

B. In the comparison of Bids, alternates will be applied in the same order of priority as listed in 
the Bid Form. To determine the Bid prices for purposes of comparison, Owner shall 
announce to all bidders a “Base Bid plus alternates” budget after receiving all Bids, but 
prior to opening them. For comparison purposes alternates will be accepted, following the 
order of priority established in the Bid Form, until doing so would cause the budget to be 
exceeded. After determination of the Successful Bidder based on this comparative process 
and on the responsiveness, responsibility, and other factors set forth in these Instructions, 
the award may be made to said Successful Bidder on its base Bid and any combination of its 
additive alternate Bids for which Owner determines funds will be available at the time of 
award. 

19.05 In evaluating whether a Bidder is responsible, Owner will consider the qualifications of the 
Bidder and may consider the qualifications and experience of Subcontractors and Suppliers 
proposed for those portions of the Work for which the identity of Subcontractors and Suppliers 
must be submitted as provided in the Bidding Documents. 

19.06 Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to establish the 
responsibility, qualifications, and financial ability of Bidders and any proposed Subcontractors or 
Suppliers. 

ARTICLE 20 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

20.01 Article 6 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets 
forth Owner’s requirements as to performance and payment bonds and insurance. When the 
Successful Bidder delivers the Agreement (executed by Successful Bidder) to Owner, it shall be 
accompanied by required bonds and insurance documentation. 

ARTICLE 21 – SIGNING OF AGREEMENT 

21.01 When Owner issues a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the 
unexecuted counterparts of the Agreement along with the other Contract Documents as 
identified in the Agreement. Within 15 days thereafter, Successful Bidder shall execute and 
deliver the required number of counterparts of the Agreement (and any bonds and insurance 
documentation required to be delivered by the Contract Documents) to Owner. Within ten days 
thereafter, Owner shall deliver one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement to Successful 
Bidder, together with printed and electronic copies of the Contract Documents as stated in 
Paragraph 2.02 of the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 22 – SALES AND USE TAXES 

22.01 The final determination of exempt status of Sales and Use Taxes lies with the State Department 
of Revenue.  If applicable, the Owner will issue the Contractor the appropriate tax exemption 
certificates/appointments in accordance with local and state laws. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 173 / 578



EJCDC® C-200 (Rev. 1), Suggested Instructions to Bidders for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,  

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.      Page 10 

ARTICLE 23 – OUT-OF-STATE BIDDERS  

23.01 It shall be the Bidder's responsibility to make himself aware of all applicable State laws and 
regulations governing out-of-state contractors.  

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 174 / 578



 

 
Standard-Scottsbluff  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Utility Companies Section 00205 - Page 1 
 

DOCUMENT 00205 UTILITY COMPANIES 
 
 
PART 1  Water & Sewer 
 
  City of Scottsbluff 
  (308) 630-0926 
  (308) 630-6258 - water 
 
PART 2  Electrical 
 
  Nebraska Public Power District 
  515 1st Avenue 
  Scottsbluff, NE 
  (877) 275-6773 
 
PART 3  Telephone, Cable TV and Fiber-optics: 
 
  Century Link 
  Location of Buried Cable 
  (800) 788-3600 
 
  Allo Communications  
  (308) 633-5000 
 
  Charter Digital Communications 
  Location of Buried Cable 
  (308) 635-3163 
 
PART 4  Natural Gas: 
 
  Black Hills Energy 
  (800) 563-0012 
 
PART 5  Digger's Hotline of Nebraska: 
 
  (800) 331-5666 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 175 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page i 

23 Club Baseball Complex 
Improvements 

for the 
City of Scottsbluff 

 
Contract 002-169-18 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Page 

Article 1 – Bid Recipient ................................................................................................................................ 1 

Article 2 – Bidder’s Acknowledgements ....................................................................................................... 1 

Article 3 – Bidder’s Representations ............................................................................................................. 1 

Article 4 – Bidder’s Certification ................................................................................................................... 2 

Article 5 – Basis of Bid ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Article 6 – Time of Completion ..................................................................................................................... 3 

Article 7 – Attachments to this Bid ............................................................................................................... 3 

Article 8 – Defined Terms.............................................................................................................................. 3 

Article 9 – Bid Submittal................................................................................................................................ 4 

Bid Items ....................................................................................................................................................... 5 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 176 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page 1 

ARTICLE 1 – BID RECIPIENT 

1.01 This Bid is submitted to: 

[Insert name and address of Owner] 

1.02 The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement 
with Owner in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or 
indicated in the Bidding Documents for the prices and within the times indicated in this Bid and 
in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 2 – BIDDER’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

2.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Instructions to Bidders, including without 
limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. This Bid will remain subject to 
acceptance for 60 days after the Bid opening, or for such longer period of time that Bidder may 
agree to in writing upon request of Owner.  Bidder will sign and submit the Agreement with the 
Bonds and other documents required by the Bidding Requirements within fifteen (15) days after 
the date of Owner’s Notice of Award. 

ARTICLE 3 – BIDDER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

3.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents that: 

A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, and any data and 
reference items identified in the Bidding Documents, and hereby acknowledges receipt of 
the following Addenda: 

Addendum No.  Addendum, Date 

   

   

   

   

B. Bidder has visited the Site, conducted a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and 
adjacent areas, and become familiar with and satisfied itself as to the general, local, and 
Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

C. Bidder is familiar with and has satisfied itself as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect 
cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

D. Bidder has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface 
conditions at or adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to 
existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site that have been identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and 
drawings, and (2) reports and drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if 
any, at or adjacent to the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, 
especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 177 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page 2 

E. Bidder has considered the information known to Bidder itself; information commonly 
known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and 
observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Bidding Documents; and any Site-related 
reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, with respect to the effect of 
such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance 
of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction to be employed by Bidder; and (3) Bidder’s safety precautions and programs. 

F. Bidder agrees, based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding 
paragraph, that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data 
are necessary for the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work at the price bid 
and within the times required, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of 
the Bidding Documents. 

G. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the 
Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents. 

H. Bidder has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or 
discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and confirms that the 
written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Bidder. 

I. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all 
terms and conditions for the performance and furnishing of the Work. 

J. The submission of this Bid constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that 
Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article, and that without exception the 
Bid and all prices in the Bid are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work 
required by the Bidding Documents. 

ARTICLE 4 – BIDDER’S CERTIFICATION 

4.01 Bidder certifies that: 

A. This Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed 
individual or entity and is not submitted in conformity with any collusive agreement or 
rules of any group, association, organization, or corporation; 

B. Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false 
or sham Bid; 

C. Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and 

D. Bidder has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing 
for the Contract.  For the purposes of this Paragraph 4.01.D: 

1. “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of 
value likely to influence the action of a public official in the bidding process; 

2. “fraudulent practice” means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to 
influence the bidding process to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish bid prices at 
artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and 
open competition; 

3. “collusive practice” means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, 
with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish bid prices 
at artificial, non-competitive levels; and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 178 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page 3 

4. “coercive practice” means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, 
persons or their property to influence their participation in the bidding process or 
affect the e execution of the Contract. 

ARTICLE 5 – BASIS OF BID 

5.01 Bidder will complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents for the prices (s) 
indicated on the bid pages following this Section. 

ARTICLE 6 – TIME OF COMPLETION 

6.01 Bidder agrees that the Work will be substantially complete and will be completed and ready for 
final payment in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions on or before the 
dates or within the number of calendar days indicated in the Agreement. 

6.02 Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages. 

ARTICLE 7 – ATTACHMENTS TO THIS BID 

7.01 The following documents are submitted with and made a condition of this Bid: 

A. Required Bid security; 

B. Evidence of authority to do business in the state of the Project; or a written covenant to 
obtain such license within the time for acceptance of Bids; and 

C. Required Bidder Qualification Statement with supporting data (as applicable). 

ARTICLE 8 – DEFINED TERMS 

8.01 The terms used in this Bid with initial capital letters have the meanings stated in the Instructions 
to Bidders, the General Conditions, and the Supplementary Conditions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 179 / 578



EJCDC® C-410, Bid Form for Construction Contracts. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.       Page 4 

 

ARTICLE 9 – BID SUBMITTAL 

BIDDER: [Indicate correct name of bidding entity] 

 

By: 
[Signature]  

[Printed name]  
(If Bidder is a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership, or a joint venture, attach 
evidence of authority to sign.) 

Attest: 
[Signature]  

[Printed name]  

Title:  

Submittal Date:  

Address for giving notices: 

 

 

 

Telephone Number:  

Fax Number:  

Contact Name and e-mail address:  

  

 

Note: Security companies executing bonds must be on the Treasury Department’s most current list 
(Circular 570 as amended) and they must be authorized to transact business in the state in 
which the work is to be performed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 180 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 5

Schedule A - Site Work & Utilities

A-1

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Mobilization 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-2

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-3

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

2" Water Service 
Connection 1 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-4

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

2" Water Service, 
Polyethylene 320 LF ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-5

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Sanitary Sewer Service 
Connection 1 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-6

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Base Course - 2" 2385 SY ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-7

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Subgrade Preparation 2385 0 ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary connection of sanitary sewer service lines, as 
specified, for the following unit price per each:

Including bonding, labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary to mobilize equipment to and from the site, as specified, for the 
following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all labor, materials, equipment and incidentals necessary for the approval and maintenance of the Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention Plan, including silt fences, and other protection items, as required by NDEQ or local agency, as specified, for 
the following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 2” water service connection 
and corporation stop,  as specified, for the following unit price per each:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 2” polyethylene water 
service pipe, as specified, for the following unit price per each:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 2" base course, as specified, 
for the following unit price per square yard:

Including furnishing and handling all labor, materials, equipment  necessary to complete for the subgrade preparation and fine grading of 
areas under pavement as specified, for the following unit price per square yard:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 181 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 6

A-8

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Pavement - 5" PCC - 
Install 1615 SY ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-9

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Pavement - 6" PCC - 
Install 770 SY ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-10

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Storm Sewer - 12" PVC 445 LF ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-11

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Storm Sewer - 18" HDPE 300 LF ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-12

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Storm Sewer - Area Inlet 23 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-13

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Grass Seeding - Acre 1 AC ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-14

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Hand Rails 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-15

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Retaining walls 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 18" HDPE Storm Sewer, as 
specified, for the following unit price per lineal foot:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for the installation of 6" PCC pavement, as 
specified, for the following unit price per square yard:  (Concrete mix to be purchased and provided by owner)

Including furnishing and handling all equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for the installation of 5" PCC pavement, as specified, for 
the following unit price per square yard: (Concrete mix to be purchased and provided by owner)

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 12" PVC Storm Sewer, as 
specified, for the following unit price per lineal foot:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for the installation of storm sewer area inlets, 
as specified, for the following unit price per each:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for seeding grass areas disturbed by 
construction, as specified, for the following unit price acre:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of hand rails as shown for 
stairways, stadium areas for the following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for the installation of retaining walls as shown 
for the following lump sum price:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 182 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 7

A-16

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Fence - Chain-link, 6' 825 LF ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-17

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Fence - Chain-link, 10' 
high - Dugouts 302 LF ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-18

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Fence - Foul Ball Outfield 
Poles 8 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-19

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Fence - Chain-link Gate, 
12' 4 LF ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-20

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Fencing - Backstops - 18' 1 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-21

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Fencing - Backstops - 24' 3 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

A-22

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Benches 8 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Total Schedule A $

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 18' high chain-link 
backstops as specified, for the following unit price per each:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 24' high chain-link 
backstops as specified, for the following unit price per each:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of Batting Cage Neeting as 
specified.  

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 10' chain-link fence, as 
specified around dugouts, for the following unit price per lineal foot:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of foul ball outfield poles as 
specified, for the following unit price per each:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 12' chain-link gate, as 
specified, for the following unit price per lineal foot:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of 6' chain-link fence, as 
specified, for the following unit price per lineal foot:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 183 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 8

Schedule B - Buildings & Structures

B-1

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Metal Building Erection - 
Concessions 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-2

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Metal Building Erection - 
Stadium Awnings 4 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-3

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Metal Building Erection - 
Dugouts 8 EA ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-4

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Foundation - 
Concession Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-5

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Foundation - 
Stadium  Awnings 4 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-6

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Foundation - 
Dugouts 8 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-7

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Floor - 
Concessions Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-8

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Including furnishing and handling all equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of the concessions building structure as 
specified.

Including furnishing and handling all equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of the Stadium Awning building 
structures as specified.

Including furnishing and handling all equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of the Dugout shade structures as 
specified.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete foundations as 
specified.  Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete foundations as 
specified.  Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete foundations as 
specified.  Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete floor as specified.  
Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete seating areas as 
specified.  Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 184 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 9

Concrete - Stadium 
Seating 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-9

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Flag Pole 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

B-10

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Interior Finish Schedule - 
Concessions Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Total Schedule B $

Including all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary for the construction and installation of a Flag Pole including 
foundation and appurtenances as specified for following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of interior walls, ceilings, 
partions, counters, cabinetry, painting, etc. in the concessions buidling as shown for the following lump sum price:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 185 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 10

Schedule C - Electrical, Mechanical, Plumbing & Lighting

C-1

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Electrical - Concessions 
Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

C-2

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Electrical Site Work & 
Service Connection 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

C-3

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Electrical - Site Lighting 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

C-4

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

HVAC - Concessions 
Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

C-5

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Plumbing - Concessions 
Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Total Schedule C $

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of equipment, ductwork, a 
appurtenances as specified for the concessions building:

Including all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary for the construction and installation of all electrical work needed to 
supply power and electrical infrastructure & lighting  to the concessions building, as specified, for the following lump sum price:

Including all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary for the construction and installation of all electrical work needed to 
install electrical service to the site as well as site distribution to the varoius buildings as specified, for the following lump sum price:

Including all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary for the construction and installation of all electrical work needed to 
supply power and control systems for the site lighting, as specified, for the following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of plumbing, piping, fixtures, 
and appurtenances as specified for the concessions building:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 186 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 11

Alternate #1 - Batting Cage Building

Alt 1-1

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Metal Building Erection - 
Batting Cages 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 1-2

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Foundation - 
Batting Cage Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 1-3

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Floor - Batting 
Cage Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 1-4

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Electrical -  Batting Cage 
Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 1-5

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Batting Cage Netting 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Total Alternate 1 $

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of Benches located in dugouts 
as specified for the following price per each.  :

Including furnishing and handling all equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of the batting cage building structure as 
specified.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete foundations as 
specified.  Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete floor as specified.  
Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary for the construction and installation of all electrical work needed to 
supply power and electrical infrastructure & lighting  to the Batting Cage building, as specified, for the following lump sum price:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 187 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 12

Alternate #2 - Storage Building

Alt 2-1

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Metal Building Erection - 
Storage Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 2-2

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Foundation - 
Storage Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 2-3

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Floor - Storage 
Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 2-4

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Doors Frames & Hardware 
- Storage Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 2-5

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Electrical -  Storage 
Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Total Alternate 2 $

Including furnishing and handling all equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of the Storage building structures as 
specified.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete foundations as 
specified.  Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete floor as specified.  
Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of doors, frames, hardware, 
and appurtenances as specified for the storage building:

Including all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary for the construction and installation of all electrical work needed to 
supply power and electrical infrastructure & lighting  to the Storage building, as specified, for the following lump sum price:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 188 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.16   Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc
C-410 Page 13

Alternate #3 - Playground & Cover Structure

Alt 3-1

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Metal Building Erection - 
Playground Cover 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 3-2

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Concrete Foundation - 
Playground Cover 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 3-3

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Electrical -  Playground 
Cover Building 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Alt 3-4

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price (Words)
Unit Price 
(Figures) Total

Playground Equipment 1 LS ____________________________________________ ___________ ________________

Total Alternate 3 $

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for the installation of the Playground 
Equipment as specified, for the following lump sum price:

Including furnishing and handling all equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of the Playground Cover building 
structures as specified.

Including furnishing and handling all materials, equipment, labor, and incidentals necessary for installation of concrete foundations as 
specified.  Concrete mix is to be supplied by owner.

Including all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary for the construction and installation of all electrical work needed to 
supply power and electrical infrastructure & lighting  to the Playground Cover building, as specified, for the following lump sum price:

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 189 / 578



Requires Modification
Ver.15 Bid Pages

Baker & Associates, Inc.
Section 00410-7

TOTAL SCHEDULE A A-1 to A-22 $_______________

TOTAL SCHEDULE B B-1 to B-10 $_______________

TOTAL SCHEDULE C C-1 to C-5 $_______________

TOTAL BASE BID $_______________

TOTAL ALTERNATE #1 $_______________

TOTAL ALTERNATE #2 $_______________

TOTAL ALTERNATE #3 $_______________

TOTAL BASE BID AND ALTERNATES $_______________

BID SUMMARY

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 190 / 578



PENAL SUM FORM 

EJCDC® C-430, Bid Bond (Penal Sum Form). Published 2013. 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.  

Page 1 of 2 
 

BID BOND 

Any singular reference to Bidder, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 

BIDDER (Name and Address): 
  
  
  
SURETY (Name, and Address of Principal Place of Business): 
  
  
  
OWNER (Name and Address): 
  
  
  
BID 
 Bid Due Date:  
 Description (Project Name— Include Location): 
  
BOND 
 Bond Number:  
 Date:  
 Penal sum  $ 
  (Words)  (Figures) 
Surety and Bidder, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Bid Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 
BIDDER SURETY 
 (Seal)  (Seal) 
Bidder’s Name and Corporate Seal Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:  By:  
 Signature  Signature (Attach Power of Attorney) 
   
    
 Print Name  Print Name 
   
    
 Title  Title 
 
Attest:  Attest:  
 Signature  Signature 
   
 Title  Title 
Note: Addresses are to be used for giving any required notice. 
 Provide execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers, if necessary.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 191 / 578



PENAL SUM FORM 

EJCDC® C-430, Bid Bond (Penal Sum Form). Published 2013. 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.  

Page 2 of 2 
 

1. Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 
assigns to pay to Owner upon default of Bidder the penal sum set forth on the face of this Bond.  Payment of the 
penal sum is the extent of Bidder’s and Surety’s liability.  Recovery of such penal sum under the terms of this Bond 
shall be Owner’s sole and exclusive remedy upon default of Bidder.  

2. Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of Bidder to deliver within the time required by the Bidding 
Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding 
Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents. 

3. This obligation shall be null and void if: 

3.1 Owner accepts Bidder’s Bid and Bidder delivers within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or any 
extension thereof agreed to in writing by Owner) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding 
Documents and any performance and payment bonds required by the Bidding Documents, or 

3.2 All Bids are rejected by Owner, or 

3.3 Owner fails to issue a Notice of Award to Bidder within the time specified in the Bidding Documents (or any 
extension thereof agreed to in writing by Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety when required 
by Paragraph 5 hereof). 

4. Payment under this Bond will be due and payable upon default of Bidder and within 30 calendar days after 
receipt by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default from Owner, which notice will be given with reasonable 
promptness, identifying this Bond and the Project and including a statement of the amount due. 

5. Surety waives notice of any and all defenses based on or arising out of any time extension to issue Notice of 
Award agreed to in writing by Owner and Bidder, provided that the total time for issuing Notice of Award including 
extensions shall not in the aggregate exceed 120 days from the Bid due date without Surety’s written consent. 

6. No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default 
required in Paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and Surety and in no case later than one year after the Bid due 
date. 

7. Any suit or action under this Bond shall be commenced only in a court of competent jurisdiction located in the 
state in which the Project is located. 

8. Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and sent to Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses shown 
on the face of this Bond. Such notices may be sent by personal delivery, commercial courier, or by United States 
Registered or Certified Mail, return receipt requested, postage pre-paid, and shall be deemed to be effective upon 
receipt by the party concerned. 

9. Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a current and effective Power of Attorney evidencing the authority 
of the officer, agent, or representative who executed this Bond on behalf of Surety to execute, seal, and deliver such 
Bond and bind the Surety thereby. 

10. This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable statutory requirements. Any applicable requirement of any 
applicable statute that has been omitted from this Bond shall be deemed to be included herein as if set forth at 
length. If any provision of this Bond conflicts with any applicable statute, then the provision of said statute shall 
govern and the remainder of this Bond that is not in conflict therewith shall continue in full force and effect. 

11. The term “Bid” as used herein includes a Bid, offer, or proposal as applicable. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 192 / 578



EJCDC® C-510 (Rev. 1), Notice of Award. 
Prepared and published 2013 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.   

Page 1 of 1 
 

 
 

NOTICE OF AWARD 

Date of Issuance:    

Owner:   Owner's Contract No.:  

Engineer:  Engineer's Project No.:  

Project:  Contract Name:  

Bidder:  

Bidder’s Address:  

TO BIDDER: 

You are notified that Owner has accepted your Bid dated [_________________________________] for the above 
Contract, and that you are the Successful Bidder and are awarded a Contract for: 

 _____________________________________________________________________________________ . 
[describe Work, alternates, or sections of Work awarded] 

The Contract Price of the awarded Contract is:  $ _______ 

Three (3) unexecuted counterparts of the Agreement accompany this Notice of Award. 

You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date of this Notice of Award: 

 
1. Deliver to Owner three (3) counterparts of the Agreement, fully executed by Bidder. 

2. Deliver with the executed Agreement(s) the Contract security [e.g., performance and payment bonds] 
and insurance documentation as specified in the Instructions to Bidders and General Conditions, 
Articles 2 and 6.  

 
Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle Owner to consider you in default, 
annul this Notice of Award, and declare your Bid security forfeited.   

Within ten days after you comply with the above conditions, Owner will return to you one fully executed 
counterpart of the Agreement, together with any additional copies of the Contract Documents as indicated in 
Paragraph 2.02 of the General Conditions. 

  
                          

By: ________________________________________(Authorized Signature)__  

Title:   _Baker & Associates, Inc. (Engineer)_______________________________   

  
 ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE 
 
 Receipt of the above NOTICE OF AWARD is hereby acknowledged 

by               , 

this the __________________ day of ________________________ 20__. 

By         

Title         

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 193 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 1 
 

DOCUMENT 00520 AGREEMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of the ________ day of ___________________ 

in the year 20___ by and between 

_____________________________________ (hereinafter called OWNER) and 

_____________________________________ 

(hereinafter called CONTRACTOR). 

 

CONTRACT NAME:   23 Club Baseball Complex Improvements  

       

 

OWNER and CONTRACTOR, in consideration of the mutual covenants 
hereinafter set forth, agree as follows: 

 
 
Article 1. WORK. 
 
 

CONTRACTOR shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract 
Documents.  The Work is described as follows: 

 
 ??To be completed when project is awarded?? 
 
 
 
 
 
Article 2. CONTRACT PRICE. 
 

2.1 OWNER shall pay CONTRACTOR for completion of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents in current funds as 
demonstrated on the attached Bid Forms with a total agreement price of 
$___________________ , as described in Article 1 above. 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 194 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 2 
 

Article 3. ENGINEER. 
 

The Project has been designed by Baker & Associates, Inc, 120 East 16th, Suite 
A, Scottsbluff, NE 69361, who is hereinafter called ENGINEER and who is to act 
as OWNER's representative, assume all duties and responsibilities and have the 
rights and authority assigned to ENGINEER in the Contract Documents in 
connection with completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. 

 
Article 4. CONTRACT TIME. 
 

4.1 The Work will be substantially completed by May 15, 2020, and 
completed and ready for final payment in accordance with paragraph 
15.06 of the General Conditions within 15 days from the substantial 
completion date. These dates are based on the assumption that 
construction would begin no later than September 25, 2019.  If start of 
construction is delayed beyond this date, substantial and final completion 
dates would be extended accordingly based on the actual start date.   

 
4.2 Liquidated Damages. 

 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR recognize that time is of the essence of this 
Agreement and the OWNER will suffer financial loss if the Work is not 
completed within the times specified in paragraph 4.1 above, plus any 
extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 11 of the General 
Conditions.  They also recognize the delays, expense and difficulties 
involved in proving in a legal or arbitration preceding the actual loss 
suffered by OWNER if the Work is not completed on time.  Accordingly, 
instead of requiring any such proof, OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree 
that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty) 
CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER $500.00 for each day that expires after 
the time specified in paragraph 4.1 for Substantial Completion until the 
Work is substantially complete.  After Substantial Completion if 
CONTRACTOR shall neglect, refuse or fail to complete the remaining 
Work within the Contract Time or any proper extension thereof granted by 
OWNER,  CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER $500.00 for each day that 
expires after the time specified in paragraph 4.1 for completion and 
readiness for final payment.   

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 195 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 3 
 

Article 5. PAYMENT PROCEDURES. 
 

CONTRACTOR shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 
15 of the General Conditions.  Applications for Payment will be processed by 
ENGINEER as provided in the General Conditions. 

 
5.1 Progress Payments. 

 
OWNER shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price 
on the basis of CONTRACTOR's Applications for Payment as 
recommended by ENGINEER, on or about the last day of each month 
during construction as provided below.  All progress payments will be on 
the basis of the progress of the Work measured by the schedule of values 
established in paragraph 2.03 of the General Conditions (and in the case 
of Unit Price Work based on the number of units completed) or, in the 
event there is no schedule of values, as provided in the General 
Requirements. 

 
A. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in 

an amount equal to the percentage indicated below, but, in each 
case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less 
such amounts as ENGINEER shall determine, or OWNER may 
withhold, in accordance with paragraph 15.01.C.5 of the General 
Conditions.  

 
1. Payment shall be equal to 90% of Work completed (10% 

retainage).  If the Contract has reached the 50% completion 
status, as determined by ENGINEER, and if the character 
and progress of the Work have been satisfactory to OWNER 
and ENGINEER, OWNER on recommendation of 
ENGINEER, may determine that as long as the character 
and progress of the Work remain satisfactory to them, there 
will be a 5% retainage on account of Work completed in 
which case the remaining progress payments prior to 
Substantial Completion will be in an amount equal to 95% of 
the Work completed.   

 
2. Payment for materials shall be equal to 90% of materials 

and equipment not incorporated in the Work (but delivered, 
suitably stored and accompanied by documentation 
satisfactory to OWNER as provided in paragraph 15.02 of 
the General Conditions). 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 196 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 4 
 

B. Upon Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in 
an amount sufficient to increase total payments to CONTRACTOR 
to 100% of the Contract Price, less such amounts as ENGINEER 
shall determine, or OWNER may withhold, in accordance with 
paragraph 15.01.C.5 of the General Conditions. 

 
5.2 Final Payment. 

 
Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with 
paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions, OWNER shall pay the 
remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by ENGINEER as 
provided in said paragraph 15.06. 

 
Article 6. CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS. 
 
In order to induce OWNER to enter into this Agreement CONTRACTOR makes the 
following representations: 
 

6.1 CONTRACTOR has familiarized itself with the nature and extent of the 
Contract Documents, Work, site, locality, and all local conditions and 
Laws and Regulations that in any manner may affect cost, progress, 
performance or furnishing of the Work. 

 
6.2 CONTRACTOR has studied carefully all reports of explorations and tests 

of subsurface conditions and drawings of physical conditions which are 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 5.03 
of the General Conditions, and accepts the determination set forth in the 
Supplementary Conditions of the extent of the technical data contained in 
such reports and drawings upon which CONTRACTOR is entitled to reply. 

 
6.3 CONTRACTOR has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes 

responsibility for obtaining and carefully studying) all such examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, reports and studies (in addition to or to 
supplement those referred to in paragraph 6.2 above) which pertain to the 
subsurface or physical conditions at or contiguous to the site or otherwise 
may affect the cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the Work as 
CONTRACTOR considers necessary for the performance or furnishing of 
the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Time and in 
accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents, including specifically the provisions of paragraph 5.03 of the 
General Conditions; and no additional examinations, investigations, 
explorations, tests, reports, studies or similar information or data are or 
will be required by CONTRACTOR for such purposes. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 197 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 5 
 

 
6.4 CONTRACTOR has reviewed and checked all information and data 

shown or indicated on the Contract Documents with respect to existing 
Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site and assumes 
responsibility for the accurate location of said Underground Facilities.  No 
additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, 
studies or similar information or data in respect of said Underground 
Facilities are or will be required by CONTRACTOR in order to perform and 
furnish the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Time and in 
accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents, including specifically the provisions of paragraph 5.05 of the 
General Conditions. 

 
6.5 CONTRACTOR has correlated the results of all such observations, 

examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports and studies with 
the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents.  

  
6.6 CONTRACTOR has given ENGINEER written notice of all conflicts, errors 

or discrepancies that he has discovered in the Contract Documents and 
the written resolution thereof by ENGINEER is acceptable to 
CONTRACTOR.  

 
Article 7. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

 
The Contract Documents which comprise the entire agreement between OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR concerning the Work consist of the following: 
 
 7.1 This Agreement (pages 1 to 7, inclusive). 
 
 7.2 Exhibits to this Agreement including ______________________ 
 
 7.3 Notice of Award, identified as Document C-510 and consisting of 1 page. 
 
 7.4 Notice to Proceed, identified as Document C-550 and consisting of 1 

page 
 

7.5 Performance Bond, identified as Documents C-610 and consisting of 3 
pages. 

 
 7.6 Payment Bond, identified as Documents C-615 and consisting of 3 pages. 
 

7.7 General Conditions (pages 1 to 62, inclusive). 
 

7.8 Supplementary Conditions (Document 0800, inclusive). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 198 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 6 
 

 
7.9 Specifications bearing the title 23 Club Baseball Complex 

Improvements  listed in table of contents thereof. 
 
7.10 Drawings bearing the title 23 Club Baseball Complex Improvements as 

listed in the table of contents of the Specifications. 
 

7.11 Addenda numbers _________ to __________, inclusive. 
 

7.12 CONTRACTOR's Bid (Document C-410, inclusive). 
 

7.13 The following which may be delivered or issued after the Effective Date of 
the Agreement and are not attached hereto:  All Written Amendments and 
other documents amending, modifying, or supplementing the Contract 
Documents pursuant to paragraphs 11.01 of the General Conditions. 

 
7.14 The documents listed in paragraphs 7.2 et seq. above are attached to this 

Agreement (except as expressly noted otherwise above). 
 
There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 7.  The 
Contract Documents may only be amended, modified or supplemented as provided in 
paragraphs 11.01 of the General Conditions. 
 
Article 8. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 

8.1 Terms used in this Agreement which are defined in Article 1 of the 
General Conditions will have the meanings indicated in the General 
Conditions.   

 
8.2 No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the 

Contract Documents will be binding on another party hereto without the 
written consent of the party sought to be bound; and specifically but 
without limitation moneys that may become due and moneys that are due 
may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the 
effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically 
stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment no 
assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or 
responsibility under the Contract Documents. 

 
8.3 OWNER and CONTRACTOR each binds itself, its partners, successors, 

assigns and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, 
successors, assigns and legal representatives in respect of all covenants, 
agreements and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 199 / 578



 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Agreement Section 00520 - Page 7 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, OWNER and CONTRACTOR have signed this Agreement in 
triplicate.  One counterpart each has been delivered to OWNER, CONTRACTOR and 
ENGINEER.  All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or identified by 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR or by ENGINEER on their behalf. 
 
This Agreement will be effective on _______________________, 20__. 
  
OWNER        CONTRACTOR       

 
 

 
 

 
 
BY         BY         
 
TITLE        TITLE        
 
 
 
 

[CORPORATE SEAL]     [CORPORATE SEAL] 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest         Attest        
 
Mailing Address for giving notices    Mailing Address for giving notices 
 

 
 

 
(If OWNER is a public body,     License No.        
attach evidence of authority    
to sign and resolution or       Agent for service of process: 
other documents authorizing   
execution of Agreement).              

(If CONTRACTOR is a corporation, 
attach evidence of authority to sign.) 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 200 / 578



EJCDC® C-550, Notice to Proceed.  
Prepared and published 2013 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.   

Page 1 of 1 

 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
Owner:  Owner's Contract No.:  

Contractor:  Contractor’s Project No.:  

Engineer:  Engineer's Project No.:  

Project:  Contract Name:   

  Effective Date of Contract:  

 
TO CONTRACTOR: 
 
 Owner hereby notifies Contractor that the Contract Times under the above Contract will commence to run on 
[_____________________, 20__].  [see Paragraph 4.01 of the General Conditions] 
 
On that date, Contractor shall start performing its obligations under the Contract Documents.  No Work shall be 
done at the Site prior to such date.  In accordance with the Agreement, [the date of Substantial Completion is 
________________________, and the date of readiness for final payment is_____________________] or [the 
number of days to achieve Substantial Completion is _____________________, and the number of days to 
achieve readiness for final payment is _____________________]. 
 

Before starting any Work at the Site, Contractor must comply with the following:  
[Note any access limitations, security procedures, or other restrictions] 

Owner:  

  

 Authorized Signature 
By:  

Title:  
Date Issued:  

 
 
 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE - CONTRACTOR 
 
 Receipt of the above NOTICE TO PROCEED is hereby acknowledged 

by               , 

this the __________________ day of ________________________ 20__. 

By          Title         
 
  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 201 / 578



EJCDC® C-610, Performance Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          1 of 3 
 

 

PERFORMANCE BOND 

CONTRACTOR (name and address): 
 
 
 
 

SURETY (name and address of principal place of business): 
 
 
 

OWNER (name and address): 
 
 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

Effective Date of the Agreement: 
Amount: 
Description (name and location):  

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): 
Amount: 
Modifications to this Bond Form:            None               See Paragraph 16 

 

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Performance Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL  SURETY 

  (seal)    (seal) 
Contractor’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:     By:   
       Signature   Signature (attach power of attorney) 
 
        
Print Name    Print Name 
 
        
Title    Title 
 
Attest:    Attest:    
 Signature   Signature  
 
        
Title    Title 
 
Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to 
Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 202 / 578



EJCDC® C-610, Performance Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          2 of 3 
 

1.  The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 
themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 
assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Construction 
Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

2.  If the Contractor performs the Construction Contract, the Surety 
and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond, except 
when applicable to participate in a conference as provided in 
Paragraph 3. 

3.  If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, 
the Surety’s obligation under this Bond shall arise after: 

3.1  The Owner first provides notice to the Contractor and 
the Surety that the Owner is considering declaring a Contractor 
Default. Such notice shall indicate whether the Owner is 
requesting a conference among the Owner, Contractor, and 
Surety to discuss the Contractor’s performance.  If the Owner 
does not request a conference, the Surety may, within five (5) 
business days after receipt of the Owner’s notice, request such a 
conference.  If the Surety timely requests a conference, the 
Owner shall attend.  Unless the Owner agrees otherwise, any 
conference requested under this Paragraph 3.1 shall be held 
within ten (10) business days of the Surety’s receipt of the 
Owner’s notice.  If the Owner, the Contractor, and the Surety 
agree, the Contractor shall be allowed a reasonable time to 
perform the Construction Contract, but such an agreement shall 
not waive the Owner’s right, if any, subsequently to declare a 
Contractor Default;  

3.2  The Owner declares a Contractor Default, terminates 
the Construction Contract and notifies the Surety; and 

3.3  The Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the 
Contract Price in accordance with the terms of the Construction 
Contract to the Surety or to a contractor selected to perform the 
Construction Contract. 

4.  Failure on the part of the Owner to comply with the notice 
requirement in Paragraph 3.1 shall not constitute a failure to comply 
with a condition precedent to the Surety’s obligations, or release the 
Surety from its obligations, except to the extent the Surety 
demonstrates actual prejudice. 

5.  When the Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, the 
Surety shall promptly and at the Surety’s expense take one of the 
following actions: 

5.1  Arrange for the Contractor, with the consent of the 
Owner, to perform and complete the Construction Contract; 

5.2  Undertake to perform and complete the Construction 
Contract itself, through its agents or independent contractors; 

5.3  Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified 
contractors acceptable to the Owner for a contract for 
performance and completion of the Construction Contract, 
arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the 
Owner and a contractor selected with the Owners concurrence, 
to be secured with performance and payment bonds executed 

by a qualified surety equivalent to the bonds issued on the 
Construction Contract, and pay to the Owner the amount of 
damages as described in Paragraph 7 in excess of the Balance of 
the Contract Price incurred by the Owner as a result of the 
Contractor Default; or 

5.4  Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for 
completion, or obtain a new contractor, and with reasonable 
promptness under the circumstances: 

5.4.1  After investigation, determine the amount for 
which it may be liable to the Owner and, as soon as 
practicable after the amount is determined, make payment 
to the Owner; or 

5.4.2  Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the 
Owner, citing the reasons for denial. 

6. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 5 with 
reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default 
on this Bond seven days after receipt of an additional written notice 
from the Owner to the Surety demanding that the Surety perform its 
obligations under this Bond, and the Owner shall be entitled to 
enforce any remedy available to the Owner.  If the Surety proceeds as 
provided in Paragraph 5.4, and the Owner refuses the payment or the 
Surety has denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice 
the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the 
Owner. 

7. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.2, or 5.3, then 
the responsibilities of the Surety to the Owner shall not be greater 
than those of the Contractor under the Construction Contract, and 
the responsibilities of the Owner to the Surety shall not be greater 
than those of the Owner under the Construction Contract.  Subject to 
the commitment by the Owner to pay the Balance of the Contract 
Price, the Surety is obligated, without duplication for: 

7.1  the responsibilities of the Contractor for correction of 
defective work and completion of the Construction Contract; 

7.2  additional legal, design professional, and delay costs 
resulting from the Contractor’s Default, and resulting from the 
actions or failure to act of the Surety under Paragraph 5; and 

7.3 liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are 
specified in the Construction Contract, actual damages caused by 
delayed performance or non-performance of the Contractor. 

8. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.3, or 5.4, the 
Surety’s liability is limited to the amount of this Bond. 

9. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner or others for 
obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction 
Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced 
or set off on account of any such unrelated obligations.  No right of 
action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than 
the Owner or its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 
assigns. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 203 / 578



EJCDC® C-610, Performance Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          3 of 3 
 

10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including 
changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related 
subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.  

11. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be 
instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in 
which the work or part of the work is located and shall be instituted 
within two years after a declaration of Contractor Default or within 
two years after the Contractor ceased working or within two years 
after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this 
Bond, whichever occurs first.  If the provisions of this paragraph are 
void or prohibited by law, the minimum periods of limitations 
available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be 
applicable. 

12. Notice to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be 
mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their 
signature appears. 

13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory 
or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was 
to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said 
statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and 
provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement 
shall be deemed incorporated herein.  When so furnished, the intent 
is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a 
common law bond. 

14. Definitions 

14.1  Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount 
payable by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction 
Contract after all proper adjustments have been made including 
allowance for the Contractor for any amounts received or to be 
received by the Owner in settlement of insurance or other claims 

for damages to which the Contractor is entitled, reduced by all 
valid and proper payments made to or on behalf of the 
Contractor under the Construction Contract. 

14.2  Construction Contract: The agreement between the 
Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all 
Contract Documents and changes made to the agreement and 
the Contract Documents. 

14.3  Contractor Default: Failure of the Contractor, which 
has not been remedied or waived, to perform or otherwise to 
comply with a material term of the Construction Contract. 

14.4  Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not 
been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required 
under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or 
comply with the other material terms of the Construction 
Contract. 

14.5  Contract Documents: All the documents that comprise 
the agreement between the Owner and Contractor. 

15. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and 
subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to 
be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be 
Contractor. 

16. Modifications to this Bond are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 204 / 578



EJCDC® C-615, Payment Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          1 of 3 

PAYMENT BOND 

CONTRACTOR (name and address):  

 

 

 

SURETY (name and address of principal place of business): 

 

 

 

OWNER (name and address): 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
Effective Date of the Agreement: 
Amount: 
Description (name and location): 
 

BOND 
Bond Number: 
Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of the Construction Contract): 
Amount: 
Modifications to this Bond Form:            None              See Paragraph 18 

 
  

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause 
this Payment Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative. 

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL SURETY 

  (seal)    (seal) 
Contractor’s Name and Corporate Seal  Surety’s Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:     By:                                                                
 Signature  Signature (attach power of attorney) 
 
      
Print Name   Print Name 
 
      
Title   Title 
 
Attest:     Attest:    
 Signature   Signature  
 
        
Title   Title 
 
Notes:  (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference 
to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 205 / 578



EJCDC® C-615, Payment Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          2 of 3 

 
1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 

themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns to the Owner to pay for labor, 
materials, and equipment furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract, which is 
incorporated herein by reference, subject to the following 
terms. 

2. If the Contractor promptly makes payment of all sums due 
to Claimants, and defends, indemnifies, and holds 
harmless the Owner from claims, demands, liens, or suits 
by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, 
materials, or equipment furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract, then the Surety 
and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this 
Bond. 

3.  If there is no Owner Default under the Construction 
Contract, the Surety’s obligation to the Owner under this 
Bond shall arise after the Owner has promptly notified the 
Contractor and the Surety (at the address described in 
Paragraph 13) of claims, demands, liens, or suits against 
the Owner or the Owner’s property by any person or 
entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment 
furnished for use in the performance of the Construction 
Contract, and tendered defense of such claims, demands, 
liens, or suits to the Contractor and the Surety. 

4. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions in Paragraph 
3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety’s expense 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner against a 
duly tendered claim, demand, lien, or suit. 

5. The Surety’s obligations to a Claimant under this Bond 
shall arise after the following: 

5.1  Claimants who do not have a direct contract with 
the Contractor, 

 
5.1.1 have furnished a written notice of non-

payment to the Contractor, stating with 
substantial accuracy the amount claimed 
and the name of the party to whom the 
materials were, or equipment was, 
furnished or supplied or for whom the 
labor was done or performed, within 
ninety (90) days after having last 
performed labor or last furnished 
materials or equipment included in the 
Claim; and 

 
5.1.2 have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the 

address described in Paragraph 13). 

5.2  Claimants who are employed by or have a direct 
contract with the Contractor have sent a Claim to 
the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 
13). 

6. If a notice of non-payment required by Paragraph 5.1.1 is 
given by the Owner to the Contractor, that is sufficient to 
satisfy a Claimant’s obligation to furnish a written notice of 
non-payment under Paragraph 5.1.1. 

7. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 
5.1 or 5.2, whichever is applicable, the Surety shall 
promptly and at the Surety’s expense take the following 
actions: 

7.1 Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the 
Owner, within sixty (60) days after receipt of the 
Claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and 
the basis for challenging any amounts that are 
disputed; and 

7.2 Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed 
amounts. 

7.3 The Surety’s failure to discharge its obligations 
under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2 shall not be deemed to 
constitute a waiver of defenses the Surety or 
Contractor may have or acquire as to a Claim, 
except as to undisputed amounts for which the 
Surety and Claimant have reached agreement.  If, 
however, the Surety fails to discharge its 
obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2, the Surety 
shall indemnify the Claimant for the reasonable 
attorney’s fees the Claimant incurs thereafter to 
recover any sums found to be due and owing to 
the Claimant. 

8. The Surety’s total obligation shall not exceed the amount 
of this Bond, plus the amount of reasonable attorney’s 
fees provided under Paragraph 7.3, and the amount of this 
Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good 
faith by the Surety. 

9.  Amounts owed by the Owner to the Contractor under the 
Construction Contract shall be used for the performance 
of the Construction Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, 
under any construction performance bond.  By the 
Contractor furnishing and the Owner accepting this Bond, 
they agree that all funds earned by the Contractor in the 
performance of the Construction Contract are dedicated 
to satisfy obligations of the Contractor and Surety under 
this Bond, subject to the Owner’s priority to use the funds 
for the completion of the work. 

10. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner, Claimants, or 
others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated 
to the Construction Contract.  The Owner shall not be 
liable for the payment of any costs or expenses of any 
Claimant under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond 
no obligation to make payments to or give notice on 
behalf of Claimants, or otherwise have any obligations to 
Claimants under this Bond. 

11. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including 
changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related 
subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 206 / 578



EJCDC® C-615, Payment Bond 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.          3 of 3 

12. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under 
this Bond other than in a court of competent jurisdiction in 
the state in which the project that is the subject of the 
Construction Contract is located or after the expiration of 
one year from the date (1) on which the Claimant sent a 
Claim to the Surety pursuant to Paragraph 5.1.2 or 5.2, or 
(2) on which the last labor or service was performed by 
anyone or the last materials or equipment were furnished 
by anyone under the Construction Contract, whichever of 
(1) or (2) first occurs.  If the provisions of this paragraph 
are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of 
limitation available to sureties as a defense in the 
jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 

13. Notice and Claims to the Surety, the Owner, or the 
Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address 
shown on the page on which their signature appears.  
Actual receipt of notice or Claims, however accomplished, 
shall be sufficient compliance as of the date received. 

14. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a 
statutory or other legal requirement in the location where 
the construction was to be performed, any provision in 
this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal 
requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and 
provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal 
requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein.  When 
so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed 
as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond. 

15. Upon requests by any person or entity appearing to be a 
potential beneficiary of this Bond, the Contractor and 
Owner shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall 
permit a copy to be made. 

16. Definitions 

16.1  Claim: A written statement by the Claimant 
including at a minimum: 

1.  The name of the Claimant; 
2.  The name of the person for whom the labor 

was done, or materials or equipment 
furnished;  

3. A copy of the agreement or purchase order 
pursuant to which labor, materials, or 
equipment was furnished for use in the 
performance of the Construction Contract; 

4.  A brief description of the labor, materials, or 
equipment furnished; 

5.  The date on which the Claimant last 
performed labor or last furnished materials or 
equipment for use in the performance of the 
Construction Contract; 

6. The total amount earned by the Claimant for 
labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of 
the date of the Claim; 

7. The total amount of previous payments 
received by the Claimant; and 

8. The total amount due and unpaid to the 
Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment 
furnished as of the date of the Claim. 

16.2  Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct 
contract with the Contractor or with a 
subcontractor of the Contractor to furnish labor, 
materials, or equipment for use in the performance 
of the Construction Contract. The term Claimant 
also includes any individual or entity that has 
rightfully asserted a claim under an applicable 
mechanic’s lien or similar statute against the real 
property upon which the Project is located. The 
intent of this Bond shall be to include without 
limitation in the terms of “labor, materials, or 
equipment” that part of the water, gas, power, 
light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service, or 
rental equipment used in the Construction 
Contract, architectural and engineering services 
required for performance of the work of the 
Contractor and the Contractor’s subcontractors, 
and all other items for which a mechanic’s lien may 
be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, 
materials, or equipment were furnished. 

16.3  Construction Contract: The agreement between 
the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover 
page, including all Contract Documents and all 
changes made to the agreement and the Contract 
Documents. 

16.4  Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has 
not been remedied or waived, to pay the 
Contractor as required under the Construction 
Contract or to perform and complete or comply 
with the other material terms of the Construction 
Contract. 

16.5  Contract Documents: All the documents that 
comprise the agreement between the Owner and 
Contractor. 

17.  If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a 
contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this 
Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term 
Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor. 

18. Modifications to this Bond are as follows: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 207 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved. 

 

This document has important legal consequences; consultation with an attorney is encouraged with 
respect to its use or modification.  This document should be adapted to the particular circumstances of 
the contemplated Project and the controlling Laws and Regulations. 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS 
OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 208 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved. 

These General Conditions have been prepared for use with the Agreement Between Owner and 
Contractor for Construction Contract (EJCDC® C-520, Stipulated Sum, or C-525, Cost-Plus, 2013 Editions). 
Their provisions are interrelated and a change in one may necessitate a change in the other. 

To prepare supplementary conditions that are coordinated with the General Conditions, use EJCDC’s 
Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions (EJCDC® C-800, 2013 Edition). The full EJCDC 
Construction series of documents is discussed in the Commentary on the 2013 EJCDC Construction 
Documents (EJCDC® C-001, 2013 Edition). 

 

 

Copyright © 2013: 

 

National Society of Professional Engineers 

1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794 

(703) 684-2882 

www.nspe.org 

 

American Council of Engineering Companies 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 

(202) 347-7474 

www.acec.org 

 

American Society of Civil Engineers 

1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400 

(800) 548-2723 

www.asce.org 

 

 

 

The copyright for this document is owned jointly by the three sponsoring organizations listed above.  
The National Society of Professional Engineers is the Copyright Administrator for the EJCDC documents; 
please direct all inquiries regarding EJCDC copyrights to NSPE. 

 

NOTE: EJCDC publications may be purchased at www.ejcdc.org, or from any of the sponsoring 
organizations above. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 209 / 578

http://www.nspe.org/
http://www.acec.org/
http://www.asce.org/
http://www.ejcdc.org/


EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page i 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 
Article 1 – Definitions and Terminology ......................................................................................... 1 

1.01 Defined Terms ........................................................................................................................ 1 

1.02 Terminology ........................................................................................................................... 5 

Article 2 – Preliminary Matters ....................................................................................................... 6 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance ........................................................................ 6 

2.02 Copies of Documents ............................................................................................................. 6 

2.03 Before Starting Construction ................................................................................................. 6 

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives ........................... 7 

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules ............................................................................................. 7 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals ........................................................................................................... 7 

Article 3 – Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse .................................................................... 8 

3.01 Intent ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

3.02 Reference Standards .............................................................................................................. 8 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies ................................................................................. 8 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents ............................................................................ 9 

3.05 Reuse of Documents ............................................................................................................ 10 

Article 4 – Commencement and Progress of the Work ................................................................ 10 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed ...................................................... 10 

4.02 Starting the Work ................................................................................................................. 10 

4.03 Reference Points .................................................................................................................. 10 

4.04 Progress Schedule ................................................................................................................ 10 

4.05 Delays in Contractor’s Progress ........................................................................................... 11 

Article 5 – Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

5.01 Availability of Lands ............................................................................................................. 12 

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas ................................................................................................. 12 

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions ..................................................................................... 13 

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions ........................................................................ 14 

5.05 Underground Facilities ......................................................................................................... 15 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 210 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page ii 

 

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site ...................................................................... 17 

Article 6 – Bonds and Insurance ................................................................................................... 19 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds ........................................................................... 19 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions ............................................................................................ 19 

6.03 Contractor’s Insurance ......................................................................................................... 20 

6.04 Owner’s Liability Insurance .................................................................................................. 23 

6.05 Property Insurance ............................................................................................................... 23 

6.06 Waiver of Rights ................................................................................................................... 25 

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds ................................................... 25 

Article 7 – Contractor’s Responsibilities ....................................................................................... 26 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence ....................................................................................... 26 

7.02 Labor; Working Hours .......................................................................................................... 26 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment ..................................................................................... 26 

7.04 “Or Equals” ........................................................................................................................... 27 

7.05 Substitutes ........................................................................................................................... 28 

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others ............................................................. 29 

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties .................................................................................................... 31 

7.08 Permits ................................................................................................................................. 31 

7.09 Taxes .................................................................................................................................... 32 

7.10 Laws and Regulations ........................................................................................................... 32 

7.11 Record Documents ............................................................................................................... 32 

7.12 Safety and Protection ........................................................................................................... 32 

7.13 Safety Representative .......................................................................................................... 33 

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs ....................................................................................... 33 

7.15 Emergencies ......................................................................................................................... 34 

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals .................................................................. 34 

7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee................................................................... 36 

7.18 Indemnification .................................................................................................................... 37 

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services ......................................................................... 37 

Article 8 – Other Work at the Site ................................................................................................ 38 

8.01 Other Work .......................................................................................................................... 38 

8.02 Coordination ........................................................................................................................ 39 

8.03 Legal Relationships ............................................................................................................... 39 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 211 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page iii 

 

Article 9 – Owner’s Responsibilities .............................................................................................. 40 

9.01 Communications to Contractor ............................................................................................ 40 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer ..................................................................................................... 40 

9.03 Furnish Data ......................................................................................................................... 40 

9.04 Pay When Due ...................................................................................................................... 40 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings .......................................................... 40 

9.06 Insurance .............................................................................................................................. 40 

9.07 Change Orders ...................................................................................................................... 40 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals ........................................................................................ 41 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities .............................................................................. 41 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition ............................................................... 41 

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements .................................................................................... 41 

9.12 Safety Programs ................................................................................................................... 41 

Article 10 – Engineer’s Status During Construction ...................................................................... 41 

10.01 Owner’s Representative ....................................................................................................... 41 

10.02 Visits to Site .......................................................................................................................... 41 

10.03 Project Representative ......................................................................................................... 42 

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work ..................................................................................................... 42 

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments .................................................................... 42 

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work .................................................................................... 42 

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work ................ 42 

10.08 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities .................................................... 42 

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program ......................................................................................... 43 

Article 11 – Amending the Contract Documents; Changes in the Work ...................................... 43 

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents .......................................................... 43 

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work ............................................................................. 44 

11.03 Unauthorized Changes in the Work ..................................................................................... 44 

11.04 Change of Contract Price ..................................................................................................... 44 

11.05 Change of Contract Times .................................................................................................... 45 

11.06 Change Proposals ................................................................................................................. 45 

11.07 Execution of Change Orders ................................................................................................. 46 

11.08 Notification to Surety ........................................................................................................... 47 

Article 12 – Claims ......................................................................................................................... 47 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 212 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page iv 

 

12.01 Claims ................................................................................................................................... 47 

Article 13 – Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work ........................................................ 48 

13.01 Cost of the Work .................................................................................................................. 48 

13.02 Allowances ........................................................................................................................... 50 

13.03 Unit Price Work .................................................................................................................... 51 

Article 14 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work ....... 52 

14.01 Access to Work ..................................................................................................................... 52 

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals ........................................................................................ 52 

14.03 Defective Work..................................................................................................................... 53 

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work ............................................................................................. 53 

14.05 Uncovering Work ................................................................................................................. 53 

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work .................................................................................................. 54 

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work .................................................................................... 54 

Article 15 – Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period .......................... 55 

15.01 Progress Payments ............................................................................................................... 55 

15.02 Contractor’s Warranty of Title ............................................................................................. 58 

15.03 Substantial Completion ........................................................................................................ 58 

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy ..................................................................................................... 59 

15.05 Final Inspection .................................................................................................................... 59 

15.06 Final Payment ....................................................................................................................... 59 

15.07 Waiver of Claims .................................................................................................................. 61 

15.08 Correction Period ................................................................................................................. 61 

Article 16 – Suspension of Work and Termination ....................................................................... 62 

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work .................................................................................................. 62 

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause ......................................................................................... 62 

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience ............................................................................. 63 

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate ............................................................................ 63 

Article 17 – Final Resolution of Disputes ...................................................................................... 64 

17.01 Methods and Procedures ..................................................................................................... 64 

Article 18 – Miscellaneous ............................................................................................................ 64 

18.01 Giving Notice ........................................................................................................................ 64 

18.02 Computation of Times .......................................................................................................... 64 

18.03 Cumulative Remedies .......................................................................................................... 64 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 213 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page v 

 

18.04 Limitation of Damages ......................................................................................................... 65 

18.05 No Waiver ............................................................................................................................ 65 

18.06 Survival of Obligations ......................................................................................................... 65 

18.07 Controlling Law .................................................................................................................... 65 

18.08 Headings ............................................................................................................................... 65 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 214 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 1 of 65 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 

1.01 Defined Terms 

A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with 
initial capital letters, including the term’s singular and plural forms, will have the meaning 
indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with 
initial capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and 
paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms. 

1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which 
clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract 
Documents. 

2. Agreement—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Contractor, that sets 
forth the Contract Price and Contract Times, identifies the parties and the Engineer, 
and designates the specific items that are Contract Documents. 

3. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by 
Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and 
which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the 
Contract Documents. 

4. Bid—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices 
for the Work to be performed. 

5. Bidder—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner. 

6. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements, the proposed Contract Documents, 
and all Addenda. 

7. Bidding Requirements—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, 
Bid Bond or other Bid security, if any, the Bid Form, and the Bid with any attachments. 

8. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes 
an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or 
the Contract Times, or other revision to the Contract, issued on or after the Effective 
Date of the Contract. 

9. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with 
the procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price 
or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the 
requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the 
Contract Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other 
relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. 

10. Claim—(a) A demand or assertion by Owner directly to Contractor, duly submitted in 
compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein: seeking an adjustment 
of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer 
concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work 
under the Contract Documents; contesting Engineer’s decision regarding a Change 
Proposal; seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to 
address; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract; or (b) a 
demand or assertion by Contractor directly to Owner, duly submitted in compliance 
with the procedural requirements set forth herein, contesting Engineer’s decision 
regarding a Change Proposal; or seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 215 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 2 of 65 

has declined to address. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a 
Claim. 

11. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated 
biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other 
material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed 
pursuant to (a) the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. (“CERCLA”); (b) the Hazardous Materials 
Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§5101 et seq.; (c) the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq. (“RCRA”); (d) the Toxic Substances Control Act, 
15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; (e) the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; (f) the 
Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.; or (g) any other federal, state, or local statute, 
law, rule, regulation, ordinance, resolution, code, order, or decree regulating, relating 
to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or 
dangerous waste, substance, or material. 

12. Contract—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner and 
Contractor concerning the Work. 

13. Contract Documents—Those items so designated in the Agreement, and which 
together comprise the Contract. 

14. Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion 
of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. . 

15. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall: (a) 
achieve Milestones, if any; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the 
Work. 

16. Contractor—The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for 
performance of the Work. 

17. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 13.01 for definition. 

18. Drawings—The part of the Contract that graphically shows the scope, extent, and 
character of the Work to be performed by Contractor. 

19. Effective Date of the Contract—The date, indicated in the Agreement, on which the 
Contract becomes effective. 

20. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement. 

21. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the 
Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times. 

22. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Constituents of 
Concern in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or 
property exposed thereto.  The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for 
the execution of the Work, or that are to be incorporated in the Work, and that are 
controlled and contained pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and 
the requirements of the Contract, does not establish a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition. 

23. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, 
rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, 
agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 216 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 3 of 65 

24. Liens—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Contract-related funds, real 
property, or personal property. 

25. Milestone—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Contract 
requires Contractor to achieve by an intermediate completion date or by a time prior 
to Substantial Completion of all the Work. 

26. Notice of Award—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner’s acceptance of 
the Bid. 

27. Notice to Proceed—A written notice by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which 
the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to 
perform the Work. 

28. Owner—The individual or entity with which Contractor has contracted regarding the 
Work, and which has agreed to pay Contractor for the performance of the Work, 
pursuant to the terms of the Contract. 

29. Progress Schedule—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing 
the sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor’s plan to 
accomplish the Work within the Contract Times. 

30. Project—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, 
contractors, and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, 
commissioning, and start-up, and of which the Work to be performed under the 
Contract Documents is a part. 

31. Project Manual—The written documents prepared for, or made available for, 
procuring and constructing the Work, including but not limited to the Bidding 
Documents or other construction procurement documents, geotechnical and existing 
conditions information, the Agreement, bond forms, General Conditions, 
Supplementary Conditions, and Specifications. The contents of the Project Manual 
may be bound in one or more volumes. 

32. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned 
to assist Engineer at the Site. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative 
or “RPR” includes any assistants or field staff of Resident Project Representative. 

33. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are 
representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which 
such portion of the Work will be judged. 

34. Schedule of Submittals—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of 
required submittals and the time requirements for Engineer’s review of the submittals 
and the performance of related construction activities. 

35. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating 
portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for 
reviewing Contractor’s Applications for Payment. 

36. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or 
information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and 
submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work.  Shop Drawings, 
whether approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 217 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 4 of 65 

37. Site—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner 
upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and 
such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor. 

38. Specifications—The part of the Contract that consists of written requirements for 
materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, 
and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable to the 
Work. 

39. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with 
any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work. 

40. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 
progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified 
part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so 
that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it 
is intended. The terms “substantially complete” and “substantially completed” as 
applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. 

41. Successful Bidder—The Bidder whose Bid the Owner accepts, and to which the Owner 
makes an award of contract, subject to stated conditions. 

42. Supplementary Conditions—The part of the Contract that amends or supplements 
these General Conditions. 

43. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor 
having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials 
or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor. 

44. Technical Data—Those items expressly identified as Technical Data in the 
Supplementary Conditions, with respect to either (a) subsurface conditions at the Site, 
or physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site 
(except Underground Facilities) or (b) Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site. 
If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to 
conditions at the Site, then the data contained in boring logs, recorded measurements 
of subsurface water levels, laboratory test results, and other factual, objective 
information regarding conditions at the Site that are set forth in any geotechnical or 
environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor are 
hereby defined as Technical Data with respect to conditions at the Site under 
Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.06. 

45. Underground Facilities—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, 
manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any 
encasements containing such facilities, including but not limited to those that convey 
electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other 
communications, fiber optic transmissions, cable television, water, wastewater, storm 
water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. 

46. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices. 

47. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof 
required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the 
result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to 
produce such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and 
equipment into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, 
start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 218 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 5 of 65 

48. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the 
Effective Date of the Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, 
ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work. 

1.02 Terminology 

A. The words and terms discussed in the following paragraphs are not defined but, when used 
in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning. 

B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives: 

1. The Contract Documents include the terms “as allowed,” “as approved,” “as ordered,” 
“as directed” or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional 
judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives “reasonable,” “suitable,” 
“acceptable,” “proper,” “satisfactory,” or adjectives of like effect or import are used to 
describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that 
such exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to 
evaluate, in general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract 
Documents and with the design concept of the Project as a functioning whole as 
shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement 
indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is not intended to and 
shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct 
the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility 
contrary to the provisions of Article 10 or any other provision of the Contract 
Documents. 

C. Day: 

1. The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next 
midnight. 

D. Defective: 

1. The word “defective,” when modifying the word “Work,” refers to Work that is 
unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it: 

a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or 

b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, 
test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or 

c. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment (unless 
responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at 
Substantial Completion in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or 15.04). 

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide: 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, 
shall mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or 
some other specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable 
condition. 

2. The word “install,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, 
shall mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or 
equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 219 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 6 of 65 

3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used in connection with services, materials, 
or equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment 
complete and ready for intended use. 

4. If the Contract Documents establish an obligation of Contractor with respect to 
specific services, materials, or equipment, but do not expressly use any of the four 
words “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “provide,” then Contractor shall furnish and 
install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-
known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract 
Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning. 

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance 

A. Bonds: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, 
Contractor shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish. 

B. Evidence of Contractor’s Insurance: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of 
the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each 
named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or 
elsewhere in the Contract), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be 
provided by Contractor in accordance with Article 6. 

C. Evidence of Owner’s Insurance: After receipt of the executed counterparts of the 
Agreement and all required bonds and insurance documentation, Owner shall promptly 
deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions or otherwise), the certificates and other 
evidence of insurance required to be provided by Owner under Article 6. 

2.02 Copies of Documents 

A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor four printed copies of the Contract (including one fully 
executed counterpart of the Agreement), and one copy in electronic portable document 
format (PDF). Additional printed copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of 
reproduction. 

B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the 
Contract, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other 
design professionals.  Owner shall make such original printed record version of the Contract 
available to Contractor for review. Owner may delegate the responsibilities under this 
provision to Engineer. 

2.03   Before Starting Construction 

A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Contract (or as 
otherwise specifically required by the Contract Documents), Contractor shall submit to 
Engineer for timely review: 

1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for 
starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones 
specified in the Contract; 

2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 220 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 7 of 65 

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and 
prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides 
the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress 
payments during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate 
amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work. 

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives 

A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, 
Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding 
among the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 
2.03.A, procedures for handling Shop Drawings, Samples, and other submittals, processing 
Applications for Payment, electronic or digital transmittals, and maintaining required 
records. 

B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific 
individual to act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and 
responsibilities under the Contract.  Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit 
and receive information, render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on 
behalf of each respective party. 

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules 

A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference, 
attended by Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate, will be held to review for 
acceptability to Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with 
Paragraph 2.03.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and 
adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be 
made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer. 

1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly 
progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance 
will not impose on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, 
scheduling, or progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from 
Contractor’s full responsibility therefor. 

2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a 
workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals. 

3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and 
substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component 
parts of the Work. 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals 

A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract, the Owner, Engineer, and Contractor 
may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, text, data, documents, 
drawings, information, and graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other 
submittals, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, or through access to a 
secure Project website. 

B. If the Contract does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then 
Owner, Engineer, and Contractor shall jointly develop such protocols. 

C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes 
no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items 
resulting from the recipient’s use of software application packages, operating systems, or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 221 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 8 of 65 

computer hardware differing from those used in the drafting or transmittal of the items, or 
from those established in applicable transmittal protocols. 

ARTICLE 3 – DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE 

3.01 Intent 

A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if 
required by all. 

B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or 
part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the 
electronic or digital versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies 
derived from such electronic or digital versions) and the printed record version, the printed 
record version shall govern. 

D. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether 
written or oral. 

E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided 
herein. 

3.02 Reference Standards 

A. Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations 

1. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, reference 
standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or 
Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the 
standard specification, manual, reference standard, code, or Laws or Regulations in 
effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Contract if there 
were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract 
Documents. 

2. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, 
or any instruction of a Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or 
responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, 
consultants, agents, or employees, from those set forth in the part of the Contract 
Documents prepared by or for Engineer. No such provision or instruction shall be 
effective to assign to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to 
supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake 
responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents 
prepared by or for Engineer. 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 

A. Reporting Discrepancies: 

1. Contractor’s Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each 
part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check 
and verify pertinent figures and dimensions therein, particularly with respect to 
applicable field measurements. Contractor shall promptly report in writing to Engineer 
any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy that Contractor discovers, or has actual 
knowledge of, and shall not proceed with any Work affected thereby until the conflict, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 222 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 9 of 65 

error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by 
Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued 
pursuant to Paragraph 11.01. 

2. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents: If, before or during the performance of 
the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within 
the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable 
Law or Regulation, (b) actual field conditions, (c) any standard specification, manual, 
reference standard, or code, or (d) any instruction of any Supplier, then Contractor 
shall promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall not proceed with the 
Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15) until 
the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or 
interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract 
Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01. 

3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, 
error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had 
actual knowledge thereof. 

B. Resolving Discrepancies: 

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the 
provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer shall 
take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between 
such provisions of the Contract Documents and: 

a. the provisions of any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, 
or the instruction of any Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by 
reference as a Contract Document); or 

b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the 
Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents 
would result in violation of such Law or Regulation). 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents 

A. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall 
submit to the Engineer all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract 
Documents (sometimes referred to as requests for information or interpretation—RFIs), or 
relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, as soon as possible 
after such matters arise. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the 
Contract Documents, and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder. 

B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or 
decision on the issue submitted, or initiate an amendment or supplement to the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s written clarification, interpretation, or decision will be final and 
binding on Contractor, unless it appeals by submitting a Change Proposal, and on Owner, 
unless it appeals by filing a Claim. 

C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the 
Contract Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or 
otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will promptly give 
written notice to Owner and Contractor that Engineer is unable to provide a decision or 
interpretation. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on resolution of such a matter 
in question, either party may pursue resolution as provided in Article 12. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 223 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 10 of 65 

3.05 Reuse of Documents 

A. Contractor and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not: 

1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, 
or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of 
Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions, or reuse any such 
Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the 
Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and 
specific written verification or adaptation by Engineer; or 

2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse 
any such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner’s express written 
consent, or violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents. 

B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the 
Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract 
Documents for record purposes. 

ARTICLE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed 

A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of 
the Contract or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to 
Proceed. A Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective 
Date of the Contract. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the 
sixtieth day after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the 
Contract, whichever date is earlier. 

4.02 Starting the Work 

A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times 
commence to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to such date. 

4.03 Reference Points 

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction 
which in Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the 
Work. Contractor shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve 
the established reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or 
relocations without the prior written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to 
Engineer whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or 
requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be 
responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points or property 
monuments by professionally qualified personnel. 

4.04 Progress Schedule 

A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 
2.05 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below. 

1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in 
Paragraph 2.05) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in 
changing the Contract Times. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 224 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 11 of 65 

2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times 
shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 11. 

B. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes 
or disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution 
of any disputes or disagreements, or during any appeal process, except as permitted by 
Paragraph 16.04, or as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing. 

4.05 Delays in Contractor’s Progress 

A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or 
interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled 
to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor’s 
entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment 
being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for 
delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. Delay, 
disruption, and interference attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or 
Supplier shall be deemed to be within the control of Contractor. 

C. If Contractor’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by 
unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and 
those for which they are responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable 
adjustment in Contract Times. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract 
Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete 
the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor’s sole and 
exclusive remedy for the delays, disruption, and interference described in this paragraph. 
Causes of delay, disruption, or interference that may give rise to an adjustment in Contract 
Times under this paragraph include but are not limited to the following: 

1. severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and 
earthquakes; 

2. abnormal weather conditions; 

3. acts or failures to act of utility owners (other than those performing other work at or 
adjacent to the Site by arrangement with the Owner, as contemplated in Article 8); 
and 

4. acts of war or terrorism. 

D. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting 
from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility 
that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents, or not shown or indicated 
with reasonable accuracy, and those resulting from Hazardous Environmental Conditions, 
are governed by Article 5. 

E. Paragraph 8.03 governs delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or 
progress of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent 
to the Site. 

F. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for 
any delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or 
interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 225 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 12 of 65 

G. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or 
Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the commencement of the delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering event. 

ARTICLE 5 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 

5.01 Availability of Lands 

A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or 
restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which 
Contractor must comply in performing the Work. 

B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement 
of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements 
are to be made and Owner’s interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a 
mechanic’s or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and 
Regulations. 

C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for 
temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment. 

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas 

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas: 

1. Contractor shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the 
storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, 
adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or 
otherwise, and other adjacent areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not 
unreasonably encumber the Site and such other adjacent areas with construction 
equipment or other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility 
for (a) damage to the Site; (b) damage to any such other adjacent areas used for 
Contractor’s operations; (c) damage to any other adjacent land or areas; and (d) for 
injuries and losses sustained by the owners or occupants of any such land or areas; 
provided that such damage or injuries result from the performance of the Work or 
from other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is 
responsible. 

2. If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area 
because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of 
the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible, Contractor shall (a) take 
immediate corrective or remedial action as required by Paragraph 7.12, or otherwise; 
(b) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with 
such owner or occupant, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute 
resolution proceeding, or at law; and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 
Regulations, indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of 
each and any of them from and against any such claim, and against all costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, 
brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party 
indemnified hereunder to the extent caused directly or indirectly, in whole or in part 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 226 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 13 of 65 

by, or based upon, Contractor’s performance of the Work, or because of other actions 
or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible. 

B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work the 
Contractor shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste 
materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, 
rubbish, and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and 
the Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work 
Contractor shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, appliances, construction 
equipment and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all 
property not designated for alteration by the Contract Documents. 

D. Loading of Structures: Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be 
loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any 
part of the Work or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures that will endanger 
them. 

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
adjacent to the Site; 

2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 
subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities); and 

3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with 
respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract 
Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely 
upon the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any 
geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to 
Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or 
make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, 
but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or 
shown or indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any 
such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 227 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 14 of 65 

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 

A. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is 
uncovered or revealed at the Site either: 

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Contractor is 
entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.03 is materially inaccurate; or 

2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications; or 

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or 

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered 
and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the 
Contract Documents; 

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further 
disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection 
therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), notify Owner and 
Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such 
condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except with respect to an 
emergency) until receipt of a written statement permitting Contractor to do so. 

B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, 
Engineer will promptly review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine 
the necessity of Owner’s obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the 
condition; conclude whether the condition falls within any one or more of the differing site 
condition categories in Paragraph 5.04.A above; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule 
information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the 
Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in 
question and the need for any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and advise Owner 
in writing  of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations. 

C. Owner’s Statement to Contractor Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer’s 
written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement 
to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical condition in 
question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating 
whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or 
rejecting Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in 
part. 

D. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract 
Times, or both, to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical 
condition, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or 
decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; 
subject, however, to the following: 

a. such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in 
Paragraph 5.04.A; 

b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in 
Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; and, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 228 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 15 of 65 

c. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned 
on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 
within the Contract Times. 

2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract 
Times with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if: 

a. Contractor knew of the existence of such condition at the time Contractor made a 
commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the 
submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract, or 
otherwise; or 

b. the existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or 
revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study 
of the Site and contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements 
or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor’s 
making such commitment; or 

c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 5.04.A. 

3. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor’s entitlement to and the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any 
such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

4. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later 
than 30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Contractor 
regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question. 

5.05 Underground Facilities 

A. Contractor’s Responsibilities: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract 
Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site is 
based on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such 
Underground Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly 
provided in the Supplementary Conditions: 

1. Owner and Engineer do not warrant or guarantee the accuracy or completeness of any 
such information or data provided by others; and 

2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor 
shall have full responsibility for: 

a. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground 
Facilities at the Site; 

b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents 
as being at the Site; 

c. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such 
Underground Facilities, during construction; and 

d. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities at the Site, and 
repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work. 

B. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that an Underground Facility that is uncovered 
or revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not 
shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, then Contractor shall, promptly after 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 229 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 16 of 65 

becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or 
performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by 
Paragraph 7.15), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to 
that owner and to Owner and Engineer. 

C. Engineer’s Review: Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and conclude 
whether such Underground Facility was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, 
or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy; obtain any pertinent cost or 
schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the 
Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the Underground Facility in question; 
determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications 
to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground 
Facility; and advise Owner in writing  of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and 
recommendations. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and 
protection of such Underground Facility. 

D. Owner’s Statement to Contractor Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of 
Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written 
statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Facility in 
question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such Underground Facility, 
indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting 
or rejecting Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations in whole or in 
part. 

E. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility at the 
Site that was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or 
indicated with reasonable accuracy, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, 
causes an increase or decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, 
performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following: 

a. Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be 
aware of or to have anticipated the existence or actual location of the 
Underground Facility in question; 

b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in 
Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; 

c. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned 
on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 
within the Contract Times; and 

d. Contractor gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.05.B. 

2. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor’s entitlement to and the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any 
such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

3. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount 
or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later 
than 30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Contractor 
regarding the Underground Facility in question. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 230 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 17 of 65 

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental 
Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and 

2. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the 
accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with 
respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract 
Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely on 
the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or 
environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for 
such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against 
Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, 
but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and 
procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or 
shown or indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any 
such other data, interpretations, opinions or information. 

C. Contractor shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous 
Environmental Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such 
removal or remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents to be within the 
scope of the Work. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all 
Constituents of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or 
anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible, and for any associated costs; and for the 
costs of removing and remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition created by the 
presence of any such Constituents of Concern. 

E. If Contractor encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose 
removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents as being 
within the scope of the Work, or if Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is 
responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, then Contractor shall 
immediately: (1) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (2) stop all Work in connection 
with such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required 
by Paragraph 7.15); and (3) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm 
such notice in writing). Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the 
necessity for Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take 
corrective action, if any. Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such 
actions as are necessary to permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and provide 
Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 5.06.F. If Contractor or anyone for 
whom Contractor is responsible created the Hazardous Environmental Condition in 
question, then Owner may remove and remediate the Hazardous Environmental Condition, 
and impose a set-off against payments to account for the associated costs. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 231 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 18 of 65 

F. Contractor shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental 
Condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits 
related thereto, and delivered written notice to Contractor either (1) specifying that such 
condition and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work, 
or (2) specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely. 

G. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 
any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such 
Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by 
Contractor, then within 30 days of Owner’s written notice regarding the resumption of 
Work, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may impose a set-off. 

H. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work 
based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under 
such special conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area 
affected by such condition to be deleted from the Work, following the contractual change 
procedures in Article 11. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by 
Owner’s own forces or others in accordance with Article 8. 

I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them 
from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees 
and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition (1) was 
not shown or indicated in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Contract Documents, 
identified as Technical Data entitled to limited reliance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06.B,  or 
identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (2) 
was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in 
this Paragraph 5.06.I shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and 
against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

J. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the failure to 
control, contain, or remove a Constituent of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor or 
by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible, or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition 
created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this 
Paragraph 5.06.J shall obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and 
against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

K. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 do not apply to the presence of 
Constituents of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed 
at the Site. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 232 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 19 of 65 

ARTICLE 6 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 

A. Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, each in an amount at 
least equal to the Contract Price, as security for the faithful performance and payment of all 
of Contractor’s obligations under the Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until one 
year after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction 
period specified in Paragraph 15.08, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by 
Laws or Regulations, the Supplementary Conditions, or other specific provisions of the 
Contract. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the 
Supplementary Conditions or other specific provisions of the Contract. 

B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract except as provided otherwise by 
Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in “Companies 
Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as 
Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (as amended and 
supplemented) by the Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. 
Department of the Treasury. A bond signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be 
accompanied by a certified copy of that individual’s authority to bind the surety.  The 
evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date the agent or attorney-in-fact 
signed the accompanying bond. 

C. Contractor shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or 
authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds in the required 
amounts. 

D. If the surety on a bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, 
or its right to do business is terminated in any state or jurisdiction where any part of the 
Project is located, or the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Contractor 
shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving 
rise to such notification, provide another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with 
the bond and surety requirements above. 

E. If Contractor has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Contractor from 
the Site and exercise Owner’s termination rights under Article 16. 

F. Upon request, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to any Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or other person or entity claiming to have furnished labor or materials used in the 
performance of the Work. 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions 

A. Owner and Contractor shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in this Article and in 
the Supplementary Conditions. 

B. All insurance required by the Contract to be purchased and maintained by Owner or 
Contractor shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or 
authorized, in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located, to issue insurance 
policies for the required limits and coverages. Unless a different standard is indicated in the 
Supplementary Conditions, all companies that provide insurance policies required under 
this Contract shall have an A.M. Best rating of A-VII or better. 

C. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional 
insured (as identified in this Article, in the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the 
Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Contractor has obtained and is 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 233 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 20 of 65 

maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required by the Contract.  Upon 
request by Owner or any other insured, Contractor shall also furnish other evidence of such 
required insurance, including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and 
documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Contractor may block 
out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or 
endorsement furnished under this provision. 

D. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional 
insured (as identified in this Article, the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the 
Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Owner has obtained and is maintaining 
the policies, coverages, and endorsements required of Owner by the Contract (if any).  
Upon request by Contractor or any other insured, Owner shall also provide other evidence 
of such required insurance (if any), including but not limited to copies of policies and 
endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles.  
Owner may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in 
any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision. 

E. Failure of Owner or Contractor to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other 
party’s full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or 
Contractor to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, shall not be 
construed as a waiver of the other party’s obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance. 

F. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the insurance required of such party by 
the Contract, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase 
prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the 
required coverage. 

G. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the 
Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise 
Owner’s termination rights under Article 16. 

H. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required 
insurance, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent insurance to protect such other 
party’s interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, 
and the Contract Price shall be adjusted accordingly. 

I. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract 
necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor or Contractor’s interests. 

J. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities granted to Owner and other individuals and 
entities in the Contract. 

6.03 Contractor’s Insurance 

A. Workers’ Compensation: Contractor shall purchase and maintain workers’ compensation 
and employer’s liability insurance for: 

1. claims under workers’ compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee 
benefit acts. 

2. United States Longshoreman and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act and Jones Act 
coverage (if applicable). 

3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death 
of Contractor’s employees (by stop-gap endorsement in monopolist worker’s 
compensation states). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 234 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 21 of 65 

4. Foreign voluntary worker compensation (if applicable). 

B. Commercial General Liability—Claims Covered: Contractor shall purchase and maintain 
commercial general liability insurance, covering all operations by or on behalf of 
Contractor, on an occurrence basis, against: 

1. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any 
person other than Contractor’s employees. 

2. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage. 

3. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction 
of tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

C. Commercial General Liability—Form and Content: Contractor’s commercial liability policy 
shall be written on a 1996 (or later) ISO commercial general liability form (occurrence form) 
and include the following coverages and endorsements: 

1. Products and completed operations coverage: 

a. Such insurance shall be maintained for three years after final payment. 

b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured (as identified in 
the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract) evidence of 
continuation of such insurance at final payment and three years thereafter. 

2. Blanket contractual liability coverage, to the extent permitted by law, including but not 
limited to coverage of Contractor’s contractual indemnity obligations in Paragraph 
7.18. 

3. Broad form property damage coverage. 

4. Severability of interest. 

5. Underground, explosion, and collapse coverage. 

6.  Personal injury coverage. 

7. Additional insured endorsements that include both ongoing operations and products 
and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 
20 37 10 01 (together); or CG 20 10 07 04 and CG 20 37 07 04 (together); or their 
equivalent. 

8. For design professional additional insureds, ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, 
“Additional Insured—Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named 
Insured” or its equivalent. 

D. Automobile liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain automobile liability insurance 
against claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property 
damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The 
automobile liability policy shall be written on an occurrence basis. 

E. Umbrella or excess liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain umbrella or excess 
liability insurance written over the underlying employer’s liability, commercial general 
liability, and automobile liability insurance described in the paragraphs above. Subject to 
industry-standard exclusions, the coverage afforded shall follow form as to each and every 
one of the underlying policies. 

F. Contractor’s pollution liability insurance: Contractor shall purchase and maintain a policy 
covering third-party injury and property damage claims, including clean-up costs, as a result 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 235 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 22 of 65 

of pollution conditions arising from Contractor’s operations and completed operations. This 
insurance shall be maintained for no less than three years after final completion. 

G. Additional insureds: The Contractor’s commercial general liability, automobile liability, 
umbrella or excess, and pollution liability policies shall include and list as additional 
insureds Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions; include coverage for the respective officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of 
all such additional insureds; and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall 
provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those 
arising from both ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis. 
Contractor shall obtain all necessary endorsements to support these requirements. 

H. Contractor’s professional liability insurance: If Contractor will provide or furnish 
professional services under this Contract, through a delegation of professional design 
services or otherwise, then Contractor shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining 
applicable professional liability insurance. This insurance shall provide protection against 
claims arising out of performance of professional design or related services, and caused by 
a negligent error, omission, or act for which the insured party is legally liable. It shall be 
maintained throughout the duration of the Contract and for a minimum of two years after 
Substantial Completion. If such professional design services are performed by a 
Subcontractor, and not by Contractor itself, then the requirements of this paragraph may 
be satisfied through the purchasing and maintenance of such insurance by such 
Subcontractor. 

I. General provisions: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 shall: 

1. include at least the specific coverages provided in this Article. 

2. be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in this Article and in the 
Supplementary Conditions, or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater. 

3. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, 
materially changed, or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has 
been given to Contractor.  Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, 
Contractor shall provide a copy of the notice to Owner, Engineer, and each other 
insured under the policy. 

4. remain in effect at least until final payment (and longer if expressly required in this 
Article) and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be correcting, removing, or 
replacing defective Work as a warranty or correction obligation, or otherwise, or 
returning to the Site to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents. 

5. be appropriate for the Work being performed and provide protection from claims that 
may arise out of or result from Contractor’s performance of the Work and Contractor’s 
other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by 
Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts 
any of them may be liable. 

J. The coverage requirements for specific policies of insurance must be met by such policies, 
and not by reference to excess or umbrella insurance provided in other policies. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 236 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 23 of 65 

6.04 Owner’s Liability Insurance 

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 6.03, 
Owner, at Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain at Owner’s expense Owner’s own 
liability insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations 
under the Contract Documents. 

B. Owner’s liability policies, if any, operate separately and independently from policies 
required to be provided by Contractor, and Contractor cannot rely upon Owner’s liability 
policies for any of Contractor’s obligations to the Owner, Engineer, or third parties. 

6.05 Property Insurance 

A. Builder’s Risk: Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall 
purchase and maintain builder’s risk insurance upon the Work on a completed value basis, 
in the amount of the full insurable replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible 
amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and 
Regulations). This insurance shall: 

1. include the Owner and Contractor as named insureds, and all Subcontractors, and any 
individuals or entities required by the Supplementary Conditions to be insured under 
such builder’s risk policy, as insureds or named insureds. For purposes of the 
remainder of this Paragraph 6.05, Paragraphs 6.06 and 6.07, and any corresponding 
Supplementary Conditions, the parties required to be insured shall collectively be 
referred to as “insureds.” 

2. be written on a builder’s risk “all risk” policy form that shall at least include insurance 
for physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials 
and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes 
of loss: fire; lightning; windstorm; riot; civil commotion; terrorism; vehicle impact; 
aircraft; smoke; theft; vandalism and malicious mischief; mechanical breakdown, 
boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic 
activity, and other earth movement; flood; collapse; explosion; debris removal; 
demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations; water damage (other 
than that caused by flood); and such other perils or causes of loss as may be 
specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions. If insurance against mechanical 
breakdown, boiler explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; 
volcanic activity, and other earth movement; or flood, are not commercially available 
under builder’s risk policies, by endorsement or otherwise, such insurance may be 
provided through other insurance policies acceptable to Owner and Contractor. 

3. cover, as insured property, at least the following: (a) the Work and all materials, 
supplies, machinery, apparatus, equipment, fixtures, and other property of a similar 
nature that are to be incorporated into or used in the preparation, fabrication, 
construction, erection, or completion of the Work, including Owner-furnished or 
assigned property; (b) spare parts inventory required within the scope of the Contract; 
and (c) temporary works which are not intended to form part of the permanent 
constructed Work but which are intended to provide working access to the Site, or to 
the Work under construction, or which are intended to provide temporary support for 
the Work under construction, including scaffolding, form work, fences, shoring, 
falsework, and temporary structures. 

4. cover expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property 
(including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 237 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 24 of 65 

5. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in temporary storage at the 
Site or in a storage location outside the Site (but not including property stored at the 
premises of a manufacturer or Supplier). 

6. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in transit. 

7. allow for partial occupation or use of the Work by Owner, such that those portions of 
the Work that are not yet occupied or used by Owner shall remain covered by the 
builder’s risk insurance. 

8. allow for the waiver of the insurer’s subrogation rights, as set forth below. 

9. provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of 
loss covered. 

10. not include a co-insurance clause. 

11. include an exception for ensuing losses from physical damage or loss with respect to 
any defective workmanship, design, or materials exclusions. 

12. include performance/hot testing and start-up. 

13. be maintained in effect, subject to the provisions herein regarding Substantial 
Completion and partial occupancy or use of the Work by Owner, until the Work is 
complete. 

B. Notice of Cancellation or Change: All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other 
evidence thereof) required to be purchased and maintained in accordance with this 
Paragraph 6.05 will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not 
be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written 
notice has been given to the purchasing policyholder. Within three days of receipt of any 
such written notice, the purchasing policyholder shall provide a copy of the notice to each 
other insured. 

C. Deductibles: The purchaser of any required builder’s risk or property insurance shall pay for 
costs not covered because of the application of a policy deductible. 

D. Partial Occupancy or Use by Owner: If Owner will occupy or use a portion or portions of the 
Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 15.04, then 
Owner (directly, if it is the purchaser of the builder’s risk policy, or through Contractor) will 
provide notice of such occupancy or use to the builder’s risk insurer. The builder’s risk 
insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or 
occupancy; rather, those portions of the Work that are occupied or used by Owner may 
come off the builder’s risk policy, while those portions of the Work not yet occupied or 
used by Owner shall remain covered by the builder’s risk insurance. 

E. Additional Insurance: If Contractor elects to obtain other special insurance to be included in 
or supplement the builder’s risk or property insurance policies provided under this 
Paragraph 6.05, it may do so at Contractor’s expense. 

F. Insurance of Other Property: If the express insurance provisions of the Contract do not 
require or address the insurance of a property item or interest, such as tools, construction 
equipment, or other personal property owned by Contractor, a Subcontractor, or an 
employee of Contractor or a Subcontractor, then the entity or individual owning such 
property item will be responsible for deciding whether to insure it, and if so in what 
amount. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 238 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 25 of 65 

6.06 Waiver of Rights 

A. All policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 6.05, expressly including the builder’s 
risk policy, shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or 
damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any insureds thereunder, or 
against Engineer or its consultants, or their officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors. Owner and Contractor waive all rights 
against each other and the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and 
damages caused by, arising out of, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss 
covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in 
addition, waive all such rights against Engineer, its consultants, all Subcontractors, all 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, and the 
officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors 
of each and any of them, under such policies for losses and damages so caused. None of 
the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to 
the proceeds of insurance held by Owner or Contractor as trustee or fiduciary, or otherwise 
payable under any policy so issued. 

B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each 
and any of them, for: 

1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending 
beyond direct physical loss or damage to Owner’s property or the Work caused by, 
arising out of, or resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; 
and 

2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or 
resulting from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property 
insurance maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during 
partial occupancy or use pursuant to Paragraph 15.04, after Substantial Completion 
pursuant to Paragraph 15.03, or after final payment pursuant to Paragraph 15.06. 

C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss 
referred to in Paragraph 6.06.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of 
payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of 
recovery against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, or the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors of each and any of 
them. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for assuring that the agreement under which a 
Subcontractor performs a portion of the Work contains provisions whereby the 
Subcontractor waives all rights against Owner, Contractor, all individuals or entities 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, the Engineer and its consultants, 
and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out 
of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by builder’s risk 
insurance and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. 

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds 

A. Any insured loss under the builder’s risk and other policies of insurance required by 
Paragraph 6.05 will be adjusted and settled with the named insured that purchased the 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 239 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 26 of 65 

policy. Such named insured shall act as fiduciary for the other insureds, and give notice to 
such other insureds that adjustment and settlement of a claim is in progress. Any other 
insured may state its position regarding a claim for insured loss in writing within 15 days 
after notice of such claim. 

B. Proceeds for such insured losses may be made payable by the insurer either jointly to 
multiple insureds, or to the named insured that purchased the policy in its own right and as 
fiduciary for other insureds, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause. 
A named insured receiving insurance proceeds under the builder’s risk and other policies of 
insurance required by Paragraph 6.05 shall distribute such proceeds in accordance with 
such agreement as the parties in interest may reach, or as otherwise required under the 
dispute resolution provisions of this Contract or applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. If no other special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, 
the money so received applied on account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof 
covered by Change Order, if needed. 

ARTICLE 7 – CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence 

A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, 
devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary 
to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction. 

B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident 
superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer 
except under extraordinary circumstances. 

7.02 Labor; Working Hours 

A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the 
Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at 
all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site. 

B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or 
property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract 
Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday 
through Friday. Contractor will not perform Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal 
holiday. Contractor may perform Work outside regular working hours or on Saturdays, 
Sundays, or legal holidays only with Owner’s written consent, which will not be 
unreasonably withheld. 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment 

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and 
assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, 
construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, 
telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and 
incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, 
whether or not such items are specifically called for in the Contract Documents. 

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be of good quality and new, 
except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All special warranties and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 240 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 27 of 65 

guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of Owner. If 
required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of 
required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment. 

C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, 
protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable 
Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents. 

7.04 “Or Equals” 

A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract 
Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, 
the Contract Price has been based upon Contractor furnishing such item as specified. The 
specification or description of such an item is intended to establish the type, function, 
appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is 
followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or “or equal” item is permitted, 
Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or 
equipment, or items from other proposed suppliers under the circumstances described 
below. 

1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of material or equipment 
proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so 
that no change in related Work will be required, Engineer shall deem it an “or equal” 
item. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of material or equipment 
will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if: 

a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that: 

1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, 
appearance, strength, and design characteristics; 

2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the 
results imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole; 

3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service; 
and 

4) it is not objectionable to Owner. 

b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work: 

1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; 
and 

2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named 
in the Contract Documents. 

B. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed “or 
equal” item at Contractor’s expense. 

C. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 
evaluate each “or-equal” request.  Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional 
data about the proposed “or-equal” item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. 
No “or-equal” item will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is 
complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an “or-equal”, which will be 
evidenced by an approved Shop Drawing or other written communication. Engineer will 
advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 241 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 28 of 65 

D. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: Neither approval nor denial of an “or-equal” request 
shall result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer’s denial of an “or-equal” request 
shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision 
of the Contract Documents. 

E. Treatment as a Substitution Request: If Engineer determines that an item of material or 
equipment proposed by Contractor does not qualify as an “or-equal” item, Contractor may 
request that Engineer considered the proposed item as a substitute pursuant to Paragraph 
7.05. 

7.05 Substitutes 

A. Unless the specification or description of an item of material or equipment required to be 
furnished under the Contract Documents contains or is followed by words reading that no 
substitution is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other 
items of material or equipment under the circumstances described below. To the extent 
possible such requests shall be made before commencement of related construction at the 
Site. 

1. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to 
determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is functionally equivalent to 
that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Engineer will not accept requests 
for review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment from anyone other 
than Contractor. 

2. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 7.05.B, as 
supplemented by the Specifications, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate under 
the circumstances. 

3. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed 
substitute item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The 
application: 

a. shall certify that the proposed substitute item will: 

1) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the 
general design, 

2) be similar in substance to that specified, and 

3) be suited to the same use as that specified. 

b. will state: 

1) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will 
necessitate a change in Contract Times, 

2) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a 
change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other 
direct contract with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the 
design to the proposed substitute item, and 

3) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection 
with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty. 

c. will identify: 

1) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 242 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 29 of 65 

2) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services. 

d. shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or 
indirectly from use of such substitute item, including but not limited to changes in 
Contract Price, shared savings, costs of redesign, and claims of other contractors 
affected by any resulting change. 

B. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 
evaluate each substitute request, and to obtain comments and direction from Owner. 
Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute 
item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No substitute will be ordered, 
furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is complete and Engineer determines 
that the proposed item is an acceptable substitute. Engineer’s determination will be 
evidenced by a Field Order or a proposed Change Order accounting for the substitution 
itself and all related impacts, including changes in Contract Price or Contract Times. 
Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. 

C. Special Guarantee: Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor’s expense a 
special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute. 

D. Reimbursement of Engineer’s Cost: Engineer will record Engineer’s costs in evaluating a 
substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor. Whether or not Engineer approves a 
substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for 
the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed substitute. 
Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for making 
changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with 
Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute. 

E. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed 
substitute at Contractor’s expense. 

F. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: If Engineer approves the substitution request, 
Contractor shall execute the proposed Change Order and proceed with the substitution. 
The Engineer’s denial of a substitution request shall be final and binding, and may not be 
reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents. Contractor 
may challenge the scope of reimbursement costs imposed under Paragraph 7.05.D, by 
timely submittal of a Change Proposal. 

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others 

A. Contractor may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the 
Work.  Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner. 

B. Contractor shall retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for 
the performance of designated parts of the Work if required by the Contract to do so. 

C. Subsequent to the submittal of Contractor’s Bid or final negotiation of the terms of the 
Contract, Owner may not require Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other 
individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against which Contractor has 
reasonable objection. 

D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Contractor shall submit to 
Owner the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already 
deemed such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable, during the bidding process or 
otherwise). Such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed acceptable to Owner 
unless Owner raises a substantive, reasonable objection within five days. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 243 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 30 of 65 

E. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work. Owner also may require 
Contractor to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not require 
a replacement to which Contractor has a reasonable objection. If Contractor has submitted 
the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for 
acceptance by Owner, and Owner has accepted it (either in writing or by failing to make 
written objection thereto), then Owner may subsequently revoke the acceptance of any 
such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified solely on the basis 
of substantive, reasonable objection after due investigation. Contractor shall submit an 
acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity. 

F. If Owner requires the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work, then Contractor shall be 
entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, with respect to the 
replacement; and Contractor shall initiate a Change Proposal for such adjustment within 30 
days of Owner’s requirement of replacement. 

G. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, 
whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the 
completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

H. On a monthly basis Contractor shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors 
and Suppliers having a direct contract with Contractor, and of all other Subcontractors and 
Suppliers known to Contractor at the time of submittal. 

I. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of 
the Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor’s own acts and omissions. 

J. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and all other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any 
of the Work. 

K. Contractor shall restrict all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities 
performing or furnishing any of the Work from communicating with Engineer or Owner, 
except through Contractor or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed 
herein. 

L. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall 
not control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or 
delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade. 

M. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be pursuant to an 
appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to 
the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of Owner 
and Engineer. 

N. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information 
about amounts paid to Contractor on account of Work performed for Contractor by the 
particular Subcontractor or Supplier. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 244 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 31 of 65 

O. Nothing in the Contract Documents: 

1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; nor 

2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the 
payment of any money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations. 

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties 

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in 
the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, 
process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by 
others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the 
Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual 
knowledge of Owner or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for 
the payment of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be 
disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents. 

B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising 
out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in 
the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any 
invention, design, process, product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not 
identified as being subject to payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by 
patent rights or copyrights. 

C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement 
of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or 
resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or 
device not specified in the Contract Documents. 

7.08 Permits 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall obtain and pay for 
all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in 
obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and 
inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time 
of the submission of Contractor’s Bid (or when Contractor became bound under a 
negotiated contract). Owner shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections for 
providing permanent service to the Work 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 245 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 32 of 65 

7.09 Taxes 

A.  Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 
Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which 
are applicable during the performance of the Work. 

7.10 Laws and Regulations 

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by 
applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for 
monitoring Contractor’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations. 

B. If Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to 
know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and 
losses, and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, 
directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each 
and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 
such Work or other action. It shall not be Contractor’s responsibility to make certain that 
the Work described in the Contract Documents is in accordance with Laws and Regulations, 
but this shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor’s obligations under Paragraph 3.03. 

C. Owner or Contractor may give notice to the other party of any changes after the 
submission of Contractor’s Bid (or after the date when Contractor became bound under a 
negotiated contract) in Laws or Regulations having an effect on the cost or time of 
performance of the Work, including but not limited to changes in Laws or Regulations 
having an effect on procuring permits and on sales, use, value-added, consumption, and 
other similar taxes.  If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on 
the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times 
resulting from such changes, then within 30 days of such notice Contractor may submit a 
Change Proposal, or Owner may initiate a Claim. 

7.11  Record Documents 

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one printed record copy of all Drawings, 
Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written 
interpretations and clarifications, and approved Shop Drawings. Contractor shall keep such 
record documents in good order and annotate them to show changes made during 
construction. These record documents, together with all approved Samples, will be 
available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall deliver 
these record documents to Engineer. 

7.12 Safety and Protection 

A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not 
relieve Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the 
performance of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations.  
Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the 
necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to: 

1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work; 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 246 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 33 of 65 

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in 
storage on or off the Site; and 

3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, 
pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and Underground 
Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of 
construction. 

B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of 
persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or 
loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. 
Contractor shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property, Underground Facilities, 
and other utilities; and other contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent 
to the Site, when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them 
in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property or work in 
progress. 

C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner’s safety programs, if 
any.  The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner’s safety programs that are 
applicable to the Work. 

D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor’s 
safety program with which Owner’s and Engineer’s employees and representatives must 
comply while at the Site. 

E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.12.A.2 or 7.12.A.3 
caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to 
perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be 
remedied by Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of 
Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone 
employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not 
attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of 
Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them). 

F. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall continue until such 
time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and 
Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 15.06.B that the Work is acceptable (except as 
otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion). 

G. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall resume whenever 
Contractor or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site to fulfill warranty or 
correction obligations, or to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents. 

7.13 Safety Representative 

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site 
whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining 
and supervising of safety precautions and programs. 

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs 

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data 
sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 247 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 34 of 65 

exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or 
Regulations. 

7.15 Emergencies 

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the 
Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, 
injury, or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes 
that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have 
been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a 
change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in 
response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued. 

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals 

A. Shop Drawing and Sample Submittal Requirements: 

1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have: 

a. reviewed and coordinated the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings 
and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract 
Documents; 

b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified 
performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog 
numbers, and similar information with respect thereto; 

c. determined and verified the suitability of all materials and equipment offered 
with respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, 
assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and 

d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor’s responsibilities 
for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has 
satisfied Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to 
Contractor’s review of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal. 

3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any 
variations that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the 
Contract Documents. This notice shall be set forth in a written communication 
separate from the Shop Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, in the case of 
Shop Drawings by a specific notation made on each Shop Drawing submitted to 
Engineer for review and approval of each such variation. 

B. Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples: Contractor shall submit Shop 
Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the 
accepted Schedule of Submittals. Each submittal will be identified as Engineer may require. 

1. Shop Drawings: 

a. Contractor shall submit the number of copies required in the Specifications. 

b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, 
dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data 
to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 248 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 35 of 65 

provide and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited 
purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D. 

2. Samples: 

a. Contractor shall submit the number of Samples required in the Specifications. 

b. Contractor shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent 
data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as 
Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the submittal for the limited 
purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D. 

3. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the 
Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s review and 
approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of 
Contractor. 

C. Other Submittals: Contractor shall submit other submittals to Engineer in accordance with 
the accepted Schedule of Submittals, and pursuant to the applicable terms of the 
Specifications. 

D. Engineer’s Review: 

1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with 
the Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer. Engineer’s review and approval will 
be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or 
incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract 
Documents and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a 
functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. 

2. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs 
incident thereto. 

3. Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of 
the assembly in which the item functions. 

4. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve 
Contractor from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents unless Contractor has complied with the requirements of Paragraph 
7.16.A.3 and Engineer has given written approval of each such variation by specific 
written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or 
Sample. Engineer will document any such approved variation from the requirements 
of the Contract Documents in a Field Order. 

5. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve 
Contractor from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 
7.16.A and B. 

6. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample, or of a variation from 
the requirements of the Contract Documents, shall not, under any circumstances, 
change the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such changes are included in a 
Change Order. 

7. Neither Engineer’s receipt, review, acceptance or approval of a Shop Drawing, Sample, 
or other submittal shall result in such item becoming a Contract Document. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 249 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 36 of 65 

8. Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and 
commitments set forth in approved Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the 
provisions of Paragraph 7.16.D.4. 

E. Resubmittal Procedures: 

1. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required 
number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples 
for review and approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to 
revisions other than the corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals. 

2. Contractor shall furnish required submittals with sufficient information and accuracy 
to obtain required approval of an item with no more than three submittals. Engineer 
will record Engineer’s time for reviewing a fourth or subsequent submittal of a Shop 
Drawings, sample, or other item requiring approval, and Contractor shall be 
responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for such time. Owner may impose a set-
off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges. 

3. If Contractor requests a change of a previously approved submittal item, Contractor 
shall be responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner 
may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for 
such charges, unless the need for such change is beyond the control of Contractor. 

7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the 
Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to 
rely on Contractor’s warranty and guarantee. 

B. Contractor’s warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by: 

1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than 
Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom 
Contractor is responsible; or 

2. normal wear and tear under normal usage. 

C. Contractor’s obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work 
that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor’s 
obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents: 

1. observations by Engineer; 

2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment; 

3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment 
related thereto by Owner; 

4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner; 

5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal; 

6. the issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer; 

7. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or 

8. any correction of defective Work by Owner. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 250 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 37 of 65 

D. If the Contract requires the Contractor to accept the assignment of a contract entered into 
by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, and correction obligations contained in 
the assigned contract shall govern with respect to Contractor’s performance obligations to 
Owner for the Work described in the assigned contract. 

7.18 Indemnification 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other 
obligations of Contractor under the Contract  or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance 
of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily 
injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other 
than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent 
caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or 
any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of 
the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. 

B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the 
survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to 
perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the 
indemnification obligation under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not be limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for 
Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 

C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not extend to 
the liability of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of: 

1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, 
opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or 

2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of 
the injury or damage. 

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services 

A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services 
are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless 
such services are required to carry out Contractor’s responsibilities for construction means, 
methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to 
provide professional services in violation of applicable Laws and Regulations. 

B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, 
materials, or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, 
Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must 
satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly 
licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, 
specifications, certifications, and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 251 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 38 of 65 

Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such 
professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional’s written approval when 
submitted to Engineer. 

C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy, and 
completeness of the services, certifications, or approvals performed by such design 
professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance 
and design criteria that such services must satisfy. 

D. Pursuant to this paragraph, Engineer’s review and approval of design calculations and 
design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with 
performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract 
Documents. Engineer’s review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except 
design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 
7.16.D.1. 

E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria 
specified by Owner or Engineer. 

ARTICLE 8 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

8.01 Other Work 

A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents, the Owner may 
perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may be performed by 
Owner’s employees, or through contracts between the Owner and third parties. Owner 
may also arrange to have third-party utility owners perform work on their utilities and 
facilities at or adjacent to the Site. 

B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or 
through contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Contractor written notice 
thereof prior to starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information regarding 
the start of any utility work at or adjacent to the Site, Owner shall provide such information 
to Contractor. 

C. Contractor shall afford each other contractor that performs such other work, each utility 
owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner’s 
employees, proper and safe access to the Site, and provide a reasonable opportunity for 
the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other 
work. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required 
to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly 
integrate with such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by 
cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor 
may cut or alter others' work with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose 
work will be affected. 

D. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor’s Work depends upon work 
performed by others under this Article 8, Contractor shall inspect such other work and 
promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other 
work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of 
Contractor’s Work. Contractor’s failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such 
other work as fit and proper for integration with Contractor’s Work except for latent 
defects and deficiencies in such other work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 252 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 39 of 65 

8.02 Coordination 

A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent 
to the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or to 
arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the Site, the following will be 
set forth in the Supplementary Conditions or provided to Contractor prior to the start of 
any such other work: 

1. the identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for 
coordination of the activities among the various contractors; 

2. an itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and 
responsibility; and 

3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities. 

B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole 
authority and responsibility for such coordination. 

8.03 Legal Relationships 

A. If, in the course of performing other work at or adjacent to the Site for Owner, the Owner’s 
employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner for whom the 
Owner is responsible causes damage to the Work or to the property of Contractor or its 
Subcontractors, or delays, disrupts, interferes with, or increases the scope or cost of the 
performance of the Work, through actions or inaction, then Contractor shall be entitled to 
an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor 
must submit any Change Proposal seeking an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or 
the Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the damaging, delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering event. The entitlement to, and extent of, any such equitable 
adjustment shall take into account information (if any) regarding such other work that was 
provided to Contractor in the Contract Documents prior to the submittal of the Bid or the 
final negotiation of the terms of the Contract. When applicable, any such equitable 
adjustment in Contract Price shall be conditioned on Contractor assigning to Owner all 
Contractor’s rights against such other contractor or utility owner with respect to the 
damage, delay, disruption, or interference that is the subject of the adjustment. 
Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such 
adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract 
Times. 

B. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner 
performing other work at or adjacent to the Site. If Contractor fails to take such measures 
and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any such other 
contractor or utility owner, then Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to 
Contractor, and assign to such other contractor or utility owner the Owner’s contractual 
rights against Contractor with respect to the breach of the obligations set forth in this 
paragraph. 

C. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, 
Contractor shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable 
direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a result of 
Contractor’s failure to take reasonable and customary measures with respect to Owner’s 
other work. In response to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference, Owner may 
impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 253 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 40 of 65 

D. If Contractor damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, 
or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Contractor’s 
failure to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such impacts, or if any claim 
arising out of Contractor’s actions, inactions, or negligence in performance of the Work at 
or adjacent to the Site is made by any such other contractor or utility owner against 
Contractor, Owner, or Engineer, then Contractor shall (1) promptly attempt to settle the 
claim as to all parties through negotiations with such other contractor or utility owner, or 
otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law, 
and (2) indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them from and against any such claims, and against all costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 
other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out 
of or relating to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference. 

ARTICLE 9 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

9.01 Communications to Contractor 

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all 
communications to Contractor through Engineer. 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer 

A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Contractor 
makes no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer’s 
status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former Engineer. 

9.03 Furnish Data 

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents. 

9.04 Pay When Due 

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in the 
Agreement. 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings 

A. Owner’s duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 
5.01. 

B. Owner’s duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points 
are set forth in Paragraph 4.03. 

C. Article 5 refers to Owner’s identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports 
of explorations and tests of conditions at the Site, and drawings of physical conditions 
relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site. 

9.06 Insurance 

A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and 
property insurance are set forth in Article 6. 

9.07 Change Orders 

A. Owner’s responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 11. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 254 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 41 of 65 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 

A. Owner’s responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth 
in Paragraph 14.02.B. 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities 

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible 
for, Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, 
or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will 
not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition 

A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is 
set forth in Paragraph 5.06. 

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 

A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that 
financial arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner’s obligations under the Contract 
Documents (including obligations under proposed changes in the Work). 

9.12 Safety Programs 

A. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been 
informed. 

B. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor. 

ARTICLE 10 – ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 

10.01 Owner’s Representative 

A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during the construction period. The duties and 
responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative 
during construction are set forth in the Contract. 

10.02 Visits to Site 

A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of 
construction as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and 
qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the 
various aspects of Contractor’s executed Work. Based on information obtained during such 
visits and observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the 
Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be 
required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or 
quantity of the Work. Engineer’s efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a 
greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the 
Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep 
Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against 
defective Work. 

B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority 
and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 10.08.  Particularly, but without limitation, during 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 255 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 42 of 65 

or as a result of Engineer’s visits or observations of Contractor’s Work, Engineer will not 
supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions 
and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and 
Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. 

10.03 Project Representative 

A. If Owner and Engineer have agreed that Engineer will furnish a Resident Project 
Representative to represent Engineer at the Site and assist Engineer in observing the 
progress and quality of the Work, then the authority and responsibilities of any such 
Resident Project Representative will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, and 
limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in Paragraph 10.08. If Owner 
designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who is not 
Engineer’s consultant, agent, or employee, the responsibilities and authority and 
limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 14. 

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments 

A. Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, are set 
forth in Paragraph 7.16. 

B. Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design drawings 
submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, are set forth in 
Paragraph 7.19. 

C. Engineer’s authority as to Change Orders is set forth in Article 11. 

D. Engineer’s authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 15. 

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work 

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work 
performed by Contractor as set forth in Paragraph 13.03. 

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work 

A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and 
judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth herein for 
initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of the Work. In rendering such 
decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality to Owner or Contractor, and will 
not be liable to Owner, Contractor, or others in connection with any proceedings, 
interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or rendered in good faith. 

10.08 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities 

A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 10 or under any other 
provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to 
exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or 
performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise 
to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee 
or agent of any of them. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 256 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 43 of 65 

B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 
safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will 
not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the 
Work. 

D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation 
and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates 
of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by 
Paragraph 15.06.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the 
requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals, that the 
results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents. 

E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 10.08 shall also 
apply to the Resident Project Representative, if any. 

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site, Engineer’s employees and representatives will comply with the specific 
applicable requirements of Owner’s and Contractor’s safety programs (if any) of which 
Engineer has been informed. 

ARTICLE 11 – AMENDING THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; CHANGES IN THE WORK 

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents 

A. The Contract Documents may be amended or supplemented by a Change Order, a Work 
Change Directive, or a Field Order. 

1. Change Orders: 

a. If an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents includes a change in 
the Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must 
be set forth in a Change Order. A Change Order also may be used to establish 
amendments and supplements of the Contract Documents that do not affect the 
Contract Price or Contract Times. 

b. Owner and Contractor may amend those terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work, 
(2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) 
other engineering or technical matters, without the recommendation of the 
Engineer. Such an amendment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

2. Work Change Directives: A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price 
or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the modification 
ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a 
subsequently issued Change Order, following negotiations by the parties as to the 
Work Change Directive’s effect, if any, on the Contract Price and Contract Times; or, if 
negotiations are unsuccessful, by a determination under the terms of the Contract 
Documents governing adjustments, expressly including Paragraph 11.04 regarding 
change of Contract Price. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 257 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 44 of 65 

adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days 
after the completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Directive.  Owner must 
submit any Claim seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, 
or both, no later than 60 days after issuance of the Work Change Directive. 

3. Field Orders: Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work if the changes do not 
involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible 
with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated 
by the Contract Documents. Such changes will be accomplished by a Field Order and 
will be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, which shall perform the Work 
involved promptly. If Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in 
the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then before proceeding with the Work 
at issue, Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal as provided herein. 

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work 

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any 
time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. Such 
changes shall be supported by Engineer’s recommendation, to the extent the change 
involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other 
engineering or technical matters. Such changes may be accomplished by a Change Order, if 
Owner and Contractor have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract 
Times or Contract Price; or by a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such 
document, Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Work involved; or, in the case of a 
deletion in the Work, promptly cease construction activities with respect to such deleted 
Work. Added or revised Work shall be performed under the applicable conditions of the 
Contract Documents. Nothing in this paragraph shall obligate Contractor to undertake work 
that Contractor reasonably concludes cannot be performed in a manner consistent with 
Contractor’s safety obligations under the Contract Documents or Laws and Regulations. 

11.03  Unauthorized Changes in the Work 

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract 
Documents, as amended, modified, or supplemented, except in the case of an emergency 
as provided in Paragraph 7.15 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 
14.05. 

11.04 Change of Contract Price 

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 
adjustment in the Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06.  Any 
Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Article 12. 

B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows: 

1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents, then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items 
involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03); or 

2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents, then by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for 
overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 11.04.C.2); or 

3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 
Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 258 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 45 of 65 

the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 13.01) plus a 
Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 
11.04.C). 

C. Contractor’s Fee: When applicable, the Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit shall be 
determined as follows: 

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or 

2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the 
various portions of the Cost of the Work: 

a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.B.1 and 13.01.B.2, the Contractor’s fee 
shall be 15 percent; 

b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 13.01.B.3, the Contractor’s fee shall be five 
percent; 

c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus 
a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a and 
11.04.C.2.b is that the Contractor’s fee shall be based on: (1) a fee of 15 percent 
of the costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.A.1 and 13.01.A.2 by the 
Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, and (2) with 
respect to Contractor itself and to any Subcontractors of a tier higher than that of 
the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, a fee of five percent of the 
amount (fee plus underlying costs incurred) attributable to the next lower tier 
Subcontractor; provided, however, that for any such subcontracted work the 
maximum total fee to be paid by Owner shall be no greater than 27 percent of 
the costs incurred by the Subcontractor that actually performs the work; 

d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 13.01.B.4, 
13.01.B.5, and 13.01.C; 

e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which 
results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in 
cost plus a deduction in Contractor’s fee by an amount equal to five percent of 
such net decrease; and 

f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment 
in Contractor’s fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in 
accordance with Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a through 11.04.C.2.e, inclusive. 

11.05 Change of Contract Times 

A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 
adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any 
Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Article 
12. 

B. An adjustment of the Contract Times shall be subject to the limitations set forth in 
Paragraph 4.05, concerning delays in Contractor’s progress. 

11.06 Change Proposals 

A. Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an adjustment in the 
Contract Times or Contract Price; appeal an initial decision by Engineer concerning the 
requirements of the Contract Documents or relating to the acceptability of the Work under 
the Contract Documents; contest a set-off against payment due; or seek other relief under 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 259 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 46 of 65 

the Contract. The Change Proposal shall specify any proposed change in Contract Times or 
Contract Price, or both, or other proposed relief, and explain the reason for the proposed 
change, with citations to any governing or applicable provisions of the Contract Documents. 

1. Procedures: Contractor shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer promptly (but 
in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after 
such initial decision. The Contractor shall submit supporting data, including the 
proposed change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to the Engineer and 
Owner within 15 days after the submittal of the Change Proposal. The supporting data 
shall be accompanied by a written statement that the supporting data are accurate 
and complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is the entire 
adjustment to which Contractor believes it is entitled as a result of said event. 
Engineer will advise Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and consider any 
comments or response from Owner regarding the Change Proposal. 

2. Engineer’s Action: Engineer will review each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after 
receipt of the Contractor’s supporting data, either deny the Change Proposal in whole, 
approve it in whole, or deny it in part and approve it in part. Such actions shall be in 
writing, with a copy provided to Owner and Contractor. If Engineer does not take 
action on the Change Proposal within 30 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at 
any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of 
Engineer’s inaction the Change Proposal is deemed denied, thereby commencing the 
time for appeal of the denial under Article 12. 

3. Binding Decision: Engineer’s decision will be final and binding upon Owner and 
Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor appeals the decision by filing a Claim under 
Article 12. 

B. Resolution of Certain Change Proposals: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design 
(as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or 
other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties that the 
Engineer is unable to resolve the Change Proposal. For purposes of further resolution of 
such a Change Proposal, such notice shall be deemed a denial, and Contractor may choose 
to seek resolution under the terms of Article 12. 

11.07 Execution of Change Orders 

A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering: 

1. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, 
including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in 
accordance with a Work Change Directive; 

2. changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Contractor has duly 
contested such set-off; 

3. changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 11.02, (b) 
required because of Owner’s acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 14.04 or 
Owner’s correction of defective Work under Paragraph 14.07, or (c) agreed to by the 
parties, subject to the need for Engineer’s recommendation if the change  in the Work 
involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other 
engineering or technical matters; and 

4. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other changes, which embody the 
substance of any final and binding results under Paragraph 11.06, or Article 12. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 260 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 47 of 65 

B. If Owner or Contractor refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed 
under the terms of this Paragraph 11.07, it shall be deemed to be of full force and effect, as 
if fully executed. 

11.08 Notification to Surety 

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting 
the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but 
not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be 
Contractor’s responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect 
the effect of any such change. 

ARTICLE 12 – CLAIMS 

12.01 Claims 

A. Claims Process: The following disputes between Owner and Contractor shall be submitted 
to the Claims process set forth in this Article: 

1. Appeals by Owner or Contractor of Engineer’s decisions regarding Change Proposals; 

2. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other 
relief under the Contract Documents; and 

3. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the 
design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of 
the Work, or other engineering or technical matters. 

B. Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party 
to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event 
giving rise thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within 30 days of the 
decision under appeal. The party submitting the Claim shall also furnish a copy to the 
Engineer, for its information only. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with 
the party making the Claim. In the case of a Claim by Contractor seeking an increase in the 
Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, Contractor shall certify that the Claim is made in 
good faith, that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that to the best of 
Contractor’s knowledge and belief the amount of time or money requested accurately 
reflects the full amount to which Contractor is entitled. 

C. Review and Resolution: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full 
consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the 
exchange of information and direct negotiations.  The parties may extend the time for 
resolving the Claim by mutual agreement. All actions taken on a Claim shall be stated in 
writing and submitted to the other party, with a copy to Engineer. 

D. Mediation: 

1. At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Contractor may mutually agree to 
mediation of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate shall stay the Claim 
submittal and response process. 

2. If Owner and Contractor agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, 
either Owner or Contractor may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the 
Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the termination. If 
the mediation proceeds but is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the Claim 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 261 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 48 of 65 

submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the conclusion of the 
mediation, as determined by the mediator. 

3. Owner and Contractor shall each pay one-half of the mediator’s fees and costs. 

E. Partial Approval: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in 
part, such action shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other 
party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for final resolution of disputes. 

F. Denial of Claim: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim 
may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does 
not take action on the Claim within 90 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any 
time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of the inaction, 
the Claim is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial. A 
denial of the Claim shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of the denial the other 
party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for the final resolution of disputes. 

G. Final and Binding Results: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, 
whether through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a 
Claim is approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, and such actions become 
final and binding; then the results of the agreement or action on the Claim shall be 
incorporated in a Change Order to the extent they affect the Contract, including the Work, 
the Contract Times, or the Contract Price. 

ARTICLE 13 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

13.01 Cost of the Work 

A. Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work: The term Cost of the Work means the sum 
of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined 
below. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.01 are used for two distinct purposes: 

1. To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract 
Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or 

2. To determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other 
adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is determined 
on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor is entitled only to those additional or 
incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event 
giving rise to the adjustment. 

B. Costs Included: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in 
the Cost of the Work shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of 
the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 13.01.C, and shall 
include only the following items: 

1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of 
the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. 
Such employees shall include, without limitation, superintendents, foremen, and other 
personnel employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed 
full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the 
Work. Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the 
cost of fringe benefits, which shall include social security contributions, 
unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers’ compensation, health and 
retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, and vacation and holiday pay applicable 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 262 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 49 of 65 

thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on 
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent 
authorized by Owner. 

2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including 
costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field services required in 
connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner 
deposits funds with Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash 
discounts shall accrue to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates, and refunds and returns 
from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor 
shall make provisions so that they may be obtained. 

3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by 
Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from 
subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to 
Owner, who will then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will 
be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the 
basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work and fee shall 
be determined in the same manner as Contractor’s Cost of the Work and fee as 
provided in this Paragraph 13.01. 

4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically 
related to the Work. 

5. Supplemental costs including the following: 

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of 
Contractor’s employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work. 

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, 
equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and 
hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of 
the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed 
which remain the property of Contractor. 

c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, 
whether rented from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements 
approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, 
loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs 
shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any 
such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no 
longer necessary for the Work. 

d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which 
Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations. 

e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, 
or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of 
them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses. 

f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not 
compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection 
with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the 
deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with 
Paragraph 6.05), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 263 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 50 of 65 

other than the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. 
Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval 
of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of 
the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor’s fee. 

g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site. 

h. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier 
services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work. 

i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance that Contractor is required by 
the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain. 

C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items: 

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor’s officers, executives, principals 
(of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, 
engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and 
contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by 
Contractor, whether at the Site or in Contractor’s principal or branch office for general 
administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule 
of job classifications referred to in Paragraph 13.01.B.1 or specifically covered by 
Paragraph 13.01.B.4. The payroll costs and other compensation excluded here are to 
be considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor’s fee. 

2. Expenses of Contractor’s principal and branch offices other than Contractor’s office at 
the Site. 

3. Any part of Contractor’s capital expenses, including interest on Contractor’s capital 
employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments. 

4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, 
including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or 
equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property. 

5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not 
specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 13.01.B. 

D. Contractor’s Fee: When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus, 
Contractor’s fee shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any 
Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in 
Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor’s fee shall be 
determined as set forth in Paragraph 11.04.C. 

E. Documentation: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined 
pursuant to this Article 13, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable 
to Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data. 

13.02 Allowances 

A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named 
in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such 
sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 264 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 51 of 65 

B. Cash Allowances: Contractor agrees that: 

1. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade 
discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at 
the Site, and all applicable taxes; and 

2. Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, 
profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included 
in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional 
payment on account of any of the foregoing will be valid. 

C. Contingency Allowance: Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the 
sole use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs. 

D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by 
Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by 
allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted. 

13.03 Unit Price Work 

A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price 
Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an 
amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price 
Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement. 

B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for 
the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to 
Contractor for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities. 

C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be 
adequate to cover Contractor’s overhead and profit for each separately identified item. 

D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work 
performed by Contractor.  Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer’s preliminary 
determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by 
recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer’s written decision 
thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual 
conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of 
the following paragraph. 

E. Within 30 days of Engineer’s written decision under the preceding paragraph, Contractor 
may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may file a Claim, seeking an adjustment in the 
Contract Price if: 

1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially 
and significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; 

2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and 

3. Contractor believes that it is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of 
having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a 
decrease in Contract Price, and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any 
such increase or decrease. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 265 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 52 of 65 

ARTICLE 14 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE 
WORK 

14.01 Access to Work 

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, 
independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction will have access to the 
Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. 
Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them 
of Contractor’s safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as 
applicable. 

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals 

A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work (or specific parts 
thereof) for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and 
testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests. 

B. Owner shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, 
or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspections and tests expressly required 
by the Contract Documents to be furnished and paid for by Owner, except that costs 
incurred in connection with tests or inspections of covered Work shall be governed by the 
provisions of Paragraph 14.05. 

C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part 
thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other 
representative of such public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging 
and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, 
and furnish Engineer the required certificates of inspection or approval. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and 
tests required: 

1. by the Contract Documents, unless the Contract Documents expressly allocate 
responsibility for a specific inspection or test to Owner; 

2. to attain Owner’s and Engineer’s acceptance of materials or equipment to be 
incorporated in the Work; 

3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents; 

4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to 
be incorporated into the Work; and 

5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to 
Contractor’s purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work. 

Such inspections and tests shall be performed by independent inspectors, testing 
laboratories, or other qualified individuals or entities acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

E. If the Contract Documents require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved by Owner, 
Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Contractor shall assume full 
responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals. 

F. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered 
by Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by 
Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor’s 
expense unless Contractor had given Engineer timely notice of Contractor’s intention to 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 266 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 53 of 65 

cover the same and Engineer had not acted with reasonable promptness in response to 
such notice. 

14.03 Defective Work 

A. Contractor’s Obligation: It is Contractor’s obligation to assure that the Work is not 
defective. 

B. Engineer’s Authority: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, 
and to reject defective Work. 

C. Notice of Defects: Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has 
actual knowledge will be given to Contractor. 

D. Correction, or Removal and Replacement: Promptly after receipt of written notice of 
defective Work, Contractor shall correct all such defective Work, whether or not fabricated, 
installed, or completed, or, if Engineer has rejected the defective Work, remove it from the 
Project and replace it with Work that is not defective. 

E. Preservation of Warranties: When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no 
action that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, if any, 
on said Work. 

F. Costs and Damages: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations 
with respect to defective Work, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
arising out of or relating to defective Work, including but not limited to the cost of the 
inspection, testing, correction, removal, replacement, or reconstruction of such defective 
Work, fines levied against Owner by governmental authorities because the Work is 
defective, and the costs of repair or replacement of work of others resulting from defective 
Work. Prior to final payment, if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as to the 
measure of such claims, costs, losses, and damages resulting from defective Work, then 
Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. 

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work 

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner 
prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior to final 
payment, to Engineer’s confirmation that such acceptance is in general accord with the 
design intent and applicable engineering principles, and will not endanger public safety). 
Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages attributable to Owner’s 
evaluation of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved 
by Engineer as to reasonableness), and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent 
not otherwise paid by Contractor. If any such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, the 
necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work shall be 
incorporated in a Change Order. If the parties are unable to agree as to the decrease in the 
Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted, then Owner may 
impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. If the acceptance of 
defective Work occurs after final payment, Contractor shall pay an appropriate amount to 
Owner. 

14.05 Uncovering Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to require additional inspection or testing of the Work, whether 
or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 267 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 54 of 65 

B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Contractor shall, if 
requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer’s observation, and then replace 
the covering, all at Contractor’s expense. 

C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer 
or inspected or tested by others, then Contractor, at Engineer’s request, shall uncover, 
expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may 
require, that portion of the Work in question, and provide all necessary labor, material, and 
equipment. 

1. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall be responsible for 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such uncovering, 
exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or 
reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work 
of others); and pending Contractor’s full discharge of this responsibility the Owner 
shall be entitled to impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. 

2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an 
increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly 
attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, 
replacement, and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount 
or extent thereof, then Contractor may submit a Change Proposal within 30 days of 
the determination that the Work is not defective. 

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work 

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable 
materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed 
Work will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop 
the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; 
however, this right of Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of 
Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, 
any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them. 

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work 

A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct 
defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer, or if 
Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if 
Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, then Owner 
may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct or remedy any such deficiency. 

B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07, Owner shall proceed 
expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude 
Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and 
suspend Contractor’s services related thereto, and incorporate in the Work all materials 
and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are 
stored elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner’s representatives, agents and 
employees, Owner’s other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer’s consultants access to 
the Site to enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph. 

C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the 
rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07 will be charged against Contractor as set-
offs against payments due under Article 15. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 268 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 55 of 65 

include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed 
or damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor’s defective Work. 

D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in 
the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner’s rights and 
remedies under this Paragraph 14.07. 

ARTICLE 15 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD 

15.01 Progress Payments 

A. Basis for Progress Payments: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will 
serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application 
for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will 
be based on the number of units completed during the pay period, as determined under 
the provisions of Paragraph 13.03. Progress payments for cost-based Work will be based on 
Cost of the Work completed by Contractor during the pay period. 

B. Applications for Payments: 

1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress 
payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer 
for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the 
Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such 
supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is 
requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but 
delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the 
Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other 
documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free 
and clear of all Liens, and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by 
appropriate property insurance, a warehouse bond, or other arrangements to protect 
Owner’s interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner. 

2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an 
affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account 
of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate 
obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment. 

3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the 
Agreement. 

C. Review of Applications: 

1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including 
each resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present 
the Application to Owner, or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing 
Engineer’s reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor 
may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application. 

2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment 
will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s 
observations of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design 
professional, and on Engineer’s review of the Application for Payment and the 
accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of Engineer’s knowledge, 
information and belief: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 269 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 56 of 65 

a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated; 

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents 
(subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon 
Substantial Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the 
Contract Documents, a final determination of quantities and classifications for 
Unit Price Work under Paragraph 13.03, and any other qualifications stated in the 
recommendation); and 

c. the conditions precedent to Contractor’s being entitled to such payment appear 
to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the 
Work. 

3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that: 

a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been 
performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in 
progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities 
specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract; or 

b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle 
Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold 
payment to Contractor. 

4. Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending 
payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including final payment, 
will impose responsibility on Engineer: 

a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or 

b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, 
or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or 

c. for Contractor’s failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to 
Contractor’s performance of the Work, or 

d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has 
used the money paid on account of the Contract Price, or 

e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to 
Owner free and clear of any Liens. 

5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in 
Engineer’s opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated 
in Paragraph 15.01.C.2. 

6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer’s 
opinion to protect Owner from loss because: 

a. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 
14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition for which Contractor is responsible; or 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 270 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 57 of 65 

e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would 
constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify termination for cause 
under the Contract Documents. 

D. Payment Becomes Due: 

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s 
recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will 
become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor. 

E. Reductions in Payment by Owner: 

1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner 
is entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following: 

a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor’s conduct in the 
performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or 
damages on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance or furnishing of 
the Work, including but not limited to claims, costs, losses, or damages from 
workplace injuries, adjacent property damage, non-compliance with Laws and 
Regulations, and patent infringement; 

b. Contractor has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid 
damage, delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the 
Site; 

c. Contractor has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition for which Contractor is responsible; 

e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal 
reviews, evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return 
visits to manufacturing or assembly facilities; 

f. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

g. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 
14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04; 

h. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

i. an event that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify a 
termination for cause has occurred; 

j. liquidated damages have accrued as a result of Contractor’s failure to achieve 
Milestones, Substantial Completion, or final completion of the Work; 

k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has 
delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and 
discharge of such Liens; 

l. there are other items entitling Owner to a set off against the amount 
recommended. 

2. If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge 
or on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Contractor 
immediate written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action 
and the specific amount of the reduction, and promptly pay Contractor any amount 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 271 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 58 of 65 

remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay 
Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner 
and Contractor, if Contractor remedies the reasons for such action. The reduction 
imposed shall be binding on Contractor unless it duly submits a Change Proposal 
contesting the reduction. 

3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner’s refusal of payment was not justified, 
the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by 
Paragraph 15.01.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement. 

15.02 Contractor’s Warranty of Title 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment 
furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all Liens and other title 
defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven 
days after the time of payment by Owner. 

15.03 Substantial Completion 

A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall 
notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete and 
request that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Contractor shall at the 
same time submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be 
completed or corrected before final payment. 

B. Promptly after Contractor’s notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an 
inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not 
consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving 
the reasons therefor. 

C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a 
preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial 
Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of items to be completed or 
corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the 
preliminary certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any 
provisions of the certificate or attached punch list. If, after considering the objections to the 
provisions of the preliminary certificate, Engineer concludes that the Work is not 
substantially complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the preliminary 
certificate to Owner, notify Contractor in writing that the Work is not substantially 
complete, stating the reasons therefor. If Owner does not object to the provisions of the 
certificate, or if despite consideration of Owner’s objections Engineer concludes that the 
Work is substantially complete, then Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver 
to Owner and Contractor a final certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised punch 
list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the preliminary 
certificate as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any objections from Owner. 

D. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and 
Contractor will confer regarding Owner’s use or occupancy of the Work following 
Substantial Completion, review the builder’s risk insurance policy with respect to the end of 
the builder’s risk coverage, and confirm the transition to coverage of the Work under a 
permanent property insurance policy held by Owner.  Unless Owner and Contractor agree 
otherwise in writing, Owner shall bear responsibility for security, operation, protection of 
the Work, property insurance, maintenance, heat, and utilities upon Owner’s use or 
occupancy of the Work. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 272 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 59 of 65 

E. After Substantial Completion the Contractor shall promptly begin work on the punch list of 
items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Contractor 
may submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list items, following the 
progress payment procedures set forth above. 

F. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial 
Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and 
complete or correct items on the punch list. 

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy 

A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially 
completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract 
Documents, or which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately 
functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended 
purpose without significant interference with Contractor’s performance of the remainder 
of the Work, subject to the following conditions: 

1. At any time Owner may request in writing that Contractor permit Owner to use or 
occupy any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If 
and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, 
Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 15.03.A 
through E for that part of the Work. 

2. At any time Contractor may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor 
considers any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to 
issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer 
shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of 
completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially 
complete, Engineer will notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons 
therefor. If Engineer considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the 
provisions of Paragraph 15.03 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial 
Completion of that part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect 
thereof and access thereto. 

4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to 
compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 regarding builder’s risk or other 
property insurance. 

15.05 Final Inspection 

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is 
complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and 
will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the 
Work, or agreed portion thereof, is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately 
take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies. 

15.06 Final Payment 

A. Application for Payment: 

1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all 
corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, 
guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 273 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 60 of 65 

inspection, annotated record documents (as provided in Paragraph 7.11), and other 
documents, Contractor may make application for final payment. 

2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously 
delivered) by: 

a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents; 

b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment; 

c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all 
Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens 
or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment. 

d. a list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and 

e. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all 
Lien rights arising out of the Work, and of Liens filed in connection with the Work. 

3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 15.06.A.2 and as 
approved by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit 
of Contractor that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, 
and equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (b) all payrolls, material and 
equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner 
might in any way be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other 
burdens on Owner's property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any 
Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, Contractor 
may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner 
against any Lien, or Owner at its option may issue joint checks payable to Contractor 
and specified Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

B. Engineer’s Review of Application and Acceptance: 

1. If, on the basis of Engineer’s observation of the Work during construction and final 
inspection, and Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and 
accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is 
satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor’s other obligations under 
the Contract have been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final 
Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer’s recommendation of final 
payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Such 
recommendation shall account for any set-offs against payment that are necessary in 
Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from loss for the reasons stated above with 
respect to progress payments. At the same time Engineer will also give written notice 
to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable, subject to the provisions of 
Paragraph 15.07. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to 
Contractor, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, 
in which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the 
Application for Payment. 

C. Completion of Work: The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is 
ready for final payment as established by the Engineer’s written recommendation of final 
payment. 

D. Payment Becomes Due: Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the final Application 
for Payment and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer 
(less any further sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer’s recommendation, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 274 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 61 of 65 

including but not limited to set-offs for liquidated damages and set-offs allowed under the 
provisions above with respect to progress payments) will become due and shall be paid by 
Owner to Contractor. 

15.07 Waiver of Claims 

A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights 
against Contractor. Owner expressly reserves claims and rights arising from unsettled Liens, 
from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 15.05, from 
Contractor’s failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special 
guarantees specified therein, from outstanding Claims by Owner, or from Contractor’s 
continuing obligations under the Contract Documents. 

B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all 
claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly 
submitted or appealed under the provisions of Article 17. 

15.08 Correction Period 

A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as 
may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the 
Contract Documents, or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents), any Work is 
found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that 
Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other 
adjacent areas used by Contractor as permitted by Laws and Regulations, is found to be 
defective, then Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with 
Owner’s written instructions: 

1. correct the defective repairs to the Site or such other adjacent areas; 

2. correct such defective Work; 

3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and 
replace it with Work that is not defective, and 

4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to 
the work of others, or to other land or areas resulting therefrom. 

B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner’s written instructions, or 
in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have 
the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and 
replaced. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 
such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all 
costs of repair or replacement of work of others). 

C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous 
service before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item 
may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications. 
 

D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected 
or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period hereunder with 
respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such 
correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 275 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 62 of 65 

E. Contractor’s obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and 
warranties. The provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a 
waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 

ARTICLE 16 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a 
period of not more than 90 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. 
Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the 
Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract 
Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such 
suspension. Any Change Proposal seeking such adjustments shall be submitted no later 
than 30 days after the date fixed for resumption of Work. 

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will constitute a default by 
Contractor and justify termination for cause: 

1. Contractor’s persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or 
suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule); 

2. Failure of Contractor to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the 
Contract Documents; 

3. Contractor’s disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; or 

4. Contractor’s repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer. 

B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 16.02.A occurs, then after giving 
Contractor (and any surety) ten days written notice that Owner is considering a declaration 
that Contractor is in default and termination of the contract, Owner may proceed to: 

1. declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor (and any surety) notice that 
the Contract is terminated; and 

2. enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond. 

C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has 
terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take 
possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the 
Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete 
the Work as Owner may deem expedient. 

D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 16.02.B if 
Contractor within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its 
failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure. 

E. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 16.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to 
receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the 
Contract Price exceeds the cost to complete the Work, including all related claims, costs, 
losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals) sustained by Owner, such excess will be paid 
to Contractor. If the cost to complete the Work including such related claims, costs, losses, 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 276 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 63 of 65 

and damages exceeds such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. 
Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as 
to their reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change 
Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this paragraph, Owner shall not be 
required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed. 

F. Where Contractor’s services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not 
affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may 
thereafter accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor or any surety 
under any payment bond or performance bond. Any retention or payment of money due 
Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability. 

G. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions 
of Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond shall govern over any inconsistent 
provisions of Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D. 

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience 

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and 
without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such 
case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items): 

1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents 
prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for 
overhead and profit on such Work; 

2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services 
and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents 
in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead 
and profit on such expenses; and 

3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs 
incurred to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal. 

B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, 
or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 

A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 
consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) 
Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or 
(3) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then 
Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided 
Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate 
the contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 
16.03. 

B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if 
Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is 
submitted, or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to 
be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the 
Work until payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. 
The provisions of this paragraph are not intended to preclude Contractor from submitting a 
Change Proposal for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 277 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 64 of 65 

expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor’s stopping the Work as permitted 
by this paragraph. 

ARTICLE 17 – FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES 

17.01 Methods and Procedures 

A. Disputes Subject to Final Resolution: The following disputed matters are subject to final 
resolution under the provisions of this Article: 

1. A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in 
full; and 

2. Disputes between Owner and Contractor concerning the Work or obligations under 
the Contract Documents, and arising after final payment has been made. 

B. Final Resolution of Disputes: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner 
or Contractor may: 

1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in the 
Supplementary Conditions; or 

2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution 
process; or 

3. if no dispute resolution process is provided for in the Supplementary Conditions or 
mutually agreed to, give written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the 
dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction. 

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS 

18.01 Giving Notice 

A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it 
will be deemed to have been validly given if: 

1. delivered in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the individual or 
to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for which it is intended; or 

2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last 
business address known to the sender of the notice. 

18.02 Computation of Times 

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract by days, it will be computed to 
exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period 
falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable 
jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation. 

18.03 Cumulative Remedies 

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and 
remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be 
construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of 
them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty 
or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract. The provisions of this paragraph will 
be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with 
each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 278 / 578



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 
Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 65 of 65 

18.04 Limitation of Damages 

A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, 
and other matters at issue, neither Owner nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, 
members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to 
Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in 
connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

18.05 No Waiver 

A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, 
nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract. 

18.06 Survival of Obligations 

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or 
given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the 
Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or 
termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor. 

18.07 Controlling Law 

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located. 

18.08 Headings 

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute 
parts of these General Conditions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 279 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 1 

 

 SECTION 00810 MODIFICATIONS TO GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The General Conditions (Document C-700) are hereby amended, voided 
and/or otherwise modified by the following conditions: 

 
PART 2 COPIES OF DOCUMENTS (REFERENCE ARTICLE 2, PARAGRAPH 2.02: 
 

The Owner shall not provide any additional copies of the documents.  A set of 
electronic files in Adobe® Portable Document File (pdf) format will be issued 
to the Contractor by the Engineer.  The Engineer can provide hard copies 
upon request at the cost of reproduction.  
 

PART 3 REFERENCE POINTS (REFERENCE ARTICLE 4, PARAGRAPH 4.03.A): 
 

Add the following sentences: 
 
Reference Points shall be defined as staking the reference benchmarks 
shown on the construction drawings.  A minimum of two control points will be 
provided with a project benchmark, plus one additional point and benchmark 
for each additional 10 acres of site. 

 
PART 4 ELECTRONIC DATA (REFERENCE ARTICLE 3, PARAGRAPH 3.01): 

 
Add the following paragraph: 
 
Baker & Associates, Inc. considers that plans and specifications are approved 
documents only if: 1) they are paper copies with original signatures and 
professional certification visibly present on the copies or 2) electronic files in 
Adobe® Portable Document File (pdf) format issued directly by Baker & 
Associates, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as electronically transmitted data).  
Information supplied via methods other than those noted above are not to be 
considered approved documents.  The receiver of electronically transmitted 
documents is responsible for verifying the information is approved 
documents.  This electronic information is copyrighted and may not be 
transferred to any other party. 

 
PART 5 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS (REFERENCE ARTICLE 6): 
 

The following requirements shall supplement the requirements of Article 6.  
None of the requirements of Article 6 shall be voided or changed by 
requirement under this Part. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 280 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 2 

 

The Contractor shall procure and maintain at his own expense, during the 
Contract time, liability insurance as follows: 

 
Contractor's General Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance 
including vehicle coverage issued to the Contractor and protecting him 
from all claims for personal injury, including death, and all claims for 
destruction of or damage to property, arising out of or in connection 
with any operations under the Contract Documents, whether such 
operations be by himself or by a Subcontractor under him, or anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by the Contractor or by a Subcontractor 
under him. 

 
Insurance shall be written with a limit of liability of not less than $1,000,000 for 
all damages arising out of bodily injury, including death, at any time resulting 
therefrom, sustained to any one person in any one accident; and a limit of 
liability of not less than $2,000,000 aggregate for any such damages 
sustained by two or more persons in any one accident.  Insurance shall be 
written with a limit of liability of not less than $500,000 for all property damage 
sustained by any one person in any one accident; and a limit of liability of not 
less than $500,000 aggregate for any such damage sustained by two or more 
persons in any one accident. 

 
Both the Owner and Engineer shall hold the Certificate of Insurance. 

 
 
PART 6 REVIEW OF APPLICATIONS FOR PROGRESS PAYMENT (REFERENCE 

ARTICLE 15, PARAGRAPH 15, Part D.1): 
 

Delete Paragraph 15.01.D.1 in its entirety and replace with the following 
paragraph: 

 
Thirty days after the presentation of the Application for Payment with 
ENGINEER's recommendation, the amount recommended will (subject 
to the provisions of paragraph 15.01.E) become due and when due will 
be paid by OWNER to CONTRACTOR. 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 281 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 3 

 

 
SECTION 00815 SUBSURFACE INFORMATION 

 
No subsurface exploration has been conducted in connection with this 
Contract.  It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to make such 
investigations as he/she deems necessary, and for ascertaining the 
subsurface conditions he/she will encounter. 
 

 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 

SECTION 00820 STATE REQUIREMENTS 
 
PART 1 NEW EMPLOYEE WORK ELIGIBILITY STATUS: 
 

The Contractor is required and hereby agrees to use a federal immigration 
verification system to determine the work eligibility status of new employees 
physically performing services within the State of Nebraska. A federal 
immigration verification system means the electronic verification of the work 
authorization program authorized by the Illegal Immigration Reform and 
Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, known as the E-Verify 
Program, or an equivalent federal program designated by the United States 
Department of Homeland Security or other federal agency authorized to verify 
the work eligibility status of a newly hired employee. 
 
1.1 PROPRIETORSHIPS: 

 
If the Contractor is an individual or sole proprietorship, the following 
applies: 
 
A. The Contractor must complete the United States Citizenship 

Attestation Form, available on the Department of Administrative 
Services website at www.das.state.ne.us. 

  
B.  If the Contractor indicates on such attestation form that he or she 

is a qualified alien, the Contractor agrees to provide the US 
Citizenship and Immigration Services documentation required to 
verify the Contractor’s lawful presence in the United States using 
the Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements (SAVE) Program. 

 
The Contractor understands and agrees that lawful presence in the United 
States is required and the Contractor may be disqualified or the contract 
terminated if such lawful presence cannot be verified as required by Neb. 
Rev. Stat. §4-108.  

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 282 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.16 Supplemental Conditions 

City of Scottsbluff 
Document 00800 - Page 4 

 

PART 2 ONE-CALL NOTIFICATION ACT: 
 
The Contractor shall meet all the requirements of the Nebraska One-Call 
Notification Act (State of Nebraska Title 155, Chapter 2). 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 283 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 1 

                               

SECTION 01010 SCHEDULE OF WORK 
 
PART 1  SCHEDULE: 
 

The planned schedule for this contract is for the work to start no later 
than September 25, 2019 after completion of the site demolition and 
preliminary grading work is completed.  The work shall be substantially 
complete by May 15, 2020 and final completion by May 30, 2020 for use 
in the 2020 baseball season.    

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

SECTION 01015 OWNER FURNISHED ITEMS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The Owner will furnish no labor, no equipment, and no materials to the 
Contractor, except as listed following.  It is the intention of this Contract to 
require the Contractor to furnish all labor, materials and equipment necessary 
to complete the construction of the work as outlined in the Specifications and 
as shown on the Drawings and Detail Drawings. 

 
PART 2  WATER: 
 

All water required for flushing, testing and disinfection of water mains installed 
or storage tanks recoated under this contract (as applicable), shall be 
furnished to the Contractor without charge so long as such water is used 
without obvious waste.  The Contractor shall make all provisions necessary to 
obtain the water from the designated place and to convey it to the place of 
use without waste.  Water required for cleaning or compaction activities shall 
be furnished by the Contractor. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 284 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 2 

                               

SECTION 01025 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT: 
 
PART 1 Unit Prices:  
 

It is to be understood that the quantities of each item of work set forth in the 
Bid are approximate only and will be revised depending on field conditions 
encountered.  The Owner has the right to revise quantities in its best interest 
without affecting any of the unit prices set forth above.  In all cases, the stated 
unit prices Bid shall be used in determining the final value of the completed 
work. 
 

PART 2  Application for Payment: 
 
Attached to the end of Section 01000 is a copy of Form 01025-A, the 
Application for Payment that will be used for this project.  The Contractor shall 
submit the application for payment on this form, or in similar form, if approved 
in writing, by the Engineer.  This form is available on electronic media. 
 

PART 3  Change Order Procedures: 
 
The Contractor shall request in writing all change order items prior to 
proceeding with any such work.  The request shall include detailed unit and/or 
lump sums prices and justification for the proposed work.  Should the Owner 
or Engineer request a modification to the project which requires a change 
order, the Contractor shall submit a written cost of the modifications to the 
Engineer prior to beginning the modification.  The final documentation for a 
change order will be submitted on Form 01025-B as attached to Section 
01000. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

SECTION 01030 ALTERNATE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES: 
 
PART 1 The following construction activities are either additions to the Contract, for 

which the Owner is unsure of the certainty of their being included in the 
proposed construction; or are alternate methods of construction which may 
replace a specified construction activity. 

 
PART 2  The alternates in this contract include: 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 285 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 3 

                               

1.  Batting Cage Building (structure, foundation, floor, electrical and 
netting) 
2.  Storage Building (structure, foundation, floor, electrical and doors) 
3.  Playground Equipment and Cover (structure, foundation, and 
electrical) 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

SECTION 01040 CONSTRUCTION COORDINATION: 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating all phases of his/her 
operations with the Engineer and Owner.  Advance notice of not less than 48 
hours will be given to the Engineer prior to any operations.  

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01050 CONSTRUCTION SURVEY WORK: 
 
PART 1  Construction Staking: 
 

The Engineer will provide control points and project benchmark(s) for the 
project.  A minimum of two control points will be provided with a project 
benchmark, plus an additional point and benchmark for each additional 10 
acres of site. It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to maintain all stakes 
and reference elevations and replacement of stakes shall be at the 
Contractor's expense. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01060 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to familiarize himself/herself with the 
regulatory requirements with regard to the location of the project and the type 
of work to be performed under the Contract. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 286 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 4 

                               

PART 2  SAFETY: 
 

All regulations pertaining to safety, to include Occupational Safety & Health 
Association (OSHA) Standards, shall be strictly adhered to by the Contractor.  
Particular care shall be exercised in connection with the operation of vehicles 
and other equipment on the site.  Safety barriers and equipment shall be 
provided by the Contractor as required. 

 
PART 3  PERMITS: 
 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to obtain all necessary permits as 
required by State and Local codes to perform the work required as part of this 
Contract. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 287 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 5 

                               

 
PART 4  SWPPP: 
 

The Contractor shall prepare a Stormwater Pollution Prevent Plan as required 
by State and Local agencies.  The Engineer will provide Site Plan and Detail 
Drawings based on the layout and materials the Contractor would like to 
submit to the reviewing agency.  The Contractor shall maintain the SWPPP 
until all permit requirements are satisfied, including maintenance of all erosion 
features until final acceptance by the review agency. 
 

PART 5  BUILDING CODES: 
 

The following Standard Codes of construction practices are hereby made a 
portion of these Specifications and shall govern all applicable construction 
activities carried out under this Contract. 

 
4.1 National Electrical Code (NEC) 

 
4.2  Building Code, Plumbing Code, Energy Conservation Code and 

Mechanical Code as adopted by the Owner or controlling agency.   
This shall include any specific regulations or standards adopted by the 
Owner/agency that identify construction practices.  If the Owner or 
agency has not adopted such codes, the International Codes shall 
govern. 

 
4.3  The Americans with Disabilities Act of 2010 (ADA) and Nebraska 

Accessibility Guidelines (NAG). 
  

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
SECTION 01120 ASBESTOS CONTAINING MATERIALS: 

 
PART 1  During construction or remodeling activities involving existing buildings, there 

exists the possibility that Asbestos Containing Materials (ACM) may be 
encountered.  The Building Owner may not be aware of the location of all 
ACM within the building.  It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to request 
information from the building owner as to the known locations of ACM and to 
familiarize himself with those known locations. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 288 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 6 

                               

 
PART 2  If during any construction activity, any suspected ACM is encountered by the 

Contractor, he shall stop all construction activities immediately.  The 
Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately of the suspected ACM to allow 
evaluation of the suspected material and the appropriate course of action.  If 
the material is found to be ACM and abatement/cleanup procedures are 
required, the Contract time shall be extended by formal change order to cover 
the delays encountered by the abatement/cleanup activities. 

 
PART 3  If the Contractor has negligently disturbed an area known to contain ACM, the 

Contractor shall be held solely responsible for the resulting cleanup 
operations and elimination of the hazard. 

 
PART 4  No materials supplied under this contract shall contain asbestos in any form. 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
SECTION 01130  PROTECTION OF POTABLE WATER SUPPLIES (ORGANIC 

CHEMICALS) 
 
PART 1  To prevent contamination of the potable water supplies the Contractor shall 

not use any solvents, petroleum derived products, caustic or poisonous 
substances during construction activities involving, potable water pipelines, 
well and well test hole drilling, water tanks and or any part of a municipal 
water system that comes into contact with potable water supplies. 

 
PART 2  Special care shall be exercised during refueling and or lubrication activities to 

prevent spillage of petroleum products that may come in contact with potable 
water supplies. 

 
PART 3  No substances found on The Environmental Protection Agency List of 

Monitored Substances or having an Environmental Protection Agency 
Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) shall be allowed on the job site. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 289 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 7 

                               

SECTION 01170 SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION PROVISIONS: 
 

The following modifications, additions and special provisions are hereby 
made a part of these Specifications and shall take precedence over any 
conflicting requirements. 

 
 HISTORICAL AND ARCHEOLOGICAL  
 

If during the course of construction, evidence of deposits of historical or 
archeological interest is found, the Contractor shall cease operations affecting 
the find and shall notify the Federal Funding Agency, and the Nebraska State 
Historic Preservation Office, (402) 471-4775.  No further disturbance of the 
deposits shall ensue until the Contractor has been notified, in writing, by the 
Owner that he may proceed.  The Owner will issue a notice to proceed only 
after the state officials have surveyed the find and made a determination to 
the Federal Funding Agency and the State Historic Preservation Office.  
Compensation to the Contractor, if any, for lost time or changes in 
construction to avoid the find, shall be determined in accordance with 
changed conditions or change order provisions of the Specifications. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01200 SPECIAL PROJECT MEETINGS: 
 

The Contractor shall be required to attend a Pre-Construction meeting with 
the Owner and Engineer prior to the start of construction.  The meeting will be 
held at the Owner's business offices. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 290 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 8 

                               

SECTION 01340 SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA AND SUBMITTALS: 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The Contractor shall provide the Engineer with catalog material, capacities, 
performance curves, dimensions, weights or any other information which may 
be necessary in order that the conformity with the Specifications may be 
reviewed for each proposed piece of equipment.  The Contractor shall furnish 
five (5) copies of submittals and/or shop drawings.  All such material shall be 
furnished to the Engineer within thirty (30) days after the date of the "Notice to 
Proceed".  No material or equipment shall be installed without a shop 
drawing/submittal indicating a “Reviewed” Action on the Shop 
Drawing/Submittal Transmittal form. 

 
PART 2 SHOP DRAWING REVIEW: 
 

2.1 The ENGINEER will review CONTRACTOR's shop drawings and 
related submittals (as indicated below) with respect to the ability of the 
detailed work, when complete, to be a properly functioning integral 
element of the overall system designed by the ENGINEER. 

 
2.2 Before submitting a shop drawing or any related material to the 

ENGINEER, the CONTRACTOR shall:   
  

A. Review each such submission for conformance with the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and operations of 
construction, and safety precautions and programs incidental 
thereto, all of which are the sole responsibility of 
CONTRACTOR; and 

  
B. Approve each submittal before delivering it to the ENGINEER, 

providing a stamp on each such submission indicating the 
CONTRACTOR’S review and approval of the submittal. 

  
2.3 The CONTRACTOR shall certify the shop drawing have been reviewed 

by and approved with respect to the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety precautions 
and programs incidental thereto by utilizing (and signing) the submittal 
transmittal form (Form 01340A) following this Division. 

 
2.4 The ENGINEER shall assume that no shop drawing or related 

submittal comprises a variation to the specified material or equipment 
unless CONTRACTOR advises the ENGINEER otherwise, via a 
written instrument, which is acknowledged by the ENGINEER in 
writing. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 291 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 9 

                               

2.5 The shop drawings to be submitted for a particular construction activity 
are identified in the SECTION describing the construction activity.  
Shop drawings to be submitted, in addition to those listed elsewhere in 
the Contract Documents, are identified following.   

 
 
   Item:  ____________________________ 
     ____________________________ 
     ____________________________ 
 
 

2.6 In the event that the ENGINEER will require more than ten (10) 
working days to perform the review, the ENGINEER shall so notify 
CONTRACTOR.  The ENGINEER shall return shop drawings with 
comments provided that each submission has been called for and is 
stamped by CONTRACTOR as indicated above.  The ENGINEER 
shall return, without comment, material not called for or which has not 
been approved by CONTRACTOR. 

 
PART 3  OPERATION MANUALS: 
 

Upon completion of the Contract, and prior to final payment, the Contractor 
shall furnish the Owner, two copies of the manufacturer's operation and 
maintenance manuals and parts lists for each piece of equipment furnished.  
Product data sheets shall be supplied for those materials and equipment that 
are not provided with a manufacturer's operation and maintenance manual. 

 
PART 4 ELECTRICAL CERTIFICATION: 
 

Prior to final acceptance and payment for the project, the Contractor shall 
provide written certification that the project has been inspected by the 
electrical inspector having jurisdiction over the electrical portion of the project 
and that any items of non-compliance have been corrected. 

 
PART 5  RESPONSIBILITY: 
 

The Contractor shall not be relieved of his/her responsibility to supply 
equipment meeting all requirements of the Specifications by any reviews of 
submittals or shop drawings by the Engineer. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 292 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 10 

                               

SECTION 01440  CONTRACTOR'S QUALITY CONTROL: 
 
PART 1  GENERAL:  
 

The work performed under these specifications shall be executed in the best 
and most workmanlike manner by qualified, careful and competent personnel 
of the respective trades in strict accordance with these specifications, 
applicable drawings, appropriate codes and the best current construction 
practices. 

 
PART 2  QUALITY CONTROL: 
 

The Engineer may elect to have a commercial testing laboratory conduct 
testing at random locations or areas where work or materials are of 
questionable qualities in his opinion.  In the event such tests indicate the 
quality of materials or work is at or above the minimum Contract 
specifications, the Owner will make payment for the tests.  The cost of the 
test results that indicate qualities of work or materials below the minimum 
Contract specifications will be charged to the Contractor's account. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01441  CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION & TESTING SCHEDULE 
 

Contractor requests for material testing or construction observations at times 
other than normal working hours 7:00 a.m. - 6:00 p.m. weekdays, shall be at 
the discretion of the Engineer.  In any event, the contractor's account will be 
charged one-half times the Engineer's rate being charged the Owner for all 
hours worked; except on legal holidays (Federal and/or Owner) which will be 
charged at the Engineer's full rate. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 293 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 11 

                               

SECTION 01540 PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY: 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible to check and determine that all 
necessary precautions have been taken to protect all property, both public 
and private, in all areas where this Contract is being accomplished.  Damage 
caused from failure by the Contractor to exercise care in the performance of 
work shall be immediately replaced or restored to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer without additional cost to the Owner. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 

SECTION 01560 CONSTRUCTION CLEANING: 
 
PART 1  DAILY CLEANUP: 
 

1.1  The areas where work is in progress shall be kept as neat and clean 
as is consistent with the work in progress.  Materials, wrappings, 
containers which might be scattered by wind or become a hazard to 
pedestrians shall be placed in appropriate containers, disposed of or 
otherwise cared for. 

 
1.2  All debris shall be removed from the job site each day.  All scrap and 

debris shall be disposed of, off of the Owner's property, at no additional 
cost to the Owner. 

 
PART 2  FINISH GRADING: 
 

2.1  The Contractor shall grade the trench line and all surrounding areas, 
where the grade has been disturbed during construction, to a smooth 
grade to affect a neat and workmanlike appearance. 

 
2.2  Any adjacent areas which are damaged by the Contractor, due to 

demolition or removals, shall be repaired to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer or be replaced. 

 
PART 3  FINAL CLEANUP: 
 

3.1  Upon completion of the project, the Contractor shall remove all rubbish 
and accumulated materials and scrap from the premises leaving the 
job site in a clean, acceptable condition. 

 
3.2  All salvageable items shall remain the property of the Owner and shall 

be disposed of as directed by the Owner's representative.   
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 294 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 12 

                               

3.3  Excess excavated materials and construction debris, if any, shall be 
hauled away to a location selected by the Contractor, off the Owner's 
property, easements, and rights-of-way. 

 
3.4  It is intended that the Contractor leave the work area in a similar and 

equal condition as existed prior to commencement of construction. 
 

3.5  Every effort shall be made to protect and preserve the environment.  
Erosion shall be controlled and kept to a minimum.  No discharge of 
fuels or waste liquids which would be harmful to the environment shall 
be allowed. 

 
PART 4  Reference Section 02212, SURFACE RESTORATION 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************ 

 
SECTION 01570 TRAFFIC CONTROL: 

 
The Contractor shall be required to furnish, install and maintain traffic control 
devices in accordance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD), Federal Highway Administration, U.S. Department of 
Transportation.  Traffic control devices shall be used when the Work is in 
street right of way. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************ 
 
 

SECTION 01580 PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SIGNS: 
 
  PROJECT SIGN: 
 

The Contractor shall construct the following project sign to be located at the 
construction site: 

 
 CONTRACTOR - 
 ENGINEER -    BAKER & ASSOCIATES 
 PROJECT COST - 
 FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE -  D.E.D 
 

Lettering shall be a minimum two (2) inches high on a 4' x 6' board. 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************ 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 295 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 13 

                               

SECTION 01660 STARTING OF SYSTEMS: 
 
PART 1  It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide system start up services to 

insure that all equipment is properly installed and operating as intended. 
 
PART 2  Reference Division 11, Section 11000, GENERAL EQUIPMENT 

REQUIREMENTS 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************ 

 
SECTION 01740 WARRANTIES AND BONDS: 

 
PART 1  PERFORMANCE BOND:  
 

The Contractor shall be required to maintain the Performance Bond during 
the life of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of final 
acceptance of all work performed under the Contract. 

 
PART 2  PAYMENT BOND:  
 

The Contractor shall be required to maintain the Payment Bond during the life 
of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of final acceptance 
of all work performed under the Contract. 

 
PART 3  EQUIPMENT GUARANTEE: 
 

All equipment and installation shall be guaranteed by the Contractor for one 
year after the date of substantial completion of the entire Contract.  The 
Contractor shall immediately repair or replace any defects within the 
guarantee period due to faulty equipment, material, installation or 
workmanship at his own expense. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 296 / 578



  
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 General Requirements Section 01000 - Page 14 

                               

SECTION 01800 MAINTENANCE OF BACKFILL: 
 

All backfill shall be maintained in a satisfactory condition, and all places 
where settlement is evident shall be filled by the Contractor and maintained 
during the life of the Contract and for a period of one year after the date of 
final acceptance of all work performed under the Contract.  When the 
Contractor is notified by the Engineer or Owner that any backfill is hazardous, 
the Contractor shall correct or make repairs of such hazardous conditions at 
once.  Any utilities and pavements damaged by any such settlement shall be 
the responsibility of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall be responsible for 
all claims for damages filed with the court, actions brought against the Owner 
for, and on account of, such damage. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 297 / 578



                              

 

FO
R

M
 0

10
25

-A
 

FO
R

M
 0

10
25

-A
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 298 / 578



                              

CHANGE ORDER NO. 1
DATE:

Engineers - Architects - Surveyors PROJECT: PROJECT NUMBER
Since 1977 PROJECT TITLE

OWNER: OWNER NAME CONTRACTOR: OWNER NAME
120 East 16th Street ADDRESS ADDRESS
Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361 CITY, STATE  ZIP CITY, STATE  ZIP
(308) 632-3123 PHONE PHONE
Fax:  632-7253 FAX FAX

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION / JUSTIFICATION: AMOUNT

1.)

2.)

3.)

4.)

5.)

6.)

7.)

8.)

REVISION IN CONTRACT AMOUNT:

CURRENT CONTRACT PRICE + (-) PREVIOUS CHANGE ORDERS

AMOUNT THIS CHANGE ORDER

REVISED CONTRACT AMOUNT

REVISED CONTRACT TIME + (-) BY CALENDAR DAYS

 SUBMITTED BY CONTRACTOR DATE:

 ACCEPTED BY B & A DATE:

 APPROVED BY OWNER DATE:

Baker & Associates, Inc.       Engineers * Architects * Surveyors       120 East 16th Street, Suite A, Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361

FORM 01025-B 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 299 / 578



                              

FORM 01340-C 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 300 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Earthwork - Site Grading Section 02210 - Page 1

  

SECTION 02210 EARTHWORK - SITE GRADING 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

This Section covers earthwork excavation, embankment and fill construction. 
It is the intention of this Section for the Contractor to furnish all equipment and 
labor to perform the construction activities described following: 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 Moisture Content: 
 

A. Material may be moisture conditioned at the site of excavation 
or at the embankment/fill site at the Contractor's option.  
Material which contains excess moisture shall be dried until the 
required compaction can be obtained. 

 
B. The materials shall be conditioned to have a moisture content at 

the time of compaction such that the specified compaction may 
be obtained with the equipment being used.  At all times, it shall 
be the responsibility of the Contractor to employ such means as 
may be necessary to secure a uniform moisture content 
throughout the material being compacted. 

 
2.2 Suitability: 

 
A. The Engineer shall determine the suitability of the materials in 

the various portions of the work in accordance with the 
provisions specified herein.  Oversize material or unsuitable 
material shall be broken down to acceptable sizes or shall be 
removed from the work. 

 
B. Material from excavation which is suitable for compacted 

embankment/fill shall be dense and homogeneous when 
compacted.  The material shall be free of all organic material 
and of all material larger than five (5) inches in maximum 
dimensions. 

 
C. All excavated materials that are free of oversize materials that 

would prevent the placing of material in lifts of the thickness 
specified and are free of organic material, are suitable for the 
construction of normal embankment, roadway embankment and 
fill for drainage. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 301 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Earthwork - Site Grading Section 02210 - Page 2

  

D. All excess and/or unsuitable material shall be hauled from the 
site and disposed of off of the Owner's property.  

 
PART 3 METHODS: 
 

3.1 Foundation Preparation: 
 

A. All trees, stumps, brush and other vegetation shall be removed 
prior to excavation and disposed of by the Contractor. 

 
B. The Contractor shall remove a minimum of 6-inches of topsoil or 

that amount needed to remove organic material from the area.  
All suitable topsoil material removed shall be stockpiled and 
used later as topsoil on areas to receive grass seeding.  The 
replaced topsoil thickness shall be a minimum 0.5 foot. 

 
C. Surfaces upon which the fill or embankment is to be constructed 

shall be scarified to a depth of 0.5 foot, moisture conditioned 
and compacted for a depth of 0.5 foot, to not less than 95% of 
the Standard Proctor Density when tested in accordance with 
ASTM D-698.  Non-cohesive soils not applicable to Standard 
Proctor Density testing shall be compacted to 70% relative 
density as determined by ASTM 4253.  Material unsuitable for 
embankment foundations shall be removed as directed and 
replaced with suitable material and compacted as compacted 
embankment. 

 
3.2 Embankment/fill shall be constructed in horizontal layers which extend 

the full width of the cross section.  Thickness of the layers shall not 
exceed 0.5 foot after compaction.  When a layer of material is 
dissimilar from the preceding layer, the materials shall be blended by 
discing, mixing, scarifying, or a combination of these methods.  
Compacted embankment/fill shall be compacted to not less than 95% 
of Standard Proctor Density at optimum moisture.  Non-cohesive soils 
not applicable to Standard Proctor Density testing shall be compacted 
to 70% relative density as determined by ASTM 4253 & 4354. 

 
3.3 During construction, the Contractor shall keep the top of the 

embankment/fill at such elevation and section to provide natural 
surface drainage at all times.  If the Contractor stops work on any 
portion of the embankment on account of rain or impending rain, the 
surface shall be sealed by passing rubber-tired equipment or flat drum 
rollers over the surface.  Before work is resumed in the area, the 
surface shall be scarified to a depth of not less than 0.5 foot, re-
leveled, moisture conditioned, and recompacted to specified density 
prior to placing the succeeding layer of embankment/fill. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 302 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Earthwork - Site Grading Section 02210 - Page 3

  

 
3.4 Excavation Beyond Established Lines: 

 
Precautions shall be taken to preserve, in an undisturbed condition, 
material beyond the designated lines of the excavations, except 
unstable material ordered removed by the Engineer.  Material 
loosened beyond the excavation limits as a result of excavation 
operations shall be considered defective work and be compacted or 
removed and replaced with compacted fill, as directed by the Engineer. 

 
PART 4 FINISH GRADING: 
 

4.1 Sections and Slopes: 
 

A. Excavation sections, profiles and slopes shall be cut true and 
straight in conformity with the lines and grades shown on the 
Drawings within the following tolerances, measured normal to 
the excavated surfaces: 

 
    Surface    Tolerance 
 
   General Grading    .2 foot  
 
   Profile or invert of ditches 
   and channels, open areas,   .1 foot 
   parks, athletic fields, and fine  
   grading around buildings. 
 

B. The extreme of such tolerances shall not be continuous over a 
distance of 25 feet measured at any place, in any direction, 
parallel to the excavated surface.  No additional payment shall 
be made for over-excavation. 

 
4.2 Temporary openings left in the embankment/fill for structures of other 

requirements shall have transverse bonding slopes no steeper than 4 
feet horizontal to 1 foot vertical. 

 
PART 5 DEWATERING: 
 

The excavation shall be dewatered to the extent required for construction 
operations to proceed under dry conditions.  See Section 02140.  

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 303 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Earthwork - Site Grading Section 02210 - Page 4

  

PART 6 TESTS: 
 

Compaction testing of compacted embankment or fill shall be conducted by 
the Engineer as deemed necessary.  If additional testing is required beyond a 
reasonable amount to determine the quality and effectiveness of the 
compaction work, or as a result of the Contractor having to re-do portions of 
the work to meet the requirements described herein, then the costs of any 
such additional compaction testing required by the Engineer shall be paid for 
by the Contractor.  Generally, testing will be performed at the maximum 
occurrence of the following schedule: 

 
  1.  One test at each installation 
  2.  One test for each 500 cubic yards of material 
 
PART 7 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT: 
 

No direct payment will be made for earthwork/site grading unless a 
Bid/Proposal item specifically addresses earthwork quantities.  Such 
construction shall be considered incidental to the construction activity 
requiring the earthwork/site grading. 

 
PART 8 SURFACE RESTORATION: 
 

See Section 02212. 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 304 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 1

  

SECTION 02212 SURFACE RESTORATION 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

1.1 The Contractor shall return all areas disturbed during construction to a 
condition equal to, or better than, that which existed prior to 
construction, regardless of whether or not such disturbed areas are 
within or outside of easements or right-of-ways. 

 
1.2 This shall include, but not be limited to the following: 

 
A. Replacement of pavement and sidewalk areas, 

 
B. Replacement of grass sod in lawn areas, 

 
C. Repair of sprinkler systems where disturbed or damaged by 

construction activities, 
 

D. Repair of underground utilities disturbed or damaged by 
construction activities, 

 
E. Repair and/or replacement of fences cut or removed as required 

by construction activities, 
 

F. Restoration of ditches, channels, or swales to their original 
invert elevations and cross sections, 

 
G. Reseeding and/or resodding of all vegetated areas disturbed by 

construction activities, and 
 

H. Other work required to restore such areas to their former 
condition. 

 
PART 2 STRUCTURES: 
 

2.1 The site areas for structures shall be graded as indicated on the 
Drawings, or as directed by the Engineer.  The final grading shall 
provide a neat appearance and shall facilitate positive drainage to 
natural water courses and allow for positive drainage away from 
structures. 

 
2.2 After finish grading is accepted by the Engineer, the Contractor shall 

then install the appropriate ground cover as specified or as indicated 
on the drawings. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 305 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 2

  

 
PART 3 UTILITIES: 

    
3.1 Areas to Receive Paving: 

 
A. Paving, curb and gutter, sidewalks or other improvements 

destroyed, removed, or damaged during construction shall be 
replaced with the same type, of equal or better quality, 
consistent with the undisturbed portions of the improvements 
existing prior to the trench excavation, except as described 
following. 

 
B. Edges of existing pavement, sidewalk or curb and gutter shall 

be saw cut, or otherwise prepared, to provide a smooth uniform 
edge. 

 
C. Upon completion and testing of backfilling by the Engineer, a 

6-inch base course shall be added.  Base course compaction 
shall be 95% maximum dry density (ASTM D698).  

   
D. The paving shall be replaced to the same depth as the 

undisturbed paving (or the following minimum depths), using 
hot-mix asphaltic cement or concrete as indicated on the 
Drawings. 

 
1. All hot-mix asphaltic cement pavement used in 

restoration work shall be a minimum 6-inches thick, full 
depth asphalt.   Preparation for the asphaltic cement 
paving shall include prime and tack coats.  After placing 
the material, the pavement shall be compacted with a 
smooth roller.  All proposed methods shall be as 
specified herein, and/or reviewed by the Engineer. 

 
2. Concrete thickness shall be a minimum 6-inch for areas 

to receive traffic and 5-inch for all other concrete paving 
unless otherwise shown on the Drawings.  All proposed 
methods shall be as specified herein, and/or reviewed by 
the Engineer. 

 
E. All concrete used in the restoration work shall conform to the 

requirements of Division 3, "Concrete".  Joints of concrete shall 
match/duplicate the existing joint pattern. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 306 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 3

  

    
3.2 Areas to Receive Gravel Surfacing: 

 
A. Gravel surfacing shall be replaced to the same depth as that 

existing prior to excavation, or as a minimum, gravel shall be 2-
inches thick.  No gravel surfacing shall be replaced prior to the 
acceptance of the backfill by the Engineer. 

 
B. The gravel surfacing shall conform to the following gradation 

requirements. 
 
   Sieve Designation  % Passing  Tolerance 
 
    3/4-inch    100   0 
    #4    64   ±14 
    #8    52   ±15 
    #40    24   ±21 
    #200 (CL)    15   -7 
     
    Plasticity Index   10-32 
 

3.3 Areas with Topsoil and/or Vegetation Cover: 
 

A. When excavation is through lawns, fields, pasture land, or any 
other areas having a vegetation cover, or any areas where there 
is naturally existing topsoil, the Contractor shall strip and 
stockpile separately all topsoil. 

 
B. This material shall then be replaced on top of the final backfill, 

after installation of the pipeline.  When excavated material must 
be stored on lawns or other grassed areas, burlap or other 
suitable coverings shall be used to protect such areas. 

 
C. When so indicated on the Drawings, or elsewhere in these 

Specifications, special seeding or the installation of grass sod 
shall be required in areas where grass has been disturbed or 
removed during construction. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 307 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 4

  

PART 4 PAYMENT OF RESTORATION ACTIVITIES: 
 

4.1 General: 
 

Restoration activities shall be considered incidental to the contract 
unless a specific item in Document 00300 "BID" addresses payment of 
the restoration activity.  Where separate payment is allowed, the 
following methods of payment shall apply. 

 
4.2 Asphaltic Cement Pavement and Concrete Pavement: 

 
Payment for the replacement of asphaltic cement pavement and 
concrete pavement shall be per lineal foot as measured along the 
pipeline for utility construction and per square yard for other 
construction.  Payment will be under the Bid Item "Pavement Removal 
and Replacement". 

 
4.3 Concrete Sidewalk: 

 
Payment for the replacement of concrete sidewalks shall be per square 
foot, as measured in place.  Payment will be under the Bid Item 
"Replacement of Concrete Sidewalk". 

 
4.4 Concrete Curb and Gutter: 

 
Payment for the replacement of concrete curb and gutter shall be per 
lineal foot as measured along the gutter line.  Payment will be under 
the Bid Item "Replacement of Concrete Curb and Gutter". 

 
4.5 Miscellaneous Pavement Replacement: 

 
A. Payment for the replacement of miscellaneous paving shall be 

per square yard, as measured in place.  Payment will be under 
the Bid Item "Miscellaneous Pavement Removal and 
Replacement: 

 
B. Payment for miscellaneous pavement replacement will require 

written authorization prior to removal of existing paving. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 308 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Surface Restoration Section 02212 - Page 5

  

4.6 Areas to Receive Gravel Surfacing: 
 

Payment for the replacement of gravel surfacing shall be per lineal foot 
as measured along the pipeline for utility construction and per square 
yard for other construction.  Payment will be under the Bid Item 
"Replacement of Gravel Surfacing". 

 
4.7 Areas with Topsoil and/or Vegetation Cover: 

 
Payment for the replacement of topsoil and/or vegetation cover shall 
be per lineal foot as measured along the pipeline for utility construction 
and per square yard for other construction.  Payment will be under the 
Bid Item "Reseeding" or "Re-Sodding", as applicable. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 309 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation & Backfill for Structures Section 02221 - Page 1
 

SECTION 02221 EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL FOR STRUCTURES 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

It is the intent of this Section for the Contractor to provide all labor, materials, 
equipment, and transportation necessary for the excavation, foundation 
preparation and backfill for all structures.   

 
PART 2 EXCAVATION: 
 

2.1 All materials designated for use for embankments and site grading 
shall be removed and stockpiled prior to commencement of 
excavating. 

 
2.2 The excavation shall be of sufficient dimensions to permit the proper 

installation of forms, and shall be no less than 18 inches from the 
outside of the concrete foundation.  Excavation shall not extend below 
the established grades unless required for foundation preparation (see 
Part 3 of this Section).  Any excavation made below such established 
lines, unless required for foundation preparation shall be filled with 
approved, thoroughly compacted material at the Contractor's expense. 

 
2.3 All waste or excess material not designated for use on the project shall 

be disposed of by the Contractor. 
 
PART 3 FOUNDATION PREPARATION: 
 

3.1 If unstable material is encountered at or near the foundation elevation, 
the Contractor shall excavate the unstable material and backfill the 
overexcavated area with cohesionless, free-draining material as 
approved by the Engineer. 

 
3.2 The foundation preparation material shall be deposited in maximum 6-

inch lifts and each lift shall be compacted to 95 percent (standard 
proctor) maximum dry density.  Moisture shall be added, if necessary, 
to obtain the required density. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 310 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation & Backfill for Structures Section 02221 - Page 2
 

 
PART 4 BACKFILL: 
 

Material used for backfilling around structures shall be free from rubbish, 
large stones, etc., nor will any frozen material be used.  Backfill shall be 
compacted in maximum 6-inch lifts to not less than 95 percent of the 
maximum dry density (Standard Proctor ASTM D698).  The Contractor shall 
backfill the excavation to final grade as indicated on the drawings, including 
importing suitable materials as necessary to replace soil lost due to 
compaction and other construction activities. 

 
PART 5 TEST FREQUENCY: 
 

At each compacted backfill layer, at least one test for every 100 feet or less of 
wall length, but no fewer than two tests. 

 
PART 6 SURFACE RESTORATION: 
 

See Section 02212 
 
 

END OF SECTION 
************************* 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 311 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation, Compaction & Backfill for Utilities Section 02222 - Page 1

 

SECTION 02222 EXCAVATION, BACKFILL AND COMPACTION FOR UTILITIES 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

It is the intent of this section for the Contractor to provide all labor, materials, 
equipment, and transportation necessary for the excavation and backfill of all 
pipeline trenches and appurtenances.   

 
PART 2 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS: 
 

2.1 Unless shown otherwise on the Drawings, or described in the 
Specifications, all excavation shall be made by open cut.  The 
Engineer may authorize tunneling beneath driveways, crosswalks, 
curbing, walkways, and buried utility installation, but any such tunnels 
shall not exceed eight feet in length. 

 
2.2 Not more than 100 feet of trench shall be opened in advance of pipe 

laying or more than 200 feet of trench left open behind pipe laying, 
unless permitted by the Engineer or as necessary for the convenience 
and safety of the public. 

 
PART 3 PROTECTION OF EXISTING FACILITIES: 
 

3.1 General: 
 

All existing utilities and facilities, including but not limited to power, gas, 
telephone, cable television, sewers, water mains, cables, culverts, 
conduits, ditches, embankments, structures and trees within the 
construction area, shall be supported and protected from injury by the 
Contractor during construction and until completion of the work, unless 
removal is authorized by the Engineer or the Drawings or 
Specifications. 

 
3.2 Underground Facilities: 

 
A. A reasonable effort has been made by the Engineer to indicate 

the type, size, location and number of known underground 
facilities on the Drawings, however, no guarantee is made as to 
the true type, size, location, or number of such facilities.  It shall 
be the Contractor's responsibility to verify utilities along the 
route of the work.  The omission from, or the inclusion of, utility 
locations on the Drawings is not to be considered as the non-
existence of, or an absolute location of, existing underground 
utilities. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 312 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation, Compaction & Backfill for Utilities Section 02222 - Page 2

 

 
It is the Contractor’s responsibility to contact local utility 
companies or call the local “digger’s hotline” or similar service to 
have buried utilities located prior to construction. 

 
B. The Contractor shall locate and expose any buried facilities 

ahead of the normal trenching operation, including confirming 
size and location of piping to be connected to, so that necessary 
changes in pipeline location, alignment, or depth, for the 
pipeline under construction, or the possible relocation of existing 
buried facilities may be accomplished well in advance of the 
trenching operation.  No additional payment will be allowed for 
exposing and locating buried facilities ahead of the normal 
trenching operation. 

 
C. The Contractor shall notify the Engineer of the existing utilities 

(as confirmed above), whether above-ground or underground 
prior to proceeding with trench excavation whenever such 
trenching operations are within 10 feet of the possible location 
of any existing utility.  Should any such utility be damaged in the 
trenching operations, the Contractor shall immediately notify the 
Owner of such utility, and unless authorized in writing by the 
Utility, the Contractor shall not attempt to make repairs. 

 
D. Any written authorization given to the Contractor by the utility for 

making repairs, shall be so worded as to save harmless the 
Owner and Engineer of any responsibility relative to the 
adequacy of the repairs. 

 
E. If it is determined during construction that it will be necessary to 

relocate any above or below ground utility, including drainage 
structures, the Contractor shall notify the Engineer of such 
utility, well in advance, so that changes and/or relocation can be 
made without delaying the work. 

 
PART 4 TRENCH WIDTH: 
 

4.1 The minimum clear trench width as measured at the top of the pipe 
barrel shall be no less than the outside diameter, plus 16-inches.  For 
all pipe diameters, the maximum clear trench measured at a point of 
12-inches above the top of the pipe barrel shall be not greater than the 
trench width shown in the following table: 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 313 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation, Compaction & Backfill for Utilities Section 02222 - Page 3

 

  MAXIMUM TRENCH WIDTH TABLE 
 
  Pipe  Pipe   Pipe   Pipe 
  Diameter Trench  Diameter Trench 
  Inches  Inches   Inches  Inches 
 
  4  24   20  44 
  6  30   24  48 
  8  32   30  54 
  10  34   36  60 
  12  36   42  66 
  14  38   48  72 
  16  40   54  78 
  18  42 
 
 

4.2 The excavation in streets with permanent paving, such as asphalt or 
concrete must be confined to a minimum width.  The pavement shall 
be cut with a vertical face 6-inches beyond the top of each trench wall 
and on a straight line. 

 
4.3 If the above stated maximum trench widths are exceeded, either 

through accident or otherwise, and if the Engineer determines that 
resultant backfill conditions will exceed or approach the design loading 
of the pipe, the Contractor will be required to make such corrective 
measures as cradling the pipe in concrete, using a pipe of a stronger 
class, if such be available, or provide special bedding material as 
determined necessary by the Engineer. 

 
4.4 The cost of remedial measures because of exceeding the maximum 

allowable trench width shall be entirely at the Contractor's expense. 
 

4.5 The Contractor may slope or bench the trench side walls as he/she 
deems necessary in accordance with good safety practices.  The 
sloping or benching shall terminate not less than one foot above the 
top of the pipe barrel, and from that point down the trench wall shall be 
vertical. 

 
4.6 All of the trenching operation and the spoil bank shall remain confined 

to the Owner's permanent and temporary construction easements, or 
right-of-way. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 314 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation, Compaction & Backfill for Utilities Section 02222 - Page 4

 

4.7 A clear area shall be maintained back from the top edge of the 
excavation to prevent overloading and sliding or caving of the trench 
walls.  All excavated material shall be maintained in such a manner as 
to minimize inconvenience to the public and adjoining property owners.  
All public streets shall be kept open, unless written authorization is 
received from the Engineer for closure.  At street crossings, driveways 
or other places of access, the Engineer may authorize or require that 
trenches be bridged in a safe manner to permit access to fire hydrants 
and public or private properties. 

 
PART 5 TRENCH PREPARATION: 
 

5.1 The trench shall be excavated to permit the pipe to be laid to the 
alignment and depth as specified and shown on the Drawings.  The 
trench wall shall be braced so that the workers may work safely and 
efficiently.  Trench excavation and preparation shall also conform to 
any details or special requirements shown on the Drawings. 

 
5.2 Trenches shall have extra width, when required, to permit the placing 

of timber supports, sheeting, and bracing, and the handling of special 
units if necessary.  Bell holes shall be provided in the bottom of the 
trench at each joint to permit proper joining of the pipe. 

 
5.3 After excavation, the trench bottom shall be uniformly graded and 

hand-shaped so that the pipe barrel (and not the pipe joint) will have 
uniform and continuous bearing on firm, undisturbed trench bottom, or 
thoroughly compacted granular material, throughout the length of the 
pipe barrel. 

 
5.4 Final grading of trench bottom shall permit the pipe spigot end to be 

centered in the preceding laid pipe joint, without lifting the pipe above 
the final grade, and without exceeding permissible joint deflections.  If 
it is necessary to raise the pipe subgrade, special compacted fill, 
approved by the Engineer, shall be used. 

 
PART 6 BEDDING AND BACKFILLING: 
 

For the purpose of this Section, "Pipe Bedding" shall refer to material below 
the pipe invert.  "Pipe Backfill" shall consist of all material above the bedding 
to a height of 12-inches above the pipe.  "Trench Backfill" shall consist of all 
material above the "Pipe Backfill." 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 315 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation, Compaction & Backfill for Utilities Section 02222 - Page 5

 

6.1 Bedding: 
 

A. Special bedding shall be required where unstable foundation is 
encountered, as determined in the field by the Engineer.  
Special bedding shall also be required when trench excavation 
is in rock or sandstone.  

 
B. When an unstable trench bottom is encountered, the Contractor 

shall over-excavate a minimum of 6-inches and replace such 
over-excavated material with ¾-inch "minus" crushed stone. 

 
C. When the trench bottom is rock, sandstone or hardpan, the 

Contractor shall over-excavate and/or remove sufficient material 
to provide a minimum of 4-inches of embedment cushion on 
each side of and below the pipe and appurtenances.  The 
embedment cushion shall be granular material with no particles 
larger than ¾-inch. 

 
D. No additional payment for "pipe bedding" shall be allowed, 

unless an item is listed specifically in the Bid for "pipe bedding," 
and its use is specifically authorized by the Engineer.  Payment, 
if allowed, shall be based upon the volume of material placed as 
measured along the length of the pipeline being installed, by the 
depth of the material as authorized by the Engineer and by the 
width of the trench as shown in the "Maximum Trench Width 
Table" in Part 4 of this Section. 

 
6.2 Pipe Backfill: 

 
A. For backfilling around the pipe; suitable materials, taken from 

the excavated trench and containing no stones larger than as 
listed following shall be used: 

 
       Maximum Size of Stones  
   Type of Pipe Installed in Backfill around Pipe  
  
    Ductile-Iron   2-inches 
    Concrete   1-inch 
    P.V.C.    ¾-inch 
    

B. Special care shall be taken to compact the "pipe backfill" under 
the pipe "haunches"; between the springline (pipe centerline) 
and the pipe barrel where it comes in contact with the trench 
bottom.  The first lift shall not be above the pipe spring line. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 316 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation, Compaction & Backfill for Utilities Section 02222 - Page 6

 

C. Compaction bars or other pneumatic or mechanical units shall 
be used, which can thoroughly compact the material to 95% 
maximum dry density (Standard Proctor), or greater.  Non-
cohesive soils not applicable to Standard Proctor Density testing 
shall be compacted to 70% density as determined by ASTM 
4253 & 4354. 

 
D. If sufficient suitable backfill material (for placement within 12-

inches of the pipe barrel) is not available from the excavated 
material, the Contractor shall segregate or screen out large 
stones, debris and other unsuitable material from the "pipe 
backfill" before placing and compacting; or the Contractor shall 
provide acceptable material from other excavations or locations 
of the work under this contract.  No extra payment shall be 
made for this moving and handling of the "pipe backfill" material. 

 
E. If sufficient quantities of suitable material for "pipe backfill" are 

not reasonably available, as described in the preceding 
paragraph, the Contractor shall notify the Engineer.  The 
Engineer will then locate a source of suitable "pipe backfill" 
material. 

 
F. No additional payment for "pipe backfill" material shall be 

allowed, unless an item is listed specifically in the Bid for "pipe 
backfill," and its use is specifically authorized by the Engineer.  
Payment, if allowed, shall be based upon the volume of material 
placed as measured along the length of the pipeline being 
installed, by the depth of the material as authorized by the 
Engineer and by the width of trench as shown in the "Maximum 
Trench Width Table" in Part 4 of this Section. 

 
6.3 Trench Backfilling: 

 
A. General: 

 
1. Special care shall be taken when compacting over the 

pipe.  Any damage to or movement of the pipe, as a 
result of the backfilling and compaction operations, shall 
be the responsibility of the Contractor.  The backfilling 
and compaction shall proceed in maximum lifts of a depth 
to insure the specified degree of compaction based on 
the type of soil and the type of compaction equipment 
being used. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 317 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation, Compaction & Backfill for Utilities Section 02222 - Page 7

 

2. "Trench backfill" necessary to bring the trench to final 
grade shall be considered incidental to construction.  This 
may include importing suitable materials to replace soil 
lost due to compaction and other construction activities. 

 
3. No payment for additional "trench backfill" material shall 

be allowed unless specific circumstances do not allow 
the use of the existing soils as "trench backfill."  The use 
and payment of additional "trench backfill" shall be 
specifically authorized by the Engineer. 

 
4. Payment, if allowed, shall be based upon the volume of 

material placed as measured along the length of the 
pipeline being installed, by the depth of the material as 
authorized by the Engineer and by the width of trench as 
shown in the "Maximum Trench Width Table" in Part 4 of 
this Section. 

 
B. Backfilling in Locations Receiving Paving Or Designated As 

Traffic Areas: 
 

The maximum lift for locations receiving paving or designated as 
traffic areas shall not exceed six inches.  Regardless of the 
method, all compaction shall be 95% of the maximum dry 
density (Standard Proctor), in accordance with ASTM 
Specification Designation D698.  Non-cohesive soils not 
applicable to Standard Proctor Density testing shall be 
compacted to 70% relative density as determined by ASTM 
4253 & 4354. 
 

C. Backfilling in Locations Not Receiving Paving Or Designated As 
Traffic Areas: 

 
1. Unless shown otherwise on the Drawings, or described in 

the Special Construction Provisions, all backfill shall be 
carefully deposited into the trench on a slope angle equal 
to the repose of the material in maximum one foot lifts, 
and allowed to flow progressively forward in such a 
manner as to avoid impact on the pipe.  The backfill shall 
be compacted in maximum one foot lifts. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 318 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Excavation, Compaction & Backfill for Utilities Section 02222 - Page 8

 

2. Regardless of the method of compacting, all compaction 
under this classification of "Backfilling in Locations Not 
Receiving Paving Or Designated As Traffic Areas" shall 
be 85% of the maximum laboratory dry density (Standard 
Proctor), in accordance with ASTM Specification 
Designation D698.  Non-cohesive soils not applicable to 
Standard Proctor Density testing shall be compacted to 
60% relative density as determined by ASTM 4253 & 
4354. 

 
PART 7 TEST FREQUENCY: 
 

At each compacted backfill layer, at least one test for every 250 feet or less of 
trench length, but no fewer than two tests. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 319 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Subgrade Preparation Section 02230 - Page 1
  

SECTION 02230    SUBGRADE PREPARATION FOR CURB, GUTTER, SIDEWALK AND 
STREET CONSTRUCTION 

 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirement of this Section 
consists of furnishing all material, equipment, supplies and accessories 
required, and of performing all labor required for subgrade for curb, gutter, 
sidewalk and street construction. 

 
PART 2 DESCRIPTION: 
 

The work of subgrade construction shall include adjusting grade lines to meet 
intersections, pavements, bridge ends, as required; railroad crossings or any 
other physical features; disposing of surplus excavated material, and such 
scarifying, drying, reshaping and compacting as is necessary to conform to 
the Plans and Specification requirements. 

 
PART 3 CONSTRUCTION METHODS: 
 

3.1 Areas to receive embankment and the top of cut areas shall first be 
stripped of all vegetation, organic material, all other materials that are 
unsuitable for use in embankment, and disposed of by the Contractor at 
his expense.  Embankments shall be constructed in accordance with the 
Nebraska Department of Roads Standard Specification 205 for Class "II" 
Embankments or Wyoming Highway Department Specification Section 
203 "Excavation and Embankment." 

 
3.2 Within the limits of the embankment and cut area, and all other areas to 

receive asphalt or concrete pavement, curb and gutter, the subgrade 
shall be scarified to a depth of six (6) inches and the moisture content 
increased or reduced as necessary to bring the moisture to optimum.  
This scarified layer shall then be compacted.  The remainder of the 
embankment volume shall then be constructed of suitable material at 
optimum moisture content and compacted in lifts not to exceed six (6) 
inches to the relative compaction specified.  No direct payment will be 
made for water applied. 

 
3.3 Fill material and the top six (6) inches in cut areas under paved areas 

shall be compacted to 95% Proctor Density at optimum moisture.  
Compacted subgrade ready to receive base material shall conform to the 
lines, grades and cross-section called for on the drawings.  Sub-grade is 
to be established by survey. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 320 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Subgrade Preparation Section 02230 - Page 2
  

3.4 No curb, gutter, sidewalk, cross pan, base course or asphaltic concrete 
is to be placed on unstable, soft, spongy or frozen subgrade.  Unstable, 
soft or yielding subgrade shall be scarified, aerated, moisture-adjusted 
and relayed to the compaction specified; or, if such relaying, moisture 
adjustment and compaction does not result in a stabilized subgrade, or if 
the depth of unstable material exceeds the specified 6-inch depth for 
normal subgrade preparation, then the subgrade material shall be 
excavated, removed and replaced with base course material as 
necessary to stabilize the subgrade, or as directed by the Engineer. 

 
3.5 No additional payment shall be made for re-working of the subgrade to a 

depth of 6 inches, as specified herein, to obtain the proper compaction. 
 
3.6 Additional payment for over-excavation of unstable subgrade, replacing 

with base course material, including compaction of base course material 
and other requirements stated in this Section, shall be made in 
accordance with the unit prices listed in the Bid.  The unit price for this 
work shall also include the cost of removing and disposing of the 
unstable material. 

 
PART 4 EQUIPMENT: 
 

4.1 Compacting equipment and methods, which will consistently produce the 
compaction specified throughout the depth of the lifts, shall be used.  
Compacting equipment which will produce a smooth, glossy surface or 
produces detrimental laminations within the compacted lifts will not be 
permitted.  

 
PART 5 TEST FREQUENCY: 
 

At subgrade and at each compacted fill layer, at least one test for every 2,000 
sf or less of paved area, but in no case fewer than three tests. 
 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 321 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Base Course Section 02233 - Page 1

 

SECTION 02233 BASE COURSE FOR CURB, GUTTER, SIDEWALK AND STREET 
CONSTRUCTION 

 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

This Section shall govern all labor, material, equipment and services necessary 
for the construction of base courses composed of granular materials constructed 
on a prepared subgrade or underlying course, as specified on the Plans, or as 
directed in the field by the Engineer. 

 
PART 2 MATERIAL:   
 

2.1 The base material shall consist of hard durable particles or fragments of 
granular aggregates.  This material will be mixed or blended with fine 
sand, clay, stone dust, or other similar binding or filler materials produced 
from approved sources.  This mixture must be uniform and shall comply 
with the requirements of this Section as to gradation, soil constants, and 
shall be capable of being compacted into a dense and stable base.  The 
material shall be free from vegetable matter, lumps, or excessive amounts 
of clay, and other objectionable or foreign substances.  Pit-run material 
may be used, provided the material meets the requirements specified. 

 
 TABLE 2.1 - GRADATION REQUIREMENTS 
  _________________________________________________ 
  Sieve Designation     Percentage by 
  (Square Openings)     Weight Passing 
  As Per AASHTO T11 and T27   Sieves 
  _________________________________________________ 
  3-inch  ...................................... 100 
  No. 10  ...................................... 20 - 100 
  No. 40 . ..................................... 5 - 60 
  No. 200 ...................................... 0 - 15  
  _________________________________________________ 
 

2.2 The portion of the material passing the No. 40 sieve shall have a liquid 
limit of not more than 25 and a plasticity index of not more than 6 when 
tested in accordance with AASHTO T 89 and T 90.  The maximum 
amount of material finer than 0.02 mm. in diameter shall be less than 
3%. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 322 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Base Course Section 02233 - Page 2

 

 
PART 3 EQUIPMENT: 
 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide adequate equipment to 
perform the necessary work described in this Section. 

 
PART 4 PREPARATION OF MATERIALS:  
 

4.1 When the entire base material is secured in a uniform and satisfactory 
condition and contains approximately the required moisture, such 
approved material may be moved directly to the spreading equipment 
for placing.  The material may be obtained from gravel pits, stockpiles, 
or may be produced from a crushing and screening plant with the 
proper blending.  The materials from these sources shall meet the 
requirements for gradation, quality, and consistency.  

 
4.2 It is the intent of this Section to secure materials that will not require 

further mixing.  The moisture content of the material shall be 
approximately that required to obtain maximum density.  Any minor 
deficiency or excess of moisture may be corrected by surface 
sprinkling or by aeration.  In such instances, some mixing or 
manipulation may be required, immediately preceding the rolling, to 
obtain the required moisture content.  The final operation shall be 
blading or dragging, if necessary, to obtain a smooth uniform surface, 
true to line and grade. 

 
4.3 When materials from several sources are to be blended and mixed, the 

material shall be processed in a central or travel mixing plant.  The 
base material together with any blended material, shall be thoroughly 
mixed with the required amount of water.  After the mixing is complete, 
the material shall be transported to and spread on the underlying 
course without undue loss of the moisture content. 

 
PART 5 PLACING OF MATERIAL: 
 

5.1 The base course shall be constructed in layers.  Any layer shall not be 
less than 2 inches nor more than 8 inches of compacted thickness.  
The material, as spread, shall be of uniform gradation with no pockets 
of fine or coarse materials.  The base, unless otherwise permitted by 
the Engineer, shall not be spread more than 2,000 square yards in 
advance of the rolling.  Any necessary sprinkling shall be kept within 
this limit.  No material shall be placed in snow or on a soft, muddy, or 
frozen course. 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 323 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Base Course Section 02233 - Page 3

 

5.2  During the placing and spreading, sufficient caution shall be exercised 
to prevent the incorporation of subgrade, shoulder or foreign material 
in the base course mixture. 

 
PART 6 FINISHING AND COMPACTING: 
 

6.1 After spreading or mixing, the base material shall be thoroughly 
compacted by rolling and sprinkling, when necessary.  Sufficient rollers 
shall be furnished to adequately handle the rate of placing and 
spreading of the base course. 

 
6.2 Rolling shall progress gradually from the sides to the center of the lane 

under construction, or from one side toward previously placed material, 
by lapping uniformly each preceding track by at least 12 inches.  The 
rolling shall continue until the material is thoroughly set and stable, and 
the base material has been compacted to not less than 98% of 
maximum density at optimum moisture.  Blading and rolling shall be 
done alternately, as required or directed, to obtain a smooth, even, and 
uniformly compacted base. 

 
6.3 The course shall not be rolled when the underlying course is soft or 

yielding or when the rolling causes undulation in the base.  When the 
rolling develops irregularities that exceed ½ inch when tested with a 
16-foot straightedge, the irregular surface shall be loosened and then 
refilled with the same kind of material as that used in constructing the 
course and again rolled as required above.  Unstable subgrade 
material that is encountered shall be over-excavated and the over-
excavation filled with the base course material and compacted, as 
directed by the Engineer. 

 
6.4 Along places inaccessible to rollers, the base material shall be tamped 

thoroughly with mechanical or hand tampers. 
 

6.5 Sprinkling during rolling, if necessary, shall be in the amount and by 
the equipment approved by the Engineer.  Water shall not be added in 
such a manner or quantity that free water will reach the underlying 
layer and cause it to become soft. 

 
PART 7 PROTECTION: 
 

Work on base course shall not be conducted during freezing temperature nor 
when the subgrade is wet.  When the base material contains frozen material 
or when the underlying course is frozen, the construction shall be stopped.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 324 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.16 Base Course Section 02233 - Page 4

 

 
PART 8 TEST FREQUENCY: 
 

At subgrade and at each compacted fill layer, at least one test for every 2,000 
sf or less of paved area, but in no case fewer than three tests. 
 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 325 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Concrete Sidewalk Section 02516 - Page 1

 

SECTION 02516 CONCRETE SIDEWALK 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing all materials, equipment, supplies, and accessories 
required, and of performing all operations needed in connection with the 
construction of Concrete Sidewalks under this contract. 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

Concrete for construction of sidewalks shall conform to the requirements of 
Division 3 "Concrete". 

 
PART 3 DIMENSIONS:   
 

3.1 Sidewalks shall be a minimum of five (5) inches thick, except where 
the sidewalk also serves as a driveway approach, in which case the 
sidewalk shall be a minimum six (6) inches thick. 
 

3.2 Sidewalks shall have a minimum slope of 1% toward the top of the 
existing or proposed curb.  If no curb exists or is proposed, the 
sidewalk shall slope toward the traveled way. 
 

3.3 Sidewalk width shall be as shown on the Drawings. 
 

PART 4 SUBGRADE: 
 

Subgrade preparation shall be in accordance with Section 02230 "Subgrade 
Preparation for Curb, Gutter, Sidewalk and Street Construction". 

 
PART 5 JOINTS: 
 

5.1 Expansion joints: 
 
Expansion joints shall be 1-inch premolded expansion joint filler.  Joints 
shall be placed where sidewalk ends at the curb returns, between 
sidewalks, driveways and where adjacent to the curb, and at all 
construction joints/cold joints.  Maximum distance between expansion 
joints shall be 150-feet. 
 

  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 326 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Concrete Sidewalk Section 02516 - Page 2

 

5.2 Contraction joints: 
 
Contraction joints shall be installed at intervals not to exceed 5 feet 
and shall be at least 1/4 the thickness of the sidewalk or 1 inch in 
depth, whichever is greater.  These joints shall be cut to insure free 
movement of the concrete at the joint. 
 

5.3 Joint Sealant: 
 
Joint sealing filler shall be installed over all expansion material and 
shall be a one-part, pourable polyurethane sealant, limestone in color, 
meeting the requirements of ASTM C-920-86, Type S, Grade P, Class 
25 and ASTM C 920, Type S, Grade P, Class 25, Use T, M.  Filler shall 
be similar and equal to that of MasterSeal SL-1 as manufactured by 
BASF Construction Chemicals, Shakopee, MN. 

 
PART 6 PLACEMENT AND FINISH: 
 

In depositing concrete against the forms, care shall be taken to work the fine 
portions of the aggregate surface so as to leave the surface in a uniform and 
smooth condition.  The concrete shall be tamped or worked sufficiently to 
produce a dense mass.  After tamping has been completed, the surface shall 
be struck off with a straightedge.  When the concrete has set sufficiently, the 
surface shall first be troweled, then broomed with a fine hair push broom at 
right angles to the centerline of the sidewalk. 

 
PART 7 TOLERANCE: 
 

The top face of the slab shall not vary from the true grade and alignment by 
more than ¼-inch in ten (10) feet when checked with a straightedge. 

 
PART 8 CURING AND PROTECTION: 
 

The concrete shall be protected and cured as specified in Division 3 
"Concrete". 

 
PART 9 MEASUREMENT: 
 

The quantity to be paid for shall be the actual superficial exposed surface 
area, complete in place and accepted and adjusted for any deficiencies in 
thickness.      

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 327 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc
Ver.17 Concrete Sidewalk Section 02516 - Page 3

 

PART 10 QUALITY CONTROL TESTING: 
 

Obtain one composite sample for each 2,500 square foot or fraction thereof of 
each concrete mixture placed each day. 
 

 
 END OF SECTION 

 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 328 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.14 Polyethylene Storm Sewer 

Pipe 
Section 02616 - Page 1 

 

SECTION 02616 PIPELINE MATERIALS - CORRUGATED POLYETHYLENE PIPE 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

This Section covers corrugated polyethylene pipe.  It is the intention of this 
Specification for the Contractor to furnish all equipment and labor to perform 
the construction activities described following: 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 The 4 to 60-inch pipe shall have a smooth interior and annular exterior 
corrugations shall meet the requirements of ASTM F2648 and shall be 
watertight according to the requirements of ASTM D3212. 
 

2.2 Material for pipe production shall be an engineered compound of virgin 
and recycled high-density polyethylene conforming with the minimum 
requirements of cell classification, as defined and described in the 
latest version of ASTM D3350, except that carbon black content should 
not exceed 4%. 

 
2.3 Pipe shall be joined using a bell & spigot joint meeting ASTM F2648.  

The joint shall be soil-tight and gaskets shall be made of polyisoprene 
meeting the requirements of ASTM F477. Gaskets shall be installed by 
the pipe manufacturer and covered with a removable, protective wrap 
to ensure the gasket is free from debris.  

 
2.4 Fittings shall conform to ASTM F 2306. Bell and spigot connections 

shall utilize a spun-on or welded bell and valley or saddle gasket 
meeting the watertight joint performance requirements of ASTM F 
2306. Fittings shall be furnished according to the size and gauge 
designated on the plans or in the Special Construction Provisions. 

 
2.5 Virgin material for the corrugated polyethylene pipe shall be high-

density polyethylene conforming with the minimum requirements as 
defined in ASTM D3350. 

 
2.6 The pipe shall be similar and equal to ADS N-12 WT IB pipe. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 329 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.14 Polyethylene Storm Sewer 

Pipe 
Section 02616 - Page 2 

 

 
PART 3 INSTALLATION: 
 

Installation shall be in accordance with: Section 02723 – Storm Sewer 
Pipeline Installation; manufacturer’s published installation guidelines; and 
ASTM D2321. 
 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 330 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.12 Storm Drainage Inlets 

(Concrete) 
Section 02721 - Page 1 

 

SECTION 02721   STORM DRAINAGE INLETS (CONCRETE)  
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

This Section shall govern the construction of storm drainage inlets.  Inlets 
shall be located as shown on the Drawings, or as directed in the field by the 
Engineer.  Detailed requirements for the construction and installation of inlets 
are shown on the Drawings, on the detail drawings and as specified following.  
Submittals shall be required for a grates and frames specified herein. 

 
PART 2 INLET CONSTRUCTION:   
 

2.1 The contractor may elect to construct inlets in accordance with one of 
the following methods. 

 
A. Monolith pre-cast inlet. 

 
B. Pre-cast base with poured-in-place or solid block walls. 

 
C. Poured-in-place base with poured-in-place or solid block walls. 

 
2.2 Inlets shall be constructed of pipe or concrete with smoothed to 

rounded even surfaces from invert to pipe spring line, thoroughly 
cleaned and free from any accumulation of silt, debris, or foreign 
matter at the time of final inspection. 

 
2.3 Pre-cast bases shall be 4-inches thick, reinforced with W2.9 x W2.9 

6x6 wire mesh.  Poured-in-place bases shall be 4-inches thick with a 
thickened edge of 5-6 inches.  Poured-in-place bases may be formed 
with 2x6 exterior forms and poured directly on the soil. 

 
2.4 Solid block shall be laid in a full bed of mortar.  Block and/or pre-cast 

sections shall be laid in a full bed of mortar in order to accurately install 
castings to grade. 

 
PART 3 MATERIALS: 
 

3.1 Concrete: 
 

All concrete shall meet the requirements of Division 3, "Concrete".  
Inlet brick shall be solid, and shall conform to the requirements of 
ASTM. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 331 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.12 Storm Drainage Inlets 

(Concrete) 
Section 02721 - Page 2 

 

 
 

3.2 Concrete Mortar: 
 

Mortar shall be composed of one (1) part type II cement to two (2) 
parts sand, thoroughly mixed dry and then having only that amount of 
water added and mixed to form a paste of workable consistency.  
Mortar shall be freshly made and used within 2 1/2 hours of initial 
mixing:  no mortar or grout will be used after it has begun to set. 

 
3.3 Inlet Grate and Frame: 

 
Inlet grates and frames shall be grey cast iron conforming to ASTM 
Designation A-48, free from cracks, holes, swells, cold joints, and 
having a smooth workmanlike finish.  Frames shall be set in a full bed 
of mortar. Grates and frames shall be manufactured by Deeter 
Foundry or Neenah Foundry and shall be as indicated on detail 
drawings 

. 
 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 332 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.17 Storm Sewer Installation - 

Scottsbluff 
Section 02723 - Page 1 

 

SECTION 02723 STORM SEWER PIPELINE INSTALLATION 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirement of this Section 
consists of furnishing all material, equipment, supplies, and accessories 
required, and of performing all labor required for installation of sewer 
pipelines under this Contract. 

 
PART 2 HANDLING OF MATERIAL: 
 

2.1 Hoists or skidways shall be used for loading and unloading pipe, 
fittings, manhole rings, manhole frames and covers and all other 
accessories so as to prevent damage of these items.  Under no 
circumstances shall any material be dropped.  Material skidded or 
rolled from a vehicle shall not be rolled against pipe or fittings already 
on the ground. 

 
2.2 Pipe and fittings shall be handled so that the coating and lining will not 

be damaged.  If however, any part of the coating or lining is damaged, 
repair or replacement shall be by the Contractor at his expense in a 
manner satisfactory to the Engineer. 

 
2.3 In distributing the material at the site of the work, each piece shall be 

unloaded opposite or near the place where it is to be laid in the trench. 
 
PART 3 INSTALLATION: 
 

3.1 Excavation and backfill shall be performed by the Contractor in 
accordance with Section 02222, Excavation, Backfill and Compaction 
for Utilities. 

 
3.2 Pipe laying shall proceed with the bell end facing in the direction of 

laying which shall proceed upgrade. 
 

3.3 Pipe joints shall not be deflected. 
 

3.4 Each joint bell and spigot shall be thoroughly cleaned and the spigot 
end lubricated using the manufacturer-supplied lubricant. 

 
3.5 All pipe and fittings shall be carefully examined for cracks and other 

defects when suspended above the trench, immediately before 
installation. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 333 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.17 Storm Sewer Installation - 

Scottsbluff 
Section 02723 - Page 2 

 

 
3.6 Every precaution shall be taken to prevent foreign material from 

entering the pipe while it is being placed in the line.  As each length of 
pipe is placed in the trench, the spigot end shall be centered in the bell 
and the pipe forced home and brought to correct line and grade. 

 
3.7 Under no condition shall pipe fittings be dropped into the trench. 

 
3.8 The cutting of pipe shall be done in a neat and workmanlike manner 

without damage to the pipe and so as to leave a smooth end at right 
angles to the axis of the pipe.  

 
3.9 Corrugated Polyethylene Pipe:  

 
A. Installation shall be in accordance with manufacturer’s 

published installation guidelines and ASTM D2321 “Standard 
Practice for Underground Installation of Thermoplastic Pipe for 
Sewers and Other Gravity-Flow Applications” with the exception 
that minimum cover in trafficked areas for 4-inch through 
48-inch diameter shall be 1-foot and for 60-inch pipe the 
minimum cover shall be 2-feet. 
 

B. A joint lubricant available from the manufacturer shall be used 
on the gasket and bell during assembly. 

 
C. Pipe shall be installed without deflection between joints.  Pipe 

sections may be deflected 3° (maximum) at coupling bands and 
1° - 1.5° (maximum) at bell & spigot joints.  
 

PART 4 TESTING HDPE PIPELINES: 
 
 

4.1 Deflection Test: 
 

A. The Engineer will inspect the sewer pipeline for any 
displacement of the pipeline after the trench backfill has been in 
place for at least 30 days.  A rigid ball or mandrel, with a 
diameter equal to 95% of the inside diameter of the pipe, shall 
be passed through the pipe.   

 
Pipe Size (Nominal)  Rigid Ball/Mandrel Diameter 
         Inches           Inches   

 
  6      5.62 
  8      7.52 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 334 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.17 Storm Sewer Installation - 

Scottsbluff 
Section 02723 - Page 3 

 

10      9.41 
12      11.19 
18      16.75 

     21      19.74 
 

B. Failure of the ball or mandrel to successfully pass through the 
pipe shall constitute failure of the deflection test.  Any sections 
of the pipe found to be deformed shall be replaced at no cost to 
the OWNER.  No mechanical pulling devices may be used in 
the test.  

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ********************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 335 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09B Fencing - Chain Link Section 02832 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 02832   FENCING - CHAIN LINK 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirement of this Section 
consists of furnishing all material, equipment, supplies, and accessories 
required, and of performing all labor required for installation of all fencing 
under this Contract. 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 Fabric: 
 

A. Chain link fabric shall be 9-gauge commercial quality steel, and 
be zinc coated by the hot-dip process in roll form.  Minimum 
coating thickness shall be 1.0 ounce per square foot as 
determined by ASTM A-90. 

 
B. Wire mesh shall have 2-inch mesh.  Fabric shall be free from 

excessive roughness blisters and ammoniac spots, bruises or 
flaking.  Fabric shall be knuckled. 

 
2.2 Posts and Top Rail: 

 
A. All pipe for fencing shall be cold-rolled, high yield strength steel 

pipe, galvanized at 1.0 ounces per square foot.  Pipe shall have 
a minimum yield strength of 50,000 psi.  Pipe shall be similar 
and equal to CMT-40 as manufactured by Century Tube Corp., 
Pine Bluff, AR. or SS-40 as manufactured by Allied Tube & 
Conduit, Fence Div. Harvey, IL. 

 
B. All line posts shall be 1 7/8-inch diameter with a spacing of 10 

feet, on center for fences 6-feet tall or less.  Line posts shall be 
2 3/8-inch on fences taller than 6-feet. 

 
C. All corner posts shall be 3-inch diameter.  For fences on 

baseball/softball fields six feet and taller, 3-inch posts shall be 
placed every 30 feet, on center. 

 
D. Top rails shall be 1-5/8-inch in diameter.  

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 336 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09B Fencing - Chain Link Section 02832 - Page 2 
 

2.3 Bottom Wire:    
 
A. Bottom tension wires shall be 6 gauge spiral vinyl-coated.  

Tension wires shall be attached to each line post. 
 

2.4 Gates: 
 

A. Gates shall have a 2-inch diameter frame all around the gate 
perimeter.  Gates shall not have any gaps greater than 2-
inches. 

 
B. Gate posts shall be 3-inches in diameter for fences less than 6-

feet tall and 4-inch if taller than 6-feet. 
 

C. Gate fabric shall match the fence fabric and shall be installed at 
the factory by means of heavy stretcher bars and pressed steel 
stretcher bar bands. 

 
PART 3 INSTALLATION: 
 
 

3.1 Posts: 
 

A. All posts shall be anchored in concrete as shown on the detail 
drawing.  The concrete used to anchor posts shall be a 
minimum five sacks of cement per cubic yard and shall have a 
minimum compressive strength of 2800 psi at 28 days. 

 
B. All corner and end posts shall have 1-5/8-inch diameter 

horizontal brace posts with 3/8-inch truss rod assemblies.  
Fences taller than 8-feet and taller shall have a 1-5/8-inch 
center rail for support. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 337 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Seeding Section 02930 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 02930 SEEDING 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing all materials, equipment, supplies and accessories 
necessary; and of performing all operations needed in connection with the 
seeding as described on the Drawings or detailed in the Specifications. 
 

PART 2 SUBMITTALS: 
 

Submit seed species with manufacturer's certification of the percent 
guaranteed purity and germination.  Mulching methods and materials shall 
also be submitted. 

 
PART 3 MATERIALS: 
 

3.1 The seed shall be furnished in bags or containers clearly labeled to 
show name and address of the supplier, seed name and variety, lot 
number, net weight, the percent guaranteed purity and germination 
and the calculated PLS (Purity x Germ = PLS).  Any seed which has 
become wet, moldy or otherwise damaged in transit or storage shall 
not be acceptable. 

 
3.2 The following chart shall be used in seed mixture selection: 

          Rate PLS 
  Seed Species   Variety lbs/1,000 Square Feet 
 
  Rocky Mountain  
  Bluegrass Blend   Jirdon  3 
 
   

3.3 Location: 
 

All grass areas disturbed by construction traffic, or construction 
activities, where the naturally existing ground cover has been disturbed 
during construction and where as other surface restoration is 
specifically detailed on the Drawings or in the Specifications. 
 

PART 4 SEEDING DATES: 
 

  Cool Season Grasses: 
 Spring Seeding  March 1 - April 30 

   Fall Seeding   August 15 - September 30 
   Dormant   December  - April 15 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 338 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Seeding Section 02930 - Page 2 
 

 
  Warm Season Grasses: 
   Spring Seeding  June 1 –July 15 
   Dormant   After October 15 
 

NOTE:  Mulching will be required for all fall or dormant seeding dates.   
 

PART 5  FERTILIZING: 
 

5.1  Fertilizer shall be a synthetic organic, or inorganic product containing 
nitrogen, or phosphoric, or potassium or any combination of the three 
in a recognized plant food forms, equal to Starter (N15 P30 K15).  90% 
Elemental Sulfur shall also be provided. 

 
5.2  Fertilizer shall be furnished and delivered in standard weight bags or 

bulk.  Every load of bulk fertilizer delivered to the project shall carry, for 
delivery to the Engineer, a "Fertilizer Certification" form. 

 
5.3  The fertilizer shall be applied with approved mechanical spreaders or 

with a hydraulic seeder, at the rates specified and shall uniformly cover 
the entire area.  Any fertilizer blending shall be done under the 
supervision of the Engineer.  The fertilizers shall be incorporated into 
the soil prior to seeding at the following rates: 

 
Elemental Sulfur  50lbs/10,000 Square Feet 
Starter   8lbs/1,000 Square Feet 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 339 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Seeding Section 02930 - Page 3 
 

 
PART 6 SEEDING: 
 

6.1 Seed shall be incorporated into a firm level seed bed by: 
 

A. A drill designed especially for seeding grass with double disc 
openers and packing wheels for Low Profile, Wheat, and 
Buffalograss, matching grasses, Monument Blend. 

 
B. Bluegrass shall be broadcast and harrowed in and packed. 

 
6.2 Drills shall be at maximum 7-inch spacing.  Seed shall have a 

minimum of 1/8-inch solid cover and a maximum depth of ¼-inch.  All 
drilled seed shall be placed with crossing pattern. 

 
6.3 It is the responsibility of the Contractor to seed the required areas and 

establish a good living stand of grass over a 3-4 week period.  The 
Contractor shall be responsible for maintenance of the seeding, 
including watering, until final acceptance of the project or a minimum of 
45 days after planting. 

 
PART 7 MULCHING: 
 

7.1 Mulching shall be either dry cured native (prairie) hay or threshed grain 
straw free of noxious weeds.  Hay or straw in an advanced stage of 
decomposition so as to "powder" in the mulch blower shall be rejected. 

 
7.2 The Contractor shall apply the mulch within 24 hours after planting the 

seed.  The mulch shall be applied with a mulch blowing machine at the 
specified rate. 

 
7.3 Immediately following the spreading of the mulch, it shall be anchored 

to the soil by a mulch crimper or other approved equipment with dull 
blades without camber. 

 
7.4 Rates: 

 
A. Mulching shall be distributed evenly on all areas at the rate 

below: 
 

Dry cured hay-  1 ½ Ton per acre 
 

Grain straw-   2 Ton per acre 
 

B. Mulching methods and materials shall be in accordance with 
U.S. Soil Conservation Service recommended methods. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 340 / 578



 

 
Requires Modification  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Seeding Section 02930 - Page 4 
 

 
7.5 All areas seeded shall be mulched unless otherwise determined by the 

Engineer. 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 341 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, inc 
Ver.10 Sod Section 02931 - Page 1 

                                       

SECTION 02931 SOD 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing all materials, equipment, supplies, and accessories 
required, and of performing all operations needed in connection with the 
installation of grass sod under this contract.  

  
PART 2 TIME OF SOD INSTALLATION: 
 

2.1  Sod operations shall not be performed when the ground is frozen or 
weather conditions are not favorable for growth as determined by the 
Engineer. 

 
2.2  The sod operation shall be performed as soon as possible after the finish 

grading work has been completed on a section of the project.   
 
 
PART 3 MATERIAL REQUIREMENTS: 
 

Sod shall be taken from field sources approved by the Engineer.  The sod 
shall be a first-class representation of normal species or varieties of 
bluegrass.  The bluegrass sod shall have been grown from culturally planted 
bluegrass sod and shall have been maintained by culturally accepted 
methods for the production of bluegrass sod.  The sod shall be mowed and 
raked to remove stems, sticks and grass clippings prior to cutting.  The sod 
shall be cut to a depth of approximately three-quarters of an inch.  Sod shall 
be free from noxious weeds and relatively free from all other weeds.  Extreme 
care shall be taken in cutting, handling, transporting and laying the sod to 
avoid unnecessary damages to and loss of earth from the roots of the sod.  
Sod shall not have dry or dead edges. 

 
PART 4 SOIL PREPARATION: 
 

Areas that are to be sodded shall be cleared of debris and dead vegetation 
prior to the preparation of the sod bed.  The soil shall be smoothed and shall 
not have a crusted appearance.  All erosion shall be filled prior to laying the 
sod.  All loose earth or fill dirt shall be firmed prior to laying the sod.  Topsoil, 
when specified, shall be spread and incorporated with the soil by discing or 
other tillage methods. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 342 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, inc 
Ver.10 Sod Section 02931 - Page 2 

                                       

 
PART 5 FERTILIZER: 
 

The pre-sod fertilizer shall be applied to the prepared sod bed immediately 
prior to sod placement.  The post-sod fertilizer shall be applied after 
acceptance of the sod and prior to the final payment for the sod.  The 
application rate for fertilizer shall be 1 lb. (actual) sulphur coated urea and 3 
lb. (actual) diamonium phosphate, per 1,000 square feet. 

 
PART 6 PLACING THE SOD: 
 

6.1  The sod bed shall be approved by the Engineer prior to laying the sod.  
The sod shall be laid over the area with strips edge to edge in a compact 
mass.  The sod shall be laid approximately one inch below adjoining 
ground surfaces and flush with adjoining sod. 

 
6.2  Sod placed on slopes steeper than three to one and in ditch bottoms shall 

be adequately staked to prevent slippage.  Stakes shall be wood lath and 
shall be at least eight inches in length.  Stakes shall be driven flush with 
the sod line and with the broad face of the stake facing the slope.  Sod 
that is not staked shall be rolled with a sod roller.  

 
PART 7 ESTABLISHMENT PERIOD: 
 

The Contractor shall thoroughly water all sod immediately after laying.  
Watering may also be required during the laying of the sod to cool the sod.  
The Contactor will be responsible to provide adequate watering and weekly 
mowing the sod until the project is ready for final payment or a minimum of 
two weeks for establishment of the sod, whichever is longer. 

 
 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 343 / 578



 

Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09     Concrete Formwork                          Section 03100 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03100 CONCRETE FORMWORK: 
 
PART 1 INSTALLATION OF FORMS: 
 

Forms shall be free of surface defects and shall conform to the lines, grades 
and shapes as shown on the Drawings.  The forms shall be joined together 
sufficiently tight to prevent leakage and so that they maintain the intended 
shape.  Snap ties shall be used.  Holes resulting from snapping ties shall be 
grouted for a flush, smooth concrete surface.  Plywood or steel, oiled with a 
nonstaining oil shall be used for exposed concrete. 

 
PART 2 REMOVAL OF FORMS: 
 

The forms shall not be removed until the concrete has developed sufficient 
strength to safely support its weight and the load thereon.  The Contractor 
shall be responsible for the determination of sufficient strength for form 
removal.  Any concrete damaged by premature form removal shall be 
replaced by the Contractor without additional cost to the Owner. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 344 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Reinforcing Steel Section 03210 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03210 REINFORCING STEEL 
 
 
PART 1 Reinforcement shall be new, deformed billet steel, grade 60 for No. 4 bars or 

larger and grade 40 for No. 3 bars.  All reinforcement shall be in accordance 
with ASTM A615. 

 
PART 2 Metal reinforcement surfaces shall be clean prior to concrete placement and 

free of rust, scale and other coatings that will destroy or reduce the bond.  Bar 
bends shall be around a pin having a diameter not less than six times the 
thickness of the bar, except that for bars larger than 1-inch, the pin shall be a 
minimum of eight times the thickness of the bar.  All bars shall be bent cold. 

 
PART 3 Placing of Reinforcement 
 

3.1 Metal reinforcement shall be placed accurately in accordance with the 
Drawings and shall be secured by concrete or metal chairs and 
spaces. 

 
3.2 Splices and laps of reinforcement shall conform to ACI Specification 

318 and shall be made where indicated on the Drawings. 
 
PART 4 Concrete Protection for Reinforcement: 
 

The metal reinforcement shall be protected by the thickness of concrete 
shown on the Drawings.  If the thickness is not indicated on the Drawings, the 
concrete cover shall conform with the requirements of ACI Specification 318. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 345 / 578



 

 
Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.13A    Structural Concrete                            Section 03310 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03310 STRUCTURAL CONCRETE 
 
 
PART 1 MATERIALS: 
 

1.1 Cement: 
 

All cement used under this Contract shall be Type 1PF, 1PN, I/II, 
Portland cement. 
 
Mixes with Type 1PF and 1PN are pre-blended or interground with 
Class F fly ash or Class N Pozzolan by the cement mill producer at a 
rate of 25%±2%, no additional Class F fly ash or Class N Pozzolan is 
added at the batch plant. Lithium Nitrate may be used in place of Class 
F fly ash or Class N Pozzolan. 
 
Type 1PF or 1PN shall be a Type 1P made exclusively with Class “F” 
fly ash or Class N as the pozzolan. Type 1P cement shall conform to 
the requirements as prescribed in ASTM C 595 and the following 
requirements:  
 

a. The fly ash or pozzolan content shall be 25±2 percent of the 
cementitious materials by weight.  

 
b. The material shall be Class F fly ash or Class N pozzolan. 

  
c. Additional fly ash substitution shall not be allowed with Type 

1P cement containing Class F fly ash or Class N pozzolan. 
 

1.2 Aggregates: 
 

The quality of Concrete aggregates shall be in accordance with ASTM 
C33.  The grading of Concrete aggregates shall be in accordance with 
Section 03313, Part 3, Item 2.2. 

 
1.3 Water: 

 
Water used in mixing of concrete shall be clean water, free from oil, 
acids, alkali or organic material. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 346 / 578



 

 
Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.13A    Structural Concrete                            Section 03310 - Page 2 
 

 
PART 2 STORAGE OF MATERIALS: 
  

2.1 Cement: 
 

Storage of cement shall be such that deterioration and contamination 
will be avoided.  Caked, partially set, contaminated or damaged 
cement shall be rejected. 

 
2.2 Aggregates: 

 
Gradation and cleanliness of the aggregates shall be preserved 
through proper storage. 

 
PART 3 QUALITY: 
 

3.1 Compressive Strength: 
 

All concrete shall develop the minimum compressive strengths at 28 
days as indicated in Section 03313. 

 
3.2 Concrete Admixtures: 

 
A. Calcium Chloride: 

 
Due to its effect on shrinkage and its susceptibility to sulfate 
attack, calcium chloride shall not be used without written 
permission from the Engineer. 

 
3.3 Slump: 

 
Concrete slump shall be as required in Section 03313 (Concrete Mix 
Design). 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 347 / 578



 

 
Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.13A    Structural Concrete                            Section 03310 - Page 3 
 

 
3.4 Batching: 

 
Batching shall be conducted so that the weight of each material 
required is within a tolerance of 1% for cement and 2% for aggregates.  
Water may be measured either by volume or by weight.  The accuracy 
of measuring the water shall be within 1% of required amounts.   
 
Detailed batch tickets shall be submitted with each truck giving an 
itemized listing of the actual mix proportions for that truck.   

 
3.5 Time of Haul: 

 
Concrete transported in truck mixers or truck agitators shall be 
delivered to the work site and completely discharged within a period of 
ninety (90) minutes after the cement comes in contact with the mixing 
water or with the combined aggregates when the combined aggregates 
contain free moisture in excess of 2% by weight. 

 
3.6 Production and Delivery: 

 
A. The production and delivery of ready-mixed concrete shall be 

such that placing and finishing shall be continuous insofar as 
the operations require. 

 
B. When an increase in the water-cement ratio is required, the 

concrete frame shall be rotated at a rate of 20 RPM for not less 
than three (3) minutes after the water has been added. 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 348 / 578



 

 
Standard                      Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09       Concrete Mixing, Moving & Testing                    Section 03311 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 03311 CONCRETE MIXING, MOVING AND TESTING 
 
PART 1 MIXING OF CONCRETE: 
 

1.1 All mixing equipment shall be clean before mixing concrete and each 
batch shall be completely discharged before the mixer is re-charged.  
The concrete shall be mixed until the materials are uniformly 
distributed throughout. 

 
1.2 Ready-mixed concrete shall conform to ASTM Specifications for mixing 

and delivering ready-mixed concrete (C 94). 
 
PART 2 PLACING OF CONCRETE: 
 

2.1 Each section to be poured shall be concreted as one continuous 
operation.  The concreting shall be carried out at a rate which keeps 
the concrete plastic.  Concrete that is partially hardened or that 
contains foreign material shall not be used.  Surfaces upon which 
concrete is to be placed shall be moistened prior to placing concrete. 

 
2.2 All concrete shall be consolidated by vibration, spading or rodding to 

eliminate air or stone pockets which may cause honey-combing or 
planes of weakness. 

 
2.3 Construction, contraction and expansion joints shall be in accordance 

with the Specifications, as shown on the Drawings or as directed by 
the Engineer.  If joints are required, but not specified or shown on the 
Drawings, the joints shall be located as to least impair the strength of 
the structure. 

 
PART 3 CONCRETE TESTING: 
 

3.1 The Engineer may secure concrete for compression tests at any time 
during the progress of work.  The test specimens shall be cured in 
accordance with ASTM Standard Method of Making and Curing 
Concrete Compression and Flexure Test Specimens (C31).  The 
specimens will be cured under laboratory conditions unless the 
Engineer deems it necessary to cure additional specimens under job 
conditions. 
  

3.2 All concrete that fails to conform to Specifications shall be removed 
and replaced by the Contractor at no additional cost to the Owner. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 349 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.15 Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 1 
  

SECTION 03313 CONCRETE MIX DESIGN 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The Contractor shall submit the proposed concrete mix design to the 
Engineer in writing prior to the placement of any concrete. 

 
PART 2 MIX DESIGN: 
 

2.1 Structural, Pavement (Exterior and Interior), Pathways/Trails, and Curb 
& Gutter Concrete, 3,500 psi 

 
A. The concrete mix, including aggregate gradations and testing 

requirements, shall meet the following proportions: 
 

Type of Cement    1PF/1PN 
 
Lbs of Cement/Fly Ash or Pozzolan 423/141 
 
Lbs. of Cementitious Material  564 

   per Cubic Yard (Min.) 
 
   Water/Cement Ratio (Max.)  0.48 
 
   Air-Entrainment    6.0% - 8.5% 
         7.5% - 10.0% (slip forming) 
 
   Total lbs Aggregates   2850 min./3150 max. 
 
   Ratio of Coarse Aggregate   30% ±3% 
   to Total Aggregate 
 
   Type of Coarse Aggregate   Crushed Limestone 
 
   Slump in Inches (Max.)   3 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 350 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.15 Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 2 
  

 
B. Aggregate Gradations: 

 
1. Fine Aggregate: 

 
    % Passing  Target  Tolerance 
 
    1-inch Sieve  100  None 
    3/8-inch Sieve —  — 
    No. 4 Sieve  87  ±10 
    No.10 Sieve  60  ±10 
    No.30 Sieve  28  ±12 
    No.200 Sieve 1.5  ±1.5 
 
 
   2. Coarse Aggregate: 
 
    % Passing  Target  Tolerance 
 
    1½-inch Sieve 100  — 
    1-inch Sieve  100  -8 
    ¾-inch Sieve  78  ±12 
    ½ inch Sieve  —  — 
    3/8-inch Sieve 30  ±15 
    No. 4 Sieve  6  ±6 
    No. 10 Sieve  —  — 
    No. 20 Sieve  2 *  ±2 
    No. 200 Sieve 1.5  ±1.5 
 
           * The percent passing may be increased to 3 ±3 provided 

no more than 1.5% is passing the No. 200 sieve when 
washed. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 351 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.15 Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 3 
  

 
2.2 Interior and Exterior Non-Pavement Flatwork Concrete, 3,500 psi 

 
A. The concrete mix, including aggregate gradations and testing 

requirements, shall meet the following proportions: 
 

Type of Cement    1PF/1PN 
 
Lbs of Cement/Fly Ash or Pozzolan 423/141 

 
   Lbs. of Cementitious Material  564 
   per Cubic Yard (Min.) 
 
   Water/Cement Ratio (Max.)  0.48 
 
   Air-Entrainment    6.0% - 8.5% 
 
   Total lbs Aggregates   2850 min./3150 max. 
 
   Type of Aggregate    Sand-Gravel  
 
   Slump in Inches (Max.)   3 
 

B. Aggregate Gradations: 
 
    % Passing  Target  Tolerance 
 
    1-inch Sieve  100  — 
    3/8-inch Sieve —  — 
    No. 4 Sieve  66  ±22 
    No.10 Sieve  37  ±13 
    No.30 Sieve  12  ±8 
    No.200 Sieve 1.5  ±1.5 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 352 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.15 Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 4 
  

2.3 Flowable Fill : 
 

A. The approximate quantities of each component per cubic yard 
of mixed material shall be as follows: 

 
   Cement (Type I or II)   50 lbs. 
   Fly Ash     200 lbs. 
   Fine Sand     2,700 lbs. 
   Water (Approximate)   420 lbs. 
   Air Content (Approximate)   10% 
 

B. Fine Sand Gradation: 
 
   No. 4 Sieve    At least 95% passing 
   No. 200 Sieve   Not more than 5% passing 
 
 

2.4 High Early Concrete Mix (NDOR Type PR1) 3,000 psi in 24 hours: 
 

A. The concrete mix, including aggregate gradations and testing 
requirements, shall meet the following proportions: 

 
Type of Cement    I/II 
 
Lbs of Cement/Fly Ash   752/0 
 
Lbs. of Cementitious Material  752 

   per Cubic Yard (Min.) 
 
   Water/Cement Ratio (Max.)  0.36 
 
   Air-Entrainment    6.0% - 8.5% 
         7.5% - 10.0% (slip forming) 
 
   Total lbs Aggregates   2500 min./2950 max. 
 
   Ratio of Coarse Aggregate   30% ±3% 
   to Total Aggregate 
 
   Type of Coarse Aggregate   Crushed Limestone 
 
   Slump in Inches (Max.)   7 
 
   Admixtures:  Calcium chloride, NDOR Type F Water-Reducing 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 353 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc. 
Ver.15 Concrete Mix Design Section 03313 - Page 5 
  

 
B. Aggregate Gradations: 

 
1. Fine Aggregate: 

 
    % Passing  Target  Tolerance 
 
    1-inch Sieve  100  None 
    3/8-inch Sieve —  — 
    No. 4 Sieve  87  ±10 
    No.10 Sieve  60  ±10 
    No.30 Sieve  28  ±12 
    No.200 Sieve 1.5  ±1.5 
 
 
   2. Coarse Aggregate: 
 
    % Passing  Target  Tolerance 
 
    1½-inch Sieve 100  — 
    1-inch Sieve  100  -8 
    ¾-inch Sieve  78  ±12 
    ½ inch Sieve  —  — 
    3/8-inch Sieve 30  ±15 
    No. 4 Sieve  6  ±6 
    No. 10 Sieve  —  — 
    No. 20 Sieve  2 *  ±2 
    No. 200 Sieve 1.5  ±1.5 
 
           * The percent passing may be increased to 3 ±3 provided 

no more than 1.5% is passing the No. 200 sieve when 
washed. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 354 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Concrete Unit Masonry Section 04220 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 04220   CONCRETE UNIT MASONRY 
 
 
PART 1 UNIT DIMENSIONS:  
 

1.1 All concrete block shall have the following minimum dimensions: 
 

Length 15-5/8"  
 

Height  7-5/8" 
 
Width  5-5/8" or 7-5/8"    (as required by wall thickness) 
 
Face  1-1/4" 
 
Tie  1" 

 
1.2 All masonry units shall be of uniform size plus-minus 1/8".  All units 

shall be sound and free of cracks or other defects that would interfere 
with the proper placing of the unit or impair the strength or permanence 
of the construction.  Minor cracks incidental to the usual method of 
manufacture, or minor chipping resulting from customary methods of 
handling in shipment and delivery, shall not be deemed ground for 
rejection. 

 
1.3 Where units are to be used in exposed wall construction, the face or 

faces that are to be exposed shall be free of chips, cracks, or other 
imperfections, except that if not more than 5 percent of a shipment 
contains slight cracks or small chips not larger than 1 inch, this shall 
not be deemed ground for rejection. 

 
PART 2 BLOCK PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS: 
 

2.1 Compressive Strength: 
 

Minimum compressive strength of all standard weight aggregate block 
shall be one thousand two hundred fifty pounds (1,250) per square 
inch on the gross area of the block, or twenty-five hundred pounds 
(2,500) per square inch on the net area.  The largest of the two above 
figures will control.  The strength will be determined as the average of 
five units with a minimum of eleven hundred fifty pounds (1,150) per 
square inch on the gross area permitted for an individual test. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 355 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Concrete Unit Masonry Section 04220 - Page 2 
 

2.2 Absorption: 
  

Maximum water absorption permitted for units at the time of delivery to 
the job site shall be ten pounds per cubic foot (10 pcf) of concrete as 
an average of five units for standard weight aggregate. 

 
2.3 Moisture Content: 

 
Maximum moisture content permitted for standard weight aggregate 
units at time of delivery shall be 35 percent of total absorption and 30 
percent of total absorption of lightweight aggregate units.  The test for 
moisture content shall be determined from an average of five units at 
time of delivery. 

 
PART 3 CURING: 
 

All units shall be steam cured per accepted curing methods.  Open air type 
curing is definitely excluded. 

 
PART 4 COLORING: 
 

Units shall be furnished without pigments. 
 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 356 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Masonry Workmanship Section 04300 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 04300 MASONRY WORKMANSHIP 
 
 
PART 1 CONSTRUCTION AND WORKMANSHIP: 
 

1.1 All masonry walls shall be true and plumb, and built to dimensions, 
bond or patterns indicated on the plans.  Where no bond or pattern is 
shown, the wall shall be laid in straight uniform course with regular 
bond. 

 
1.2 Provisions shall be made for all special units (corners, jamb block, 

headers, fillers, closures and fitters, etc) as may be required to form all 
corners, returns, openings and offsets, and maintain a proper bond 
throughout the length of the wall. 

 
1.3 The surfaces of the wall are to be kept clean and free of mortar 

splotches, and all joints are to be made with a straight, clean line. 
 

1.4 Where floors or joists are supported on the masonry wall, the cores of 
the masonry course immediately below such bearing, shall be filled 
with concrete or mortar of the same quality as used for laying the wall, 
or a bearing course of solid masonry units (nominal 4" thickness) shall 
be used. 

 
1.5 Pilasters and piers subjected to concentrated loading shall be 

constructed of solid masonry units or shall have the cores of the hollow 
units completely filled from the foundation to the bearing point with 
concrete or mortar units of same quality as used for laying the wall. 

 
1.6 All openings and chases for heating, plumbing, and electrical ducts, 

pipes and conduits shall be built into the masonry walls as shown on 
the plans.  Provisions shall be made for the installation of bolts, 
toggles, flashing beams, anchors, hangers, nailing strips, wall plugs 
and frames as required.   

 
1.7 At the conclusion of the masonry work, the Contractor shall clean down 

all masonry walls, remove all scaffolding and equipment used in the 
work, clean up all debris, refuse and surplus material, and remove 
them from the premises. 

 
1.8 The work of the masonry contractor shall be coordinated with that of 

the other trades. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 357 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Masonry Workmanship Section 04300 - Page 2 
 

PART 2 HANDLING: 
 

Units shall be handled from storage to scaffold and during erection in such a 
manner as to adequately protect corners and exposed surfaces of unit from 
injury. 

 
PART 3 LAYING TEMPERATURE: 
 

Unless adequate provisions are made for heating and drying materials and for 
protecting the completed work for at least forty-eight (48) hours after the 
erection, no units shall be laid when the ambient temperature is less than 
forty degrees Fahrenheit (40oF).  Units having a film of water or frost on their 
surfaces shall not be laid and no work shall proceed on frozen materials. 

 
PART 4 PROTECTION: 
 

Units incorporated as part of incomplete construction, not being worked on, 
shall be adequately protected and braced at all times during construction 
operations.  At such time as inclement weather is imminent and/or work is 
discontinued, the tops of all units shall be protected with a moisture resistant 
cover well secured in place. 

 
PART 5 DRYING: 
 

5.1 After drying, or when units are at an approved air dry condition, they 
shall be protected from rain and kept dry prior to placing in the wall.  
Units shall be stacked on the job in such a manner that air circulation 
shall occur. 

 
5.2 Units shall not dampened before and/or during laying in the wall.  The 

Contractor shall be responsible for the protection necessary to prevent 
re-wetting of delivered units prior to placement in the wall. 

 
PART 6 MORTAR JOINTS: 
 

6.1 Thickness: 
 

Unless otherwise indicated on the working drawings, and taking into 
account the tolerance permitted in actual dimensions of units, both 
horizontal and vertical mortar joints shall be three-eighths inch (3/8") 
thick. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 358 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Masonry Workmanship Section 04300 - Page 3 
 

6.2 Hollow Units: 
 

Mortar bedding shall be placed under the face shell of units but shall 
not extend across the webs, except that full mortar bedding shall be 
required under the first or starting course of units laid on footings and 
solid foundations walls and in all courses or piers, columns, and 
pilasters erected to carry critical loads.  Mortar shall be applied over 
the full thickness and height of face shells and/or the solid end faces of 
units to form the vertical mortar joint. 

 
6.3 Control and Expansion Joints: 

 
A. Form control joints with pre-formed joint filler, backer rod and 

sealant.  Control joints shall be placed in the following locations: 
 

1. With changes in wall heights or thickness; 

2. At construction joints in foundation, roof and floors; 

3. At chases, recesses for piping, columns and fixtures; 

4. At the abutment of walls and columns; 

5. At return angles in L, T and V shapes; 

6. One side of an opening less than 6'-0" wide and on both 

jambs over 6'-0" wide beyond the lintels; 

7. At a ratio on exterior wall of 3:1 panel length to height, 

with panel length not to exceed 30'-0" regardless of 

height; 

8. Between dissimilar materials; and 

9. At a minimum of 24'-0" on-center at interior walls. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 359 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Masonry Workmanship Section 04300 - Page 4 
 

 
PART 7 LONGITUDINAL JOINT REINFORCEMENT: 
 

7.1 Joint reinforcement shall be manufactured from cold drawn steel wire 
conforming to "Tentative Specification for Cold Drawn Steel Wire for 
Concrete Reinforcement", ASTM Designation: A 82-62 T, and shall 
consist of two No. 9 gage deformed longitudinal side rods weld 
connected to No. 9 gage cross rods.  The distance between the weld 
connection of cross rods with each longitudinal rod shall not exceed 
sixteen inches (16").  Spacing of side rods shall be approximately 2" 
less than the nominal thickness of the wall or wythe.  Joint 
reinforcement shall be furnished in flat sections ten to twenty feet (10' - 
20') in length. 

 
7.2 Factory fabricated or job fabricated corner and tee sections shall be 

used to form continuous reinforcement around corners, and for 
anchoring abutting walls and partitions.  Material in corner and tee 
sections shall correspond to type and design of reinforcement used.  
Unless otherwise noted, reinforcement shall be installed in the first and 
second bed joints, 8 inches apart immediately above lintels and below 
sills at openings and in bed joints at 16" intervals elsewhere.  
Reinforcement in the second bed joint above or below openings shall 
extend two feet beyond the jambs.  All other reinforcement shall be 
continuous except that it shall not pass through vertical masonry 
control joints. 

 
7.3 Side rods shall be lapped at least 6 inches at splices.  Reinforcement 

shall be so placed as to assure a 5/8" mortar cover on the exterior face 
of walls and ½" mortar cover on interior faces. 

 
7.4 Cavity walls and composite walls shall be reinforced and tied with joint 

reinforcement conforming to the above paragraphs.  Cross rods shall 
be galvanized and shall be 3/16" in diameter except that cross rods of 
not less than No. 9 gage may be used when so spaced as to provide 
equivalent stiffness and when approved by the Building Engineer.  
Spacing shall be not greater than 16" o.c. vertically and in composite 
walls the collar joint (space between facing and backing) shall be 
solidly filled with mortar. 

 
7.5 Walls or wythes of walls, when laid in stack bond shall be reinforced by 

one No. 9 gage wire or equivalent for every 6" of width of wall or wythe, 
with reinforcement spaced not more than 16" o.c. vertically.  Single 
wythe walls regardless of thickness shall contain at least 2 longitudinal 
rods. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 360 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Masonry Workmanship Section 04300 - Page 5 
 

PART 8 VERTICAL REINFORCEMENT: 
 

Vertical reinforcement of concrete block walls shall be no less than #4 at 48" 
on-center.  Vertical reinforcement shall be tied to the foundation wall using 2'-
6" long dowels.  Fill all cores with grout containing vertical reinforcement. 

 
PART 9 ANCHORS AND TIES: 
 

Anchors and ties shall be hot-dipped galvanized and shall be placed at 16-
inches vertically and 24-inches horizontally in masonry veneer/facing. 

 
PART 10 TOOLING: 
 

10.1 All horizontal and vertical mortar joints exposed to the elements shall 
be thoroughly compacted and pressed tight against the edges of units 
with the proper shaped tool.  Joints shall be concave in shape.  The 
tool shall be of sufficient length that a uniform straight line is formed 
free from waves. 

 
10.2 If the wall is to be plastered, all joints shall be cut flush to provide 

uniform bonding surface. 
 

10.3 If the masonry walls are to be painted they must be laid with extreme 
care to prevent mortar splotches, and to hold straight, clean mortar 
joints.  Before painting, the walls should be rubbed with a brick to 
remove the protruding mortar around the joints and any other surface 
irregularities.  Special care shall be taken to seal the wall against the 
entrance of moisture. 

 
PART 11 WEEP HOLES: 
 

Install weep holes in veneer at 24-inches on-center, horizontally above 
through-wall flashing, above shelf-angles and at bottom of walls.  Weep holes 
shall be ¼-inch diameter, 100% cotton rope. 

 
PART 12 FLASHING: 
 

12.1 Flashing shall be installed where shown on the drawings.  Flashing 
shall be 30 mil thickness and shall be of corrosion-resistance 
materials. 

 
12.2 Extend flashing through veneer, turn up minimum 8-inches and bed 

into mortar joint of masonry backup.  Turn up flashing at heads, etc., 
minimum 2-inches at end of flashing and bed in vertical joint to form a 
dam. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 361 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Masonry Workmanship Section 04300 - Page 6 
 

12.3 Lap end joints minimum 6-inches and seal watertight.  Turn up end 
joints minimum 2-inches high. 

 
PART 13 CAVITY WALLS: 
 

The inner wythe shall be built ahead of the outer wythe to receive cavity 
insulation air/vapor barrier adhesive.  Mortar shall not be allowed to drop or 
accumulate into cavity air space or to plug weep holes. 

 
PART 14 CUTTING AND PATCHING: 
 

14.1 Cutting of units required to accommodate the work of others and along 
with other necessary cutting, shall be performed by masonry 
mechanics.  All cutting shall be done in such a manner as to insure 
unbroken edges cut plumb and true. 

 
14.2 Chases and other cut or raked-out area shall be kept free from mortar 

and debris.  Patching shall be kept to a minimum and, wherever 
necessary on exposed work, shall be carried out in such manner as to 
restore the original contour of the patched material in an accurate 
manner. 

 
PART 15 TOLERANCES: 
 

Construction shall conform to the following tolerances for maximum 
variations: 

 
Alignment of columns:      ¼-inch. 

 
Unit to adjacent unit:      1/32-inch. 
 
Plane of wall:       ¼-inch in 10 feet; ½-inch in 20 

feet or more. 
 

Plumbness:        ¼-inch per story non-
cumulative;   ½-inch in two 
stories or more. 

 
Level coursing:       1/8-inch in 3 feet; ¼-inch in 10 

feet; ½-inch in 30 feet. 
 
Joint thickness:       1/8-inch in 3 feet. 
 
Cross sectional thickness of walls:    ¼-inch. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 362 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Masonry Workmanship Section 04300 - Page 7 
 

PART 16 POINTING AND CLEANING: 
 

Upon completion of the work, all holes in exposed mortar joints shall be filled 
with fresh mortar and suitably tooled.  After mortar has set and hardened, all 
exposed surfaces of units shall be thoroughly cleaned with stiff brushes, 
cleaning tools and clear water.  A diluted acid may be used only upon request 
from the contractor and acceptance by the Owner or his representative. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 363 / 578



 

 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10  Custom Casework Section 06410 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 06410   CASEWORK 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing all materials, equipment, supplies and accessories 
required, and of furnishing all labor required for custom casework. 

 
PART 2 PRODUCTS:  

  
2.1 General: 

 
A. Wood: 

 
1. On exposed portions, provide hardwood and hardwood 

plywood as indicated on the drawings for natural finish. 
2. On semi-exposed portions, provide the manufacturer’s 

standard cabinet liner as approved by the Architect. 
 

B. Finishing: 
  

Pre-finished RTF, White in color.  Or approved equal 
 

2.2 Cabinets: 
 

A. Raised Door Panel design, RFT Finish or approved equal. 
 

B. Hardware: 
1. Hinges:  Concealed. 
2. Pulls:      Manufacturers standard wire pulls. 
3. Drawer Guides:  Heavy duty, 100% extension. 

 
2.3 Countertops: 

  
A. Types and sizes: 

 
1. Shop fabricate countertops and splashes to types and 

dimensions shown on the Drawings. 
2. Provide 4” high coved splash. 

 
B. Stone covered countertops:  Thickness and type as indicated on 

the drawings. 
 

2.4 Hardware: 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 364 / 578



 

 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10  Custom Casework Section 06410 - Page 2 
 

A. Pulls:  Wire pull or as shown on drawings. 
 

B. Hinges:  Concealed self closing type. 
  

C. Drawer Guides:  100% extension, 100lb capacity. 
 

2.5 Other Materials: 
  
Provide other materials, not specifically described but required for a 
complete installation, as selected by the Contractor subject to the 
approval of the Architect. 

 
PART 3 EXECUTION: 
 

3.1 Surface Conditions: 
  
Examine the areas and conditions under which work of this Section will 
be performed.  Correct conditions detrimental to timely and proper 
completion of the Work.  Do not proceed until unsatisfactory conditions 
are corrected. 

 
3.2 Field Measurements: 

  
Take necessary measurements in the field to assure proper 
dimensions for the work of this Section. 
  

3.3 Fabrication: 
  
Fabricate the work of this Section in strict accordance with the 
approved Shop Drawings and the referenced standards. 
  

3.4 Installation: 
  
A. Install the work of this Section in strict accordance with the 

approved Shop drawings and the referenced standards. 
 

B. Install the work of this section plumb, level, true and straight 
with no distortions.  Shim as required, using concealed shims. 
Install to a tolerance of 1/8” in 8’-0” for plumb and level 
(including countertops).  
 

C. Scribe and cut work to fit adjoining work, and refinish cut 
surfaces or repair damaged finish at cuts. 

       

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 365 / 578



 

 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.10  Custom Casework Section 06410 - Page 3 
 

 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 366 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Counter Door Section 08332 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 08332 COUNTER DOOR 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirement of this Section 
consists of furnishing all material, equipment, supplies and accessories 
required, and of performing all labor required for furnishing counter doors. 

 
PART 2 PRODUCTS 
 

2.1 Counter doors shall be  R&S Manufacturing, Model SNFP, or  
equivalent. 

 
2.2 Curtain shall be interlocking, roll formed, flat profile, type 18 with a slat 

pitch of 1 3/4" and a depth at crown of 9/16".  Slats shall be fabricated 
of minimum 24 gauge stainless steel per ASTM A-525.  End locks shall 
be attached to the end of each slat to prevent lateral movement. 

 
2.3 Bottom bar shall be a stainless steel tubular member to reinforce the 

curtain guides. 
 

2.4 Guides shall be box shape formed from stainless steel. 
 

2.5 Brackets shall be of steel plate. 
 

2.6 Barrel shall consist of a steel pipe housing the torsion spring assembly 
and supporting the curtain assembly with a maximum deflection of .03 
inches per foot of width.  Torsion springs shall be mounted on a 
continuous cold rolled sheet shaft with an adjustable tension wheel. 

 
2.7 Hood shall be formed from a minimum 24 gauge stainless steel sheet, 

reinforced with top and bottom flanges to limit deflection. 
 

2.8 Sidebolt locks shall be mounted on tubular bottom bar. 
 
PART 3 EXECUTION 
 

Install doors in accordance with manufacturer's instructions and standards. 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 367 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Overhead Doors Section 08360 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 08360 OVERHEAD DOORS 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this 
Specification consists of furnishing and of performing all operations required 
to be performed in connection with overhead door installation.  

 
PART 2 OVERHEAD DOOR: 
 

The overhead door provided shall conform to the following construction 
features: 

 
2.1 Door Sections: 

 
Door sections shall be constructed from sheet steel, .016-inch thick, 
coated with a corrosion resistant coating.  Sections shall be roll-formed 
to produce a thermal break.  Sections shall be equipped with 20 gauge 
steel end caps for brackets and end hinge attachments.  Doors 
(sections) over 14 feet wide shall be equipped with reinforcing 
struts/trusses. 

 
2.2 Door Tracks: 

 
Tracks shall be 3-inch steel roll-formed steel with channel to be faced 
with polyvinyl chloride. 

 
2.3 Hardware: 

 
Provide heavy-duty rollers with 10 steel ball bearings in case-hardened 
steel races.  Provide heavy-duty roller brackets to each end 
reinforcement plate.  Fasteners shall be galvanized steel. 

 
2.4 Insulation: 

 
Door shall have a full perimeter seal.  Door sections shall be 
manufactured by a continuous foamed-in-place polyurethane 
lamination process to provide a homogeneous sandwich of 
polyurethane insulation of metal/foam/metal construction.  Sections 
shall have U-factor of 0.088; R=11.34. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 368 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Overhead Doors Section 08360 - Page 2 
 

2.5 Finish: 
 

Overhead door shall be factory prepainted with baked on polyester.  
Color of door shall be selected by owner. 

 
2.6 Locks: 

 
Overhead door shall be provided with an exterior cylinder lock.  Lock 
shall be supplied with a construction core and core shall be compatible 
with the Owners standard.  Owner will supply and install the permanent 
cores. 

 
2.7 Weather Seals: 

 
A. Thermalplastic rubber tube seal shall be fitted inside every joint 

between the sections to prevent air infiltration.  Top section of 
the door shall be EPDM rubber sealing strip to provide firm seal 
against the header when the door is in the closed position. 

 
B. Doors with an opening width wider than 20' shall be provided 

with a rubber head flexible seal fitted to an aluminum extruded 
strip.  This flexible seal shall provide proper seal against header 
door frame regardless of outside/inside temperature variances. 

 
C. Nylon jamb seal shall be provided on the vertical angle 

supporting the tracks to prevent contact between conductive 
metal surfaces, provide seal against wind, rain and heat less 
and reduce friction. 

 
1. EPDM Rubber severe Weather Blade-Type Jamb Seal: 
 

This seal shall attach to the nylon jamb seal retainer to 
form a weather-tight seal against the outside skin of the 
door.  Additionally, an exterior perimeter seal shall be 
included for jambs and header. 

 
2. EPDM Double-Bottom Sealing Weatherstrip:  
 

This combination double-flanged/"o" type bottom 
weatherstrip shall conform to minor irregularities in the 
floor. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 369 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Overhead Doors Section 08360 - Page 3 
 

 
2.8 Glazing: 

 
A. Standard size glazing to be 25" x 12".  Glazing material shall be 

double thermal acrylic.  Number of panes and location as 
indicated. 

 
B. Panes shall be sealed to door section by an EPDM rubber 

gasket attached with hot glue, to provide weather-tight sealing. 
 

2.9 Counterbalancing System: 
 

A. All doors shall be equipped with helical wound torsion springs 
having a minimum spring life of 10,000 cycles. 

 
B. Spring material shall be made of high tensile music wire. 

 
2.10 Torsion Shaft: 

 
All doors shall be supplied with 1-inch or 1-3/8-inch solid steel shaft 
keyed the entire shaft length, in accordance with manufacturer's 
specifications. 

 
2.11 Submittals: 

 
A. Product Data: 

 
Submit manufacturer's product data, roughing-in diagrams, and 
installation instructions for each type and size of overhead door.  
Include manufacturer's operating instructions and maintenance 
data. 

 
B. Shop Drawings: 

 
Submit shop drawings for special components and installations 
which are not fully dimensioned or detailed in manufacturer's 
data. 

 
PART 3 OPERATOR: 
 

3.1 Doors shall be manually opened.  No electric operators are included. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 370 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Overhead Doors Section 08360 - Page 4 
 

 
 
PART 4 INSTALLATION: 
 

4.1 Install door, track and operating equipment complete with necessary 
hardware, jamb and head mold stops, anchors, etc. 

 
4.2 Mount counterbalance mechanism with manufacturer's fully adjustable 

ball bearing brackets at each end of the shaft.  Furnish torsion shaft 
center support bearings as required for size and weight of doors.  
Unsupported span not to exceed 8'-0". 

 
4.3 Fasten vertical track assembly to framing at not less than 24" o.c. 

Hang horizontal track from structural overhead framing with angle or 
channel hangers, welded and bolt-fastened in place.  Provide sway 
bracing, diagonal bracing, and reinforcing as required for rigid 
installation of track and door operation equipment. 

 
4.4 Upon completion of installation, including work by other trades, 

lubricate, test and adjust doors to operate easily, free from warp, twist, 
or distortion and fitting weathertight for entire perimeter. 

  
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 
 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 371 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Gypsum Board Section 09250 - Page 1 

 

SECTION 09250 GYPSUM DRYWALL 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

1.1 Summary: 
 

Work to be performed in accordance with requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing material, equipment, supplies and accessories 
required, and of performing labor required for installation of gypsum 
drywall under this contract. 

 
1.2 Submittals: 

 
Submit product specifications and installation instructions for drywall 
components, including other data required to show compliance with 
these specifications.  Reference Section 01340 - SHOP DRAWINGS, 
PRODUCT DATA AND SUBMITTALS. 

 
1.3 Delivery, Storage and Handling 

 
Deliver materials in original packages, containers or bundles bearing 
brand name and identification. 
 
Store materials inside under cover, keep dry, protect from weather, 
other elements and damage from construction operations and other 
causes. 
 
Handle gypsum boards to prevent damage to edges, ends or surfaces.  
Protect metal accessories and trim from being bent or damaged. 

 
1.4 Project Conditions: 

 
A. Environmental Requirements 

 
Comply with requirements of gypsum board application 
standards and manufacturer's recommendations, for 
environmental conditions before, during and after application of 
gypsum board. 

 
B. Cold Weather Protection 

 
When outdoor temperature is below 55 degrees F maintain 
building working temperature of not less than 55 degrees F for a 
period of 48 hours prior to, during and following application of 
gypsum board and joint treatment materials or bonding of 
adhesives. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 372 / 578



 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Gypsum Board Section 09250 - Page 2 

 

 
C. Ventilation 

 
Ventilate building spaces as required to remove excess 
moisture that would prevent drying of joint treatment material 
immediately after its application. 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 Gypsum Board: 
 

Gypsum board shall be 5/8-inch thick with edges tapered for finishing.  
Gypsum board shall be equivalent to Georgia Pacific ToughRock 
Fireguard Gypsum Wallboard unless noted otherwise. 

 
2.2 Damp Locations: 

 
Gypsum board used in damp locations shall be equivalent to Georgia 
Pacific ToughRock Fireguard Moisture-Guard. 

 
2.3 Trim Accessories: 

 
Accessories (casing bead, corner beads, etc.) shall be galvanized 
steel with brads for concealment in joint compound. 

 
2.4 Joint Treatment Materials: 

 
Joint tape shall be perforated reinforced tape equal to Perf-A tape. 

 
2.5 Miscellaneous Materials: 

 
Gypsum board shall be attached with type "S" screws, shouldered, not 
less than 1-1/4" long, with self-tapping threads and self drilling points. 

 
2.6 Wall Texture: 

 
Refer to Architectural Drawings for wall textures and finishes. 

 
PART 3 INSTALLATION: 
 

Install gypsum board according to manufacturer’s recommendations and 
ASTM C-840. 

 
END OF SECTION 

************************* 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 373 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 1 
 

   
SECTION 09905  PAINTING - ARCHITECTURAL 

 
 
PART 1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 This Section includes surface preparation and field painting of exposed 
exterior and interior items and surfaces. 

 
A. Surface preparation, priming, and finish coats specified in this 

Section are in addition to shop priming and surface treatment 
specified in other Sections. 

 
1.2 Paint exposed surfaces, except where the paint schedules indicate that 

a surface or material is not to be painted or is to remain natural.  If the 
paint schedules do not specifically mention an item or a surface, paint 
the item or surface the same as similar adjacent materials or surfaces 
whether or not schedules indicate colors.  If the schedules do not 
indicate color or finish, the Architect will select from standard colors 
and finishes available. 

 
1.3 Do not paint prefinished items, concealed surfaces, finished metal 

surfaces, operating parts, and labels. 
 

A. Labels: 
 

Do not paint over Underwriters Laboratories (UL), Factory 
Mutual (FM), or other code-required labels or equipment name, 
identification, performance rating, or nomenclature plates. 

 
1.4 Submittals:  

 
For each paint system specified, provide the following: 

 
A. Material List:  

 
Provide an inclusive list of required coating materials.  Indicate 
each material and cross-reference specific coating, finish 
system, and application.  Identify each material by 
manufacturer's catalog number and general classification. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 374 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 2 
 

B. Manufacturer's Information:  
 

Provide manufacturer's technical information, including label 
analysis and instructions for handling, storing, and applying 
each coating material proposed for use. 

 
1.5 Samples for Initial Selection: 

 
Manufacturer's color charts showing the full range of colors available 
for each type of finish-coat material indicated.  After color selection, the 
Architect will furnish color chips for surfaces to be coated. 

 
1.6 Samples for Verification:   

 
Of each color and material to be applied, with texture to simulate actual 
conditions, on representative Samples of the actual substrate. 

 
A. Provide stepped Samples, defining each separate coat, 

including block fillers and primers.  Use representative colors 
when preparing Samples for review.  Resubmit until required 
sheen, color, and texture are achieved. 

 
B. Provide a list of materials and applications for each coat of each 

sample.  Label each sample for location and application. 
 

C. Submit Samples on the following substrates for the Architect's 
review of color and texture only: 

 
1. Concrete:  

 
Provide two 4-inch- square samples for each color and 
finish. 

 
2. Painted Wood: 

 
Provide two 12-inch- square samples of each color and 
material on hardboard. 

 
3. Stained or Natural Wood:  

 
Provide two 4-by-8-inch samples of natural- or stained-
wood finish on actual wood surfaces. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 375 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 3 
 

4. Ferrous Metal:  
 

Provide two 4-inch- square samples of flat metal and two 
8-inch- long samples of solid metal for each color and 
finish. 

 
1.7 Source Limitations: 

 
Obtain primers, and undercoat materials for each coating system from 
the same manufacturer as the finish coats.   

 
1.8 Deliver materials to the Project Site in manufacturer's original, 

unopened packages and containers bearing manufacturer's name and 
label. 

 
1.9 Store materials not in use in tightly covered containers in a well-

ventilated area at a minimum ambient temperature of 45 deg F (7 deg 
C).  Maintain containers in clean condition, free of foreign materials 
and residue.  Protect from freezing.  Keep storage area neat and 
orderly.  Remove oily rags and waste daily. 

 
1.10 Project Conditions:  

 
Do not apply paint in snow, rain, fog, or mist; or when the relative 
humidity exceeds 85 percent; or at temperatures less than 5 deg F (3 
deg C) above the dew point; or to damp or wet surfaces. 

 
PART 2 PRODUCTS 
 

2.1 Material Compatibility:  
 

Provide block fillers, primers, undercoats, and finish-coat materials that 
are compatible with one another and the substrates indicated under 
conditions of service and application, as demonstrated by 
manufacturer based on testing and field experience. 

 
2.2 Material Quality:   

 
Provide manufacturer's best-quality paint material of the various 
coating types specified.  Paint-material containers not displaying 
manufacturer's product identification will not be acceptable. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 376 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 4 
 

2.3 Paint Manufacturers:  
 

Subject to compliance with requirements, provide paint products by 
one of the following: 

 
A. Diamond-Vogel, Orange City, IA 

 
B. Pittsburgh Paints, Pittsburgh, PA 

 
C. Sherwin-Williams Co., Cleveland, OH 

 
D. Benjamin Moore, & Co., Montvale, NJ 

 
PART 3 EXECUTION 
 

3.1 Examine substrates, areas, and conditions under which painting will be 
performed for compliance with paint application requirements.  Do not 
begin to apply paint until unsatisfactory conditions have been corrected 
and surfaces receiving paint are thoroughly dry. 

 
3.2 Coordination of Work: 

 
Review other Sections in which primers are provided to ensure 
compatibility of the total system for various substrates. 

 
3.3 Preparation:  

 
Remove hardware and hardware accessories, plates, machined 
surfaces, lighting fixtures, and similar items already installed that are 
not to be painted.  If removal is impractical or impossible because of 
the size or weight of the item, provide surface-applied protection before 
surface preparation and painting.  After completing painting operations 
in each space or area, reinstall items removed using workers skilled in 
the trades involved. 

 
3.4 Cleaning: 

 
Before applying paint or other surface treatments, clean the substrates 
of substances that could impair the bond of the various coatings.  
Remove oil and grease before cleaning.  Schedule cleaning and 
painting so dust and other contaminants from the cleaning process will 
not fall on wet, newly painted surfaces. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 377 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 5 
 

3.5 Surface Preparation:  
 

Clean and prepare surfaces to be painted according to manufacturer's 
written instructions for each particular substrate condition. 

 
A. Wood:   

 
Clean surfaces of dirt, oil, and other foreign substances with 
scrapers, mineral spirits, and sandpaper, as required.  Sand 
surfaces exposed to view smooth and dust off. 

 
1. Scrape and clean small, dry, seasoned knots, and apply 

a thin coat of white shellac or other recommended knot 
sealer before applying primer.  After priming, fill holes 
and imperfections in finish surfaces with putty or plastic 
wood filler.  Sand smooth when dried. 

 
2. Prime, stain, or seal wood to be painted immediately on 

delivery.  Prime edges, ends, faces, undersides, and 
backsides of wood, including cabinets, counters, cases, 
and paneling. 

 
3. Seal tops, bottoms, and cutouts of unprimed wood doors 

with a heavy coat of varnish or sealer immediately on 
delivery. 

 
B. Ferrous Metals:   

 
Clean ungalvanized ferrous-metal surfaces that have not been 
shop coated; remove oil, grease, dirt, loose mill scale, and other 
foreign substances.  Use solvent or mechanical cleaning 
methods that comply with the Steel Structures Painting 
Council's (SSPC) recommendations. 

 
1. Touch up bare areas and shop-applied prime coats that 

have been damaged.  Wire-brush, clean with solvents 
recommended by paint manufacturer, and touch up with 
the same primer as the shop coat. 

 
C. Galvanized Surfaces:   

 
Clean galvanized surfaces with nonpetroleum-based solvents 
so surface is free of oil and surface contaminants.  Remove 
pretreatment from galvanized sheet metal fabricated from coil 
stock by mechanical methods. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 378 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 6 
 

 
3.6 Materials Preparation:  
 

Mix and prepare paint materials according to manufacturer's written 
instructions: 

 
A. Stir material before application to produce a mixture of uniform 

density.  Stir as required during application.  Do not stir surface 
film into material.  If necessary, remove surface film and strain 
material before using. 

 
B. Use only thinners approved by paint manufacturer and only 

within recommended limits. 
 

3.7 Application:   
 

Apply paint according to manufacturer's written instructions.  Use 
applicators and techniques best suited for substrate and type of 
material being applied. 

 
A. Paint colors, surface treatments, and finishes are indicated in 

the schedules. 
 
B. Do not paint over dirt, rust, scale, grease, moisture, scuffed 

surfaces, or conditions detrimental to formation of a durable 
paint film. 

 
C. Provide finish coats that are compatible with primers used. 

 
D. The term "exposed surfaces" includes areas visible when 

permanent or built-in items are in place.  Extend coatings in 
these areas, as required, to maintain the system integrity and 
provide desired protection. 

 
E. Paint surfaces behind movable equipment and furniture the 

same as similar exposed surfaces.  Before the final installation 
of equipment, paint surfaces behind permanently fixed 
equipment or furniture with prime coat only. 

 
F. Paint back sides of access panels and removable or hinged 

covers to match exposed surfaces. 
 

G. Finish exterior doors on tops, bottoms, and side edges the same 
as exterior faces. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 379 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 7 
 

H. Sand lightly between each succeeding enamel or varnish coat. 
 

3.8 Scheduling Painting:   
 

Apply first coat to surfaces that have been cleaned, pretreated, or 
otherwise prepared for painting as soon as practicable after 
preparation and before subsequent surface deterioration. 
 
A. The number of coats and the film thickness required are the 

same regardless of application method.  Do not apply 
succeeding coats until the previous coat has cured as 
recommended by the manufacturer.  If sanding is required to 
produce a smooth, even surface according to manufacturer's 
written instructions, sand between applications. 

 
B. If undercoats, stains, or other conditions show through final coat 

of paint, apply additional coats until paint film is of uniform finish, 
color, and appearance.  Give special attention to ensure edges, 
corners, crevices, welds, and exposed fasteners receive a dry 
film thickness equivalent to that of flat surfaces. 

 
C. Allow sufficient time between successive coats to permit proper 

drying.  Do not recoat surfaces until paint has dried to where it 
feels firm, does not deform or feel sticky under moderate thumb 
pressure, and where application of another coat of paint does 
not cause the undercoat to lift or lose adhesion. 

 
3.9 Application Procedures: 

 
Apply paints and coatings by brush, roller, spray, or other applicators 
according to manufacturer's written instructions. 

 
3.10 Minimum Coating Thickness:  

 
Apply paint materials no thinner than manufacturer's recommended 
spreading rate.  Provide the total dry film thickness of the entire system 
as recommended by the manufacturer. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 380 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 8 
 

3.11 Prime Coats:   
 

Before applying finish coats, apply a prime coat of material, as 
recommended by the manufacturer, to material that is required to be 
painted or finished and that has not been prime coated by others.  
Recoat primed and sealed surfaces where evidence of suction spots or 
unsealed areas in first coat appears, to ensure a finish coat with no 
burn through or other defects due to insufficient sealing. 

 
3.12 Completed Work:  

 
Match approved samples for color, texture, and coverage.  Remove, 
refinish, or repaint work not complying with requirements. 

 
3.13 Cleanup:   

 
At the end of each workday, remove empty cans, rags, rubbish, and 
other discarded paint materials from the site. 

 
A. After completing painting, clean glass and paint-spattered 

surfaces.  Remove spattered paint by washing and scraping.  
Be careful not to scratch or damage adjacent finished surfaces. 

 
3.14 Protect work of other trades, whether being painted or not, against 

damage by painting.  Correct damage by cleaning, repairing or 
replacing, and repainting, as approved by Architect. 

 
3.15 Provide "Wet Paint" signs to protect newly painted finishes.  Remove 

temporary protective wrappings provided by others to protect their 
work after completing painting operations. 

 
A. At completion of construction activities of other trades, touch up 

and restore damaged or defaced painted surfaces.  Comply with 
procedures specified in PDCA P1. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 381 / 578



 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Painting – Architectural  Section 09905 - Page 9 
 

3.16 Paint Schedules:  
 

Provide the following paint systems for the various substrates 
indicated: 

 
 

 Paint Schedule 
 
 

New Gypsum Wallboard:  Low luster (eggshell) Paint Finish 
1 coat primer prior to texture  
1 coat primer after texture 
2 coats low luster acrylic paint 

 
New Gypsum Wallboard:  Semi Gloss Paint Finish 

1 coat primer prior to texture 
1 coat primer after texture 
2 coats semi gloss acrylic-enamel 
paint 

 
New Ferrous Metals:   1 coat metal primer 

3 coats semi gloss acrylic-enamel 
paint 

 
Interior Wood:    1 coat sanding sealer 

3 coats lacquer or urethane 
varnish, Semi Gloss          

 
 

 
END OF SECTION 
*********************** 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 382 / 578



 

 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Washroom Accessories Section 10800 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 10800 WASHROOM ACCESSORIES 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with the requirements of this Section 
consists of furnishing all material, equipment, supplies and accessories 
required, and of performing all labor required for the installation of washroom 
accessories. 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 Hand Dryers: 
 

Hand dryers shall be recess mounted with wall box and base plate 
mounting.  Dryers shall be fabricated from porcelain enameled cast 
iron fitted with integral nozzle and infrared electronic control similar and 
equal to Bradley #2903-28. 

 
2.2 Stainless Steel Mirror: 

 
Stainless steel mirrors for mounting above lavatories shall be type 304 
stainless steel polished to No. 8 architectural bright finish.  Mirrors shall 
be 18" wide by 24" high.  Mirrors shall be similar and equal to Bradley 
#748. 

 
2.3 Soap Dispensers: 

 
Soap dispensers shall be vertical type units.  Soap dispensers shall be 
similar and equal to Bradley #6563. 

 
2.4 Toilet Tissue Dispensers: 

 
Toilet tissue dispensers shall be similar and equal to Bradley #522. 

 
2.5 Napkin/Tampon Vendor: 

 
Napkin/tampon vendors shall be stainless steel.  Napkin/tampon 
vendors shall be similar and equal to Bradley #4722-15. 

 
2.6 Baby Changing Stations: 

 
Surface mounted baby changing stations shall be fabricated of molded, 
high density polyethylene with full length, steel hinge pin, mounted at 
ADA height.  Unit shall be able to hold a minimum of 100 lbs.  
Changing stations shall be similar and equal to Bradley #9631. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 383 / 578



 

 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Washroom Accessories Section 10800 - Page 2 
 

 
PART 3 INSTALLATION: 
 

Washroom accessories shall be installed in accordance with individual 
manufacturer's recommendations.   Washroom accessories shall be keyed 
alike and the Owner shall be provided with two keys to each type of locking 
accessory. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 384 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 1 of 25 

SECTION 133419 - METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 

PART 1 - GENERAL 

1.1 RELATED DOCUMENTS 

A. Drawings and general provisions of the Contract, including General and Supplementary 
Conditions and Division 01 Specification Sections, apply to this Section. 

1.2 SUMMARY 

A. Section Includes: 

1. Structural-steel framing. 
2. Metal roof panels. 
3. Metal wall panels. 
4. Thermal insulation. 
5. Accessories. 

1.3 DEFINITIONS 

A. Terminology Standard: See MBMA's "Metal Building Systems Manual" for definitions of terms 
for metal building system construction not otherwise defined in this Section or in standards 
referenced by this Section. 

1.4 OWNER PROVIDED MATERIALS 

A. For this project – 23 Club Baseball Complex – the 23 Club will purchase separately and provide 
the materials covered in this section. This includes: 

1. Structural-steel framing. 
2. Metal roof panels. 
3. Metal wall panels. 
4. Thermal insulation. 
5. Accessories. 

B. Manufacturer requirements (Part 2-13349) are shown in this section for reference only.  
Contractor is responsible for all execution requirements (Part 3-13349) outlined in this 
specification.  

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 385 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 2 of 25 

1.5 COORDINATION 

A. Coordinate sizes and locations of concrete foundations and casting of anchor-rod inserts into 
foundation walls and footings. Anchor rod installation, concrete, reinforcement, and formwork 
requirements are specified in Section 033000 "Cast-in-Place Concrete." 

B. Coordinate metal panel assemblies with rain drainage work, flashing, trim, and construction of 
supports and other adjoining work to provide a leakproof, secure, and noncorrosive installation. 

1.6 PREINSTALLATION MEETINGS 

A. Preinstallation Conference: Conduct conference at Project site. 

1. Review methods and procedures related to metal building systems including, but not 
limited to, the following: 

a. Condition of foundations and other preparatory work performed by other trades. 
b. Structural load limitations. 
c. Construction schedule. Verify availability of materials and erector's personnel, 

equipment, and facilities needed to make progress and avoid delays. 
d. Required tests, inspections, and certifications. 
e. Unfavorable weather and forecasted weather conditions and impact on 

construction schedule. 

2. Review methods and procedures related to metal roof panel assemblies including, but not 
limited to, the following: 

a. Compliance with requirements for purlin and rafter conditions, including flatness 
and attachment to structural members. 

b. Structural limitations of purlins and rafters during and after roofing. 
c. Flashings, special roof details, roof drainage, roof penetrations, equipment curbs, 

and condition of other construction that will affect metal roof panels. 
d. Temporary protection requirements for metal roof panel assembly during and after 

installation. 
e. Roof observation and repair after metal roof panel installation. 

3. Review methods and procedures related to metal wall panel assemblies including, but not 
limited to, the following: 

a. Compliance with requirements for support conditions, including alignment 
between and attachment to structural members. 

b. Structural limitations of girts and columns during and after wall panel installation. 
c. Flashings, special siding details, wall penetrations, openings, and condition of 

other construction that will affect metal wall panels. 
d. Temporary protection requirements for metal wall panel assembly during and after 

installation. 
e. Wall observation and repair after metal wall panel installation. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 386 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 3 of 25 

1.7 ACTION SUBMITTALS – WILL BE OWNER PROVIDED  

A. Product Data: For each type of metal building system component. 

1. Include construction details, material descriptions, dimensions of individual components 
and profiles, and finishes for the following: 

a. Metal roof panels. 
b. Metal wall panels. 
c. Metal soffit panels. 
d. Thermal insulation and vapor-retarder facings. 
e. Personnel doors and frames. 
f. Windows. 
g. Translucent wall panels. 
h. Louvers. 

B. Shop Drawings: Indicate components by others. Include full building plan, elevations, sections, 
details and the following: 

1. Anchor-Rod Plans: Submit anchor-rod plans and templates before foundation work 
begins. Include location, diameter, and minimum required projection of anchor rods 
required to attach metal building to foundation. Indicate column reactions at each 
location. 

2. Structural-Framing Drawings: Show complete fabrication of primary and secondary 
framing; include provisions for openings. Indicate welds and bolted connections, 
distinguishing between shop and field applications. Include transverse cross-sections. 

a. Show provisions for attaching basketball back stops. 

3. Metal Roof and Wall Panel Layout Drawings: Show layouts of panels including methods 
of support. Include details of edge conditions, joints, panel profiles, corners, anchorages, 
clip spacing, trim, flashings, closures, and special details. Distinguish between factory- 
and field-assembled work; show locations of exposed fasteners. 

a. Show roof-mounted items including roof hatches, equipment supports, pipe 
supports and penetrations, lighting fixtures, and items mounted on roof curbs. 

b. Show wall-mounted items including personnel doors, vehicular doors, windows, 
louvers, and lighting fixtures. 

c. Show translucent panels. 

4. Accessory Drawings: Include details of the following items, at a scale of not less than 1-
1/2 inches per 12 inches (1:8): 

a. Flashing and trim. 
b. Gutters. 
c. Downspouts. 
d. Service walkways. 

C. Samples for Initial Selection: For units with factory-applied finishes. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 387 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 4 of 25 

D. Door Schedule: For doors and frames. Use same designations indicated on Drawings. Include 
details of reinforcement. 

1. Door Hardware Schedule: Include details of fabrication and assembly of door hardware. 
Organize schedule into door hardware sets indicating complete designations of every 
item required for each door or opening. 

2. Keying Schedule: Detail Owner's final keying instructions for locks. Include schematic 
keying diagram and index each key set to unique door designations. 

E. Delegated-Design Submittal: For metal building systems. 

1. Include analysis data indicating compliance with performance requirements and design 
data signed and sealed by the qualified professional engineer responsible for their 
preparation. 

1.8 INFORMATIONAL SUBMITTALS 

A. Qualification Data: For erector  

B. Retain "Welding certificates" Paragraph below if retaining "Welding Qualifications" Paragraph 
in "Quality Assurance" Article. 

C. Welding certificates. 

D. Erector Certificates: For qualified erector, from manufacturer. 

E. Field quality-control reports. 

1.9 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS 

A. Maintenance Data: For metal panel finishes and door hardware to include in maintenance 
manuals. 

1.10 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING 

A. Deliver components, sheets, panels, and other manufactured items so as not to be damaged or 
deformed. Package metal panels for protection during transportation and handling. 

B. Unload, store, and erect metal panels in a manner to prevent bending, warping, twisting, and 
surface damage. 

C. Stack metal panels horizontally on platforms or pallets, covered with suitable weathertight and 
ventilated covering. Store metal panels to ensure dryness, with positive slope for drainage of 
water. Do not store metal panels in contact with other materials that might cause staining, 
denting, or other surface damage. 

D. Protect foam-plastic insulation as follows: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 388 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 5 of 25 

1. Do not expose to sunlight, except to extent necessary for period of installation and 
concealment. 

2. Protect against ignition at all times. Do not deliver foam-plastic insulation materials to 
Project site before installation time. 

3. Complete installation and concealment of foam-plastic materials as rapidly as possible in 
each area of construction. 

1.11 FIELD CONDITIONS 

A. Weather Limitations: Proceed with panel installation only when weather conditions permit 
metal panels to be installed according to manufacturers' written instructions and warranty 
requirements. 

PART 2 - PRODUCTS – OWNER PROVIDED, REFERENCE ONLY 

2.1 MANUFACTURERS 

A. Manufacturers:   
1. B&C Steel Corp. 

2.2 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION 

A. Provide a complete, integrated set of mutually dependent components and assemblies that form 
a metal building system capable of withstanding structural and other loads, thermally induced 
movement, and exposure to weather without failure or infiltration of water into building 
interior. 

B. Primary-Frame Type: 

1. Rigid Clear Span: Solid-member, structural-framing system without interior columns. 
2. Lean-to: Solid- or truss-member, structural-framing system, designed to be partially 

supported by another structure. 

C. End-Wall Framing: Manufacturer's standard, for buildings not required to be expandable, 
consisting of primary frame, capable of supporting one-half of a bay design load, and end-wall 
columns or load-bearing end-wall and corner columns and rafters. 

D. Secondary-Frame Type: Manufacturer's standard purlins and joists and flush-framed girts. 

E. Eave Height: As indicated by nominal height on Drawings. 

F. Bay Spacing: As indicated on Drawings. 

G. Roof Slope: 1 inches per 12 inches (1:6). 

H. Roof System: Manufacturer's standard metal roof panels. 

1. Liner Panels: Tapered rib. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 389 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 6 of 25 

I. Exterior Wall System: Manufacturer's standard exposed-fastener metal wall panels. 

1. Liner Panels: Tapered rib. 

2.3 PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

A. Delegated Design: Engage a qualified professional engineer, as defined in Section 014000 
"Quality Requirements," to design metal building system. 

B. Structural Performance: Metal building systems shall withstand the effects of gravity loads and 
the following loads and stresses within limits and under conditions indicated according to 
procedures in MBMA's "Metal Building Systems Manual." 

1. Design Loads: As indicated on Drawings. 
2. Deflection and Drift Limits: Design metal building system assemblies to withstand 

serviceability design loads without exceeding deflections and drift limits recommended in 
AISC Steel Design Guide No. 3 "Serviceability Design Considerations for Steel 
Buildings." 

3. Deflection and Drift Limits: No greater than the following: 

a. Purlins and Rafters: Vertical deflection of 1/180 of the span. 
b. Girts: Horizontal deflection of 1/90 of the span. 
c. Metal Roof Panels: Vertical deflection of 1/180 of the span. 
d. Metal Wall Panels: Horizontal deflection of 1/90 of the span. 
e. Design secondary-framing system to accommodate deflection of primary framing 

and construction tolerances, and to maintain clearances at openings. 
f. Lateral Drift: Maximum of 1/60 of the building height. 

C. Seismic Performance: Metal building system shall withstand the effects of earthquake motions 
determined according to ASCE/SEI 7. 

D. Thermal Movements: Allow for thermal movements from ambient and surface temperature 
changes by preventing buckling, opening of joints, overstressing of components, failure of joint 
sealants, failure of connections, and other detrimental effects. Base calculations on surface 
temperatures of materials due to both solar heat gain and nighttime-sky heat loss. 

1. Temperature Change: 120 deg F (67 deg C), ambient; 180 deg F (100 deg C), material 
surfaces. 

E. Fire-Resistance Ratings: Where assemblies are indicated to have a fire-resistance rating, provide 
metal panel assemblies identical to those of assemblies tested for fire resistance per 
ASTM E 119 or ASTM E 108 by a qualified testing agency. Identify products with appropriate 
markings of applicable testing agency. 

1. Indicate design designations from UL's "Fire Resistance Directory," FM Global's 
"Approval Guide," or from the listings of another qualified testing agency. 

F. Fire Propagation Characteristics: Exterior wall assemblies containing foam plastics pass 
NFPA 285 fire test. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 390 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 7 of 25 

G. Structural Performance for Metal Roof and Wall Panels: Provide metal panel systems capable 
of withstanding the effects of the following loads, based on testing according to ASTM E 1592: 

1. Wind Loads: As indicated on Drawings. 

H. Air Infiltration for Metal Roof Panels: Air leakage of not more than 0.06 cfm/sq. ft. (0.3 L/s per 
sq. m) when tested according to ASTM E 1680 or ASTM E 283 at the following test-pressure 
difference: 

1. Test-Pressure Difference: 6.24 lbf/sq. ft. (300 Pa). 

I. Air Infiltration for Metal Wall Panels: Air leakage of not more than 0.06 cfm/sq. ft. (0.3 L/s per 
sq. m) when tested according to ASTM E 283 at the following test-pressure difference: 

1. Test-Pressure Difference: 6.24 lbf/sq. ft. (300 Pa). 

J. Water Penetration for Metal Roof Panels: No water penetration when tested according to 
ASTM E 1646 or ASTM E 331 at the following test-pressure difference: 

1. Test-Pressure Difference: 6.24 lbf/sq. ft. (300 Pa). 

K. Water Penetration for Metal Wall Panels: No water penetration when tested according to 
ASTM E 331 at the following test-pressure difference: 

1. Test-Pressure Difference: 6.24 lbf/sq. ft. (300 Pa). 

L. Wind-Uplift Resistance: Provide metal roof panel assemblies that comply with UL 580 for 
wind-uplift-resistance class indicated. 

1. Uplift Rating: UL 90. 

M. FM Global Listing: Provide metal roof panels and component materials that comply with 
requirements in FM Global 4471 as part of a panel roofing system and that are listed in FM 
Global's "Approval Guide" for Class 1 or noncombustible construction, as applicable. Identify 
materials with FM Global markings. 

1. Fire/Windstorm Classification: Class 1A-90. 
2. Hail Resistance: SH. 

2.4 STRUCTURAL-STEEL FRAMING 

A. Structural Steel: Comply with AISC 360, "Specification for Structural Steel Buildings." 

B. Bolted Connections: Comply with RCSC's "Specification for Structural Joints Using High-
Strength Bolts." 

C. Cold-Formed Steel: Comply with AISI's "North American Specification for the Design of Cold-
Formed Steel Structural Members" for design requirements and allowable stresses. 

D. Primary Framing: Manufacturer's standard primary-framing system, designed to withstand 
required loads and specified requirements. Primary framing includes transverse and lean-to 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 391 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 8 of 25 

frames; rafters, rake, and canopy beams; sidewall, intermediate, end-wall, and corner columns; 
and wind bracing. 

1. General: Provide frames with attachment plates, bearing plates, and splice members. 
Factory drill for field-bolted assembly. Provide frame span and spacing indicated. 

a. Slight variations in span and spacing may be acceptable if necessary to comply 
with manufacturer's standard, as approved by Architect. 

2. Rigid Clear-Span Frames: I-shaped frame sections fabricated from shop-welded, built-up 
steel plates or structural-steel shapes. Interior columns are not permitted. 

3. Rigid Modular Frames: I-shaped frame sections fabricated from shop-welded, built-up 
steel plates or structural-steel shapes. Provide interior columns fabricated from round 
steel pipes or tubes, or shop-welded, built-up steel plates. 

4. Frame Configuration: Single gable or Lean-to, with high side connected to and supported 
by another structure. 

5. Exterior Column: Tapered. 
6. Rafter: Tapered. 

E. End-Wall Framing: Manufacturer's standard primary end-wall framing fabricated for field-
bolted assembly to comply with the following: 

1. End-Wall and Corner Columns: I-shaped sections fabricated from structural-steel shapes; 
shop-welded, built-up steel plates; or C-shaped, cold-formed, structural-steel sheet. 

2. End-Wall Rafters: C-shaped, cold-formed, structural-steel sheet; or I-shaped sections 
fabricated from shop-welded, built-up steel plates or structural-steel shapes. 

F. Secondary Framing: Manufacturer's standard secondary framing, including purlins, girts, eave 
struts, flange bracing, base members, gable angles, clips, headers, jambs, and other 
miscellaneous structural members. Unless otherwise indicated, fabricate framing from either 
cold-formed, structural-steel sheet or roll-formed, metallic-coated steel sheet, prepainted with 
coil coating, to comply with the following: 

1. Purlins: C- or Z-shaped sections; fabricated from built-up steel plates, steel sheet, or 
structural-steel shapes; minimum 2-1/2-inch- (64-mm-) wide flanges. 

a. Depth: As needed to comply with system performance requirements] <Insert 
dimension. 

2. Purlins: Steel joists of depths indicated on Drawings. 
3. Girts: C- or Z-shaped sections; fabricated from built-up steel plates, steel sheet, or 

structural-steel shapes. Form ends of Z-sections with stiffening lips angled 40 to 50 
degrees from flange, with minimum 2-1/2-inch- (64-mm-) wide flanges. 

a. Depth: As required to comply with system performance requirements] <Insert 
dimension. 

4. Eave Struts: Unequal-flange, C-shaped sections; fabricated from built-up steel plates, 
steel sheet, or structural-steel shapes; to provide adequate backup for metal panels. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 392 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 9 of 25 

5. Flange Bracing: Minimum 2-by-2-by-1/8-inch (51-by-51-by-3-mm) structural-steel 
angles or 1-inch- (25-mm-) diameter, cold-formed structural tubing to stiffen primary-
frame flanges. 

6. Sag Bracing: Minimum 1-by-1-by-1/8-inch (25-by-25-by-3-mm) structural-steel angles. 
7. Base or Sill Angles: Manufacturer's standard base angle, minimum 3-by-2-inch (76-by-

51-mm), fabricated from zinc-coated (galvanized) steel sheet. 
8. Purlin and Girt Clips: Manufacturer's standard clips fabricated from steel sheet. Provide 

galvanized clips where clips are connected to galvanized framing members. 
9. Framing for Openings: Channel shapes; fabricated from cold-formed, structural-steel 

sheet or structural-steel shapes. Frame head and jamb of door openings and head, jamb, 
and sill of other openings. 

10. Miscellaneous Structural Members: Manufacturer's standard sections fabricated from 
cold-formed, structural-steel sheet; built-up steel plates; or zinc-coated (galvanized) steel 
sheet; designed to withstand required loads. 

G. Canopy Framing: Manufacturer's standard structural-framing system, designed to withstand 
required loads; fabricated from shop-welded, built-up steel plates or structural-steel shapes. 
Provide frames with attachment plates and splice members, factory drilled for field-bolted 
assembly. 

1. Type: Straight-beam, eave type or Purlin-extension type. 

H. Bracing: Provide adjustable wind bracing using any method as follows: 

1. Rods: ASTM A 36/A 36M; ASTM A 572/A 572M, Grade 50 (345); or 
ASTM A 529/A 529M, Grade 50 (345); minimum 1/2-inch- (13-mm-) diameter steel; 
threaded full length or threaded a minimum of 6 inches (152 mm) at each end. 

2. Cable: ASTM A 475, minimum 1/4-inch- (6-mm-) diameter, extra-high-strength grade, 
Class B, zinc-coated, seven-strand steel; with threaded end anchors. 

3. Angles: Fabricated from structural-steel shapes to match primary framing, of size 
required to withstand design loads. 

4. Rigid Portal Frames: Fabricated from shop-welded, built-up steel plates or structural-steel 
shapes to match primary framing; of size required to withstand design loads. 

5. Fixed-Base Columns: Fabricated from shop-welded, built-up steel plates or structural-
steel shapes to match primary framing; of size required to withstand design loads. 

6. Diaphragm Action of Metal Panels: Design metal building to resist wind forces through 
diaphragm action of metal panels. 

I. Anchor Rods: Headed anchor rods as required by the metal building system manufacturer for 
attachment of metal building to foundation. 

J. Materials: 

1. W-Shapes: ASTM A 992/A 992M; ASTM A 572/A 572M, Grade 50 or 55 (345 or 380); 
or ASTM A 529/A 529M, Grade 50 or 55 (345 or 380). 

2. Channels, Angles, M-Shapes, and S-Shapes: ASTM A 36/A 36M; 
ASTM A 572/A 572M, Grade 50 or 55 (345 or 380); or ASTM A 529/A 529M, Grade 50 
or 55 (345 or 380). 

3. Plate and Bar: ASTM A 36/A 36M; ASTM A 572/A 572M, Grade 50 or 55 (345 or 380); 
or ASTM A 529/A 529M, Grade 50 or 55 (345 or 380). 

4. Steel Pipe: ASTM A 53/A 53M, Type E or S, Grade B. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 393 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 10 of 25 

5. Cold-Formed Hollow Structural Sections: ASTM A 500, Grade B or C, structural tubing. 
6. Structural-Steel Sheet: Hot-rolled, ASTM A 1011/A 1011M, Structural Steel (SS), 

Grades 30 through 55 (205 through 380), or High-Strength Low-Alloy Steel (HSLAS) or 
High-Strength Low-Alloy Steel with Improved Formability (HSLAS-F), Grades 45 
through 70 (310 through 480); or cold-rolled, ASTM A 1008/A 1008M, Structural Steel 
(SS), Grades 25 through 80 (170 through 550), or HSLAS, Grades 45 through 70 (310 
through 480). 

7. Metallic-Coated Steel Sheet: ASTM A 653/A 653M, SS, Grades 33 through 80 (230 
through 550), or HSLAS or HSLAS-F, Grades 50 through 80 (340 through 550); with 
G60 (Z180) coating designation; mill phosphatized. 

8. Metallic-Coated Steel Sheet Prepainted with Coil Coating: Steel sheet, metallic coated by 
the hot-dip process and prepainted by the coil-coating process to comply with 
ASTM A 755/A 755M. 

a. Zinc-Coated (Galvanized) Steel Sheet: ASTM A 653/A 653M, SS, Grades 33 
through 80 (230 through 550), or HSLAS or HSLAS-F, Grades 50 through 80 (340 
through 550); with G90 (Z275) coating designation. 

b. Aluminum-Zinc Alloy-Coated Steel Sheet: ASTM A 792/A 792M, SS, Grade 50 
or 80 (340 or 550); with Class AZ50 (AZM150) coating. 

9. Joist Girders: Manufactured according to "Standard Specifications for Joist Girders," in 
SJI's "Standard Specifications and Load Tables for Steel Joists and Joist Girders"; with 
steel-angle, top- and bottom-chord members, and end- and top-chord arrangements as 
indicated on Drawings and required for primary framing. 

10. Steel Joists: Manufactured according to "Standard Specifications for Open Web Steel 
Joists, K-Series," in SJI's "Standard Specifications and Load Tables for Steel Joists and 
Joist Girders"; with steel-angle, top- and bottom-chord members, and end- and top-chord 
arrangements as indicated on Drawings and required for secondary framing. 

11. Non-High-Strength Bolts, Nuts, and Washers: ASTM A 307, Grade A, carbon-steel, hex-
head bolts; ASTM A 563 (ASTM A 563M) carbon-steel hex nuts; and ASTM F 844 plain 
(flat) steel washers. 

a. Finish: Plain. 

12. Structural Bolts, Nuts, and Washers: ASTM A 325 (ASTM A 325M), Type 1, heavy-hex 
steel structural bolts; ASTM A 563 (ASTM A 563M) heavy-hex carbon-steel nuts; and 
ASTM F 436 (ASTM F 436M) hardened carbon-steel washers. 

a. Finish: Plain. 

13. High-Strength Bolts, Nuts, and Washers: ASTM A 490 (ASTM A 490M), Type 1, heavy-
hex steel structural bolts or tension-control, bolt-nut-washer assemblies with spline ends; 
ASTM A 563 (ASTM A 563M) heavy-hex carbon-steel nuts; and ASTM F 436 
(ASTM F 436M) hardened carbon-steel washers, plain. 

14. Tension-Control, High-Strength Bolt-Nut-Washer Assemblies: ASTM F 1852, Type 1, 
heavy-hex-head steel structural bolts with spline ends. 

a. Finish: Plain. 

15. Unheaded Anchor Rods: ASTM F 1554, Grade 55. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 394 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 11 of 25 

a. Configuration: Straight. 
b. Nuts: ASTM A 563 (ASTM A 563M) heavy-hex carbon steel. 
c. Plate Washers: ASTM A 36/A 36M carbon steel. 
d. Washers: ASTM F 436 (ASTM F 436M) hardened carbon steel. 
e. Finish: Plain. 

16. Headed Anchor Rods: ASTM F 1554, Grade 55. 

a. Configuration: Straight. 
b. Nuts: ASTM A 563 (ASTM A 563M) heavy-hex carbon steel. 
c. Plate Washers: ASTM A 36/A 36M carbon steel. 
d. Washers: ASTM F 436 (ASTM F 436M) hardened carbon steel. 
e. Finish: Plain. 

17. Threaded Rods: ASTM A 193/A 193M. 

a. Nuts: ASTM A 563 (ASTM A 563M) heavy-hex carbon steel. 
b. Washers: ASTM F 436 (ASTM F 436M) hardened carbon steel. 
c. Finish: Plain. 

K. Finish: Factory primed. Apply specified primer immediately after cleaning and pretreating. 

1. Clean and prepare in accordance with SSPC-SP2. 
2. Coat with manufacturer's standard primer. Apply primer to primary and secondary 

framing to a minimum dry film thickness of 1 mil (0.025 mm). 

a. Prime secondary framing formed from uncoated steel sheet to a minimum dry film 
thickness of 0.5 mil (0.013 mm) on each side. 

2.5 METAL ROOF PANELS 

A. Exposed Fastener, Tapered-Rib, Metal Roof Panels: Formed with raised, trapezoidal major ribs 
and intermediate stiffening ribs symmetrically spaced or flat pan between major ribs; designed 
to be installed by lapping side edges of adjacent panels and mechanically attaching panels to 
supports using exposed fasteners in side laps. 

1. Material: Zinc-coated (galvanized) or aluminum-zinc alloy-coated steel sheet, 0.024-inch 
(0.61-mm) nominal uncoated steel thickness. Prepainted by the coil-coating process to 
comply with ASTM A 755/A 755M. 

 
a. Color: As selected by Architect from manufacturer's full range. 

2. Major-Rib Spacing: 6 inches (152 mm) o.c. 
3. Panel Coverage: 36 inches (914 mm). 
4. Panel Height: 1 inche  maximum. 

B. Exposed-Fastener, Tapered-Rib, Metal Liner Panels: Formed with raised, trapezoidal major ribs 
and intermediate stiffening ribs symmetrically spaced or flat pan between major ribs; designed 
to be installed by lapping side edges of adjacent panels and mechanically attaching panels to 
supports using exposed fasteners in side laps. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 395 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 12 of 25 

1. Material: Zinc-coated (galvanized) or aluminum-zinc alloy-coated steel sheet, 0.024-inch 
(0.61-mm) nominal uncoated steel thickness. Prepainted by the coil-coating process to 
comply with ASTM A 755/A 755M. 

a. Exterior Finish: Two-coat fluoropolymer. 
b. Color: As selected by Architect from manufacturer's full range. 

2. Major-Rib Spacing: 6 inches (152 mm) o.c. 
3. Panel Coverage: 36 inches (914 mm). 
4. Panel Height: 1.5 inches (38 mm)] maximum. 

2.6 METAL WALL PANELS 

A. Exposed-Fastener, Tapered-Rib, Metal Wall Panels: Formed with raised, trapezoidal major ribs 
and intermediate stiffening ribs symmetrically spaced or flat pan between major ribs; designed 
to be installed by lapping side edges of adjacent panels and mechanically attaching panels to 
supports using exposed fasteners in side laps. 

1. Material: Zinc-coated (galvanized) or aluminum-zinc alloy-coated steel sheet, 0.024-inch 
(0.61-mm) nominal uncoated steel thickness. Prepainted by the coil-coating process to 
comply with ASTM A 755/A 755M. 

 
a. Color: As selected by Architect from manufacturer's full range. 

2. Major-Rib Spacing: 6 inches (152 mm) o.c. 
3. Panel Coverage: 36 inches (914 mm). 
4. Panel Height: 1 inch  maximum. 

B. Tapered-Rib, Metal Liner Panels: Formed with raised, trapezoidal major ribs and intermediate 
stiffening ribs symmetrically spaced or flat pan between major ribs; designed to be installed by 
lapping side edges of adjacent panels and mechanically attaching panels to supports using 
exposed fasteners in side laps. 

1. Material: Zinc-coated (galvanized) or aluminum-zinc alloy-coated steel sheet, 0.024-inch 
(0.61-mm) nominal uncoated steel thickness. Prepainted by the coil-coating process to 
comply with ASTM A 755/A 755M. 

a. Exterior Finish: Siliconized polyester. 
b. Color: As selected by Architect from manufacturer's full range. 

2. Major-Rib Spacing: 6 inches (152 mm) o.c. 
3. Panel Coverage: 36 inches (914 mm)]. 
4. Panel Height: 1 inch  maximum. 

2.7 THERMAL INSULATION 

A. Mineral-Fiber-Blanket Insulation: ASTM C 665, type indicated below; consisting of fibers 
manufactured from glass, slag wool, or rock wool. 
1. R-Value Requirements: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 396 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 13 of 25 

a. R-33 for roof areas. 
b. R-25 for wall areas. 

2. Nonreflective Faced: Type II (blankets with nonreflective membrane covering), 
Category 1 (membrane is a vapor retarder), Class A (membrane-faced surface with a 
flame-spread index of 25 or less). 

B. Retainer Strips: For securing insulation between supports, 0.025-inch (0.64-mm) nominal-
thickness, formed, metallic-coated steel or PVC retainer clips colored to match insulation 
facing. 

C. Vapor-Retarder Facing: ASTM C 1136, with permeance not greater than 0.02 perm (1.15 ng/Pa 
x s x sq. m) when tested according to ASTM E 96/E 96M, Desiccant Method. 
1. Composition: White metallized-polypropylene film facing, fiberglass scrim 

reinforcement, and kraft-paper backing. 
2. Composition: Aluminum foil facing, elastomeric barrier coating, fiberglass scrim 

reinforcement, and kraft-paper backing. 
3. Composition: White polypropylene film facing, fiberglass scrim reinforcement, and 

metallized-polyester film backing. 
4. Composition: White polypropylene film facing and fiberglass-polyester-blend fabric 

backing. 

D. Vapor-Retarder Tape: Pressure-sensitive tape of type recommended by vapor-retarder 
manufacturer for sealing joints and penetrations in vapor retarder. 

a. Color and Gloss: As selected by Architect from manufacturer's full range. 

2.8 ACCESSORIES 

A. General: Provide accessories as standard with metal building system manufacturer and as 
specified. Fabricate and finish accessories at the factory to greatest extent possible, by 
manufacturer's standard procedures and processes. Comply with indicated profiles and with 
dimensional and structural requirements. 

1. Form exposed sheet metal accessories that are without excessive oil-canning, buckling, 
and tool marks and that are true to line and levels indicated, with exposed edges folded 
back to form hems. 

B. Roof Panel Accessories: Provide components required for a complete metal roof panel assembly 
including copings, fasciae, corner units, ridge closures, clips, sealants, gaskets, fillers, closure 
strips, and similar items. Match material and finish of metal roof panels unless otherwise 
indicated. 

1. Closures: Provide closures at eaves and ridges, fabricated of same material as metal roof 
panels. 

2. Clips: Manufacturer's standard, formed from steel sheet, designed to withstand negative-
load requirements. 

3. Cleats: Manufacturer's standard, mechanically seamed cleats formed from steel sheet. 
4. Backing Plates: Provide metal backing plates at panel end splices, fabricated from 

material recommended by manufacturer. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 397 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 14 of 25 

5. Closure Strips: Closed-cell, expanded, cellular, rubber or crosslinked, polyolefin-foam or 
closed-cell laminated polyethylene; minimum 1-inch- (25-mm-) thick, flexible closure 
strips; cut or premolded to match metal roof panel profile. Provide closure strips where 
indicated or necessary to ensure weathertight construction. 

6. Thermal Spacer Blocks: Where metal panels attach directly to purlins, provide thermal 
spacer blocks of thickness required to provide 1-inch (25-mm) standoff; fabricated from 
extruded polystyrene. 

C. Wall Panel Accessories: Provide components required for a complete metal wall panel assembly 
including copings, fasciae, mullions, sills, corner units, clips, sealants, gaskets, fillers, closure 
strips, and similar items. Match material and finish of metal wall panels unless otherwise 
indicated. 

1. Closures: Provide closures at eaves and rakes, fabricated of same material as metal wall 
panels. 

2. Backing Plates: Provide metal backing plates at panel end splices, fabricated from 
material recommended by manufacturer. 

3. Closure Strips: Closed-cell, expanded, cellular, rubber or crosslinked, polyolefin-foam or 
closed-cell laminated polyethylene; minimum 1-inch- (25-mm-) thick, flexible closure 
strips; cut or premolded to match metal wall panel profile. Provide closure strips where 
indicated or necessary to ensure weathertight construction. 

D. Flashing and Trim: Zinc-coated (galvanized) or aluminum-zinc alloy-coated steel sheet, 0.018-
inch (0.46-mm) nominal uncoated steel thickness, prepainted with coil coating; finished to 
match adjacent metal panels. 

1. Provide flashing and trim as required to seal against weather and to provide finished 
appearance. Locations include, but are not limited to, eaves, rakes, corners, bases, framed 
openings, ridges, fasciae, and fillers. 

2. Opening Trim: Zinc-coated (galvanized) or aluminum-zinc alloy-coated steel sheet, 
0.030-inch (0.76-mm) nominal uncoated steel thickness, prepainted with coil coating. 
Trim head and jamb of door openings, and head, jamb, and sill of other openings. 

E. Materials: 

1. Fasteners: Self-tapping screws, bolts, nuts, self-locking rivets and bolts, end-welded 
studs, and other suitable fasteners designed to withstand design loads. Provide fasteners 
with heads matching color of materials being fastened by means of plastic caps or 
factory-applied coating. 

a. Fasteners for Metal Roof Panels: Self-drilling or self-tapping, zinc-plated, hex-
head carbon-steel screws, with a stainless-steel cap or zinc-aluminum-alloy head 
and EPDM sealing washer. 

b. Fasteners for Metal Wall Panels: Self-drilling or self-tapping, zinc-plated, hex-
head carbon-steel screws, with EPDM sealing washers bearing on weather side of 
metal panels. 

c. Fasteners for Flashing and Trim: Blind fasteners or self-drilling screws with hex 
washer head. 

d. Blind Fasteners: High-strength aluminum or stainless-steel rivets. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 398 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 15 of 25 

2. Corrosion-Resistant Coating: Cold-applied asphalt mastic, compounded for 15-mil (0.4-
mm) dry film thickness per coat. Provide inert-type noncorrosive compound free of 
asbestos fibers, sulfur components, and other deleterious impurities. 

3. Nonmetallic, Shrinkage-Resistant Grout: ASTM C 1107/C 1107M, factory-packaged, 
nonmetallic aggregate grout, noncorrosive, nonstaining, mixed with water to consistency 
suitable for application and a 30-minute working time. 

4. Metal Panel Sealants: 

a. Sealant Tape: Pressure-sensitive, 100 percent solids, gray polyisobutylene-
compound sealant tape with release-paper backing. Provide permanently elastic, 
nonsag, nontoxic, nonstaining tape of manufacturer's standard size. 

b. Joint Sealant: ASTM C 920; one part elastomeric polyurethane or polysulfide; of 
type, grade, class, and use classifications required to seal joints in metal panels and 
remain weathertight; and as recommended by metal building system manufacturer. 

2.9 FABRICATION 

A. General: Design components and field connections required for erection to permit easy 
assembly. 

1. Mark each piece and part of the assembly to correspond with previously prepared 
erection drawings, diagrams, and instruction manuals. 

2. Fabricate structural framing to produce clean, smooth cuts and bends. Punch holes of 
proper size, shape, and location. Members shall be free of cracks, tears, and ruptures. 

B. Tolerances: Comply with MBMA's "Metal Building Systems Manual" for fabrication and 
erection tolerances. 

C. Primary Framing: Shop fabricate framing components to indicated size and section, with 
baseplates, bearing plates, stiffeners, and other items required for erection welded into place. 
Cut, form, punch, drill, and weld framing for bolted field assembly. 

1. Make shop connections by welding or by using high-strength bolts. 
2. Join flanges to webs of built-up members by a continuous, submerged arc-welding 

process. 
3. Brace compression flange of primary framing with steel angles or cold-formed structural 

tubing between frame web and purlin web or girt web, so flange compressive strength is 
within allowable limits for any combination of loadings. 

4. Weld clips to frames for attaching secondary framing if applicable, or punch for bolts. 
5. Shop Priming: Prepare surfaces for shop priming according to SSPC-SP 2. Shop prime 

primary framing with specified primer after fabrication. 

D. Secondary Framing: Shop fabricate framing components to indicated size and section by roll 
forming or break forming, with baseplates, bearing plates, stiffeners, and other plates required 
for erection welded into place. Cut, form, punch, drill, and weld secondary framing for bolted 
field connections to primary framing. 

1. Make shop connections by welding or by using non-high-strength bolts. 
2. Shop Priming: Prepare uncoated surfaces for shop priming according to SSPC-SP 2. 

Shop prime uncoated secondary framing with specified primer after fabrication. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 399 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 16 of 25 

E. Metal Panels: Fabricate and finish metal panels at the factory to greatest extent possible, by 
manufacturer's standard procedures and processes, as necessary to fulfill indicated performance 
requirements. Comply with indicated profiles and with dimensional and structural requirements. 

1. Provide panel profile, including major ribs and intermediate stiffening ribs, if any, for full 
length of metal panel. 

PART 3 - EXECUTION 

3.1 EXAMINATION 

A. Examine substrates, areas, and conditions, with erector present, for compliance with 
requirements for installation tolerances and other conditions affecting performance of the Work. 

B. Before erection proceeds, survey elevations and locations of concrete- and masonry-bearing 
surfaces and locations of anchor rods, bearing plates, and other embedments to receive 
structural framing, with erector present, for compliance with requirements and metal building 
system manufacturer's tolerances. 

C. Proceed with erection only after unsatisfactory conditions have been corrected. 

3.2 PREPARATION 

A. Clean and prepare surfaces to be painted according to manufacturer's written instructions for 
each particular substrate condition. 

B. Provide temporary shores, guys, braces, and other supports during erection to keep structural 
framing secure, plumb, and in alignment against temporary construction loads and loads equal 
in intensity to design loads. Remove temporary supports when permanent structural framing, 
connections, and bracing are in place unless otherwise indicated. 

3.3 ERECTION OF STRUCTURAL FRAMING 

A. Erect metal building system according to manufacturer's written instructions and drawings. 

B. Do not field cut, drill, or alter structural members without written approval from metal building 
system manufacturer's professional engineer. 

C. Set structural framing accurately in locations and to elevations indicated, according to AISC 
specifications referenced in this Section. Maintain structural stability of frame during erection. 

D. Base and Bearing Plates: Clean concrete- and masonry-bearing surfaces of bond-reducing 
materials, and roughen surfaces prior to setting plates. Clean bottom surface of plates. 

1. Set plates for structural members on wedges, shims, or setting nuts as required. 
2. Tighten anchor rods after supported members have been positioned and plumbed. Do not 

remove wedges or shims but, if protruding, cut off flush with edge of plate before 
packing with grout. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 400 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 17 of 25 

3. Promptly pack grout solidly between bearing surfaces and plates so no voids remain. 
Neatly finish exposed surfaces; protect grout and allow to cure. Comply with 
manufacturer's written installation instructions for shrinkage-resistant grouts. 

E. Align and adjust structural framing before permanently fastening. Before assembly, clean 
bearing surfaces and other surfaces that will be in permanent contact with framing. Perform 
necessary adjustments to compensate for discrepancies in elevations and alignment. 

1. Level and plumb individual members of structure. 
2. Make allowances for difference between temperature at time of erection and mean 

temperature when structure will be completed and in service. 

F. Primary Framing and End Walls: Erect framing level, plumb, rigid, secure, and true to line. 
Level baseplates to a true even plane with full bearing to supporting structures, set with double-
nutted anchor bolts. Use grout to obtain uniform bearing and to maintain a level base-line 
elevation. Moist-cure grout for not less than seven days after placement. 

1. Make field connections using high-strength bolts installed according to RCSC's 
"Specification for Structural Joints Using High-Strength Bolts" for bolt type and joint 
type specified. 

a. Joint Type: Snug tightened or pretensioned as required by manufacturer. 

G. Secondary Framing: Erect framing level, plumb, rigid, secure, and true to line. Field bolt 
secondary framing to clips attached to primary framing. 

1. Provide rake or gable purlins with tight-fitting closure channels and fasciae. 
2. Locate and space wall girts to suit openings such as doors and windows. 
3. Provide supplemental framing at entire perimeter of openings, including doors, windows, 

louvers, ventilators, and other penetrations of roof and walls. 

H. Steel Joists and Joist Girders: Install joists, girders and accessories plumb, square, and true to 
line; securely fasten to supporting construction according to SJI's "Standard Specifications and 
Load Tables for Steel Joists and Joist Girders," joist manufacturer's written instructions, and 
requirements in this Section. 

1. Before installation, splice joists delivered to Project site in more than one piece. 
2. Space, adjust, and align joists accurately in location before permanently fastening. 
3. Install temporary bracing and erection bridging, connections, and anchors to ensure that 

joists are stabilized during construction. 
4. Joist Installation: Bolt joists to supporting steel framework using high-strength structural 

bolts unless otherwise indicated. Comply with RCSC's "Specification for Structural 
Joints Using High-Strength Bolts" for high-strength structural bolt installation and 
tightening requirements. 

5. Joist Installation: Weld joist seats to supporting steel framework. 
6. Install and connect bridging concurrently with joist erection, before construction loads 

are applied. Anchor ends of bridging lines at top and bottom chords if terminating at 
walls or beams. 

I. Bracing: Install bracing in roof and sidewalls where indicated on erection drawings. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 401 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 18 of 25 

1. Tighten rod and cable bracing to avoid sag. 
2. Locate interior end-bay bracing only where indicated. 

J. Framing for Openings: Provide shapes of proper design and size to reinforce openings and to 
carry loads and vibrations imposed, including equipment furnished under mechanical and 
electrical work. Securely attach to structural framing. 

K. Erection Tolerances: Maintain erection tolerances of structural framing within AISC 303. 

3.4 METAL PANEL INSTALLATION, GENERAL 

A. Fabricate and finish metal panels and accessories at the factory, by manufacturer's standard 
procedures and processes, as necessary to fulfill indicated performance requirements 
demonstrated by laboratory testing. Comply with indicated profiles and with dimensional and 
structural requirements. 

B. On-Site Fabrication: Subject to compliance with requirements of this Section, metal panels may 
be fabricated on-site using UL-certified, portable roll-forming equipment if panels are of same 
profile and warranted by manufacturer to be equal to factory-formed panels. Fabricate 
according to equipment manufacturer's written instructions and to comply with details shown. 

C. Examination: Examine primary and secondary framing to verify that structural-panel support 
members and anchorages have been installed within alignment tolerances required by 
manufacturer. 

1. Examine roughing-in for components and systems penetrating metal panels, to verify 
actual locations of penetrations relative to seams before metal panel installation. 

D. General: Anchor metal panels and other components of the Work securely in place, with 
provisions for thermal and structural movement. 

1. Field cut metal panels as required for doors, windows, and other openings. Cut openings 
as small as possible, neatly to size required, and without damage to adjacent metal panel 
finishes. 

a. Field cutting of metal panels by torch is not permitted unless approved in writing 
by manufacturer. 

2. Install metal panels perpendicular to structural supports unless otherwise indicated. 
3. Flash and seal metal panels with weather closures at perimeter of openings and similar 

elements. Fasten with self-tapping screws. 
4. Locate and space fastenings in uniform vertical and horizontal alignment. 
5. Locate metal panel splices over structural supports with end laps in alignment. 
6. Lap metal flashing over metal panels to allow moisture to run over and off the material. 

E. Lap-Seam Metal Panels: Install screw fasteners using power tools with controlled torque 
adjusted to compress EPDM washers tightly without damage to washers, screw threads, or 
metal panels. Install screws in predrilled holes. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 402 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 19 of 25 

1. Arrange and nest side-lap joints so prevailing winds blow over, not into, lapped joints. 
Lap ribbed or fluted sheets one full rib corrugation. Apply metal panels and associated 
items for neat and weathertight enclosure. Avoid "panel creep" or application not true to 
line. 

F. Metal Protection: Where dissimilar metals contact each other or corrosive substrates, protect 
against galvanic action by painting contact surfaces with corrosion-resistant coating, by 
applying rubberized-asphalt underlayment to each contact surface, or by other permanent 
separation as recommended by metal roof panel manufacturer. 

G. Joint Sealers: Install gaskets, joint fillers, and sealants where indicated and where required for 
weatherproof performance of metal panel assemblies. Provide types of gaskets, fillers, and 
sealants indicated; or, if not indicated, provide types recommended by metal panel 
manufacturer. 

1. Seal metal panel end laps with double beads of tape or sealant the full width of panel. 
Seal side joints where recommended by metal panel manufacturer. 

2. Prepare joints and apply sealants to comply with requirements in Section 079200 "Joint 
Sealants." 

3.5 METAL ROOF PANEL INSTALLATION 

A. General: Provide metal roof panels of full length from eave to ridge unless otherwise indicated 
or restricted by shipping limitations. 

1. Install ridge and hip caps as metal roof panel work proceeds. 
2. Flash and seal metal roof panels with weather closures at eaves and rakes. Fasten with 

self-tapping screws. 

B. Standing-Seam Metal Roof Panels: Fasten metal roof panels to supports with concealed clips at 
each standing-seam joint, at location and spacing and with fasteners recommended by 
manufacturer. 

1. Install clips to supports with self-drilling or self-tapping fasteners. 
2. Install pressure plates at locations indicated in manufacturer's written installation 

instructions. 
3. Snap Joint: Nest standing seams and fasten together by interlocking and completely 

engaging factory-applied sealant. 
4. Seamed Joint: Crimp standing seams with manufacturer-approved motorized seamer tool 

so that clip, metal roof panel, and factory-applied sealant are completely engaged. 
5. Rigidly fasten eave end of metal roof panels and allow ridge end free movement for 

thermal expansion and contraction. Predrill panels for fasteners. 
6. Provide metal closures at peaks, rake edges, rake walls and each side of ridge and hip 

caps. 

C. Lap-Seam Metal Roof Panels: Fasten metal roof panels to supports with exposed fasteners at 
each lapped joint, at location and spacing recommended by manufacturer. 

1. Provide metal-backed sealing washers under heads of exposed fasteners bearing on 
weather side of metal roof panels. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 403 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 20 of 25 

2. Provide sealant tape at lapped joints of metal roof panels and between panels and 
protruding equipment, vents, and accessories. 

3. Apply a continuous ribbon of sealant tape to weather-side surface of fastenings on end 
laps and on side laps of nesting-type metal panels, on side laps of ribbed or fluted metal 
panels, and elsewhere as needed to make metal panels weatherproof to driving rains. 

4. At metal panel splices, nest panels with minimum 6-inch (152-mm) end lap, sealed with 
butyl-rubber sealant and fastened together by interlocking clamping plates. 

D. Metal Fascia Panels: Align bottom of metal panels and fasten with blind rivets, bolts, or self-
drilling or self-tapping screws. Flash and seal metal panels with weather closures where fasciae 
meet soffits, along lower panel edges, and at perimeter of all openings. 

E. Metal Roof Panel Installation Tolerances: Shim and align metal roof panels within installed 
tolerance of 1/4 inch in 20 feet (6 mm in 6 m) on slope and location lines and within 1/8-inch 
(3-mm) offset of adjoining faces and of alignment of matching profiles. 

3.6 METAL WALL PANEL INSTALLATION 

A. General: Install metal wall panels in orientation, sizes, and locations indicated on Drawings. 
Install panels perpendicular to girts, extending full height of building, unless otherwise 
indicated. Anchor metal wall panels and other components of the Work securely in place, with 
provisions for thermal and structural movement. 

1. Unless otherwise indicated, begin metal panel installation at corners with center of rib 
lined up with line of framing. 

2. Shim or otherwise plumb substrates receiving metal wall panels. 
3. When two rows of metal panels are required, lap panels 4 inches (102 mm) minimum. 
4. When building height requires two rows of metal panels at gable ends, align lap of gable 

panels over metal wall panels at eave height. 
5. Rigidly fasten base end of metal wall panels and allow eave end free movement for 

thermal expansion and contraction. Predrill panels. 
6. Flash and seal metal wall panels with weather closures at eaves and rakes, and at 

perimeter of all openings. Fasten with self-tapping screws. 
7. Install screw fasteners in predrilled holes. 
8. Install flashing and trim as metal wall panel work proceeds. 
9. Apply elastomeric sealant continuously between metal base channel (sill angle) and 

concrete, and elsewhere as indicated on Drawings; if not indicated, as necessary for 
waterproofing. 

10. Align bottom of metal wall panels and fasten with blind rivets, bolts, or self-drilling or 
self-tapping screws. 

11. Provide weatherproof escutcheons for pipe and conduit penetrating exterior walls. 

B. Metal Wall Panels: Install metal wall panels on exterior side of girts. Attach metal wall panels 
to supports with fasteners as recommended by manufacturer. 

3.7 THERMAL INSULATION INSTALLATION 

A. General: Install insulation concurrently with metal panel installation, in thickness indicated to 
cover entire surface, according to manufacturer's written instructions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 404 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 21 of 25 

1. Set vapor-retarder-faced units with vapor retarder toward warm side of construction 
unless otherwise indicated. Do not obstruct ventilation spaces except for firestopping. 

2. Tape joints and ruptures in vapor retarder, and seal each continuous area of insulation to 
the surrounding construction to ensure airtight installation. 

3. Install factory-laminated, vapor-retarder-faced blankets straight and true in one-piece 
lengths, with both sets of facing tabs sealed, to provide a complete vapor retarder. 

4. Install blankets straight and true in one-piece lengths. Install vapor retarder over 
insulation, with both sets of facing tabs sealed, to provide a complete vapor retarder. 

B. Blanket Roof Insulation: Comply with the following installation method: 

1. Over-Framing Installation: Extend insulation and vapor retarder over and perpendicular 
to top flange of secondary framing. Hold in place by metal roof panels fastened to 
secondary framing. 

2. Between-Purlin Installation: Extend insulation and vapor retarder between purlins. Carry 
vapor-retarder-facing tabs up and over purlin, overlapping adjoining facing of next 
insulation course and maintaining continuity of retarder. Hold in place with bands and 
crossbands below insulation. 

3. Over-Purlin-with-Spacer-Block Installation: Extend insulation and vapor retarder over 
and perpendicular to top flange of secondary framing. Install layer of filler insulation 
over first layer to fill space formed by metal roof panel standoffs. Hold in place by panels 
fastened to standoffs. 

a. Thermal Spacer Blocks: Where metal roof panels attach directly to purlins, install 
thermal spacer blocks. 

4. Two-Layers-between-Purlin-with-Spacer-Block Installation: Extend insulation and vapor 
retarder between purlins. Carry vapor-retarder-facing tabs up and over purlin, 
overlapping adjoining facing of next insulation course and maintaining continuity of 
retarder. Install layer of filler insulation over first layer to fill space between purlins 
formed by thermal spacer blocks. Hold in place with bands and crossbands below 
insulation. 

a. Thermal Spacer Blocks: Where metal roof panels attach directly to purlins, install 
thermal spacer blocks. 

5. Retainer Strips: Install retainer strips at each longitudinal insulation joint, straight and 
taut, nesting with secondary framing to hold insulation in place. 

C. Blanket Wall Insulation: Extend insulation and vapor retarder over and perpendicular to top 
flange of secondary framing. Hold in place by metal wall panels fastened to secondary framing. 

1. Retainer Strips: Install retainer strips at each longitudinal insulation joint, straight and 
taut, nesting with secondary framing to hold insulation in place. 

2. Sound-Absorption Insulation: Where sound-absorption requirement is indicated for metal 
liner panels, cover insulation with polyethylene film and provide inserts of wire mesh to 
form acoustical spacer grid. 

D. Board Wall Insulation: Extend board insulation in thickness indicated to cover entire wall. Hold 
in place by metal wall panels fastened to secondary framing. Comply with manufacturers' 
written instructions. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 405 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 22 of 25 

1. Retainer Strips: Install retainer strips at each longitudinal insulation joint, straight and 
taut, nesting with secondary framing to hold insulation in place. 

3.8 DOOR AND FRAME INSTALLATION 

A. General: Install doors and frames plumb, rigid, properly aligned, and securely fastened in place 
according to manufacturers' written instructions. Coordinate installation with wall flashings and 
other components. Seal perimeter of each door frame with elastomeric sealant used for metal 
wall panels. 

B. Personnel Doors and Frames: Install doors and frames according to NAAMM-HMMA 840. Fit 
non-fire-rated doors accurately in their respective frames, with the following clearances: 

1. Between Doors and Frames at Jambs and Head: 1/8 inch (3 mm). 
2. Between Edges of Pairs of Doors: 1/8 inch (3 mm). 
3. At Door Sills with Threshold: 3/8 inch (9.5 mm). 
4. At Door Sills without Threshold: 3/4 inch (19.1 mm). 
5. At fire-rated openings, install frames according to, and doors with clearances specified in, 

NFPA 80. 

C. Sliding Service Doors: Bolt support angles to opening head members through factory-punched 
holes. Bolt door tracks to support angles at maximum 24 inches (610 mm) o.c. Set doors and 
operating equipment with necessary hardware, jamb and head mold stops, continuous hood 
flashing, anchors, inserts, hangers, and equipment supports. 

D. Field Glazing: Comply with installation requirements in Section 088000 "Glazing." 

E. Door Hardware: 

1. Install surface-mounted items after finishes have been completed at heights indicated in 
DHI's "Recommended Locations for Architectural Hardware for Standard Steel Doors 
and Frames." 

2. Set units level, plumb, and true to line and location. Adjust and reinforce attachment 
substrates as necessary for proper installation and operation. 

3. Drill and countersink units that are not factory prepared for anchorage fasteners. Space 
fasteners and anchors according to industry standards. 

4. Set thresholds for exterior doors in full bed of sealant complying with requirements for 
concealed mastics specified in Section 079200 "Joint Sealants." 

3.9 ACCESSORY INSTALLATION 

A. General: Install accessories with positive anchorage to building and weathertight mounting, and 
provide for thermal expansion. Coordinate installation with flashings and other components. 

1. Install components required for a complete metal roof panel assembly, including trim, 
copings, ridge closures, seam covers, flashings, sealants, gaskets, fillers, closure strips, 
and similar items. 

2. Install components for a complete metal wall panel assembly, including trim, copings, 
corners, seam covers, flashings, sealants, gaskets, fillers, closure strips, and similar items. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 406 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 23 of 25 

3. Where dissimilar metals contact each other or corrosive substrates, protect against 
galvanic action by painting contact surfaces with corrosion-resistant coating, by applying 
rubberized-asphalt underlayment to each contact surface, or by other permanent 
separation as recommended by manufacturer. 

B. Flashing and Trim: Comply with performance requirements, manufacturer's written installation 
instructions, and SMACNA's "Architectural Sheet Metal Manual." Provide concealed fasteners 
where possible, and set units true to line and level. Install work with laps, joints, and seams that 
will be permanently watertight and weather resistant. 

1. Install exposed flashing and trim that is without excessive oil-canning, buckling, and tool 
marks and that is true to line and levels indicated, with exposed edges folded back to 
form hems. Install sheet metal flashing and trim to fit substrates and to result in 
waterproof and weather-resistant performance. 

2. Expansion Provisions: Provide for thermal expansion of exposed flashing and trim. Space 
movement joints at a maximum of 10 feet (3 m) with no joints allowed within 24 inches 
(600 mm) of corner or intersection. Where lapped or bayonet-type expansion provisions 
cannot be used or would not be sufficiently weather resistant and waterproof, form 
expansion joints of intermeshing hooked flanges, not less than 1 inch (25 mm) deep, 
filled with mastic sealant (concealed within joints). 

C. Louvers: Locate and place louver units level, plumb, and at indicated alignment with adjacent 
work. 

1. Use concealed anchorages where possible. Provide brass or lead washers fitted to screws 
where required to protect metal surfaces and to make a weathertight connection. 

2. Provide perimeter reveals and openings of uniform width for sealants and joint fillers. 
3. Protect galvanized- and nonferrous-metal surfaces from corrosion or galvanic action by 

applying a heavy coating of corrosion-resistant paint on surfaces that will be in contact 
with concrete, masonry, or dissimilar metals. 

4. Install concealed gaskets, flashings, joint fillers, and insulation as louver installation 
progresses, where weathertight louver joints are required. Comply with Section 079200 
"Joint Sealants" for sealants applied during louver installation. 

3.10 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL 

A. Special Inspections: Owner will engage a qualified special inspector to perform field quality 
control special inspections and to submit reports. 

B. Product will be considered defective if it does not pass tests and inspections. 

C. Prepare test and inspection reports. 

3.11 ADJUSTING 

A. Doors: After completing installation, test and adjust doors to operate easily, free of warp, twist, 
or distortion. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 407 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 24 of 25 

B. Door Hardware: Adjust and check each operating item of door hardware and each door to 
ensure proper operation and function of every unit. Replace units that cannot be adjusted to 
operate as intended. 

C. Windows: Adjust operating sashes and ventilators, screens, hardware, and accessories for a tight 
fit at contact points and at weather stripping to ensure smooth operation and weathertight 
closure. Lubricate hardware and moving parts. 

D. Roof Ventilators and Adjustable Louvers: After completing installation, including work by 
other trades, lubricate, test, and adjust units to operate easily, free of warp, twist, or distortion as 
needed to provide fully functioning units. 

1. Adjust louver blades to be weathertight when in closed position. 

3.12 CLEANING AND PROTECTION 

A. Repair damaged galvanized coatings on galvanized items with galvanized repair paint according 
to ASTM A 780/A 780M and manufacturer's written instructions. 

B. Remove and replace glass that has been broken, chipped, cracked, abraded, or damaged during 
construction period. 

C. Touchup Painting: After erection, promptly clean, prepare, and prime or reprime field 
connections, rust spots, and abraded surfaces of prime-painted structural framing, bearing plates 
and accessories. 

1. Clean and prepare surfaces by SSPC-SP 2, "Hand Tool Cleaning," or by SSPC-SP 3, 
"Power Tool Cleaning." 

2. Apply a compatible primer of same type as shop primer used on adjacent surfaces. 

D. Touchup Painting: Cleaning and touchup painting are specified in Section 099113 "Exterior 
Painting" and Section 099123 "Interior Painting." 

E. Metal Panels: Remove temporary protective coverings and strippable films, if any, as metal 
panels are installed. On completion of metal panel installation, clean finished surfaces as 
recommended by metal panel manufacturer. Maintain in a clean condition during construction. 

1. Replace metal panels that have been damaged or have deteriorated beyond successful 
repair by finish touchup or similar minor repair procedures. 

F. Doors and Frames: Immediately after installation, sand rusted or damaged areas of prime coat 
until smooth and apply touchup of compatible air-drying primer. 

1. Immediately before final inspection, remove protective wrappings from doors and 
frames. 

G. Windows: Clean metal surfaces immediately after installing windows. Avoid damaging 
protective coatings and finishes. Remove excess sealants, glazing materials, dirt, and other 
substances. Clean factory-glazed glass immediately after installing windows. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 408 / 578



City of Scottsbluff 
23 Club Baseball 

 Baker & Associates, Inc 

 

METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS 133419 Page 25 of 25 

H. Louvers: Clean exposed surfaces that are not protected by temporary covering, to remove 
fingerprints and soil during construction period. Do not let soil accumulate until final cleaning. 

1. Restore louvers damaged during installation and construction period so no evidence 
remains of corrective work. If results of restoration are unsuccessful, as determined by 
Architect, remove damaged units and replace with new units. 

a. Touch up minor abrasions in finishes with air-dried coating that matches color and 
gloss of, and is compatible with, factory-applied finish coating. 

END OF SECTION 133419 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 409 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 Piping & Plumbing Section 15050 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 15050 PIPING AND PLUMBING 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The materials to be supplied and work to be performed as described by this 
Section consists of furnishing all materials, equipment, supplies, and 
appurtenances required, and of performing all operations in connection with 
the construction of all exposed and buried piping and plumbing work. 

 
PART 2 DRAWINGS: 
 

Details shown on the Drawings are intended to show the approximate location 
of piping within and around the buildings and are not exact.  Actual 
dimensions of piping and related appurtenances shall be dependent upon the 
dimensions of items of equipment furnished and installed by the Contractor.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for verifying all space requirements, the 
locations and connections of equipment within buildings or structures, 
including the location of piping where it passes through walls, ceilings or 
floors.  All such dimensions of piping and equipment shall be verified in the 
field by the Contractor, based on the actual final dimensions of buildings, 
structures, and equipment. 

 
PART 3 LOCAL CODES AND ORDINANCES: 
 

The Contractor shall comply with all local building and plumbing codes, where 
applicable and these codes shall take precedence over the Drawings and 
Specifications.  (See Division 1, Section 01060) 

 
PART 4 PIPING ALIGNMENT AND FLEXIBILITY:   
 

4.1 Complete provisions are not always shown on the Drawings, and the 
Contractor may add flexible joints to the piping where required but only 
as approved by the Engineer. 

 
4.2 All exposed piping shall be installed plumb and square with adjacent 

walls and floors, without high points that could trap air or other gasses.  
Piping shall be installed at a straight and continuous grade between 
elevations shown on the Drawings. 

 
4.3 The Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating the work of all 

crafts including but not limited to:  piping and plumbing, heating and 
duct work, electrical, carpentry, mill work, concrete and masonry so as 
to avoid conflicts. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 410 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 Piping & Plumbing Section 15050 - Page 2 
 

4.4 All pipelines subject to expansion or contraction shall have adequate 
provision for movement through the use of expansion joints or bends. 

 
PART 5 PIPE INSTALLATION THROUGH CONCRETE OR MASONRY 

STRUCTURES: 
 

5.1 Whenever a pipe passes through the wall, ceiling or floor of a structure 
to the adjoining earth, a bell and spigot or other flexible joint shall be 
installed within one (1) foot of the exterior of the concrete or block wall.  
Special care shall be taken to obtain full support of piping adjacent to 
structures in excavated areas. 

 
5.2 Block-outs shall be used only where indicated on the Drawings or 

specified.  Block-outs shall be accurately centered around the pipes 
and shall be no larger than necessary to permit adequate passage of 
bells or flanges.  Block-outs may not be used where water, ground 
water or other liquids are contained. 

 
5.3 Where pipes are to be installed through existing concrete or masonry 

walls, the opening shall be saw cut to provide a straight and even 
edge. 

 
5.4 After the pipe is installed, openings shall be grouted closed using an 

expansive grout similar and equal to "5 Star Grout".  On exterior 
surfaces, the grout shall terminate ¾-inch from the surface, and a 
coating of 3:1 Portland Cement Plaster shall be applied, flush with the 
exterior wall.  The exterior of the grouted opening shall be painted with 
two coats of "Thoroseal" foundation coating as manufactured by 
Standard Dry Wall Products. 

 
5.5 The Contractor shall provide a sufficient number of flanges unions, or 

couplings to permit dismantling of the pipe without disturbing adjacent 
piping or piping in concrete. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 411 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.18 Piping & Plumbing Section 15050 - Page 3 
 

5.6 Pipelines through concrete walls or tanks used to contain water, 
sewage, or other liquids (or when so indicated on the Drawings) shall 
have a wall flange consisting of a ¼-inch thick by 2-inch deep cast-iron 
flange brazed around the pipe at the center of the wall, to prevent 
seepage of liquids around the pipe.  The wall pipe section with flanges 
shall be poured in place. 

 
PART 6 TESTING OF PIPE. 
 

6.1 All piping shall be visually inspected for leaks or seepage and shall be 
pressure tested to 150 percent of the normal operating pressure.  Any 
leaks or failures of the piping shall be immediately repaired by the 
Contractor at no additional expense to the Owner. 

 
6.2 The Engineer may require the testing of piping or pipe materials in 

accordance with applicable ASTM, ASA, or AWWA Standards. 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 412 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Plumbing Piping Section 15410 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 15410 PLUMBING PIPING MATERIALS 
 
 
PART 1 SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with this Section consists of 
furnishing all material, equipment, supplies and accessories required, and of 
performing all labor required for installation of plumbing piping. 

 
PART 2 GENERAL: 
 

Unless otherwise indicated following, all plumbing and piping materials shall 
conform to the appropriate local building codes.  Where local codes are not in 
effect, the codes listed in Section 01060, REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS, 
shall govern the installation of plumbing and piping under this Contract. 

 
PART 3 MATERIALS: 
 

3.1 Copper Pipe: 
 

Shall be type "L" rigid copper pipe and shall conform to ASA 
Specification H23.1.  Soft copper tubing shall not be used, unless 
specifically approved by the Engineer. 

 
3.2 Metal Pipe: 

 
Small diameter, metal piping shall be standard weight (schedule 40) 
black steel with threaded couplings.  Fittings shall be standard weight 
and dimensions.  Galvanized piping shall be used where called for on 
the drawings. 

 
3.3 PVC Pipe: 

 
PVC pipe for sanitary sewer shall be SDR-35.  PVC piping for water 
service (where allowed by local code) shall be Schedule 40 or AWWA 
C900 as applicable. 

 
3.4 PEX Pipe: 

 
PEX pipe for water distribution shall be the requirements of ASTM F 
876.  

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 413 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Plumbing Piping Section 15410 - Page 2 
 

 
3.5 Gas Piping: 

 
A. Gas piping shall be standard weight black steel with welded 

fittings - Schedule 40.  Shut offs shall be lubricated plug type.  
Buried gas piping shall be treated with an approved protective 
wrapping. 

 
B. After installation is completed, the piping shall be tested against 

an air pressure of 50 psi for a minimum of 24 hours.  If any loss 
of pressure occurs, leaks shall be located and repaired and the 
piping shall be retested.  Gas piping shall be laid out and 
installed by the natural gas utility. 

 
3.6 Fittings: 

 
Fittings shall be of materials consistent with the piping material 
installed. 

 
PART 4 INSTALLATION: 
 

4.1 Unions shall be used at all connections to equipment, fixtures, valves, 
or controls.  Horizontal piping shall be installed without sags or humps 
and with a graduated fall to permit drainage of the system, where 
appropriate. 

 
4.2 Piping installed shall be free of vibrations and shall be supported as 

required (Ref. Section 15140).  The Contractor shall install all unions, 
fittings, and joints required to allow contraction and expansion.  Piping 
to fixtures shall be secured to prevent pipe pulling away from fixture. 

 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 414 / 578



 

 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Plumbing Fixtures Section 15440 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 15440 PLUMBING FIXTURES: 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

The work to be performed in accordance with this Section consists of 
furnishing all material, equipment, supplies and accessories required, and of 
performing all labor required for installation of the following plumbing fixtures. 

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 Floor Drains: 
 

The drain shall have a coated cast-iron body with integral trap and a 
nickel bronze grate with vandal proof screws.  The integral trap shall 
have an internal cleanout, removable backwater valve and a minimum 
of 8 inch grate.  Floor drains shall be similar and equal to Zurn No. 
Z742 or Jay R. Smith Manufacturing 2530. 

 
2.2 Water Closets: 

 
All water closets shall include new seats and bolts caps. 

 
A. New floor mounted water closets shall be American Standard, 

Model Madera Toilet (#3043.001) or approved equal.  
 

2.3 Grab Bars: 
 

Grab bars shall be closed end 18 gauge x 1½“ diameter, with 
concealed mounting and satin finish.  Grab bars shall be similar and 
equal to Bradley #812 series. 

 
2.4 Flush Valve: 

 
All flush valves shall be water saving gallonage to match the fixture to 
be installed.  Flush valves for water closets shall be Sloan No. Royal 
111.  Flush valves for urinals shall be Sloan No. Royal 186.  The 
Contractor shall verify dimensions of existing knock-outs and fixtures 
prior to ordering materials. 

 
2.5 Urinals: 

 
The fixture shall be supplied with the wall hangers, stainless steel flush 
pipe assembly and a stainless steel beehive strainer. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 415 / 578



 

 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Plumbing Fixtures Section 15440 - Page 2 
 

A. All urinals shall be supplied with the wall hangers, stainless 
steel flush pipe assembly and a beehive strainer.  All urinals 
shall be equal to American Standard Model Washbrook Urinal 
(#6590.001), 1.0 gallon flush.  

 
 

2.6 Wash Sinks: 
 

Wash sinks shall be equal to that manufactured by American-
Standard, Model Regalyn Lavatory' 19" x 17" (#4867.004) enameled 
cast-iron wall mounted sink.  The fixture shall be supplied with a 
integral front overflow and 4" spread faucet holes. 

 
2.7 Hand Sink (Kitchen only): 

 
Hand sink shall be similar or equal to that manufactured by American-
Standard, Model Lucern wall mounted sink and faucet 0356.028. 
Include Amarilis Heritage faucet with Triune Cross Handles 4801.862 
(or equal). 
 

2.8 Mop Sink:  
 

Mop sink shall be similar or equal to that manufactured by Mustee-, 
Utilitub, 24 x 18 polyporpylene floor mounted sink and faucet model 
21CP. 
 

2.9 Sink Faucets (Bathroom Wash Sinks Only): 
 

The sink faucets shall be American Standard  Model Nextgen 
Selectronic Integrated Proximity Lavatory Faucet No. 7755.303 with 4” 
Deck Plate (775P.400).   

 
2.10 Three- Compartment Sink 

 
The three compartment sink shall be high grade heavy duty 18 guage 
304 type stainless steel.  Each basin shall be at least 10” deep and 
12”x16” dimensions with a side drain board at least 16” wide.  Similar 
or equal to Koolmore model CS312-16S.  Include commercial grade 
wall mount faucet with reach to all three compartments.  

 
2.11 Traps: 

 
Traps shall be cast iron coated inside and out with a rust inhibitor.  
Traps shall be 17 gauge thickness, minimum. 

 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 416 / 578



 

 
Requires Modifications  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.11 Plumbing Fixtures Section 15440 - Page 3 
 

2.12 Drinking Fountains/Water Coolers: 
 

Water cooler shall be Elkay EZH20 Vandal-Resistant Bottle Filling 
Station & Bi-Level Cooler, Non-Filtered 8 GPH, Stainless.  Model 
VRCTL8WSK or approved equal. 

 
 

2.13 Hose bibs: 
 

A. Exterior Hose Bibs: 
 

Exterior mounted hose bibs shall be similar and equal to 
Woodford, Model 65 or Zurn, Model 1310 automatic draining, 
freezeless wall hydrant, with vacuum breaker, backflow 
preventer, ¾-inch hose thread, ¾-inch inlet, polished brass 
finish on brass castings.  A loose tee key shall be furnished with 
the hydrant. 

 
PART 3 INSTALLATION: 
 

All fixtures shall be installed using new and unused piping, seals, valves and 
hangers, unless otherwise specified or shown on the Drawings.  Installation of 
the fixtures shall be as recommended by the manufacture and shall provide a 
water tight fit to the plumbing and the fixture shall be installed to provide 
secure and strong mounting to prevent abuse.  Piping penetrations through 
floors, walls, and ceilings shall be sealed and a stainless steel escutcheon 
plate shall be provided for each penetration. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 417 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 General Electrical Section 16000 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 16000 GENERAL ELECTRICAL 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

1.1 Description: 
 

A. Work covered by this section shall consist of furnishing all labor, 
equipment, supplies, and materials unless otherwise specified, 
and performing all operations necessary for the installation of 
complete electrical systems as required by these Specifications 
and/or as indicated on the Drawings. 

 
All work under this Section shall also be governed by the project 
general conditions, along with all supplements and amendments 
thereto, as published by the Engineer. 

 
B. Work shall also include the completion of all labor and the 

supply of all materials whether specifically mentioned or not, for 
the successful operation of all electrical systems described on 
the Drawings or required by these Specifications. 

 
Oversights at the bidding stage will not relieve the Contractor of 
providing complete electrical systems including equipment, 
materials, tools, and labor. 

 
1.2 General Requirements: 

 
A. Codes and Regulations: 

 
Comply with all applicable state and local codes, regulations, 
ordinances, and the latest applicable requirements of the 
National Electrical Code as interpreted by the local inspection 
authority who shall have final jurisdiction. 

 
B. Permits and Fees: 

 
Secure and pay for all permits, fees, taxes, royalties, licenses, 
and inspections in connection with the electrical work.  Upon 
completion of work, furnish to the Engineer a Certificate of final 
Inspection and final approval of the local inspection authority. 
 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 418 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 General Electrical Section 16000 - Page 2 
 

C. Examination of Premises: 
 

Examine the premises prior to bidding and become fully familiar 
with existing conditions.   

 
PART 2 MATERIALS: 
 

2.1 All materials and equipment shall be manufactured, tested, and 
installed in accordance with the following: 

 
1. National Electrical Code (NEC). 
2. Underwriters' Laboratory (UL). 
3. National Electrical Manufacturer's Assoc. (NEMA). 
4. American National Standards Institute (ANSI). 
5. Illuminating Engineering Society (IES). 

 
2.2 The Contractor shall submit proof, if requested by the Engineer that the 

materials, equipment, or devices that he installs under this contract 
meet the requirements of the Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc. in regard 
to fire and casualty hazards. 

 
2.3 All electrical material shall display a UL label. 

 
PART 3 EXECUTION: 
 

3.1 Installation: 
 

A. Coordination: 
 

The Contractor shall coordinate electrical work with the progress 
of other work and with the work of other trades on the job. 

 
B. Cleanup: 

 
Remove any materials not installed in the work which conflict 
with the work of other contractors, if so directed by the 
Engineer.  At completion of work, clean up and remove from 
premises all debris and materials not installed so premises will 
be left clean. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 419 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 General Electrical Section 16000 - Page 3 
 

3.2 Inspection and Tests: 
 

A. When and if directed by the Engineer, the Contractor shall test, 
under supervision of the Engineer all wiring and connections for 
continuity and grounds. 

 
B. When directed by the Engineer, the Contractor shall 

demonstrate by megger test the insulation resistance of any 
circuit.  Where such a test indicates the presence of faulty 
insulation, the Contractor shall locate the point of fault, replace 
with no additional cost to the Owner, and demonstrate by further 
test the elimination of such a fault. 

 
C. After the installation has been completed and at such time as 

the Engineer may direct, the Contractor shall conduct an 
operating test for approval in accordance with the requirements 
of this Specification. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 420 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 1 
 

SECTION 16100 BASIC MATERIALS AND METHODS: 
 
 
PART 1 GENERAL: 
 

1.1 Description: 
 

Provide all new materials consistent with the requirements of Section 
16000 and as specified below. 

 
1.2 Submittals: 

 
  Submittals shall be in accordance with Section 01340. 
 
PART 2 PRODUCTS: 
 

2.1 Raceways-Acceptable Classes: 
 

A. Description of System: 
 

1. Provide raceways as required below for raceway 
systems. 

  
2. Conduit sizes not noted on Drawings shall be in 

accordance with NEC requirements for the quantities and 
size of wire installed therein. 

 
3. Where nonmetallic raceways are utilized, size as 

required to conform with the grounding conductor 
considered as an insulated additional conductor. 

     
4. Where metallic raceways are used, they must establish 

positive low-resistance paths to ground and effectively 
isolate conductors so that any short-circuit arcs will be 
confined. 

 
5. Reference Section 16450, Grounding.    

 
B. Acceptable Classes: 

 
1. Electrical Metallic Tubing (EMT).  Use for all exposed and 

concealed conduit. 
 

2. Galvanized on the outside and coat on the inside with a 
smooth hard finish of lacquer, varnish, or enamel. 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 421 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 2 
 

 
3. Fittings. 

 
(a) Steel 
(b) Compression gland 
(c) "Tomic" tap-on 
(d) Set screw 

 
4. Comply with Underwriters' Laboratories Standard UL 797 

and USA Standards Institute C80-3. 
 

5. Conduit for underground installations shall be rigid 
nonmetal conduit, schedule 40. 

 
2.2 Wires and Cables: 

 
A. Description of System: 

 
1. Provide a complete system of conductors in raceway 

systems with minimum wire size to be No. 12 unless 
shown otherwise on Drawings.   

 
2. Wire sizes noted on Drawings are to be extended for the 

entire length of a circuit including taps and risers unless 
noted otherwise. 

 
3. Branch circuits shall be No. 10 or larger where the 

distance to the first outlet exceeds 75 feet for 120 volts. 
 

B. Conductor Material: 
 

Copper conductors shall be high conductivity tin coated 
annealed copper in accordance with ASTM B-33.  Use copper 
conductors for all wiring. 

 
C. Insulation: 

 
1. Thermoplastic Insulated, Nylong Sheathed - Use for all 

branch circuit conductors installed in conduit. 
 

a. UL Type THWN, suitable for operation at 600 volts 
in wet or dry locations at conductor temperatures 
not to exceed 75 degrees Celsius. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 422 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 3 
 

b. Poly-Vinyl chloride insulation that is UL defined as 
heat, abrasion, moisture, and oil resistant. 

 
2. Cross-Linked Polyethylene Insulated, XLP Thermosetting 

-Use for service conductors installed in conduit.  
 

a. U.L. Type XHHW, suitable for operation at 600 
volts at conductor temperature 90 degrees Celsius 
in dry locations and 75 degrees Celsius in wet 
locations. 

 
D. Acceptable Manufacturers: 

 
1. Southwire 
2. Basic Wire and Cable 
3. American Insulated Wire Corporation 
4. Okonite Company 
5. Alcoa 
6. Or Equal 

 
2.3 Wire Connectors and Devices: 

 
A. Description of System: 

 
1. Provide wire connectors, crimp terminals, splice 

connectors, mechanical lugs, compression lugs, pin 
connectors, split bolt connectors, and associated 
insulating devices for a complete wiring connection 
system suitable for specified cables furnished. 

 
2. Connectors shall be in accordance with NEC, state, and 

local requirements for size and color installed therein. 
 

3. Connectors and devices shall be installed in accordance 
with manufacturer's and U.L.'s standard requirements for 
tightening torques.  Use proper torquing tools to achieve 
accurate values. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 423 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 4 
 

2.4 Junction Boxes: 
 

A. General Requirements: 
 

1. Construct junction or pull boxes less than 100 cubic 
inches as "junction boxes." 

 
2. Construct junction or pull boxes greater than 100 cubic 

inches as "cabinets." 
 

3. Provide all covers of same gauge metal and include 
screws. 

 
B. Concealed Junction Boxes: 

 
Provide code gauge sheet metal boxes located and sized as 
required with suitable covers and trims. 

 
1. Make of material resistant to corrosion or suitable 

protected, both internally and externally by galvanizing. 
 

2. Boxes installed in damp or wet locations shall be UL 
approved for the purpose. 

 
3. Comply with UL Standard 50. 

 
4. Metal boxes to meet NEC construction specifications. 

 
C. Exposed Junction Boxes: 

 
Boxes exposed or surface mounted shall be die-cast or 
permanent mold cast aluminum body with threaded external hub 
and cast cover. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 424 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 5 
 

D. Cabinets: 
 

1. 14 gauge sheet steel with corrosion resistant finish. 
   

2. Ample space for wires, connections, and equipment. 
 

3. Provide with door, flush catch, and lock. 
 

4. Key all locks alike. 
 

5. Furnish five (5) keys to Owner. 
 

6. Include suitable devices for securing, supporting, and 
adjusting panelboard interiors and fronts. 

 
7. Cabinet fronts: 

 
Cabinet fronts shall have sheet steel panels with hinged 
door. 

 
8. Flush cabinets: 

 
Flush cabinets shall be approximately 3/4 inch larger 
than cabinet on all sides, set with front firmly against the 
finished wall surface. 

 
9. Telephone cabinets: 

 
Size and depths as noted on Drawings with wood 
backboards. 

 
2.5 Outlet Boxes: 

 
A. Description of System: 

 
Provide outlet boxes for all wiring devices, receptacles,  
switches, telephone connections, and clock connections of 
material construction to suit environmental conditions. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 425 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 6 
 

B. Surface Boxes: 
 

1. Furnish die-cast or permanent-mold cast aluminum 
boxes with threaded external hubs as required per 
conduits. 

 
2. Boxes shall be of a corrosion-resistant alloy. 

 
3. Boxes shall be deep body series in single-gang through 

four-gang with all single-gang device cover plates. 
 

4. Manufacturers: 
 

Appleton:  Series "FDH." 
 

2.6 Wiring Devices: 
 

A. Description of System: 
 

Provide wiring devices and device plates as specified below.  
Provide in the quantities and at the locations indicated on the 
Drawings. 

 
B. Specification Grade Receptacles: 

 
1. Specification grade receptacles shall be 2-pole, 3-wire, 

grounding duplex, 20-amp, 125 volts. 
 

2. Manufacturers: 
 

a. Leviton 5362 
 
b. Or equal to Leviton 

 
C. Isolated Ground Receptacles: 

 
1. Isolated ground receptacles shall be UL listed as such in 

addition to being hospital grade, 2-pole, 3-wire grounding 
duplex, 20-amp, 125 volt. 

 
2. Non-conductive nylon insulators shall be provided at 

each end of the insulator. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 426 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 7 
 

3. Manufacturer: 
 

a. Leviton 5362-IG (Ivory). 
 
b. Or equal to Leviton. 

 
D. Switches: 

 
1. Switches shall be heavy duty, AC quiet type, toggle 

handle, 20-amp, 120-277 volts, corrosion resistant. 
 

2. Manufacturers: 
 

a. Single-pole. 
Leviton:  No. 54521-I. 

 
b. Double-pole. 

Leviton:  No. 54522-I. 
 

c. Three-way. 
Leviton:  No. 54523-I. 

 
d. Four-way. 

Leviton:  No. 54524-I. 
 
 

E. For all receptacles and switches, provide smooth nylon wall 
plates. 

 
F. Materials shall conform and be consistent throughout. 

 
2.7 Panelboards: 

 
A. Panelboards shall be of deadfront construction incorporating 

switching and protective devices of the number, rating and type 
noted herein or indicated on the Drawings.  Electrical 
characteristics, ratings and branch circuit wiring of panelboard 
shall be in accordance with drawings. 

 
B. Panelboard circuit breakers shall be thermal magnetic type.   

 
1. Breakers shall have a minimum interrupting rating of 

10,000 amperes RMS symmetrical short circuit capacity. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 427 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 8 
 

2. Breakers shall be operated by a toggle-type handle and 
shall have a quick-make, quick-break switching 
mechanism with overload or short circuit tripping being 
clearly indicated. 

 
2.8 Motor and Disconnect Switches: 

 
A. Install disconnect switches, thermal overload switches and 

manual motor starting switches for all motors, appliances and 
electrical equipment installed under this contract in accordance 
with the requirements of NEC. 

 
B. Safety and Disconnect Switches.  Switches shall be heavy duty 

type. 
 

1. All current carrying parts shall be plated to resist 
corrosion and promote cool operation. 

 
2. Lugs shall be front removable and U.L. listed for 75oC 

and copper wires. 
 

3. Mechanism shall be quick-make, quick-break. 
 

4. Operating handle shall be an integral part of the box. 
 

C. Manual starting switches with overload protection. 
 

1. Provide for all single phase motors. 
 

2. Size heater elements for approximately 115% of the full 
load current. 

 
2.9 Enclosed Circuit Breakers: 

 
Provide enclosed circuit breakers where indicated having the electrical 
characteristics, ratings and modifications indicated. 

 
A. Each pole of these breakers shall provide inverse time delay 

and instantaneous circuit protection. 
 

B. Switching mechanism shall be trip-free type. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 428 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 9 
 

2.10 Dry Type Transformer: 
 

Provide an air-cooled dry type transformer with the electrical 
characteristics indicated on the drawings. 

 
A. Provide a 220oC insulation system with average winding 

temperature rise not exceeding 150oC for the secondary coils. 
 

B. Provide screened ventilating openings to insure case 
temperature does not exceed 35oC above ambient. 

 
 

C. Core and coil shall be completely isolated from the enclosure by 
means of vibration absorbing mounts. 

 
D. Enclosure, core and coil shall be visibly grounded. 

 
PART 3 INSTALLATION: 
 

3.1 Raceways: 
 

A. Conceal raceways as indicated on the Drawing above ceilings. 
 

B. Layout work in advance to avoid excessive concentrations of 
multiple raceway runs. 

 
C. Run concealed raceways in a direct line and use long sweep 

bend and offsets, where possible. 
 

D. Securely fasten raceways at intervals and locations required by 
NEC or the type raceway employed. 

 
E. Route exposed conduit and surface metal raceways parallel or 

perpendicular to building lines with neat right angle turns. 
 

F. Turn conduits with neat symmetrical concentric bends. 
 

3.2 Wire and Cable: 
 

A. Install wire only in approved raceways. 
 

B. All wiring shall be furnished and installed complete from point of 
service connection to all receptacles, lighting fixtures, utilization 
equipment, etc., as indicated on the Drawings. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 429 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 10 
 

C. Suitable installation equipment shall be provided to prevent 
cutting and abrasion of conductors and conduits during the 
pulling of feeders and branch circuits.  Repeated bending shall 
be avoided, and the minimum bending radius for the particular 
conductor shall be strictly observed. 

 
D. Ropes used for pulling feeders shall be made of polyethylene.  

Metallic ropes shall not be used. 
 
 

E. Wire pulling lubricants shall conform to UL requirements 
applicable to the several insulation and raceway materials used. 

 
F. Pulling lines are to be attached to wires and cables by means of 

either woven basket grips or pulling eyes attached directly to the 
conductors.  Rope hitchers shall not be used. 

 
G. All cables to be installed in a single conduit shall be installed 

together. 
 

H. Apply color coding to all three and four-wire circuits as follows: 
 
   120/240 Volts Phase  480/277 Volt 
 

Black  A   Yellow 
    Red  B   Brown 
      C   Orange 

White  Neutral  White  
Green  Ground  Green 

 
3.3 Wire Connectors and Devices: 

 
A. Any connectors and lugs installed shall not exceed 

manufacturer's recommended connecting combinations. 
 

B. Install wire connecting devices to provide a tight mechanical and 
electrical make-up. 

 
C. Re-check splices and terminations and make-up tight prior to 

substantial completion. 
 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 430 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 11 
 

3.4 Junction Boxes: 
 

A. Install junction boxes so that covers are readily accessible after 
the completion of the installation. 

 
B. Do not embed junction boxes made of aluminum in concrete. 

 
C. Mount rigidly in place with fronts straight and plumb. 

 
D. Support sheet steel boxes adequately to maintain shape.  

 
E. Secure covers with corrosion resistant screws and bolts. 

 
3.5 Wiring Devices: 

 
A. Install isolated ground receptacles at locations indicated on the 

Drawings. 
 

B. Install specification grade receptacles in all remaining areas as 
indicated on the Drawings. 

 
C. Install the proper type of device and plate for the particular 

appliance or equipment. 
 

3.6 Panelboards: 
 

A. Mount panelboards rigidly in place with fronts straight and 
plumb.   

 
B. Provide complete mounting brackets and hardware as 

necessary for complete support of panelboards at locations 
indicated on Drawings. 

 
C. Provide a typed panel directory for each panelboard; enclose in 

plastic. 
 

3.7 Disconnect Switches: 
 

A. Install switches with NEMA 3R. 
 

B. Provide complete mounting brackets and hardware as 
necessary for support of switches. 

 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 431 / 578



 

 
Standard  Baker & Associates, Inc 
Ver.09 Basic Materials & Methods Section 16100 - Page 12 
 

3.8 Enclosed Circuit Breakers: 
 

Install enclosed circuit breakers adjacent to protected conductor and 
equipment.  Make all terminations.  

 
3.9 Dry-Type Transformer: 

 
Allow approximately 12 inches between transformer and any 
obstructions that might prevent air circulation. 

 
 
 
 END OF SECTION 
 ************************* 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 432 / 578



23 Club Improvements - Demolition Set
City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska 69361

DRAWING INDEX
0 COVER SHEET

C-0.01 CIVIL NOTES, ABBREVIATIONS,

SYMBOLS & LINETYPES

C-1.00 EXISTING SITE PLAN

C-1.01 SITE PLAN

DEMOLITION

C-2.00 ROUGH GRADING

SITE PLAN

C-2.01 PROPOSED SITE PLAN

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY)

OWNER
City of Scottsbluff
Rick Deeds
2525 Circle Drive
Scottsbluff, NE 69361
308-632-0058
www.scottsbluff.org

CIVIL
Baker & Associates, Inc.
Jack Baker
120 East 16th Street - Suite A
Scottsbluff, NE 69361
Telephone : 308-632-3123
www.baker-eng.com

ONE-CALL
Digger's Hotline of Nebraska:

(800)331-5666

www.ne-diggers.com

PROJECT CONTACTS:

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
-
 
D

E
M

O
L

I
T

I
O

N

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

C
O

V
E

R
 
S

H
E

E
T

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

23 CLUB FIELDS

SCOTTSBLUFF
HIGH SCHOOL

SCOTTSBLUFF
MIDDLE SCHOOL

27TH STREET

BR
OA

DW
AY

US HIGHWAY #26

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 433 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



/ PER
ACI AMERICAN CONCRETE INSTITUTE
AD ACCESS DOOR OR AREA DRAIN
ADA AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES

ACT
AGG AGGREGATE
AL ALUMINUM
ALT ALTERNATE
ANSI AMERICAN NATIONAL

STANDARD INSTITUTE
APPROX APPROXIMATE
ASPH ASPHALT
AUTO AUTOMATIC
AVG AVERAGE
AWG AMERICAN WIRE GAUGE

BCR BEGIN CURB RETURN
BDY BOUNDARY
BFV BUTTERFLY VALVE
BIT BITUMINOUS
BLDG BUILDING
BOC BACK OF CURB
BRG BEARING
BVC BEGIN VERTICAL CURVE
BW BOTH WAYS

CY CUBIC YARD
CEM CEMENT
CF CUBIC FEET
CFH CUBIC FEET PER HOUR
CFM CUBIC FEET PER MINUTE
CI CAST IRON
CIP CAST IRON PIPE
CJ CONTROL JOINT
CL CENTERLINE
CMP CORRUGATED METAL PIPE
CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT
CO CLEAN OUT
COL COLUMN
CONC CONCRETE
CONST CONSTRUCTION
CONT CONTINUE OR CONTINUOUS
COORD COORDINATE

DEG DEGREE
DEMO DEMOLITION
DEPT DEPARTMENT
DIA OR Ø DIAMETER
DIAG DIAGONAL
DIM DIMENSION
DIP DUCTILE IRON PIPE
DTL(S) DETAIL(S)
DWG(S) DRAWING(S)
DWL(S) DOWEL(S)

(E) OR EXIST EXISTING
E EAST
EA EACH
ECR END CURB RETURN
ELEC ELECTRIC OR ELECTRICAL
ELEV ELEVATION ABOVE SEA LEVEL
ENCL ENCLOSURE

ENGR ENGINEER
EOR EDGE OF ROAD
EOS EDGE OF SLAB
EQ EQUAL
EQ SP EQUALLY SPACED
EQUIP EQUIPMENT
ES EACH SIDE
EST ESTIMATE
EVC END VERTICAL CURVE
EW EACH WAY
E-W EAST-WEST
EX. EXISTING
EXC EXCAVATE

F FAHRENHEIT
FD FLOOR DRAIN OR FIRE DAMPER
FF FINISHED FLOOR
FH FIRE HYDRANT
FL FLOW LINE
FO FIBER-OPTICS
FT FOOT OR FEET
FTG FOOTING

G NATURAL GAS
GA GAGE OR GAUGE
GAL GALLON
GALV GALVANIZED
GB GRADE BREAK
GFI GROUND FAULT INTERRUPTER
GI GALVANIZED IRON
GL GUTTER LINE
GND GROUND
GPH GALLONS PER HOUR
GPM GALLONS PER MINUTE

HB HOSEBIB
HCP HANDICAPPED
HDPE HIGH DENSITY POLYETHYLENE
HORZ HORIZONTAL
HP HORSEPOWER
HR HOUR
HVAC HEATING-VENTILATING AND A/C
HW HEADWALL

IBC INTERNATIONAL BUILDING
CODE

ID INSIDE DIAMETER
IE INVERT ELEVATION
INV INVERT(ER)
INV INVERT
IP IRON PIPE

JB JUNCTION BOX
JT JOINT

K KIP

LF LINEAL FEET
LAB LABORATORY
LAV LAVATORY
LB(S) POUND(S)
LIN LINEAR

LL LIVE LOAD
LNTL LINTEL
LP LOW POINT

(M) MEASURED DISTANCE
M THOUSAND OR MIDDLE
MAX MAXIMUM
MBH 1000 BTUH
MECH MECHANICAL
MH MANHOLE
MIN MINIMUM
MISC MISCELLANEOUS

N NORTH
NEC NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE
NEMA NATIONAL ELECTRICAL

MANUFACTURER'S
ASSOCIATION

NFPA NATIONAL FIRE PROTECTION
AGENCY

NM NON-METALLIC
NO NORMALLY OPEN
NO OR # NUMBER
N-S NORTH-SOUTH
NTS NOT TO SCALE

OC ON CENTER
OCEW ON CENTER EACH WAY
OD OUTSIDE DIAMETER

PC POINT OF CURVATURE
PCC PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE
PERF PERFORATED
PERP PERPENDICULAR
PI POINT OF INTERSECTION
PIV POST INDICATING VALVE
PLBG PLUMBING
PLF POUNDS PER LINEAL FOOT
PLG PILING
POB POINT OF BEGINNING
POE POINT OF END
PPM PARTS PER MILLION
PRC POINT OF REVERSE CURVE
PROP. PROPOSED
PS PRESTRESSED
PSF POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT
PSI POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH
PT POINT OF TANGENCY
PVC POLYVINYL-CHLORIDE
PVI POINT OF VERTICAL

INTERSECTION
PVMT PAVEMENT

QTY QUANTITY

(R) RECORDED DISTANCE
RAD OR R RADIUS
RCP REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE
RD ROOF DRAIN
RE: OR REF REFER TO (REFERENCE)
REM REMOVE(ABLE)
REQD REQUIRED

RND ROUND
RPM REVOLUTION PER MINUTE
RSWV RESILIENT SEAT WEDGE VALVE
RTU REMOTE TELEMETRY UNIT

S SOUTH
SAN SANITARY
SECT SECTION
SF SQUARE FOOT
SFU STRUCTURAL FACING UNIT
SJI STEEL JOIST INSTITUTE
SPECS SPECIFICATIONS
SQ SQUARE
SS STAINLESS STEEL OR SANITARY

SEWER
STA STATION
STD STANDARD
STL STEEL
STM STORM SEWER
SY SQUARE YARD

TAN TANGENT
T-BLK CONCRETE THRUST BLOCK
TEL TELEPHONE
TEMP TEMPORARY
TOB TOP OF BANK
TOC TOP OF CURB
TOF TOP OF FOOTING
TOPO TOPOGRAPHY
TSTAT THERMOSTAT
TYP TYPICAL

UG UNDERGROUND
UL UNDERWRITERS

LABORATORIES

V VOLT
VAC VACUUM
VCP VITRIFIED CLAY PIPE
VCT VINYL COMPOSITION TILE
VEL VELOCITY
VERT VERTICAL
VOL VOLUME
VPC VERTICAL POINT OF

CURVATURE
VPI VERTICAL POINT OF

INTERSECTION
VPT VERTICAL POINT OF TANGENCY
VT VINYL TILE

W/ WITH
W/O WITHOUT
WL WIND LOAD
WP WEATHER PROOF
WT WEIGHT
WWF WELDED WIRE FABRIC
WWM WOVEN WIRE MESH

UG/P

P

FO

ET

E

T

C

FO

S

CS

WM

G

R R

R

Stm

San

W

Gas Gas

3980

X X X X X X X

OH/P

OH/Tele

UG/Tele

UG/TV

OH/TV

IRR

XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX

1. REASONABLE EFFORT HAS BEEN MADE BY THE ENGINEER TO INDICATE THE TYPE, SIZE, LOCATION, AND NUMBER
OF KNOWN UNDERGROUND FACILITIES ON THE DRAWING(S).  HOWEVER, NO GUARANTEE IS MADE AS TO THE
TRUE TYPE, SIZE, LOCATION, OR NUMBER OF SUCH FACILITIES.  THE OMISSION FROM OR THE INCLUSION OF,
UTILITY LOCATIONS ON THE DRAWING(S) IS NOT TO BE CONSIDERED AS THE NON-EXISTENCE OF OR AN
ABSOLUTE LOCATION OF, EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MEET ALL THE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE NEBRASKA ONE-CALL NOTIFICATION ACT (STATE OF NEBRASKA TITLE 155, CHAPTER 2)
OR WYOMING UNDERGROUND FACILITIES NOTIFICATION ACT. (STATE OF WYOMING TITLE 37, CHAPTER 12) AS
APPROPRIATE.

2. BEFORE SUBMITTING A BID, EACH BIDDER WILL, AT BIDDER'S OWN EXPENSE, MAKE OR OBTAIN ANY ADDITIONAL
EXAMINATIONS, INVESTIGATIONS, EXPLORATIONS, TESTS AND STUDIES AND OBTAIN ANY ADDITIONAL
INFORMATION AND DATA WHICH PERTAIN TO THE PHYSICAL CONDITIONS (SURFACE, SUBSURFACE AND
UNDERGROUND FACILITIES) AT OR CONTIGUOUS TO THE SITE OR OTHERWISE WHICH MAY AFFECT COST,
PROGRESS, PERFORMANCE OR FURNISHING OF THE WORK AND WHICH BIDDER DEEMS NECESSARY TO
DETERMINE ITS BID FOR PERFORMING AND FURNISHING THE WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TIME, PRICE AND
OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

3. ENGINEER SHALL NOT, DURING SITE VISITS OR AS A RESULT OF SITE OBSERVATIONS OF CONTRACTOR'S WORK IN
PROGRESS, SUPERVISE, DIRECT, OR HAVE CONTROL OVER THE CONTRACTOR'S WORK NOR SHALL ENGINEER
HAVE AUTHORITY OVER OR RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, SEQUENCES, OR
PROCEDURES SELECTED OR USED BY CONTRACTOR, FOR SECURITY OR SAFETY AT THE SITE, FOR SAFETY
PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS INCIDENT TO THE CONTRACTOR'S WORK IN PROGRESS, FOR ANY FAILURE OF
CONTRACTOR TO COMPLY WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTOR'S PERFORMING AND
FURNISHING THE WORK, OR RESPONSIBILITY OF CONSTRUCTION FOR CONTRACTOR'S FAILURE TO FURNISH AND
PERFORM THE WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING THE RELOCATION OF UTILITIES, POWER POLES, ETC.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE NO CLAIM AGAINST THE OWNER OR ENGINEER REGARDING THE ALLEGED
INACCURACY OF CONSTRUCTION STAKES SET BY THE ENGINEER UNLESS ALL SURVEY STAKES SET BY THE
ENGINEER ARE MAINTAINED INTACT AND CAN BE VERIFIED AS TO THEIR ORIGIN.  IF STAKING IS NOT INTACT OR
CANNOT BE VERIFIED AS TO THE ORIGIN, ANY AND ALL REMEDIAL WORK TO CORRECT IMPROPER CONSTRUCTION
SHALL BE DONE AT THE SOLE EXPENSE OF THE CONTRACTOR.

6. NOTHING CONTAINED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS SHALL CREATE OR BE CONSTRUED TO CREATE ANY
CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE ENGINEER AND THE CONTRACTOR

7. BAKER & ASSOCIATES, INC. CONSIDERS THAT PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS ARE APPROVED DOCUMENTS ONLY IF:
1) THEY ARE PAPER COPIES WITH SIGNATURES AND PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATION VISIBLY PRESENT ON THE
COPIES OR 2) ELECTRONIC FILES IN ADOBE® PORTABLE DOCUMENT FILE (PDF) FORMAT ISSUED DIRECTLY BY
BAKER & ASSOCIATES, INC. (HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED DATA).
INFORMATION SUPPLIED VIA METHODS OTHER THAN THOSE NOTED ABOVE ARE NOT TO BE CONSIDERED
APPROVED DOCUMENTS.  THE RECEIVER OF ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED DOCUMENTS IS RESPONSIBLE FOR
VERIFYING THE INFORMATION IS APPROVED DOCUMENTS.  PLEASE REFERENCE THE REQUIREMENTS OF
DOCUMENT 00800, ELECTRONIC DATA.  THIS ELECTRONIC INFORMATION IS COPYRIGHTED AND MAY NOT BE
TRANSFERRED TO ANY OTHER PARTY.

CIVIL ENGINEERING GENERAL NOTES CIVIL ENGINEERING SUPPLEMENTAL NOTES SYMBOL LEGEND LINETYPE DESIGNATION

ABBREVIATIONS

LIGHT POLES

LIGHT POLE WITH POWER

POWER POLE

ELECTRICAL METER BOX

ELECTRICAL TRANSFORMER

ELECTRICAL HANDHOLE

TELEPHONE PEDESTAL

CABLE BOX

FIBER OPTIC BOX

SATELLITE DISH

MANHOLE

CLEAN-OUT

CURB INLET

AREA INLET

WATER VALVE

FIRE HYDRANT

WATER VALVE IN MANHOLE

CURB STOP

WATER METER PIT

WELL

YARD HYDRANT

GAS METER

GAS MARKER

SIGN

MAILBOX

FLAG POLE

TRAFFIC LIGHT

RAIL CROSSING SIGN

DECIDUOUS TREE

CONIFEROUS TREE

SHRUB

STUMP

ROW MARKER

REBAR/MONUMENT SURVEY

BENCHMARK

SURVEY CONTROL POINT

P

ET

E

S

CS

WM

EXISTING PROPOSED OVERHEAD POWER LINE

UNDERGROUND POWER LINE

OVERHEAD TELEPHONE LINE

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

OVERHEAD TELEVISION CABLE LINE

UNDERGROUND TELEVISION CABLE LINE

FIBER OPTIC CABLE

SANITARY SEWER LINE

STORM SEWER LINE

WATER LINE

IRRIGATION SYSTEM LINE

GAS LINE

CHAIN-LINK FENCE

WOOD FENCE

BARBED-WIRE FENCE

SILT FENCE

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

CONTOUR LINE W/ELEVATION

EASEMENT LINE

PROPERTY LINE

SECTION LINE

G

WELL

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3
 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
-
 
D

E
M

O
L
T

I
O

N

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-0.01

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

C
I
V

I
L
 
N

O
T

E
S

,
 
A

B
B

R
E

V
I
A

T
I
O

N
S

,
 
S

Y
M

B
O

L
S

&
 
L
I
N

E
T

Y
P

E
S

J
u

n
e

 
3

,
 
2

0
1

9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
8

1. ALL MATERIALS DEMOLISHED OR REMOVED MAY BE RECYCLED OR SALVAGED BY CONTRACTOR UNLESS
SPECIFICALLY OTHERWISE NOTED TO BE SALVAGED TO OWNER. 

2. PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ARE SHOWN FOR REFERENCE AND COORDINATION PURPOSES ONLY.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 434 / 578



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P
UG/P

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

3888.0

3887.5

3887.5

3888.5

38
88

.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
88

.5

388
8.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

3888.0

3888.5

38
88

.5

3888.5

3889.0

3888.0

3888.0

3890.0

38
88

.5

3889.0
3889.5

38
88

.0
38

86
.5

38
86

.5
38

87
.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
87

.5

3888.0
3888.0

38
88

.5

3888.5

3888.53888.5

SAN

SAN

WV

W

W

T

SAN

SAN

SAN

W

WV
SAN

SAN

WV

WV

WV

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

IRR

IRR

IR
R

IRR

IRR

IRR

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH/P

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3
 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
-
 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T

I
O

N

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-1.00

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

J
u

n
e

 
3

,
 
2

0
1

9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
8

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

LOCATION OF UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL
TO LIGHTS AND SCORE BOARD IS UNKNOWN.
SHOWN IS FOR REFERENCE ONLY.

LOCATION OF UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL
TO LIGHTS AND SCORE BOARD IS UNKNOWN.
SHOWN IS FOR REFERENCE ONLY.

APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF IRRIGATION
MAIN LINE AND CIRCUIT VALVES

BULL PEN FENCING TYPICAL

CELL TOWER
ENCLOSURE

DUGOUT TYPICAL

SIDEWALK

STORAGE SHED

GRAVEL PARKING

HIGH SCHOOL
SOFTBALL FIELDS

HIGH SCHOOL
SOFTBALL FIELDS

GRAVEL PARKING

CITY 8" WATER MAIN

CITY SANITARY SEWER MAIN

CITY PARK

BABE RUTH FIELD

PACIFIC FIELD

NATIONAL FIELD

AMERICAN FIELD

FENCE ENCLOSURE
FOR ELECTRICAL

METAL BLEACHERS TYPICAL

CITY PARK SUPPLY BINS

BATTING CAGES

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 435 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P
UG/P

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

SAN

SAN

WV

W

W

T

SAN

SAN

SAN

W

WV
SAN

SAN

WV

WV

WV

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

IRR

IRR

IR
R

IRR

IRR

IRR

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH/P

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3
 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
-
 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T

I
O

N

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-1.01

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

D
E

M
O

L
I
T

I
O

N

J
u

n
e

 
3

,
 
2

0
1

9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
8

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

REMOVE BULL PEN FENCING

REMOVE DUGOUT AND
STORAGE BUILDING

REMOVE BACKSTOP AND
SIDE FENCING TO THIS POINT

REMOVE BACKSTOP AND
SIDE FENCING TO THIS POINT

REMOVE DUGOUT REMOVE BATTING CAGE
FENCING AND NETTING

REMOVE BULL PEN
FENCING AND  EXIT FENCEREMOVE BACKSTOP AND

SIDE FENCING TO THIS POINT

REMOVE DUGOUT

REMOVE DUGOUT

REMOVE DUGOUT

REMOVE DUGOUT

REMOVE DUGOUT

REMOVE BACKSTOP AND
SIDE FENCING TO THIS POINT

REMOVE OUTFIELD FENCE
(SALVAGE FABRIC FOR RE-USE)

REMOVE BULL PEN
FENCING AND  EXIT FENCE REMOVE BACKSTOP AND

SIDE FENCING TO THIS POINT

REMOVE BACKSTOP AND
SIDE FENCING TO THIS POINT

REMOVE BACKSTOP AND
SIDE FENCING TO THIS POINT

REMOVE BACKSTOP AND
SIDE FENCING TO THIS POINT

REMOVE DUGOUT

REMOVE SCORE BOARD
(SALVAGE TO OWNER)

REMOVE BUILDING AND
ADJACENT SIDEWALK

REMOVE EXIT FENCING

REMOVE FLOOD LIGHT

NOTES:

1. CONCESSION/RESTROOM FOUNDATIONS AND
FOOTS ARE TO BE REMOVED. BACKFILL AND
COMPACTED TO 95% STANDARD PROCTOR.

2. OWNER WILL REMOVE EXISTING METAL
BLEACHERS.

3. SALVAGE ALL SIGNS TO OWNER.

4. SALVAGE ALL REMOVED FENCING ITEMS TO
OWNER.

REMOVE GRASS AND SOIL (-6"±)
SEE ROUGH GRADING SHEET

REMOVE GRASS AND SOIL (-6"±)
SEE ROUGH GRADING SHEET

REMOVE GRASS AND SOIL (-6"±)
SEE ROUGH GRADING SHEET

REMOVE GRASS AND SOIL (-6"±)
SEE ROUGH GRADING SHEET

LOCATE EXISTING CIRCUIT VALVES AND
ABANDON IRRIGATION MAINS IN PLACE

LOCATE EXISTING CIRCUIT VALVES AND
ABANDON IRRIGATION MAINS IN PLACE

REMOVE MANHOLE

REMOVE MANHOLE AND VALVES.
ABANDON WATER IN PLACE

REMOVE POLE AND LIGHTS
(SALVAGE TO CITY)

REMOVE POLE AND LIGHTS
(SALVAGE TO CITY)

STORAGE AREAS TO BE REMOVED BY OTHERS

REMOVE DOCK

REMOVE PLAQUES FROM BUILDING
(SALVAGE TO OWNER)

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 436 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P
UG/P

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

W
W

W
W

W
W

SAN

WV

W

W

T

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

WV

WV

WV

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

38
87

.5
38

87
.5

38
88

.0

38
88

.5

3889.0

3889.5

3890.0

3890.5

3891.0

38
91

.5

3891.5

3887.5

3887.5

3887.5

3887.5

3888.0

3888.5

38
89

.038
89

.538
90

.038
90

.538
91

.0

3891.5

38
91

.5 38
87

.5

38
91

.5

38
87

.5
38

87
.5

3891.5

3887.5
3888.03887.5

3888.03887.5

3891.5

3891.0

3890.5

3890.0

38
89

.5 3889.0

3888.5

3888.0

3887.5

38
87

.0

3891.5

38
91

.038
90

.538
90

.038
89

.538
89

.038
88

.5

3888.0

38
88

.0

38
87

.5

3887.5

3887.5

3887.5

3888.0

3887.5

3887.0

3888.0

3887.42 S

3887.45 S

3887.15 S

3887.12 S

3887.76 S

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH/P

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3
 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
-
 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T

I
O

N

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-1.02

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

R
O

U
G

H
 
G

R
A

D
I
N

G
 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

J
u

n
e

 
3

,
 
2

0
1

9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

LIMITS OF SUBGRADE PREPARATION
(SUBGRADE 7"± BELOW FINISH GRADE)

SUBGRADE OF FIELD 6"±
BELOW FINISH GRADE (3387.85)

SUBGRADE OF FIELD 6"±
BELOW FINISH GRADE (3387.85)

SUBGRADE OF FIELD 6"±
BELOW FINISH GRADE (3387.85)

SUBGRADE OF FIELD 6"±
BELOW FINISH GRADE (3388.00)

LIMITS OF SUBGRADE PREPARATION
(SUBGRADE 7"± BELOW FINISH GRADE)

NOTES:

1. CONCESSION/RESTROOM FOUNDATIONS AND
FOOTS ARE TO BE REMOVED. BACKFILL AND
COMPACTED TO 95% STANDARD PROCTOR.

2. ALL BACKFILL UNDER PROPOSED BUILDING
SHALL BE COMPACTED TO 98% STANDARD
PROCTOR.

3. ALL OTHER BACKFILL SHALL BE COMPACTED
TO 95% STANDARD PROCTOR.

EARTHWORK:

CUT:  1,160 C.Y.  (INCLUDING INFIELDS TO A DEPTH OF 6"±)
FILL:  3,450 C.Y. (1.5 FILL FACTOR)
IMPORT FILL:  2,290 C.Y. AS MEASURE COMPACTED IN PLACE

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 437 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P
UG/P

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

W
W

W
W

W
W

38
88

.0

3890.0

38
90

.0

38
92

.0

3892.0

3888.0

38
88

.0

38
90

.038
88

.5
38

89
.0

38
89

.5

38
90

.5

3891.0

38
91

.5

38
90

.0

38
92

.0

38
88

.0
38

88
.0

3888.0

SAN

WV

W

W

T

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

WV

WV

WV

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

W

W

W

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH/P

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3
 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
-
 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T

I
O

N

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-2.00

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

F
O

R
 
R

E
F

E
R

E
N

C
E

 
O

N
L
Y

J
u

n
e

 
3

,
 
2

0
1

9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 438 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



PROJECT CONTACTS
Studio 120 Architecture
Tearle Schmer
120 East 16th Street
Scottsbluff, Nebraska, 69361
Phone: (308) 635-1531
tearle@studio120arch.com

Nebraska Contact
Phone: 1-800-331-5666
www.ne-diggers.com

Baker & Associates, Inc.
Jack Baker
120 East 16th Street
Scottsbluff, Nebraska  69361
Phone: (308) 635-1531
jack@baker-eng.com

City of Scottsbluff
Rick Deeds
2525 Circle Drive
Scottsbluff, Nebraska 69361
Phone: (308) 632-0058
rdeeds@scottsbluff.org

Specialized Engineering Solutions
Jeremy L.Klima
11235 Davenport Street, Suite 104
Omaha, Nebraska  68154
Phone: (402) 991-5520
jklima@specializedeng.com

ARCHITECTURAL ELECTRICALCIVILOWNER ONE CALL

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:07
:32

 P
M

0

C
O

VE
R

 S
H

EE
T

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

2900 2nd Avenue, Scottsbluff, NE, 69363

CONCESSIONS/ RESTROOMS BLDG.

NORTH

I, (NAME OF LICENSEE), am the coordinating professional on the (INSERT PROJECT NAME) project.

VICINITY MAP

Drawing Sheet Index - Architectural
Sheet Number Sheet Title

A-0.01 ARCHITECTURAL NOTES, CODE SUMMARY AND SYMBOL LEGEND
A-1.00 CONCESSION'S BUILDING GROUND LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
A-1.10 CONCESSION'S BUILDING ROOF PLAN
A-1.20 BLEACHER COVER PLANS, ELEVATION AND SECTION VIEW
A-1.30 DUG-OUT COVER PLANS, ELEVATIONS, AND SECTION VIEW
A-1.40 PLAYGROUND COVER BUILDING PLAN AND REFLECTIVE CEILING

PLAN
A-1.50 BATTING CAGE COVER BUILDING PLAN
A-1.60 STORAGE BUILDING GROUND LEVEL AND REFLECTED CEILING

PLANS
A-2.00 CONCESSIONS BUILDING GROUND LEVEL REFLECTED CEILING

PLAN
A-2.50 BATTING CAGE COVER REFLECTIVE CEILING PLAN
A-3.10 CONCESSION'S BUILDING EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
A-3.11 CONCESSION'S BUILDING EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
A-3.20 CONCESSION'S BUILDING SECTIONS
A-3.40 PLAYGROUND COVER BUILDING ELEVATIONS
A-3.50 BATTING CAGE COVER EXTERIOR BUILDING ELEVATIONS
A-3.60 STORAGE BUILDING EXTERIOR BUILDING ELEVATIONS
A-8.00 CONCESSION'S BUILDING INTERIOR ELEVATIONS
A-8.01 CONCESSION'S BUILDING INTERIOR ELEVATIONS
A-10.00 CONCESSION'S BUILDING ARCHITECTURAL DETAIL SHEET
Total Number of Sheets: 19

Drawing Sheet Index - General
Sheet Number Sheet Title

0 COVER SHEET
Total Number of Sheets: 1

Drawing Sheet Index - Civil
Sheet Number Sheet Title

C-0.01 CIVIL NOTES, ABBREVIATIONS, SYMBOLS & LINETYPES
C-1.00 EXISTING SITE PLAN
C-1.01 SITE PLAN AFTER DEMOLITON
C-2.00 PROPOSED SITE PLAN
C-2.01 PROPOSED SITE PLAN - OVERALL SITE DIMENSIONS
C-2.02 PROPOSED SITE PLAN - CENTER SECTION DETAILED
C-2.03 PROPOSED SITE PLAN - SOUTH SECTION DETAILED
C-2.04 PROPOSED SITE PLAN - IEAST SECTION DETAILED
C-2.05 PROPOSED SITE PLAN - NORTH SECTION DETAILED
C-2.06 PROPOSED SITE PLAN - WEST SECTION DETAILED
C-7.00 BLEACHER DETAILS
C-7.01 BACKSTOP & FENCING DETAILS
C-7.02 STORM SEWER DETAILS
C-7.03 SIDEWALK DETAILS, HANDRAIL DETAILS, AND STAIR DETAILS
Total Number of Sheets: 14

1 {3D}

Project Location

PROJECT IMAGE

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 439 / 578



/ PER
ACI AMERICAN CONCRETE INSTITUTE
AD ACCESS DOOR OR AREA DRAIN
ADA AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES

ACT
AGG AGGREGATE
AL ALUMINUM
ALT ALTERNATE
ANSI AMERICAN NATIONAL

STANDARD INSTITUTE
APPROX APPROXIMATE
ASPH ASPHALT
AUTO AUTOMATIC
AVG AVERAGE
AWG AMERICAN WIRE GAUGE

BCR BEGIN CURB RETURN
BDY BOUNDARY
BFV BUTTERFLY VALVE
BIT BITUMINOUS
BLDG BUILDING
BOC BACK OF CURB
BRG BEARING
BVC BEGIN VERTICAL CURVE
BW BOTH WAYS

CY CUBIC YARD
CEM CEMENT
CF CUBIC FEET
CFH CUBIC FEET PER HOUR
CFM CUBIC FEET PER MINUTE
CI CAST IRON
CIP CAST IRON PIPE
CJ CONTROL JOINT
CL CENTERLINE
CMP CORRUGATED METAL PIPE
CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT
CO CLEAN OUT
COL COLUMN
CONC CONCRETE
CONST CONSTRUCTION
CONT CONTINUE OR CONTINUOUS
COORD COORDINATE

DEG DEGREE
DEMO DEMOLITION
DEPT DEPARTMENT
DIA OR Ø DIAMETER
DIAG DIAGONAL
DIM DIMENSION
DIP DUCTILE IRON PIPE
DTL(S) DETAIL(S)
DWG(S) DRAWING(S)
DWL(S) DOWEL(S)

(E) OR EXIST EXISTING
E EAST
EA EACH
ECR END CURB RETURN
ELEC ELECTRIC OR ELECTRICAL
ELEV ELEVATION ABOVE SEA LEVEL
ENCL ENCLOSURE

ENGR ENGINEER
EOR EDGE OF ROAD
EOS EDGE OF SLAB
EQ EQUAL
EQ SP EQUALLY SPACED
EQUIP EQUIPMENT
ES EACH SIDE
EST ESTIMATE
EVC END VERTICAL CURVE
EW EACH WAY
E-W EAST-WEST
EX. EXISTING
EXC EXCAVATE

F FAHRENHEIT
FD FLOOR DRAIN OR FIRE DAMPER
FF FINISHED FLOOR
FH FIRE HYDRANT
FL FLOW LINE
FO FIBER-OPTICS
FT FOOT OR FEET
FTG FOOTING

G NATURAL GAS
GA GAGE OR GAUGE
GAL GALLON
GALV GALVANIZED
GB GRADE BREAK
GFI GROUND FAULT INTERRUPTER
GI GALVANIZED IRON
GL GUTTER LINE
GND GROUND
GPH GALLONS PER HOUR
GPM GALLONS PER MINUTE

HB HOSEBIB
HCP HANDICAPPED
HDPE HIGH DENSITY POLYETHYLENE
HORZ HORIZONTAL
HP HORSEPOWER
HR HOUR
HVAC HEATING-VENTILATING AND A/C
HW HEADWALL

IBC INTERNATIONAL BUILDING
CODE

ID INSIDE DIAMETER
IE INVERT ELEVATION
INV INVERT(ER)
INV INVERT
IP IRON PIPE

JB JUNCTION BOX
JT JOINT

K KIP

LF LINEAL FEET
LAB LABORATORY
LAV LAVATORY
LB(S) POUND(S)
LIN LINEAR

LL LIVE LOAD
LNTL LINTEL
LP LOW POINT

(M) MEASURED DISTANCE
M THOUSAND OR MIDDLE
MAX MAXIMUM
MBH 1000 BTUH
MECH MECHANICAL
MH MANHOLE
MIN MINIMUM
MISC MISCELLANEOUS

N NORTH
NEC NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE
NEMA NATIONAL ELECTRICAL

MANUFACTURER'S
ASSOCIATION

NFPA NATIONAL FIRE PROTECTION
AGENCY

NM NON-METALLIC
NO NORMALLY OPEN
NO OR # NUMBER
N-S NORTH-SOUTH
NTS NOT TO SCALE

OC ON CENTER
OCEW ON CENTER EACH WAY
OD OUTSIDE DIAMETER

PC POINT OF CURVATURE
PCC PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE
PERF PERFORATED
PERP PERPENDICULAR
PI POINT OF INTERSECTION
PIV POST INDICATING VALVE
PLBG PLUMBING
PLF POUNDS PER LINEAL FOOT
PLG PILING
POB POINT OF BEGINNING
POE POINT OF END
PPM PARTS PER MILLION
PRC POINT OF REVERSE CURVE
PROP. PROPOSED
PS PRESTRESSED
PSF POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT
PSI POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH
PT POINT OF TANGENCY
PVC POLYVINYL-CHLORIDE
PVI POINT OF VERTICAL

INTERSECTION
PVMT PAVEMENT

QTY QUANTITY

(R) RECORDED DISTANCE
RAD OR R RADIUS
RCP REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE
RD ROOF DRAIN
RE: OR REF REFER TO (REFERENCE)
REM REMOVE(ABLE)
REQD REQUIRED

RND ROUND
RPM REVOLUTION PER MINUTE
RSWV RESILIENT SEAT WEDGE VALVE
RTU REMOTE TELEMETRY UNIT

S SOUTH
SAN SANITARY
SECT SECTION
SF SQUARE FOOT
SFU STRUCTURAL FACING UNIT
SJI STEEL JOIST INSTITUTE
SPECS SPECIFICATIONS
SQ SQUARE
SS STAINLESS STEEL OR SANITARY

SEWER
STA STATION
STD STANDARD
STL STEEL
STM STORM SEWER
SY SQUARE YARD

TAN TANGENT
T-BLK CONCRETE THRUST BLOCK
TEL TELEPHONE
TEMP TEMPORARY
TOB TOP OF BANK
TOC TOP OF CURB
TOF TOP OF FOOTING
TOPO TOPOGRAPHY
TSTAT THERMOSTAT
TYP TYPICAL

UG UNDERGROUND
UL UNDERWRITERS

LABORATORIES

V VOLT
VAC VACUUM
VCP VITRIFIED CLAY PIPE
VCT VINYL COMPOSITION TILE
VEL VELOCITY
VERT VERTICAL
VOL VOLUME
VPC VERTICAL POINT OF

CURVATURE
VPI VERTICAL POINT OF

INTERSECTION
VPT VERTICAL POINT OF TANGENCY
VT VINYL TILE

W/ WITH
W/O WITHOUT
WL WIND LOAD
WP WEATHER PROOF
WT WEIGHT
WWF WELDED WIRE FABRIC
WWM WOVEN WIRE MESH

UG/P

P

FO

ET

E

T

C

FO

S

CS

WM

G

R R

R

Stm

San

W

Gas Gas

3980

X X X X X X X

OH/P

OH/Tele

UG/Tele

UG/TV

OH/TV

IRR

XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX

1. SITE DEMOLITION WORK IS TO BE PROVIDE UNDER SEPARATE CONTRACT AND IS SHOWN FOR INFORMATION
AND COORDINATION PURPOSES ONLY IN THIS PLAN SET.

2. PRELIMINARY GRADING OF THE SITE IS ALSO UNDER SEPARATE CONTRACT AND IS SHOWN FOR INFORMATION
AND COORDINATION PURPOSES ONLY.

3. SITE AS SHOWN IN THE PRELIMINARY GRADING PLAN SHOULD BE THE CONDITIONS EXPECTED FOR START OF
CONSTRUCTION.

4. DEMO AND GRADING WORK IS PLANNED TO BE COMPLETED BY SEPTEMBER 15, 2019 AND CONTRACT WORK
MAY BEGIN AFTER COMPLETION OF DEMO AND GRADING WORK AND ACCEPTANCE BY THE OWNER.

5. WORK FOR THIS CONTRACT IS SCHEDULED TO BE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETE BY 5/1/20 AND FINAL
COMPLETION BY 5/20/20.

6. ALL CONCRETE MATERIALS ARE TO BE OWNER PROVIDED FOR THIS CONTRACT.  CONTRACTOR WILL BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL INSTALLATION, FORMWORK, AND PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE BUT MATERIALS SHALL BE
DIRECT BILLED TO THE OWNER AND PAID SEPARATELY.

7. ALL METAL BUILDING & STRUCTURE MATERIAL PACKAGES FOR THIS PROJECT AS SPECIFIED ARE TO BE OWNER
PROVIDED.  CONTRACTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR INSTALLATION AND ERECTION OF THE BUILDINGS AS
WELL AS COORDINATION OF ALL TRADES BUT METAL BUILDING & STRUCTURE MATERIALS ARE TO BE
PROVIDED BY B&C STEEL AND TO BE BILLED DIRECTLY TO THE OWNER.   THIS INCLUDES ALL BUILDINGS,
DUGOUT COVERS, STADIUM SEATING AWNINGS, PLAYGROUND COVER, AND BATTING CAGE COVER.

8. IRRIGATION IMPROVEMENTS ARE TO BE PART OF SEPARATE CONTRACT.

1. REASONABLE EFFORT HAS BEEN MADE BY THE ENGINEER TO INDICATE THE TYPE, SIZE, LOCATION, AND NUMBER
OF KNOWN UNDERGROUND FACILITIES ON THE DRAWING(S).  HOWEVER, NO GUARANTEE IS MADE AS TO THE
TRUE TYPE, SIZE, LOCATION, OR NUMBER OF SUCH FACILITIES.  THE OMISSION FROM OR THE INCLUSION OF,
UTILITY LOCATIONS ON THE DRAWING(S) IS NOT TO BE CONSIDERED AS THE NON-EXISTENCE OF OR AN
ABSOLUTE LOCATION OF, EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MEET ALL THE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE NEBRASKA ONE-CALL NOTIFICATION ACT (STATE OF NEBRASKA TITLE 155, CHAPTER 2)
OR WYOMING UNDERGROUND FACILITIES NOTIFICATION ACT. (STATE OF WYOMING TITLE 37, CHAPTER 12) AS
APPROPRIATE.

2. BEFORE SUBMITTING A BID, EACH BIDDER WILL, AT BIDDER'S OWN EXPENSE, MAKE OR OBTAIN ANY ADDITIONAL
EXAMINATIONS, INVESTIGATIONS, EXPLORATIONS, TESTS AND STUDIES AND OBTAIN ANY ADDITIONAL
INFORMATION AND DATA WHICH PERTAIN TO THE PHYSICAL CONDITIONS (SURFACE, SUBSURFACE AND
UNDERGROUND FACILITIES) AT OR CONTIGUOUS TO THE SITE OR OTHERWISE WHICH MAY AFFECT COST,
PROGRESS, PERFORMANCE OR FURNISHING OF THE WORK AND WHICH BIDDER DEEMS NECESSARY TO
DETERMINE ITS BID FOR PERFORMING AND FURNISHING THE WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TIME, PRICE AND
OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

3. ENGINEER SHALL NOT, DURING SITE VISITS OR AS A RESULT OF SITE OBSERVATIONS OF CONTRACTOR'S WORK IN
PROGRESS, SUPERVISE, DIRECT, OR HAVE CONTROL OVER THE CONTRACTOR'S WORK NOR SHALL ENGINEER
HAVE AUTHORITY OVER OR RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, SEQUENCES, OR
PROCEDURES SELECTED OR USED BY CONTRACTOR, FOR SECURITY OR SAFETY AT THE SITE, FOR SAFETY
PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS INCIDENT TO THE CONTRACTOR'S WORK IN PROGRESS, FOR ANY FAILURE OF
CONTRACTOR TO COMPLY WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTOR'S PERFORMING AND
FURNISHING THE WORK, OR RESPONSIBILITY OF CONSTRUCTION FOR CONTRACTOR'S FAILURE TO FURNISH AND
PERFORM THE WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING THE RELOCATION OF UTILITIES, POWER POLES, ETC.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE NO CLAIM AGAINST THE OWNER OR ENGINEER REGARDING THE ALLEGED
INACCURACY OF CONSTRUCTION STAKES SET BY THE ENGINEER UNLESS ALL SURVEY STAKES SET BY THE
ENGINEER ARE MAINTAINED INTACT AND CAN BE VERIFIED AS TO THEIR ORIGIN.  IF STAKING IS NOT INTACT OR
CANNOT BE VERIFIED AS TO THE ORIGIN, ANY AND ALL REMEDIAL WORK TO CORRECT IMPROPER CONSTRUCTION
SHALL BE DONE AT THE SOLE EXPENSE OF THE CONTRACTOR.

6. NOTHING CONTAINED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS SHALL CREATE OR BE CONSTRUED TO CREATE ANY
CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE ENGINEER AND THE CONTRACTOR

7. BAKER & ASSOCIATES, INC. CONSIDERS THAT PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS ARE APPROVED DOCUMENTS ONLY IF:
1) THEY ARE PAPER COPIES WITH SIGNATURES AND PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATION VISIBLY PRESENT ON THE
COPIES OR 2) ELECTRONIC FILES IN ADOBE® PORTABLE DOCUMENT FILE (PDF) FORMAT ISSUED DIRECTLY BY
BAKER & ASSOCIATES, INC. (HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED DATA).
INFORMATION SUPPLIED VIA METHODS OTHER THAN THOSE NOTED ABOVE ARE NOT TO BE CONSIDERED
APPROVED DOCUMENTS.  THE RECEIVER OF ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED DOCUMENTS IS RESPONSIBLE FOR
VERIFYING THE INFORMATION IS APPROVED DOCUMENTS.  PLEASE REFERENCE THE REQUIREMENTS OF
DOCUMENT 00800, ELECTRONIC DATA.  THIS ELECTRONIC INFORMATION IS COPYRIGHTED AND MAY NOT BE
TRANSFERRED TO ANY OTHER PARTY.

CIVIL ENGINEERING GENERAL NOTES CIVIL ENGINEERING SUPPLEMENTAL NOTES SYMBOL LEGEND LINETYPE DESIGNATION

ABBREVIATIONS

LIGHT POLES

LIGHT POLE WITH POWER

POWER POLE

ELECTRICAL METER BOX

ELECTRICAL TRANSFORMER

ELECTRICAL HANDHOLE

TELEPHONE PEDESTAL

CABLE BOX

FIBER OPTIC BOX

SATELLITE DISH

MANHOLE

CLEAN-OUT

CURB INLET

AREA INLET

WATER VALVE

FIRE HYDRANT

WATER VALVE IN MANHOLE

CURB STOP

WATER METER PIT

WELL

YARD HYDRANT

GAS METER

GAS MARKER

SIGN

MAILBOX

FLAG POLE

TRAFFIC LIGHT

RAIL CROSSING SIGN

DECIDUOUS TREE

CONIFEROUS TREE

SHRUB

STUMP

ROW MARKER

REBAR/MONUMENT SURVEY

BENCHMARK

SURVEY CONTROL POINT

P

ET

E

S

CS

WM

EXISTING PROPOSED OVERHEAD POWER LINE

UNDERGROUND POWER LINE

OVERHEAD TELEPHONE LINE

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

OVERHEAD TELEVISION CABLE LINE

UNDERGROUND TELEVISION CABLE LINE

FIBER OPTIC CABLE

SANITARY SEWER LINE

STORM SEWER LINE

WATER LINE

IRRIGATION SYSTEM LINE

GAS LINE

CHAIN-LINK FENCE

WOOD FENCE

BARBED-WIRE FENCE

SILT FENCE

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

CONTOUR LINE W/ELEVATION

EASEMENT LINE

PROPERTY LINE

SECTION LINE

G

WELL

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3
 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-0.01

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

C
I
V

I
L
 
N

O
T

E
S

,
 
A

B
B

R
E

V
I
A

T
I
O

N
S

,
 
S

Y
M

B
O

L
S

&
 
L
I
N

E
T

Y
P

E
S

J
u

n
e

 
3

,
 
2

0
1

9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 440 / 578



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P
UG/P

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

3888.0

3887.5

3887.5

3888.5

38
88

.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
88

.5

388
8.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

3888.0

3888.5

38
88

.5

3888.5

3889.0

3888.0

3888.0

3890.0

38
88

.5

3889.0
3889.5

38
88

.0
38

86
.5

38
86

.5
38

87
.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
87

.5

3888.0
3888.0

38
88

.5

3888.5

3888.53888.5

SAN

SAN

WV

W

W

T

SAN

SAN

SAN

W

WV
SAN

SAN

WV

WV

WV

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

IRR

IRR

IR
R

IRR

IRR

IRR

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH/P

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-1.00

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

LOCATION OF UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL
TO LIGHTS AND SCORE BOARD IS UNKNOWN.
SHOWN IS FOR REFERENCE ONLY.

LOCATION OF UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL
TO LIGHTS AND SCORE BOARD IS UNKNOWN.
SHOWN IS FOR REFERENCE ONLY.

APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF IRRIGATION
MAIN LINE AND CIRCUIT VALVES

BULL PEN FENCING TYPICAL

CELL TOWER
ENCLOSURE

DUGOUT TYPICAL

SIDEWALK

STORAGE SHED

GRAVEL PARKING

HIGH SCHOOL
SOFTBALL FIELDS

HIGH SCHOOL
SOFTBALL FIELDS

GRAVEL PARKING

CITY 8" WATER MAIN

CITY SANITARY SEWER MAIN

CITY PARK

BABE RUTH FIELD

PACIFIC FIELD

NATIONAL FIELD

AMERICAN FIELD

FENCE ENCLOSURE
FOR ELECTRICAL

METAL BLEACHERS TYPICAL

CITY PARK SUPPLY BINS

BATTING CAGES

YARD HYDRANT

SMALL DOCK AREA

CONCESSION
STAND

WATER SERVICE VALVES

EXISTING IRRIGATION MAIN
LINE (LOCATION APPROXIMATE)

SCOREBOARD

SCOREBOARD

SCOREBOARD

SCOREBOARD

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 441 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P
UG/P

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

W
W

W
W

W
W

3888.0

3887.5

3887.5

3888.5

38
88

.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
88

.5

388
8.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

3888.0

3888.5

38
88

.5

3888.5

3889.0

3888.0

3888.0

3890.0

38
88

.5

3889.0
3889.5

38
88

.0
38

86
.5

38
86

.5
38

87
.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
87

.5

3888.0
3888.0

38
88

.5

3888.5

3888.53888.5

SAN

WV

W

W

T

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

WV

WV

WV

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

38
87

.5
38

87
.5

38
88

.0

38
88

.5

3889.0

3889.5

3890.0

3890.5

3891.0

38
91

.5

3891.5

3887.5

3887.5

3887.5

3887.5

3888.0

3888.5

38
89

.038
89

.538
90

.038
90

.538
91

.0

3891.5

38
91

.5 38
87

.5

38
91

.5

38
87

.5
38

87
.5

3891.5

3887.5
3888.03887.5

3888.03887.5

3891.5

3891.0

3890.5

3890.0

38
89

.5 3889.0

3888.5

3888.0

3887.5

38
87

.0

3891.5

38
91

.038
90

.538
90

.038
89

.538
89

.038
88

.5

3888.0

38
88

.0

38
87

.5

3887.5

3887.5

3887.5

3888.0

3887.5

3887.0

3888.0

3887.42 S

3887.45 S

3887.15 S

3887.12 S

3887.76 S

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH
/P

OH/P

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3
 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

 
-
 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T

I
O

N

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-1.01

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

S
I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N
 
A

F
T

E
R

 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T

I
O

N

J
u

n
e

 
3

,
 
2

0
1

9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

LIMITS OF SUBGRADE PREPARATION
(SUBGRADE 7"± BELOW FINISH GRADE)

SUBGRADE OF FIELD 6"±
BELOW FINISH GRADE (3387.85)

SUBGRADE OF FIELD 6"±
BELOW FINISH GRADE (3387.85)

SUBGRADE OF FIELD 6"±
BELOW FINISH GRADE (3387.85)

SUBGRADE OF FIELD 6"±
BELOW FINISH GRADE (3388.00)

LIMITS OF SUBGRADE PREPARATION
(SUBGRADE 7"± BELOW FINISH GRADE)

NOTES:

1. CONCESSION/RESTROOM FOUNDATIONS AND
FOOTS WAS REMOVED AND BACKFILL WAS
COMPACTED TO 95% STANDARD PROCTOR.

2. ALL BACKFILL UNDER PROPOSED BUILDING
WAS COMPACTED TO 98% STANDARD
PROCTOR.

3. ALL OTHER BACKFILL WAS COMPACTED TO
95% STANDARD PROCTOR.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 442 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P

UG/P
UG/P

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

W
W

W
W

W
W

3888.0

3887.5

3887.5

3888.5

38
88

.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
88

.5

388
8.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

3888.0

3888.5

38
88

.5

3888.5

3889.0

3888.0

3888.0

3890.0

38
88

.5

3889.0
3889.5

38
88

.0
38

86
.5

38
86

.5
38

87
.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
87

.5

3888.0
3888.0

38
88

.5

3888.5

3888.53888.5

38
88

.0

3890.0

38
90

.0

38
92

.0

3892.0

3887.0

3887.5

3887.5

38
87

.5

38
88

.5

38
88

.5 38
89

.0

3889.03889.5

38
89

.53890.5

38
90

.5

38
91

.0

38
91

.03891.5

38
91

.5

3888.0

38
88

.0

38
90

.038
88

.5
38

89
.0

38
89

.5

38
90

.5

3891.0

38
91

.5

38
90

.0

38
92

.0

3888.5

3889.0
3889.5

38
90

.5
38

91
.0

38
91

.5

38
88

.0
38

88
.0

3888.0

38
88

.5

388
8.5

3888.5

3889.0

WV

W

W

T

WV

WV

WV

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

W

W

W

22.13'

10.00'

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-2.00

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

FF 3892.50

CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT
SEE SHEET C-7.00

CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT
SEE SHEET C-7.00

CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT
SEE SHEET C-7.00

CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT
SEE SHEET C-7.00

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02

INFIELD TO BE GRADED &
SURFACED BY OTHERS

INFIELD TO BE GRADED &
SURFACED BY OTHERS

INFIELD TO BE GRADED &
SURFACED BY OTHERS

INFIELD TO BE GRADED &
SURFACED BY OTHERS

NEW FOUL LINE POST

NEW FOUL LINE POST

NEW FOUL LINE POST

NEW FOUL LINE POST

NEW FOUL LINE POST

NEW FOUL LINE POST

NEW FOUL LINE POST

NEW FOUL LINE POST

NEW 2" WATER SERVICE
MINIMUM BURY 5.5'
CURB STOP AT SIDEWALK

6" CONCRETE WITH
2" BASE COURSE

6" CONCRETE WITH
2" BASE COURSE

5" CONCRETE WITH 2"
BASE COURSE

5" CONCRETE WITH 2"
BASE COURSE

BATTING CAGE
SEE ARCHITECTURAL

STORAGE BUILDING
SEE ARCHITECTURAL

CONCESSION STAND

PLAYGROUND STRUCTURE
SEE ARCHITECTURAL

12' WIDE DOUBLE
GATE X 6' HIGH

12' WIDE DOUBLE
GATE X 6' HIGH

12' WIDE DOUBLE
GATE X 6' HIGH

10' WIDE WARNING TRACK
(1/2" DEEP DIAMOND PRO)

305 L.F. 6' HIGH CHAIN-LINK FENCE

R183.76'

R100.00'

82.64'

12' WIDE DOUBLE
GATE X 6' HIGH

12' WIDE DOUBLE
GATE X 6' HIGH

FLAG POLE

REINSTALL SCORE BOARD

NOTES:

REFERENCE SHEETS C-2.02 THROUGH C-7.06 FOR
DETAILED INFORMATION

18" STORM SEWER AND INLETS

SITE QUANTITIES:

2" WATER CONNECTION & CURB STOP 1 EA
2" WATER SERVICE LINE 320 L.F.
SANITARY SEWER CONNECTION 1 EA
SUBGRADE PREPARATION 2385 S.Y.
BASE COURSE 2385 S.Y.
5" SIDEWALK 1,615 S.Y.
6" SIDEWALK 770 S.Y.
STORM SEWER - 18" IN GRAVEL TRENCH 445 L.F.
STORM SEWER - 12" PVC 300 L.F.
STORM SEWER - AREA INLETS 23 EA
GUARDRAILS L.S. (131 L.F.)
RETAINING WALLS L.S. (131 L.F.)
STAIRS 1 EA
FENCING - 6' HIGH 825 L.F.
FENCING - 18' HIGH BACKSTOP L.S. (115 L.F.)
FENCING - 24' HIGH BACKSTOP L.S. (345 L.F.)
FENCING - 10' HIGH DUGOUT L.S. (302 L.F.)
FENCING - 6' H X 12' W GATES 4 EA
FENCING - FOUL LINE POSTS 8 EA
BENCHES - DUGOUT 8 EA

12' WIDE DOUBLE
GATE X 6' HIGH

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 443 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

W
W

W
W

W

WV

W

W

T

WV

WV

WV

W

W

W

183.76'

169.98'

22.15'

22.13'

30.00'

10.00' 10.00'

8.00'

8.00'

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-2.01

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

O
V

E
R

A
L

L
 
S

I
T

E
 
D

I
M

E
N

S
I
O

N
S

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

20.00'

159.18'

25.00'

158.80'

60.00'

60.00'

70.00'

30.00'

201.64'

201.81'

90.00'

272.18'

289.96'

40.00'

40.00'

40.00'

40.00'

40.00'

183.76'

292.29'

217.91'

5.00'

5.00'

10.00'

STAIRS

CONCESSION STAND

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 444 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



San

San

San

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

3888.5

3888.0

3888.0

38
88

.5
3888.5

3888.5

3888.5

38
88

.0

3890.0

38
90

.0

38
92

.0

3892.0

3887.0

3887.5

3887.5

38
87

.538
88

.5

38
88

.5

38
89

.0

3889.0
3889.5

38
89

.5

3890.5

38
90

.5

38
91

.0

38
91

.0

3891.5

38
91

.5

38
90

.0

38
88

.5

38
89

.0

38
89

.5

38
90

.5

3891.0

38
91

.5

38
90

.0

38
92

.0

3888.5

3889.03889.5

38
90

.5

38
91

.0

38
91

.5

38
88

.0
38

88
.0

3888.0

38
88

.5

388
8.5

3888.5

3889.0

3888.69 S

3891.74 S

3892.05 S

3892.25 S
3891.61 S

3888.12 S

3891.74 S

3891.66 S

3892.10 S

3891.66 S

3891.97 S

3892.15 S

3892.05 S

3891.48 S

3892.10 S

3892.20 S

3891.77 S

3891.26 S

3889.21 S

3888.96 S

3888.78 S

3888.83 S

3888.57 S

3888.98 S

3889.21 S

3889.00 S

3888.78 S

3888.25 S

3888.10 S

3889.32 S

3888.63 S

3888.27 S

3889.24 S

3888.65 S

W

W

W

W

W

W

3888.10 S

22.13'

10.00'

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-2.02

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

C
E

N
T

E
R

 
S

E
C

T
I
O

N
 
D

E
T

A
I
L

E
D

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

FF 3892.50

2" WATER SERVICE

SANITARY SERVICE
DOUBLE CLEAN-OUT

INVERT EXISTING 8": 3882.89±
CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT

SEE SHEET C-7.00
TYPICAL

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02

TYPICAL

BACKSTOP AND FENCING
SEE DETAIL SHEET C-7.01

TYPICAL
22.08'

11.25'

30.00'

4.67'

3.81'

4.67'

4.67'

MATCHLINE SOUTH SECTION

MATCHLINE NORTH SECTION

MA
TC

HL
IN

E W
ES

T S
EC

TIO
N

MA
TC

HL
IN

E E
AS

T S
EC

TIO
N

CONCESSION STAND

PLAYGROUND & SHELTER

FLAG POLE

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 445 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



UG
/P

UG
/P

UG/P
UG/P

38
88

.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
88

.5

3887.0

3887.5

3887.98 S

3888.12 S

3888.34 S

3888.69 S

3888.12 S

3888.52 S

3888.57 S

3888.98 S

3889.21 S

W

W

3887.71 S

3887.27 S

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-2.03

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

S
O

U
T

H
 
S

E
C

T
I
O

N
 
D

E
T

A
I
L

E
D

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

NEW FOUL LINE POST

12' WIDE DOUBLE
GATE X 6' HIGH

33.74'

6.00'

6.00'

96.95'

61.87'

R106.00'

71.63'

48.59'

PROVIDE 1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

PROVIDE 1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

PROVIDE 1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

SLOPE SIDEWALK 1% WEST
6" SIDEWALK WITH 2" BASE COURSE

53.27'
6' CHAIN-LINK

33.68'
6' CHAIN-LINK

10.00'
6' CHAIN-LINK

6" SIDEWALK WITH
2" BASE COURSE

10.00'

MATCHLINE CENTER SECTION

SLOPE SIDEWALK 1% SOUTH
5" SIDEWALK WITH 2" BASE COURSE

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 446 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

UG
/P

San

San

San

San

San

San

San

San

San

San

UG/P

38
88

.0

38
87

.5

38
88

.5

388
8.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

3888.0

3888.0

38
88

.5

3888.5

3888.5

3888.5

38
88

.0

3890.0

38
92

.0

3892.0

3887.0

3887.5

3887.5

38
87

.538
88

.53889.0
3889.5

38
90

.5

38
91

.0

38
91

.0

3891.5

38
91

.5

38
91

.5

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

3888.69 S

3891.74 S

3892.05 S

3892.25 S
3891.61 S

3888.12 S

3887.12 S

3891.74 S

3891.66 S

3892.10 S

3891.66 S

3891.97 S

3892.15 S

3892.05 S

3892.10 S

3892.20 S

3891.77 S

3891.26 S

3888.57 S

3889.00 S

3888.78 S

3888.25 S

3888.10 S

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W

3887.71 S

22.13'

10.00'

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-2.04

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

E
A

S
T

 
S

E
C

T
I
O

N
 
D

E
T

A
I
L

E
D

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

FF 3892.50

2" WATER SERVICE

SANITARY SERVICE
DOUBLE CLEAN-OUT

CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT
SEE SHEET C-7.00
TYPICAL

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02
TYPICAL

BACKSTOP AND FENCING
SEE DETAIL SHEET C-7.01
TYPICAL

22.08'

11.25'

30.00'

4.67'

3.81'

4.67'

4.67'

10.00'

MATCH EXISTING SIDEWALK

6" SIDEWALK WITH
2" BASE COURSE

10.00'
6' CHAIN-LINK

10.00'
6' CHAIN-LINK

2" WATER SERVICE
AND CURB STOP

CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT
SEE SHEET C-7.00
TYPICAL

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02
TYPICAL

BACKSTOP AND FENCING
SEE DETAIL SHEET C-7.01
TYPICAL

INFIELD TO BE GRADES &
SURFACED BY OTHERS

INFIELD TO BE GRADES &
SURFACED BY OTHERS

CONCESSION STAND

MA
TC

HL
IN

E C
EN

TE
R 

SE
CT

IO
N

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 447 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



San

San

San

San

San

San

San

San

San

San

UG/P

UG/P

388
8.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

3888.5

38
88

.5

3889.0

38
88

.5

3888.5

3888.5

3888.5

3890.0

38
92

.0

3892.0

38
90

.538
91

.0

3891.5

38
91

.5

38
91

.5

38
90

.0

38
92

.0

3888.5

3889.03889.5

38
90

.5

38
91

.0

38
91

.5

38
88

.0
38

88
.0

3888.0

38
88

.5

388
8.5

3888.5

3889.0

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

Sa
n

3891.74 S

3892.05 S

3892.25 S
3891.61 S

3891.74 S

3891.66 S

3892.10 S

3891.66 S

3891.97 S

3892.15 S

3892.05 S

3891.48 S

3892.10 S

3892.20 S

3891.77 S

3891.26 S

3889.32 S

3888.63 S

3888.27 S

3889.24 S

3888.65 S

3888.00 S

3887.96 S

3887.88 S

3887.37 S

W

W

3888.10 S

22.13'

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-2.05

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

N
O

R
T

H
 
S

E
C

T
I
O

N
 
D

E
T

A
I
L

E
D

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

FF 3892.50

2" WATER SERVICE

SANITARY SERVICE
DOUBLE CLEAN-OUT

CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT
SEE SHEET C-7.00

TYPICAL

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02

TYPICAL

BACKSTOP AND FENCING
SEE DETAIL SHEET C-7.01

TYPICAL

22.08'

11.25'

30.00'

4.67'

3.81'

4.67'

4.67'

6.00'

5" SIDEWALK WITH
2" BASE COURSE

5" SIDEWALK WITH
2" BASE COURSE

10.00'
6' CHAIN-LINK

R25.00'

R50.00'

5.00'

R15.00'

8.00'

CONCESSION STAND

ALTERNATE: PLAYGROUND SHELTER

MATCH EXISTING SIDEWALK

1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

PROVIDE STAIRS: (2) 6 13/16"± RISERS X 12"
THREAD. PROVIDE HANDRAILS ON BOTH SIDES

10.00'
6' CHAIN-LINK

EXISTING STORAGE SHED

INFIELD TO BE GRADES &
SURFACED BY OTHERS MATCHLINE CENTER SECTION

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 448 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

UG/P

3888.5

3888.5

38
88

.5

3889.0

38
88

.0

38
86

.5
38

86
.5

38
87

.0

38
87

.0

38
87

.5

38
87

.5

38
88

.5

3888.5

3888.5

3888.5

38
92

.0

3891.5

3888.0

38
88

.0

38
90

.0

38
88

.5

38
89

.0

38
89

.5

38
90

.5

3891.0

38
91

.5

3892.05 S

3892.25 S

3891.74 S

3891.66 S

3892.10 S

3891.66 S

3891.97 S

3889.21 S

3888.96 S

3888.03 S3888.00 S

3887.73 S

3888.78 S

3888.83 S

3888.37 S

3888.40 S

3888.44 S

3888.40 S

3888.03 S

3888.44 S

3888.00 S

3887.73 S

3887.70 S

3888.00 S

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-2.06

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
S

I
T

E
 
P

L
A

N

W
E

S
T

 
S

E
C

T
I
O

N
 
D

E
T

A
I
L

E
D

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

0'
SCALE: 1" =

30' 60'15'
30'

FF 3892.50

CONCRETE BLEACHER/DUGOUT
SEE SHEET C-7.00

TYPICAL

STORMWATER SYSTEM
SEE SHEET C-7.02

TYPICAL

BACKSTOP AND FENCING
SEE DETAIL SHEET C-7.01

TYPICAL
22.08'

11.25'

30.00'

4.67'

3.81'

4.67'

NEW FOUL LINE POST

5" CONCRETE WITH 2"
BASE COURSE

BATTING CAGE
SEE ARCHITECTURAL

STORAGE BUILDING
SEE ARCHITECTURAL

12' WIDE DOUBLE
GATE X 6' HIGH

10' WIDE WARNING TRACK
(DIAMOND PRO)

305 L.F. 6' HIGH CHAIN-LINK FENCE

R183.76'

8.00'

6.00'

12.00'

10.00'
6' CHAIN-LINK

10.00'
6' CHAIN-LINK

MA
TC

HL
IN

E C
EN

TE
R 

SE
CT

IO
N

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 449 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



3891.50
3891.50

3892.25 TW
3892.25 TW

3891.00
3888.00 TW

3888.00 S

3888.00 S3888.00 S

3888.00 S

3888.00 S

3888.00 S 3888.00 S

3888.10 S

3888.10 S

3888.10 S

3888.10 S

3888.00 S

3887.82 G

3887.80 G

3887.80 G

3888.00 S

3888.00 S

3888.15 S

3888.15 S

3888.15 S

40.00'
24' H

37.12'
24' H

34.00'
10' H

10.00'
8' H

24.00'
8' H

10.00'
10' H

FIELD

BA
CK

ST
OP

HANDRAIL

SLOPESLOPE

5.00'

3.50'

3.50'

5.00'

1.42'

127°30'0"'

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-7.00

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

B
L

E
A

C
H

E
R

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

1.17'
0.47'

17.00'

45.33'

58.15'

3.00'

3892.25 TW

STANDARD BLEACHER ELEVATION DETAIL

STANDARD BLEACHER DIMENSION DETAILSTANDARD BLEACHER CROSS SECTION

3892.25 TW

HANDRAIL

HANDRAIL

GUARDRAIL

DIMENSIONS TO CENTER OF BLOCK

COVER SUPPORTS

METAL ROOFING

GUARDRAIL

COVER SUPPORTS

COVER FOUNDATION
(SEE ARCHITECTURAL SHEETS)

RETAINING WALL
BLEACHER SIDE WALL

BLEACHER SIDE WALL FOUNDATION
3.00'

5" SIDEWALK

5.00'

END OF BLEACHER SECTION

#4xCONT

#5@12"

#5@12" E.W.

3.00' 1.00'1.00'

8"

#5@12"

1" WEEP HOLES @5'

12" FREE DRAINING GRAVEL

#4xCONT
#5@12", STD HOOK LENGTH

BLEACHER SIDE WALL FOUNDATION -
SIMILAR FOUNDATION DETAILS
(NO GRAVEL REQUIRED)

3892.25 TW
3889.42 TW

PROVIDE 0.1% SLOPE TO FIELD

GUARDRAIL FOR RETAINING WALL

5.00'7.00'

1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT
1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

1" SEALED EXPANSION JOINT

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 450 / 578



TOP RAIL 1 5/8" - TYP.

WIRE MESH

1 5/8" CENTER RAIL - TYP.

ALL POSTS SHALL
BE SET IN CONCRETE

2 1/2" LINE POSTS - TYP.

1 5/8" BOTTOM RAIL

3.50'
3.00'

1.18'

TOP RAIL 1 5/8" - TYP.

WIRE MESH

1 5/8" CENTER RAIL - TYP.

4" O.D. END OR
CORNER POST - TYP.

ALL POSTS SHALL
BE SET IN CONCRETE

4" LINE POSTS - TYP.

1 5/8" BOTTOM RAIL

5.50'
5.00'

1.50'

0.67'

2.50'

1.00'

24.00'

BLOCK FOOTING
2' THICK W/(2) #5 HORZ

BLOCK FOUNDATION
8" THICK W/ #4 @ 12" E.W.

8" CONCRETE BLOCK

3" O.D. END OR
CORNER POST - TYP.

TOP RAIL 15
8" - TYP.

FINISH GRADE

21
2" LINE POST - TYP.

5
8" BRACE ROD

3
8" TRUSS ROD

ASSEMBLY

ALL CORNER AND END POSTS
TO BE VERTICALLY BRACED

 9 GAUGE MESH

PROVIDE BOTTOM
TENSION WIRE

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-7.01

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

B
A

C
K

S
T

O
P

 
&

 
F

E
N

C
I
N

G
 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

3.50'3.00'

1.00'

10.00'
MAXIMUM

10.00'
MAXIMUM

6.00'

40.00'
BACKSTOP

37.12'
BACKSTOP

37.12'
BACKSTOP

33.50'
DUGOUT

33.50'
DUGOUT

BACKSTOP HEIGHT:  24' (EXCEPT PACIFIC: 16')
DUGOUT HEIGHT: 10'
BACKSTOP BLOCK WALL:  2'

STANDARD BLEACHER BACKSTOP DETAIL

STANDARD BACKSTOP DETAIL

STANDARD DUGOUT FENCING DETAIL

STANDARD OUTFIELD FENCE DETAIL

10.00'
MAXIMUM

10.00'

9.50'

23.00'

9.50'

23.00'

9.50'

9.50'

4.00'4.00'

OPENING OPENING

1 5/8" CENTER RAIL - TYP.

1 5/8" CENTER RAIL - TYP.

6.00'
TYPICAL

6 GAUGE MESH
THIS PANEL

9 GAUGE MESH
THIS PANEL

11 GAUGE MESH
THIS PANEL

11 GAUGE MESH
THIS PANEL

9 GAUGE MESH

9 GAUGE MESH

 9 GAUGE MESH

8.00'

NOTES:

1. ON THE EAST FIELD (PACIFIC) THE TOP
OF THE BACKSTOP WILL BE AT 18'

2. JOINTS SHALL BE WELDED

18.00'

3/8" TRUSS ROD
ASSEMBLY

3" O.D. CORNER
OR END POST (TYP.)

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 451 / 578



X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

3888.0

3887.5

3887.5UG/P

OH
/P

1

2

35 NO SCALE

SCALE 1" = 20'

AREA INLET DETAILSNO SCALE

SCALE: 1" = 10'

4 3/4"

8"

8"
"X

"

12
"

8"

A

8""Y1"

B

A

"Y
"

8"
8"

8""Y1"
"X

"

B

8"

8" "Y"

NOTES:

1. "Y" x "Y1" IS WIDTH AND LENGTH OF INLET
OPENING (MATCH GRATE FRAME)

2. "X" IS DEPTH REQUIRED BY PLAN AND
PROFILE

3. ALL REINFORCING TO BE #4 @8" O.C.
4. PRECAST BOXES MAY BE PROVIDED

26" SQ.

26" SQ.

DEETER MODEL 2230 INLET GRATE
AND FRAME OR EQUAL

4 NO SCALE INLET BASE DETAILS

2" CLEARANCE BETWEEN
REINFORCING AND PIPE

PROVIDE INSET AS
REQUIRED BY GRATE FRAME
(AREA INLET)

PLAN VIEW SECTION A-A

SECTION B-B DETAIL "B"
USE FOR PLACEMENT OF DIAGONAL BARS ONLY

BENDING DIAGRAM

MINIMUM 6" TOP SOIL OVER PIPE

MINIMUM 12" ON ALL SIDES,
CLEAN 1-2" RIP-RAP

4.00' ±

3.50'

PERFORATED STORM SEWER TRENCH

18" HDPE PERFORATED PIPE (FULL
DIAMETER) WRAPPED IN FABRIC

BACKFILL LOOSELY COMPACTED  IF NOT UNDER PAVEMENT/SIDEWALK FILTER FABRIC ON TOP OF OF RIP-RAP

TYPICAL BACKSTOP STORM SEWER SYSTEM

PROVIDE 12" X 5" THICK CONCRETE RIM

PROVIDE 12" X 5" THICK CONCRETE RIM

GRASS

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-7.02

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

S
T

O
R

M
 
S

E
W

E
R

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

27.84'
VARIES

24.63'
VARIES24.63'

VARIES

12.00'

12.00'

22.65'
VARIES

12" PVC

12" PVC

12" PVC

18" PERFORATED HDPE
WITH GRAVEL PIT

18" HDPE

INLET RIM 3887.85
INLET INVERT 3884.85
(TYPICAL ALL BLEACHER INLETS)

INVERT 18" 3884.80

INVERT 18" 3884.80

MINIMUM SLOPE 18" 0.15%

MINIMUM SLOPE 12" 0.25%

INVERT 18" 3884.80

AREA INLET WITH COLLAR - SET
RIM AT EXISTING GRADE -0.25'
(TYPICAL AREA INLETS)

SOUTHWEST STORM SEWER DETAILS

18" PERFORATED HDPE
WITH GRAVEL PIT

INLET RIM 3887.25
INLET INVERT 3884.25

(TYPICAL ALL SW INLETS)

58.70'

71.25'

WARNING TRACK

NEW 6' HIGH
CHAIN-LINK FENCE

CELL TOWER
ENCLOSURE

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 452 / 578

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



WALL HORIZ
REINF

PLAN

#3 TIEx
ES OF SLEEVE

OPTION 1 OPTION 2

PL 3/8x4x4

PL 3/8x4x8

5/8"Ø HILTI
KWIK BOLT
TZ EXP
ANCHOR ES
(0'- 4"
EMBED)

0'-1"

0'-6"

0'-1"

PL 3/8x8x8

(2) 5/8"Ø HILTI
KWIK BOLT
TZ EXP
ANCHORS ES
(0' - 4"
EMBED)

PL3/8x4x8

HALFEN
CHANNEL AT
EA POST

HALFEN
TEE-BOLT
AND NUT ES

3/16 3/16

x

WALL HORIZ
REINF

#4 U-BAR

0'-3"
MIN.

OPTION 3

OPTION 5
SECTION

OPTION 4

3/16

3

4

6

NO SCALE7 NO SCALE

NO SCALE 15 NO SCALE NO SCALESIDEWALK DETAIL

VARIES - SEE PLAN

5"

SLOPE AS INDICATED ON DRAWINGS

2" BASE COURSE
COMPACTED

SUBGRADE

GRASS

4'-0"

1 1/2" DIA. PIPE HANDRAIL.
SET HAND RAIL AT STAIRS
34" ABOVE STAIR NOSING.

3'-
0"

MAX. O.C.

HANDRAIL & STAIR HANDRAIL DETAILS

HANDRAILS SHALL BE
PAINTED - COLOR BY OWNER

EXTERIOR STAIR DETAILS

(2) #4 BOT

NOTES:

1. SEE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

2. REINFORCEMENT BARS IN STAIRS EXPOSED TO WEATHER SHALL BE
EPOXY COATED

5"

8"

#4@ 1' - 0" OC

1'-0"

LTS

LTS

LTS

#4@ 1' - 0" OC

18"

3'-0"

3'-0"

6" STEEL PIPE
CONCRETE FILLED

3' DEEP x 18" DIA.
CONCRETE FOOTING

1/2" EXPANSION JOINT

BOLLARD DETAIL

CONCRETE SLAB

PROVIDE POLYETHYLENE THERMOPLASTIC (LDPE)
COVER HAVING ULTRA-VIOLET RESISTANCE AND ANTI
STATIC PROPERTIES, NOMINAL THICKNESS 0.250
INCHES. COLOR SHALL BE OSHA YELLOW UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED. SIZE COVERS FOR PIPE
DIAMETERS, SIMILAR TO THAT MANUFACTURED BY
IDEAL SHIELD

Sheet No.

Design

S
h
e
e
t 
T
itl

e
:

Project:
CAD File:

D
a
te

 Is
su

e
d

:

CheckDrawing

P
ro

je
c
t 
T
itl

e
:

E
n

g
in

e
e
rs

 *
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 *
 S

u
rv

e
y
o

rs
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

In
c
.

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s

a
k
e
r

w
w

w
.
b
a
k
e
r
-
e
n
g
.
c
o
m

2
3

 
C

L
U

B
 
I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
S

C
O

T
T

S
B

L
U

F
F

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

e
b
r
a
s
k
a

C-7.03

002-167-18

002-167 23 Club Site Plan.dwg

S
T

A
I
R

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

H
A

N
D

R
A

I
L

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

A
N

D
 
S

T
A

I
R

 
D

E
T

A
I
L

S

J
u
n
e
 
3
,
 
2
0
1
9

3
0
8
 
6
3
2
 
3
1
2
3

1
2
0
 
E

a
s
t
 
1
6
t
h
 
S

t
.

S
c
o
t
t
s
b
l
u
f
f
,
 
N

E
 
6
9
3
6
1

2
0
1
9

FLAG POLE DETAIL AND SPECIFICATIONS

9"

18"

48"

12"

6"

4'-6"

4'-0"

40'-0"

21'-3" STRAIGHT

22'-9" TAPERED

ALLOY:  6063T6
EXPOSED HEIGHT: 40'-0"
OVERALL HEIGHT: 44'-0"
SHIPPED IN 2 SECTIONS
BUTT DIAMETER: 7"
TOP DIAMETER: 3 1/2"
WALL THICKNESS: 0.156
FINISH: 100 GRIT POLISH

SINGLE SHEAVE TRUCK, CAST
ALUMINUM REVOLVING, NON-FOULING,
26 STAINLESS STEEL BALL BEARINGS,

2 1/2" DIAMETER PLATE STEEL SHEAVE,
INTERNAL HALYARD TRUCK

1/8" X 7 X 19 MIL-C-5424 STAINLESS
STEEL AIRCRAFT CABLE

STANDARD FLAG ARRANGEMENT: 8 X 12

NEOPRENE COATED 2" DIAMETER
STEEL COUNTERWEIGHT

NYLON BEADED RETAINER RING

GEARLESS, SELF LOCKING
DIRECT DRIVE WINCH WITH SIX

TUMBLER CYLINDER LOCK

ALUMINUM FLASH COLLAR

NDOR 47B 3,500 PSI CONCRETE

HARDWOOD WEDGES

DRY SAND TIGHTLY TAMPED
AFTER ALIGNING POLE

FOUNDATION SLEEVE - 16 GA.
HOT DIP GALVANIZED STEEL

STEEL CENTERING WEDGES

1/4" STEEL BASE PLATE

1/4" STEEL SUPPORT PLATE
WELDED TO GROUND SPIKE

HANDRAIL MOUNTING DETAILS

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 453 / 578



0

1

1

/1 A101

1t

1 1/2x16x1'-6"

(4) 1"ø

Grid Head Symbol

Base Plate Tag

B = Base
T = Thickness

N = Width
Quantity of AR
Dimension of AR

Grid Number

Direction of Section
Description
Detail Cut or Section
Sheet Number

Key Note Symbol
Key Note Number

Level Head Symbol

Room Tag
Room Number
Area or Volume

Section Head Symbol

Slope Down Symbol

Spot Elevation Symbol

View Reference Symbol
Detail Cut or Section
Sheet Number

Wall Tag
Wall Schedule
Reference Number

Window Tag
Window Schedule
Reference Number

Drawing Revision Tag
Revision Number

A101
1

SIM

Door Tag
Door Schedule
Reference Number

Step Down Symbol

Valley Symbol

Break Line Symbol

Callout Head Symbol
Description
Detail Cut or Section
Sheet Number

101

1i

Name
Elevation

1
A101

SIM

1. ALL NEW CONSTRUCTION IS TO CONFORM TO LOCAL, STATE AND NATIONAL BUILDING AND
SAFETY GOVERNING AGENCIES.  THE FOLLOWING DRAWINGS ARE SUBJECT TO ANY
CHANGES THAT MAY BE REQUIRED BY LOCAL, STATE AND NATIONAL GOVERNING
AGENCIES.

2. GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR TOTAL FAMILIARITY WITH EXISTING
CONDITIONS.  ALL QUESTIONS AND DISCREPANCIES SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE
ATTENTION OF THE OWNER/ARCHITECT PRIOR TO SUBMITTAL OF BID TO BUILDING
REPRESENTATIVE.

3. CONTRACTOR IS TO COORDINATE BETWEEN ARCHITECTURAL, STRUCTURAL, MECHANICAL,
PLUMBING, FIRE PROTECTION AND ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS ALONG WITH THE DESIGNATED
SUB-CONTRACTORS FOR ALL OF THE TRADES.

4. ALL NEW CONSTRUCTION DETAILS, FINISHES, TEXTURES, ETC., ARE TO BE INSTALLED PER
MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS OR BUILDING INDUSTRY STANDARDS UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. THE CONTRACTOR IS TO COORDINATE WITH OWNER'S VENDORS ON SCHEDULING
REQUIREMENTS AND INSTALLATION OF ITEMS BEING SUPPLIED AND INSTALLED BY THEM IF
THEY ARE NOT A PART OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT.

6. ALL THE FIRE PROTECTION AND LIFE SAFETY SYSTEMS ARE TO BE PROVIDED AS REQUIRED
PER THE CODE REQUIREMENTS,  VERIFY WITH THE BUILDING DEPARTMENT AND FIRE
DEPARTMENT.  FIRE EXTINGUISHERS (5 LB - CLASS ABC)TO BE PROVIDED FOR THE 
CONCESSION'S ROOM, OFFICE, AND ALL STORAGE ROOMS.  MOUNT NEAR ENTRANCE 
DOORWAYS.

7. ALL NEW CONSTRUCTION IS TO ADHERE TO A.D.A. REQUIREMENTS UNLESS OTHERWISE
DIRECTED BY THE OWNER, SUCH AS LATCH SETS, MOUNTING HEIGHTS, CLEARANCES,
SLOPES, GRADES, ETC.

8. THE FLOOR SLAB IS NOT TO BE POURED UNTIL ALL EQUIPMENT CONDUIT, PLUMBING,
POWER, ETC. HAS BEEN ROUGHED IN.

9. PROVIDE TYPE "X" 5/8" GYPSUM BOARD THROUGHOUT NEW CONSTRUCTION UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

10. PROVIDE RATED WALLS AS REQUIRED FOR NEW CONSTRUCTION.  THIS INCLUDES WALLS,
CEILINGS, DUCTWORK, DOORS, FRAMES, HARDWARE, ETC.

11. ALL INTERIOR COLORS, TEXTURES AND FINISHES ARE TO BE SELECTED BY THE
OWNER/ARCHITECT.

12. ANY NOTES MENTIONED ON THIS SHEET OR ON ANY OTHER SHEET SHALL PERTAIN TO
ALL SHEETS.

13. ALL WORK AND DRAWINGS ARE TO BE REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE OWNER PRIOR
TO CONSTRUCTION.

14. ALL CONCRETE MATERIALS ARE TO BE OWNER PROVIDED FOR THIS CONTRACT.  
CONTRACTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL INSTALLATION, FORMWORK, AND 
PLACEMENT OF CONCRETE BUT MATERIALS SHALL BE DIRECT BILLED TO THE OWNER AND 
PAID SEPARATELY.

15. ALL METAL BUILDING & STRUCTURE MATERIAL PACKAGES FOR THIS PROJECT AS 
SPECIFICED ARE TO BE OWNER PROVIDED.  CONTRACTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 
INSTALLATION AND ERECTION OF THE BUILDINGS AS WELL AS COORDINATION OF ALL 
TRADES BUT METAL BUILDING & STRUCTURE MATERIALS ARE TO BE PROVIDED BY B&C 
STEEL AND TO BE BILLED DIRECTLY TO THE OWNER.  THIS INCLUDES ALL BUILDINGS, 
DUGOUT COVERS, STADIUM SEATING AWNINGS, PLAYGROUND COVER, AND BATTING CAGE 
COVER.  BUILDINGS WILL INCLUDE INSULATED WALK DOORS.  DOORS TO BE REKEYED BY 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND DEADBOLTS INSTALLED IN FIELD WHERE REQUIRED.

16. CONTRACTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING ALL REBAR AND ANCHORS BOLTS.

THE FOLLOWING GENERAL NOTES APPLY TO THE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS:

1. ALL PARTS OF THE WORK, INCLUDING MATERIALS, METHODS AND ASSEMBLIES, MUST 
COMPLY WITH THE MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS OF THE GOVERNING REGULATIONS OF ALL 
FEDERAL, STATE, DISTRICT AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES HAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE 
PROJECT AS WELL AS THOSE GREATER REQUIREMENTS INDICATED BY THE CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS.  NO PART OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS MAY BE CONSTRUED TO REQUIRE 
WORK CONTRARY TO GOVERNING REGULATIONS.

2. THE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS ARE A PORTION OF THE SET OF DRAWINGS WHICH,
WHEN COMPLETE, CONSIST OF ALL DRAWINGS OF ALL DISCIPLINES LISTED BY THE 
OVERALL DRAWING INDEX.  THE WORK DESCRIBED BY THE DRAWINGS ON ANY ONE 
DISCIPLINE MAY BE AFFECTED BY THE WORK DESCRIBED OF ANOTHER DISCIPLINE AND 
MAY REQUIRE REFERENCE TO THE DRAWINGS OF ANOTHER DISCIPLINE.  PARTIAL SETS OF 
DRAWINGS ARE INCOMPLETE AND SHOULD NOT BE DISTRIBUTED OR UTILIZED BY THE 
CONTRACTOR.  IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO REVIEW AND COORDINATE 
THE WORK OF ALL SUB-CONTRACTORS, TRADES AND/OR SUPPLIERS WITH THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS BEFORE COMMENCING CONSTRUCTION 
AND TO ASSURE THAT ALL PARTIES ARE AWARE OF ALL REQUIREMENTS, REGARDLESS OF 
WHERE THE REQUIREMENTS OCCUR IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, WHICH MIGHT 
AFFECT THE WORK OF THAT PARTY.

3. AS PART OF THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO COORDINATE THE WORK OF ALL
SUB-CONTRACTORS, TRADES AND/OR SUPPLIERS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENDEAVOR TO
IDENTIFY AND NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT OF ANY CONFLICTS  BETWEEN THE WORK OF
DIFFERENT PARTIES AT THE EARLIEST POSSIBLE DATE SO AS TO ALLOW ADEQUATE TIME
FOR THE CONFLICT TO BE RESOLVED WITHOUT DELAYING THE WORK.  ALL DEVIATIONS 
FROM THAT WHICH IS REQUIRED BY THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS MUST BE APPROVED IN 
ADVANCE BY THE ARCHITECT.

4. IT IS THE INTENT OF THE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS TO ESTABLISH AND COORDINATE THE
FINISHED APPEARANCE AND EXACT LOCATION OF ALL EXPOSED WORK OF ALL TRADES,
INCLUDING THAT WORK WHICH IS ILLUSTRATED PRIMARILY ON DRAWINGS OF OTHER
DISCIPLINES.  LOCATIONS SHOWN ON OTHER DISCIPLINE'S DRAWINGS ARE SCHEMATIC
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.  THE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS TAKE PRECEDENCE FOR 
THE FINISHED APPEARANCE AND EXACT LOCATION AT ALL TIMES.

5. DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS.

6. WHERE DISCREPANCIES OCCUR BETWEEN PLANS, DETAILS, NOTES AND SPECIFICATIONS,
THE MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS SHALL GOVERN.  DETAILS ON DRAWINGS TAKE
PRECEDENCE OVER NOTES AND TYPICAL DETAILS.  DETAILS NOTED AS TYPICAL APPLY TO
ALL SIMILAR CONDITIONS.  WHERE NO SPECIFIC DETAILS ARE SHOWN, CONSTRUCTION 
SHALL CONFORM TO SIMILAR WORK ELSEWHERE ON THE PROJECT.

7. THE ARCHITECTURAL FLOOR PLANS, REFLECTED CEILING PLANS, SECTIONS AND 
ELEVATIONS ILLUSTRATE THE EXACT LOCATION OF MANY, BUT NOT ALL EXPOSED PARTS 
OF THE WORK.  APPLY THE FOLLOWING RULES IN ORDER, TO DETERMINE THE EXACT 
LOCATION OF EACH  EXPOSED PART OF THE WORK:

A. REFER TO THE SPECIFIC APPLICABLE LARGE-SCALE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS, SECTIONS,
ELEVATIONS OR DETAILS.  LOCATE AS DIMENSIONED.

B. IF NOT SHOWN OR UNIQUELY DIMENSIONED, REFER TO THE APPLICABLE TYPICAL
ARCHITECTURAL MOUNTING HEIGHT AND/OR CONFIGURATION DETAILS.  LOCATE AS
INDICATED BY THE APPLICABLE DETAIL OR RULE.

C. IF NOT SHOWN OR DIMENSIONED ON TYPICAL ARCHITECTURAL DETAILS, LOCATE AS
DIMENSIONED BY THE DRAWINGS OF OTHER DISCIPLINES.

D. IF NOT SHOWN OR DIMENSIONED ON DRAWINGS OF OTHER DISCIPLINES, PLACE AT THE
APPROXIMATE LOCATION SHOWN BY THE DRAWINGS OF OTHER DISCIPLINES. 

8. STUDIO 120 ARCHITECTURE CONSIDERS THAT PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS ARE APPROVED
DOCUMENTS ONLY IF:

A. THE DOCUMENTS ARE PAPER COPIES WITH SIGNATURES AND PROFESSIONAL
CERTIFICATION VISIBLY PRESENT ON THE PAPER COPIES OR

B. ELECTRONIC FILES IN ADOBE® PORTABLE DOCUMENT FILE (PDF) FORMAT ISSUED
DIRECTLY BY STUDIO 120 ARCHITECTURE (HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS
ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED DATA).  

INFORMATION SUPPLIED VIA METHODS OTHER THAN THOSE NOTED ABOVE ARE NOT TO BE
CONSIDERED APPROVED DOCUMENTS.  THE RECEIVER OF ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED
DOCUMENTS IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IS AN
APPROVED DOCUMENT.  THE USE OF ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED DRAWINGS IS
CONSIDERED TO BE AT THE USER'S RISK.  STUDIO 120 ARCHITECTURE. ASSUMES NO
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY CLAIMS OR DAMAGES RESULTING FROM USE OF THIS
ELECTRONIC INFORMATION.

ELECTRONIC INFORMATION IS PROVIDED FOR THE CONVENIENCE OF THE RECIPIENT ONLY.
THE ELECTRONIC INFORMATION IS COPYRIGHTED AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED TO ANY
OTHER PARTY WITHOUT THE PERMISSION OF STUDIO 120 ARCHITECTURE.

9. REASONABLE EFFORT HAS BEEN MADE BY THE ENGINEER TO INDICATE THE TYPE, SIZE,
LOCATION, AND NUMBER OF KNOWN UNDERGROUND FACILITIES ON THE DRAWING(S).
HOWEVER, NO GUARANTEE IS MADE AS TO THE TRUE TYPE, SIZE, LOCATION, OR NUMBER
OF SUCH FACILITIES.  THE OMISSION FROM OR THE INCLUSION OF,  UTILITY LOCATIONS ON
THE DRAWING(S) IS NOT TO BE CONSIDERED AS THE NON-EXISTENCE OF OR AN ABSOLUTE
LOCATION OF, EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MEET ALL
THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE NEBRASKA ONE-CALL NOTIFICATION ACT (STATE OF
NEBRASKATITLE 155, CHAPTER 2).

Non -occupied
Basement

NUMBER OF STORIES

OCCUPIED SPACE TOTAL

First Floor

Third Floor
Second Floor

Fourth Floor

TYPE OF CONSTRUCTION

NA

BUILDING STATISTICS CODE SUMMARY
APPLICABLE CODESAREA (GROSS SQUARE FOOTAGE)

NA
1,600 SF
NA
NA
NA

---- SF

One

Assembly Group - A5

Type II B

OCCUPANCY GROUP

BUILDING
LIFE SAFETY
ENERGY
MECHANICAL
PLUMBING
ELECTRICAL
ACCESSIBILITY

INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE - 2009 
NFPA 101 - 2000
INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE - 2009
UNIFORM MECHANICAL CODE - 2012
UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE - 2012
NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE - 2011
2010 ADA STANDARDS FOR ACCESSIBLE DESIGN

A

C

3 5/8" METAL STUD @ 16" OC

5/8" TYPE X GYP BOARD - PAINTED

SOUND BATT INSULATION

5/8" TYPE X GYP BOARD

6" METAL STUD @ 16" OC

5/8" MARINE GRADE PLYWOOD

SOUND BATT INSULATION

5/8" MARINE GRADE PLYWOOD

E

1" -  26 GAUGE METAL PANEL

8" STEEL GIRT @ 4'-0"HORI.

1" -  26 GAUGE METAL LINER PANEL

5/8" GREENBOARD

5/8" GREENBOARD

FIBERGLASS REINFORCED PANEL- SMOOTH

FIBERGLASS REINFORCED PANEL- SMOOTH

FIBERGLASS REINFORCED PANEL- SMOOTH ON CONCESSION SIDE

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:07
:46

 P
M

A-0.01

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TU

R
AL

 N
O

TE
S,

 C
O

D
E

SU
M

M
AR

Y 
AN

D
 S

YM
BO

L 
LE

G
EN

D

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

ARCHITECTURAL GENERAL NOTES ARCHITECTURAL SUPPLEMENTAL NOTES ARCHITECTURAL WALL TYPES ARCHITECTURAL SYMBOL LEGEND

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 454 / 578



WH
A-3.101

Ea
st

 E
le

va
tio

n

A-3.11

A-3.10

A-3.11

1

North Elevation

2

W
es

t E
le

va
tio

n

2

South Elevation

out to out of steel

40' - 0"

ou
t to

 ou
t o

f s
tee

l

40
' - 

8"

19' - 0 9/16"

21
' - 

11
 1/

4"

16
' - 

7 1
/4"

11' - 5 11/16"

13
' - 

6 3
/8"

0' 
- 4

 7/
8"

8' 
- 0

"
0' 

- 7
 1/

4"
8' 

- 0
"

0' 
- 7

 1/
4"

8' 
- 0

 1/
4"

A

B

C

D

1 2 3

0' 
- 0

"
0' 

- 4
"

0' 
- 4

"

16
' - 

0"
20

' - 
0"

20
' - 

0"

191 SF

Office
5

318 SF

Storage
6418 SF

Concession
7

ov
er

ha
ng

4' 
- 0

"

overhang

4' - 0"

overhang

4' - 0"

co
ve

re
d c

an
op

y 

20
' - 

0"

A-8.01

2

A

AA

C

SOG - 5"A

E

E

E

3
4

1

3

3

3

A-8.
00

3

A-8.
005

A-8.
00

C

A

A

A

1

E

42

68

9
1011

1

1

2

212 SF

WOMENS RR
1

211 SF

MENS RR
2

92 SF

FAMILY RR
3

0' - 4 7/8" 11' - 5 11/16"

7

20' - 0" 20' - 0"

0' - 4" 0' - 4"

1
A-3.20

2
A-3.20

1' - 6"

AD
A 

Cl
ea

ra
nc

e

1' 
- 6

"

5' - 6"

2

2
11' - 9 1/8"

ICE REF.

  CHEST 
FREEZER

MOP SINK
3- COMP. SINK

CO
OL

ER

POPCORN

SHELF DISPLAY SALES

6' - 0"

HAND SINK

COUNTERTOP TABLE-
STORAGE SHELVING
BELOW

f.d.

f.d.

f.d.

f.d.

f.d.

ST
OV

ET
OP

 
   

 R
AN

GE

A-8.01
A-8.01

6

5

A-8.01

7

3

3

4

1

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:08
:01

 P
M

A-1.00

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

'S
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 G

R
O

U
N

D
LE

VE
L 

FL
O

O
R

 P
LA

N

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND

1/4" = 1'-0"

Ground Level Plan
1

NORTH

1 ROLL UP SHUTTER DOOR, STAINLESS STEEL CONSTRUCTION- 6'-0" WIDE X 3'-6"
HIGH.

GENERAL NOTES
1. PTAC UNITS TO SERVE CONCESSIONS AND OFFICE ONLY.

2. ALL FLOOR AREAS TO HAVE SMOOTH  STEEL TROWELED CONCRETE FINISH AND SHALL BE 
SEALED.

3. CABINETS IN CONCESSION AREA TO BE PRE-FINISHED - BASIC WHITE.

4. RESTROOMS TO HAVE POWERED VENTILATION- TIED TO LIGHTING SWITCH.

5. NEW 2" WATER SUPPLY TO BUILDING - SEPARATE FROM IRRIGATION LINE.

6. ALL RESTROOM VENDOR SUPPLIED EQUIPMENT TO BE INSTALLED BY GENERAL CONTRACTOR.

7. ALL PLUMBING TO ALLOW FOR FULL WINTERIZATION.

8. RESTROOMS TO HAVE LOWERED HARD CEILINGS AS SHOWN IN DETAILS.

9. OWNER  TO RE-INSTALL ANY EXISTING PLAQUES THAT 23 CLUB WILL REUSE.

10. CONCESSIONS BUILDING TO HAVE EXTERIOR LIGHTING ON ALL FOUR SIDES.

12. ALL  WALK-DOORS SHOWN WILL BE SUPPLIED BY THE BUILDING MANUFACTURER.

2 P.T.A.C. UNITS FOR OFFICE AND CONCESSIONS AREA.

HWG-TYPE 1 INSULATED METAL DOOR IN HOLLOW METAL FRAME.  RESTROOM DOORS.
HINGES:  CONSTRUCTION TYPE AND QUANTITY AS SPECIFIED, QTY. 3 PER LEAF 4 1/2 X 4 1/2 INCHES.
PUSH/PULL PLATE COMBO.
CLOSER: PARALLEL ARM CLOSER WITH APPROPRIATE MOUNTING AND COVER, 1 REQ'D.
STOP:  FLOOR STOP, 1 REQ'D.
GASKETS:  SMOKE- ONE SET FOR SINGLE LEAF DOOR. SET FOR ACOUSTIC CONTROL.
DOOR SWEEP:  NEOPREME WITH 1/2" SWEEP AT DOOR BOTTOM AND 1 1/4" ALUMINUM EXTRUSION.
KICK PLATES: 1 REQ'D.
DEADBOLT LOCKSET, KEYED OUTSIDE.

HWG-TYPE 2,  INSULATED METAL DOOR IN HOLLOW METAL FRAME.  FAMILY RESTROOM.
HINGES:  CONSTRUCTION TYPE AND QUANTITY AS SPECIFIED, QTY. 3 PER LEAF 4 1/2 X 4 1/2 INCHES.
PUSH/PULL PLATE COMBO.
CLOSER: PARALLEL ARM CLOSER WITH APPROPRIATE MOUNTING AND COVER, 1 REQ'D.
STOP:  FLOOR STOP, 1 REQ'D.
GASKETS:  SMOKE- ONE SET FOR SINGLE LEAF DOOR. SET FOR ACOUSTIC CONTROL.
DOOR SWEEP:  NEOPREME WITH 1/2" SWEEP AT DOOR BOTTOM AND 1 1/4" ALUMINUM EXTRUSION.
KICK PLATES: 1 REQ'D.
PRIVACY DEADBOLT LOCKSET, LEVER INSIDE, KEYED OUTSIDE.

DOOR HARWARE

HWG-TYPE 3,  INSULATED METAL DOOR IN HOLLOW METAL FRAME. CONCESSIONS, OFFICE, STORAGE.
HINGES:  CONSTRUCTION TYPE AND QUANTITY AS SPECIFIED, QTY. 3 PER LEAF 4 1/2 X 4 1/2 INCHES.
LOCKSET FUNCTION: EXIT FUNCTION ANSI F84, OUTSIDE LEVER LOCKED/UNLOCKED BY KEY IN OUTSIDE LEVER.
CLOSER: PARALLEL ARM CLOSER WITH APPROPRIATE MOUNTING AND COVER, 1 REQ'D.
STOP:  FLOOR STOP, 1 REQ'D.
GASKETS:  SMOKE- ONE SET FOR SINGLE LEAF DOOR. SET FOR ACOUSTIC CONTROL.
DOOR SWEEP:  NEOPREME WITH 1/2" SWEEP AT DOOR BOTTOM AND 1 1/4" ALUMINUM EXTRUSION.
KICK PLATES: 1 REQ'D.
PRIVACY DEADBOLT LOCKSET, LEVER INSIDE, KEYED OUTSIDE.

3 DOORS AND COLUMNS TO BE PAINTED AFTER INSTALLATION- COLOR BY OWNER.

4 WATER HEATER - A.O. SMITH PROLINE - 30 GALLON ELECTRIC OR AN APPROVED
EQUAL.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

DOORS PROVIDED BY B-C STEEL AS PART OF THEIR BUILDING PACKAGE.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 455 / 578



A-3.101

Ea
st

 E
le

va
tio

n

A-3.11

A-3.10

A-3.11

1

North Elevation

2

W
es

t E
le

va
tio

n

2

South Elevation

A

B

C

D

1 2 3

1" / 12" 1" / 12"

1

1
A-3.20

2
A-3.20

A-8.01
A-8.01

6

5

A-8.01

7

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:08
:12

 P
M

A-1.10

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

'S
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 R

O
O

F 
PL

AN

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

1/4" = 1'-0"

Roof Plan
1

KEYNOTE LEGEND
1 ENCLOSED PORTION METAL BUILDING ROOF SYSTEM TO HAVE R-30 VALUE

INSULATION SYSTEM.

NORTH

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 456 / 578



--

Ea
st

 E
le

va
tio

n

A-1.20

-

-

-

North Elevation

-

W
es

t E
le

va
tio

n

3

Rear Elevation
- Looking

Towards Field

TYP.

9' - 0"

4
A-1.20

1

2

3

THIS IS A PLAN VIEW OF ONE BLEACHER COVER STRUCTURE, THERE WILL BE FOUR (4) STRUCTURES REQUIRED IN TOTAL.

125.500°

BACKSTOP LENGTH

40' - 4"

31' - 5 13/16"

4
A-1.20

3"
 / 

12
"

3" / 12"3" / 1
2"

Ground Level
0' - 0"

1

2

Ground Level
0' - 0"

0' 
- 5

"

1

3

2

3" / 12"

10
' - 

0 1
/4"

 +/
-

1' 
- 2

"
1' 

- 2
"

1' 
- 2

"

4' - 8" 3' - 6" 3' - 6" 5' - 0"

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - B
lea

ch
er

 C
ov

er
 D

es
ign

Re
v..

rvt
5/2

9/2
01

9 4
:14

:15
 P

M

A-1.20

BL
EA

C
H

ER
 C

O
VE

R
 P

LA
N

S,
 E

LE
VA

TI
O

N
AN

D
 S

EC
TI

O
N

 V
IE

W
S

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

NE
W

 F
IE

LD
 B

LE
AC

HE
R 

CO
VE

R
ST

RU
CT

UR
ES

Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er

Checker

N
EW

 F
IE

LD
 B

LE
AC

H
ER

 C
O

VE
R

 S
TR

U
C

TU
R

ES

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
 N

EB
R

AS
KA

  6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND

1/8" = 1'-0"

Ground Level
1

1/8" = 1'-0"

Site / Roof View
2

1/8" = 1'-0"

Rear Elevation - Looking Towards Field
3

1 BLEACHER COVER STRUCTURE BASED ON B-C STEEL METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS,
RIGID FRAME IN INSET ROOF PURLINS.  ROOF COVER AND TRIM TO BE 26 GAUGE
METAL, COLOR BY OWNER.  BASE PLATE OF RIDGE FRAME COLUMN TO BE SET
AT 24" BELOW DUG-OUT PLATFORM SURFACE.  AFTER PLATE ATTACHEMENT TO
ANCHOR BOLTS, THE COLUMN BASE TO BE INFILLED WITH CONCRETE TO THE
BOTTOM OF THE SLAB ELEVATION.  THE DUG-OUT FLOOR SLAB TO BE POURED
TO THE DIMENSIONS GIVEN.

2 24" DIAMETER CONCRETE PILASTER TO SUPPORT BUILDING FRAME COLUMN.
FIRST SECTION TO DEPTH OF 5'-0" ( -5'-0" ELEV.)BELOW FINISH SLAB SURFACE.
THIS SECTION TO BE POURED TO A HEIGHT OF 3'-0" (-2'-0" ELEV.) OR 2'-0" BELOW
FINISH SLAB SURFACE.  PLACE ANCHOR BOLTS AS PER BUILDING SUPPLIER
REQUIREMENTS.  REINFORCE WITH #3 CIRCULAR TIES AT 12" o.c. HORIZONTAL,
AND 4 #5 x 4'-6" LENGTH VERTICAL REBAR EXTENDING INTO SECOND PILASTER
POUR 18".  AFTER COLUMNS ARE SET, ADD SECOND PILASTER SECTION TO A
LEVEL OF APPROXIMATELY 4" BELOW FINISH SLAB SURFACE.

3 5" CONCRETE SLAB TO SERVE AS STADIUM SEATING AREA.  SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS
FOR DETAILS.

1/4" = 1'-0"

Section through Structure
4

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 457 / 578



A-1.306

R
ig

ht
 F

ie
ld

 S
id

e
El

ev
at

io
n

A-1.30

A-1.30

A-1.30

3

Playing Field
Side Elevation

5

H
om

e 
Pl

at
e

Si
de

 E
le

va
tio

n

4

Spectator Side
Elevation

27' - 0"

9' 
- 1

0"

A-1.307

R
ig

ht
 F

ie
ld

 S
id

e
El

ev
at

io
n

-F
en

ce
 n

ot
sh

ow
n

A-1.30 8

H
om

e 
Pl

at
e

Si
de

 E
le

va
tio

n 
-

Fe
nc

e 
no

t
sh

ow
n

SL
A B

 D
IM

E N
SI

ON

+/-
 9'

 - 
10

"

SLAB DIMENSION

+/- 27' - 8"

1

54

4

2

3

3' 
- 6

"

4

DOORWAY

DOORWAY

9' - 0" 9' - 0" 9' - 0"

5' - 0"

A-1.306

R
ig

ht
 F

ie
ld

 S
id

e
El

ev
at

io
n

A-1.30

A-1.30

A-1.30

3

Playing Field
Side Elevation

5

H
om

e 
Pl

at
e

Si
de

 E
le

va
tio

n

4

Spectator Side
Elevation

A-1.307

R
ig

ht
 F

ie
ld

 S
id

e
El

ev
at

io
n

-F
en

ce
 n

ot
sh

ow
n

A-1.30 8

H
om

e 
Pl

at
e

Si
de

 E
le

va
tio

n 
-

Fe
nc

e 
no

t
sh

ow
n

3"
 / 

12
"

1

Ground Level
0' - 0"

Ground Level
0' - 0"

Ground Level
0' - 0"

Ground Level
0' - 0"

3" / 12"

Ground Level
0' - 0"

3" / 12"

Ground Level
0' - 0"

5' 
- 0

"

3' 
- 0

"
1' 

- 8
"

1

2

3

5

-2' - 0"

-5' - 0"

ANCHOR BOLTS SET AT THIS ELEVATION

8' 
- 0

"

3" / 12"

Ground Level
0' - 0"

10
' - 

0"

9' - 10"

3" / 12"

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - 
Du

go
ut 

De
sig

n.r
vt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:15
:14

 P
M

A-1.30

D
U

G
-O

U
T 

C
O

VE
R

 P
LA

N
S,

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S,
AN

D
 S

EC
TI

O
N

 V
IE

W
S

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

NE
W

 F
IE

LD
 D

UG
-O

UT
 S

TR
UC

TU
RE

S
Pr

oje
ct 

Nu
mb

er

Checker

N
EW

 F
IE

LD
 D

U
G

-O
U

T 
ST

R
U

C
TU

R
ES

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
, N

EB
R

AS
KA

  6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND
1 DUG-OUT STRUCTURE BASED ON B-C STEEL METAL BUILDING SYSTEMS, RIGID

FRAME WITH INSET ROOF PURLINS.  ROOF COVER AND TRIM TO BE 26 GAUGE
METAL, COLOR BY OWNER.  BASE PLATE OF RIDGE FRAME COLUMN TO BE SET
AT 24" BELOW DUG-OUT PLATFORM SURFACE.  AFTER PLATE ATTACHEMENT TO
ANCHOR BOLTS, THE COLUMN BASE TO BE INFILLED WITH CONCRETE TO THE
BOTTOM OF THE SLAB ELEVATION.  THE DUG-OUT FLOOR SLAB TO BE POURED
TO THE DIMENSIONS GIVEN.

2 24" DIAMETER CONCRETE PILASTER TO SUPPORT BUILDING FRAME COLUMN.
FIRST SECTION TO DEPTH OF 5'-0" ( -5'-0" ELEV.)BELOW FINISH SLAB SURFACE.
THIS SECTION TO BE POURED TO A HEIGHT OF 3'-0" (-2'-0" ELEV.) OR 2'-0" BELOW
FINISH SLAB SURFACE.  PLACE ANCHOR BOLTS AS PER BUILDING SUPPLIER
REQUIREMENTS.  REINFORCE WITH #3 CIRCULAR TIES AT 12" o.c. HORIZONTAL,
AND 4 #5 x 4'-6" LENGTH VERTICAL REBAR EXTENDING INTO SECOND PILASTER
POUR 18".  AFTER COLUMNS ARE SET, ADD SECOND PILASTER SECTION TO A
LEVEL OF APPROXIMATELY 4" BELOW FINISH SLAB SURFACE.

1/4" = 1'-0"

Represents Dugout along 1st Base Line
1

FOUR DUGOUT UNITS TO BE BUILT AS SHOWN, THESE TO BE  LOCATED ON FIRST BASE SIDE OF FIELD,
FOUR DUGOUT UNITS TO BE OPPOSITE HAND, THESE TO BE LOCATED ON THIRD BASE SIDE OF FIELD.
(DOORWAYS TO BE PLACED ON END OF DUGOUT WHICH IS FURTHEREST AWAY FROM HOME PLATE)

1/4" = 1'-0"

Site / Roof View
2

1/4" = 1'-0"3 Playing Field Side Elevation
1/4" = 1'-0"4 Spectator Side Elevation

1/4" = 1'-0"5 Home Plate Side Elevation

1/4" = 1'-0"6 Right Field Side Elevation

1/4" = 1'-0"7 Right Field Side Elevation -Fence not shown

1/4" = 1'-0"8
Home Plate Side Elevation - Fence not
shown

5 LOCKER BENCH WITH OVERALL HEIGHT OF 17.5", 9.5" WIDE X 1.25" THICK BENCH
SEAT MADE OF CLEAR LAMINATED MAPLE HARDWOOD WITH ONE COAT OF
SEALER AND THREE COATS OF LACQUER.  ALUMINUM PEDESTALS, POWDER
COAT- COLOR BY OWNER.

3 4" CONCRETE SLAB TO SERVE AS FLOOR OF DUG-OUT.

4 DUG-OUT FENCING - NOT A PART OF DUG-OUT STRUCTURE DRAWINGS.

9 Perspective View

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 458 / 578



A-3.403

EA
ST

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
 -

PL
AY

G
R

O
U

N
D

C
O

VE
R

BU
IL

D
IN

G

A-3.40

A-3.40

A-3.40

1NORTH
ELEVATION -

PLAYGROUND
COVER

BUILDING

4

W
ES

T
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

 -
PL

AY
G

R
O

U
N

D
C

O
VE

R
BU

IL
D

IN
G

2

SOUTH
ELEVATION -

PLAYGROUND
COVER

BUILDING

15
' - 

0"
15

' - 
0"

0' 
- 4

"
0' 

- 4
"

30
' - 

8"

15' - 0" 15' - 0"

30' - 0"

CONCRETE STEM WALL

0' - 8"

1

3

2

OVERHANG

2' - 0"

OV
ER

HA
NG

2' 
- 0

"

4

5

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - P
lay

gr
ou

nd
 C

ov
er

 B
uil

din
g.r

vt
5/2

9/2
01

9 4
:13

:12
 P

M

A-1.40

PL
AY

G
R

O
U

N
D

 C
O

VE
R

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 P
LA

N
AN

D
 R

EF
LE

C
TI

VE
 C

EI
LI

N
G

 P
LA

N

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
, N

EB
R

AS
KA

 6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND

2 PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT TO BE FURNISHED BY OWNER, INSTALLED BY
CONTRACTOR.

3 PLAYGROUND SURFACE - TO BE PROVIDED BY OWNER - PEA GRAVEL, SHREDDED
RUBBER MULCH, POURED RUBBER, OR RUBBER TILES.

1/4" = 1'-0"1 GROUND LEVEL- PLAYGROUND COVER BUILDING

1/4" = 1'-0"2 REFLECTED CEILING PLAN- PLAYGROUND COVER BUILDING

3 PERSPECTIVE

1 30' x 30' x 14' EAVE HEIGHT PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING, 2'-0" ROOF
OVERHANG ENTIRE BUILDING, 26 GAUGEMETAL ROOF, AND TRIM.  OWNER TO
CHOOSE COLORS..

4 SUPPORTED FROM ROOF PURLINS,  4' LED LIGHT FIXTURE - TWO LUMINARE.

5 BUILDING TO HAVE FULL ROOF LINER AND SOFFIT SYSTEM.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 459 / 578



A-3.501

EA
ST

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
 -

BA
TT

IN
G

C
AG

E
BU

IL
D

IN
G

A-3.50

A-3.50

A-3.50

3NORTH
ELEVATION -

BATTING
CAGE

BUILDING

2

W
ES

T
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

 -
BA

TT
IN

G
C

AG
E

BU
IL

D
IN

G

4

SOUTH
ELEVATION -

BATTING
CAGE

BUILDING

OUT TO OUT OF STEEL

60' - 8"

20' - 0" 20' - 0" 20' - 0" 0' - 4"0' - 4"

OU
T 

TO
 O

U T
 O

F 
S T

EE
L

64
' - 

0"
55' - 0"

12
' - 

0"

1

2

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - B
att

ing
 C

ag
e C

ov
er

 an
d S

tor
ag

e B
ldg

.rv
t

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:11
:15

 P
M

A-1.50

BA
TT

IN
G

 C
AG

E 
C

O
VE

R
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 P

LA
N

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

AuthorDesigner

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
, N

EB
R

AS
KA

  6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND

2 DEPICTS BATTING CAGE - N.I.C., TO BE FURNISHED BY OWNER.  SIZE SHOWN IS
12' x 55' LONG x 12' HIGH. FIVE TO BE PLACED IN STRUCTURE.

1/4" = 1'-0"

BATTING CAGE COVER
1

NORTH

1 64' WIDE x 60' LONG x 16' EAVE HEIGHT PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING,
RIDGED FRAME DESIGN,  2'-0" ROOF OVERHANG ENTIRE BUILDING, 26 GAUGE
METAL WALLS, ROOF, AND TRIM.  OWNER TO CHOOSE COLORS.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 460 / 578



Out to Out of Steel

25' - 8"

Ou
t to

 O
ut 

of 
St

ee
l

25
' - 

0"

1

2

33

4

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - B
att

ing
 C

ag
e C

ov
er

 an
d S

tor
ag

e B
ldg

.rv
t

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:11
:25

 P
M

A-1.60

ST
O

R
AG

E 
BU

IL
D

IN
G

 G
R

O
U

N
D

 L
EV

EL
 A

N
D

R
EF

LE
C

TI
VE

 C
EI

LI
N

G
 P

LA
N

S

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

AuthorDesigner

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
, N

EB
R

AS
KA

  6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND
1 25' x 25' x 12' EAVE HEIGHT PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING, 8' WHITE

INTERIOR LINER ALL WALLS, 2'-0" ROOF OVERHANG ENTIRE BUILDING, 26
GAUGEMETAL WALLS, ROOF, AND TRIM.  OWNER TO CHOOSE COLORS. MINIMUM
OF R-15.3 INSULATION PACKAGE FOR WALLS AND ROOF.

NORTH

1/4" = 1'-0"1 GROUND LEVEL - STORAGE BUILDING

3 8'-0" WIDE x 10'-0" HIGH STEEL OVERHEAD DOOR, INSULATED.  OVERHEAD DOOR
COMPANY MODEL 432 OR SIMILAR - MANUAL CHAIN LIFT.

4 SUPPORTED FROM ROOF PURLINS,  4' LED LIGHT FIXTURE - TWO LUMINARE.

2 3070 PAINTED METAL INSULATED DOOR WITH METAL BUILDING FRAME SETUP,
DOOR TO INCLUDE LEVER TYPE LOCKSET WITH  PRIVACY LOCK, KEYED DEAD
BOLT LOCK, HYDRAULIC DOOR CLOSURE, KICK PLATE, HINGES, WEATHER
STRIPPING, DOOR STOP AND ADA PROFILE SILL THRESHOLD.  DOOR FURNISHED
BY METAL BUILDING SUPPLIER.

1/4" = 1'-0"2 REFLECTED CEILING PLAN - STORAGE BUILDING

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 461 / 578



A-3.101

Ea
st

 E
le

va
tio

n

A-3.11

A-3.10

A-3.11

1

North Elevation

2

W
es

t E
le

va
tio

n

2

South Elevation

11

1 1

2

2

A-8.
00

3

A-8.
005

A-8.
00

1
42

68

9
1011

7

1
A-3.20

2
A-3.20

A-8.01

5

A-8.01

7

3

3

4

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:08
:23

 P
M

A-2.00

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

S 
BU

IL
D

IN
G

 G
R

O
U

N
D

 L
EV

EL
R

EF
LE

C
TE

D
 C

EI
LI

N
G

 P
LA

N

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

1/4" = 1'-0"

Reflected Ceiling Plan
1

KEYNOTE LEGEND
1 CEILING MOUNTED LED TYPE LIGHT FIXTURES.

2 CEILING MOUNTED LED TYPE LIGHT FIXTURES.  CONCEAL ELECTRICAL WIRE
CONDUITS IN PURLIN AND GIRT CAVITIES.

NORTH

3 SOFFIT AND OUTDOOR COVERED AREA TO HAVE CEILING LINER PANEL.

4 EXPOSED COLUMNS TO BE PAINTED.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 462 / 578



A-3.501

EA
ST

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
 -

BA
TT

IN
G

C
AG

E
BU

IL
D

IN
G

A-3.50

A-3.50

A-3.50

3NORTH
ELEVATION -

BATTING
CAGE

BUILDING

2

W
ES

T
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

 -
BA

TT
IN

G
C

AG
E

BU
IL

D
IN

G

4

SOUTH
ELEVATION -

BATTING
CAGE

BUILDING

1

2

3

OV
ER

HA
N G

2' 
- 0

"

OVERHANG

2' - 0"

4

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - B
att

ing
 C

ag
e C

ov
er

 an
d S

tor
ag

e B
ldg

.rv
t

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:11
:37

 P
M

A-2.50

BA
TT

IN
G

 C
AG

E 
C

O
VE

R
 R

EF
LE

C
TI

VE
C

EI
LI

N
G

 P
LA

N

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

AuthorDesigner

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
, N

EB
R

AS
KA

  6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

1/4" = 1'-0"

REFLECTED CEILING PLAN -  BATTING CAGE BUILDING
1

KEYNOTE LEGEND

3 DEPICTS RIGID FRAME COLUMNS AND RAFTERS.

2 DEPICTS LOCATION OF BATTING CAGES.

1 SUPPORTED FROM ROOF PURLINS,  4' LED LIGHT FIXTURE - TWO LUMINARE.

4 FULL ROOF LINER AND SOFFIT PANEL SYSTEM FOR ENTIRE BUILDING.

KEYNOTE LEGEND

3 DEPICTS RIGID FRAME COLUMNS AND RAFTERS.

2 DEPICTS LOCATION OF BATTING CAGES.

1 SUPPORTED FROM ROOF PURLINS,  4' LED LIGHT FIXTURE - TWO LUMINARE.

4 FULL ROOF LINER AND SOFFIT PANEL SYSTEM FOR ENTIRE BUILDING.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 463 / 578



Ground Level Plan
0' - 0"

A B C D

1

3

1

1
A-3.20

4

Ground Level Plan
0' - 0"

ABCD

1 1

OPEN CANOPY SPACE

OPEN CANOPY SPACE

22

1
A-3.20

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:08
:33

 P
M

A-3.10

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

'S
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 E

XT
ER

IO
R

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
S

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND

1/4" = 1'-0"1 East Elevation

1/4" = 1'-0"2 West Elevation

1 TWO (2) POSITION A.D.A. COMPLIANT WATER FOUNTAIN WITH BOTTLE FILLER.
ELKAY EZSTL8WS(VR)SK OR AN APPROVED EQUAL.

2 A.D.A. COMPLIANT MENS AND WOMENS RESTROOM SIGNAGE.

3 A.D.A. COMPLIANT FAMILY RESTROOM SIGNAGE.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

4 PTAC UNIT. SIZING TO BE DETERMINED FOR ROOM SIZE AND LOADING BY
MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 464 / 578



Ground Level Plan
0' - 0"

123

1" / 12" 1" / 12"

1 EA
VE

 H
EI

GH
T

12
' - 

0"

2
A-3.20

Ground Level Plan
0' - 0"

1 2 3

1

2

1" / 12" 1" / 12"

2
A-3.20

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:08
:45

 P
M

A-3.11

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

'S
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 E

XT
ER

IO
R

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
S

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND

1/4" = 1'-0"1 North Elevation

1/4" = 1'-0"2 South Elevation

1 TWO (2) POSITION A.D.A. COMPLIANT WATER FOUNTAIN WITH BOTTLE FILLER.
ELKAY EZSTL8WS(VR)SK OR AN APPROVED EQUAL.

2 ROLL UP SHUTTER DOOR, STAINLESS STEEL CONSTRUCTION- 6'-0" WIDE X 3'-6"
HIGH.  FURNISH WITH DEADBOLT LOCKS ON EACH SIDE.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 465 / 578



Ground Level Plan
0' - 0"

2
A-3.20

418 SF

Concession
7

318 SF

Storage
6

191 SF

Office
5

11
' - 

7 1
5/1

6"

1

2

2

Ground Level Plan
0' - 0"

1
A-3.20

12
' - 

4 3
/8"

318 SF

Storage
6

211 SF

MENS RR
2

212 SF

WOMENS RR
1

1 1

2

2

3

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:08
:59

 P
M

A-3.20

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

'S
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

EC
TI

O
N

S

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

AuthorDesigner

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND
1 LIGHTS SHOWN IN THESE AREAS  MAY BE PLACED AT THE BOTTOM OF THE ROOF

PURLIN SLOPE AT EACH LOCATION.
2 FULL 8" METAL BUILDING INSULATION PACKAGE.

1/4" = 1'-0"1 Section thru Concession, Storage, and Office

1/4" = 1'-0"2 SECTION THRU OUTDOOR COVERED AREA, STORAGE, AND RESTROOMS

Outdoor Covered Area

3 PROVIDE ACCESS DOORS ON INTERIOR WALLS FOR DRINKING FOUNTAIN
LOCATIONS.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 466 / 578



Ground Level
0' - 0"

EA
VE

 H
EI

GH
T

14
' - 

0"

1

2

3

4

5

1" / 12"1" / 12"

10
' - 

1 3
/4" 6

Ground Level
0' - 0"

Ground Level
0' - 0"

1

4

2

3

5

Ground Level
0' - 0"

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - P
lay

gr
ou

nd
 C

ov
er

 B
uil

din
g.r

vt
5/2

9/2
01

9 4
:13

:27
 P

M

A-3.40

PL
AY

G
R

O
U

N
D

 C
O

VE
R

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
S

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

AuthorDesigner

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
, N

EB
R

AS
KA

 6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND

5 FOUNDATION WALL & FOOTINGS- SEE STRUCTURAL FOR DETAILS.

6 SELECTION OF PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT TO VERIFY HEIGHT REQUIREMENTS AS
COMPARED TO BUILDING STRUCTURE.

1/4" = 1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION - PLAYGROUND COVER BUILDING
1

1/4" = 1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION - PLAYGROUND COVER BUILDING
2

1/4" = 1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION - PLAYGROUND COVER BUILDING
3

1/4" = 1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION - PLAYGROUND COVER BUILDING
4

2 PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT TO BE FURNISHED BY OWNER, INSTALLED BY
CONTRACTOR.

3 PLAYGROUND SURFACE - TO BE DETERMINED BY OWNER - PEA GRAVEL,
SHREDDED RUBBER MULCH, POURED RUBBER, OR RUBBER TILES.

1 30' x 30' x 14' EAVE HEIGHT PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING, 2'-0" ROOF
OVERHANG ENTIRE BUILDING, 26 GAUGEMETAL ROOF, AND TRIM.  OWNER TO
CHOOSE COLORS..

4 SUPPORTED FROM ROOF PURLINS,  4' LED LIGHT FIXTURE - TWO LUMINARE.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 467 / 578



GROUND LEVEL
0' - 0"

1

2

EA
VE

 H
EI

GH
T

16
' - 

0"

GROUND LEVEL
0' - 0"

1

2

GROUND LEVEL
0' - 0"

1

2

GROUND LEVEL
0' - 0"

1

2

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - B
att

ing
 C

ag
e C

ov
er

 an
d S

tor
ag

e B
ldg

.rv
t

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:11
:48

 P
M

A-3.50

BA
TT

IN
G

 C
AG

E 
C

O
VE

R
 E

XT
ER

IO
R

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 E

LE
VA

TI
O

N
S

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

AuthorDesigner

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
, N

EB
R

AS
KA

  6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

1/4" = 1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION - BATTING CAGE BUILDING
1

1/4" = 1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION - BATTING CAGE BUILDING
2

1/4" = 1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION - BATTING CAGE BUILDING
3

1/4" = 1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION - BATTING CAGE BUILDING
4

KEYNOTE LEGEND

2 DEPICTS BATTING CAGE - N.I.C., TO BE FURNISHED BY OWNER.  SIZE SHOWN IS
12' x 55' LONG x 12' HIGH. FIVE TO BE PLACED IN STRUCTURE.

1 64' WIDE x 60' LONG x 16' EAVE HEIGHT PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING,
RIDGED FRAME DESIGN,  2'-0" ROOF OVERHANG ENTIRE BUILDING, 26 GAUGE
METAL WALLS, ROOF, AND TRIM.  OWNER TO CHOOSE COLORS.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 468 / 578



GROUND LEVEL
0' - 0"

1

GROUND LEVEL
0' - 0"

1

GROUND LEVEL
0' - 0"

1
3

2

GROUND LEVEL
0' - 0"

1

3

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 2

3 C
lub

 - B
att

ing
 C

ag
e C

ov
er

 an
d S

tor
ag

e B
ldg

.rv
t

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:11
:58

 P
M

A-3.60

ST
O

R
AG

E 
BU

IL
D

IN
G

 E
XT

ER
IO

R
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

S

Project Number

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

AuthorDesigner

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

Pr
oje

ct 
Nu

mb
er

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

P.
O

. B
O

X 
11

85
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF
, N

EB
R

AS
KA

  6
93

63
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND

1/4" = 1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION - STORAGE BUILDING
1

1/4" = 1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION - STORAGE BUILDING
2

1/4" = 1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION - STORAGE BUILDING
3

1/4" = 1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION - STORAGE BUILDING
4

1 25' x 25' x 12' EAVE HEIGHT PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING, 8' WHITE
INTERIOR LINER ALL WALLS, 2'-0" ROOF OVERHANG ENTIRE BUILDING, 26
GAUGEMETAL WALLS, ROOF, AND TRIM.  OWNER TO CHOOSE COLORS. MINIMUM
OF R-15.3 INSULATION PACKAGE FOR WALLS AND ROOF.

3 8'-0" WIDE x 10'-0" HIGH STEEL OVERHEAD DOOR, INSULATED.  OVERHEAD DOOR
COMPANY MODEL 432 OR SIMILAR.

2 3070 PAINTED METAL INSULATED DOOR WITH METAL BUILDING FRAME SETUP,
DOOR TO INCLUDE LEVER TYPE LOCKSET WITH  PRIVACY LOCK, KEYED DEAD
BOLT LOCK, HYDRAULIC DOOR CLOSURE, KICK PLATE, HINGES, WEATHER
STRIPPING, DOOR STOP AND ADA PROFILE SILL THRESHOLD.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 469 / 578



6

7

8

14

4

5

12

2
A-3.20

FR
P 

HE
IG

HT

8' 
- 0

"

16

14 4

11

8 9

6

7

9

5

11
10

4

2
A-3.20

15

5

8

414

16

8
11

10

14

4

2
A-3.20

FR
P 

HE
IG

HT

8' 
- 0

"

16

4

13

5

8

10

14

16

5

6

7

14

8

4 12

13

2
A-3.20

FR
P 

HE
IG

HT

8' 
- 0

"

16

1' 
- 5

"

0' 
- 1

1"

14

9
8

6

7

11

412414

10
6

7

11 3

8

FR
P 

HE
IG

HT

8' 
- 0

"

16

9

6

11

7

10

4

2
3

8

144

12

16

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/3
0/2

01
9 8

:49
:08

 A
M

A-8.00

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

'S
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 IN

TE
R

IO
R

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
S

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND
1 3070 PAINTED METAL INSULATED DOOR WITH METAL BUILDING FRAME SETUP,

DOOR TO INCLUDE PUSH/PULL HANDLES, KEYED DEAD BOLT LOCK, HYDRAULIC
DOOR CLOSURE, KICK PLATE, HINGES, WEATHER STRIPPING, DOOR STOP AND
ADA PROFILE SILL THRESHOLD.

3 A.D.A. GRAB BARS AS SHOWN ON DETAILS- A-10.00.

4 SEALED CONCRETE FLOOR ENTIRE BUILDING.

6 A.D.A. STYLE WALL MIRROR - STAINLESS STEEL

7 WALL HUNG SINK - WRAP SUPPLY PIPES AND DRAIN TUBE FOR THERMAL
PROTECTION.

8 FIBERGLASS REINFORCE PANEL (FRP) OVER GYPSUM BOARD SURFACE - COLOR
BY OWNER.

5 SOLID POLYMER TYPE TOILET PARTIION UNIT MADE OF SOLID, HIGH DENSITY
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE) PANEL MATERIAL NOT LESS THAN 1" THICK.  DOOR
MANUFACTURERS SUBJECT TO COMPLIANCE BUT NOT LIMITED TO SCRANTON
PRODUCTS, OR BRADLEY PRODUCTS.  MANUFACTURER'S STANDARD HINGES,
LATCH AND KEEPERS, COAT HOOKS SHALL BE ACCEPTABLE.  ANCHORAGES AND
FASTENERS TO BE MANUFACTURER'S STANDARD NON- CORROSION ANCHORING
ASSEMBLIES.  SAME CONSTRUCTION FOR URINAL PARTITION. COLOR CHOSEN BY
OWNER.

10 ELECTRIC HAND DRYER - EXCEL DRYER - MODEL XL-GR OR AN APPROVED EQUAL
FOR METAL PANEL ATTACHMENT, USE 3/4" PLYWOOD SUBSTRATE OVER METAL
PANEL, PAINT WHITE.

11 BABY CHANGING STATION - BRADLEY MODEL 9611 OR AN APPROVED EQUAL.
FOR METAL PANEL ATTACHMENT, USE 3/4" PLYWOOD SUBSTRATE OVER METAL
PANEL, PAINT WHITE.

2 3070 PAINTED METAL INSULATED DOOR WITH METAL BUILDING FRAME SETUP,
DOOR TO INCLUDE LEVER TYPE LOCKSET WITH  PRIVACY LOCK, KEYED DEAD
BOLT LOCK, HYDRAULIC DOOR CLOSURE, KICK PLATE, HINGES, WEATHER
STRIPPING, DOOR STOP AND ADA PROFILE SILL THRESHOLD.

12 A.D.A. APPROPRIATE HEIGHT TOILET- SEE DETAILS SHEET A-10.00.

13 URIINAL.

15 WALL ACCESS DOOR PANEL TO ACCESS DRINKING FOUNTAIN.

14 4" VINYL BASE- APPLIED TO FRP WALL SURFACES ONLY,  COLOR BY OWNER.

9 METAL BUILDING LINER PANEL WALL COVER- FULL HEIGHT - WHITE.
1/4" = 1'-0"1 WOMENS RR - SOUTH WALL ELEVATION1/4" = 1'-0"2 WOMENS RR - WEST WALL ELEVATION1/4" = 1'-0"3 WOMENS RR - NORTH WALL ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"4 WOMENS RR - EAST WALL ELEVATION1/4" = 1'-0"5 MENS RR - SOUTH WALL ELEVATION1/4" = 1'-0"6 MENS RR - EAST WALL ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"7 MENS RR - NORTH WALL ELEVATION1/4" = 1'-0"8 MENS RR - WEST WALL ELEVATIONNO SCALE9 FAMILY RR - SOUTH WALL ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"10 FAMILY RR- WEST WALL ELEVATION1/4" = 1'-0"11 FAMILY RR - EAST WALL ELEVATION

16 GYPSUM BOARD WALL SURFACE - PAINTED WHITE.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 470 / 578



3' - 6"2' - 0"

17
9

20

10
21

14

10

18

19

22

2

15

20

9

10

16

1
A-3.20

22

3' 
- 0

"

17

8

15 13

1116 64

19

18

FR
P 

LO
CA

TI
ON

8' 
- 0

"

23

2012

21

3
8

15

14

4
6

19

1

1
A-3.20

5

11

14

1' - 6" 3' - 6" 3' - 6" 3' - 6"

FR
P 

LO
CA

TI
ON

8' 
- 0

"

2' - 6"14

13 25

25

24

25

1414 10

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:09
:22

 P
M

A-8.01

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

'S
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 IN

TE
R

IO
R

EL
EV

AT
IO

N
S

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

KEYNOTE LEGEND
1 HAND SINK.

3 UPPER CABINETS.

4 SEALED CONCRETE FLOOR ENTIRE BUILDING.

20 ROLL UP SHUTTER DOOR, STAINLESS STEEL CONSTRUCTION- 6'-0" WIDE X 3'-6"
HIGH.

7 WALL HUNG SINK - WRAP SUPPLY PIPES AND DRAIN TUBE FOR THERMAL
PROTECTION.

8 SMOOTH FRP (WHITE) TO 8' HEIGHT, OVER GYPSUM WALL SURFACE ON INTERIOR
WALLS. ABOVE 8'-0", PAINTED GYPSUM BOARD WALL SURFACE- LIGHT ORANGE
PEEL SURFACE.

5 EXHAUST HOOD OVER COUNTERTOP RANGE UNIT.

10 DEPICTS POP COOLER- N.I.C.

11 DEPICTS ICE MACHINE- N.I.C., DRAIN TO OPEN FLOOR SINK.

2 3070 PAINTED METAL INSULATED DOOR WITH METAL BUILDING FRAME SETUP,
DOOR TO INCLUDE LEVER TYPE LOCKSET WITH  PRIVACY LOCK, KEYED DEAD
BOLT LOCK, HYDRAULIC DOOR CLOSURE, KICK PLATE, HINGES, WEATHER
STRIPPING, DOOR STOP AND ADA PROFILE SILL THRESHOLD.  FURNISHED BY
METAL BUILDING SUPPLIER.

13 COUNTER TOPS TO BE "CAMBRIA QUARTZ" OR AN APPROVED EQUAL.  COLOR BY
OWNER.

14 BASE CABINETS.

15 THREE COMPARTMENT STAINLESS STEEL SINK.

6 4" VINYL BASE- APPLIED TO GYPSUM BOARD WALL SURFACES ONLY,  COLOR BY
OWNER.

9 METAL BUILDING LINER PANEL WALL COVER- WHITE.

1/4" = 1'-0"1 South Wall Elevation1/4" = 1'-0"2 West Wall Elevation1/4" = 1'-0"3 North Wall Elevation

1/4" = 1'-0"4 East Wall Elevation

12 DEPICTS SLUSHY DISPENSER- N.I.C., NEEDS DRAIN ACCESS.

16 MOP SINK.

17 BUILDING STRUCTURE- ROOF LINE.

18 COUNTER TOP SUPPORT BRACKET- SPACED 2'-0" o.c..

19 CEILING MOUNTED OR HUNG LIGHT FIXTURES.

21 COUNTER TOP POPCORN MACHINE - N.I.C.

22 P.T.A.C. UNIT, ONE TO BE PLACED IN CONCESSION ROOM, AND ONE TO BE
PLACED IN OFFICE AREA.  SIZING TO BE DETERMINED BY MECHANICAL
CONTRACTOR FOR ROOM SIZE AND LOAD.

23 REFRIGERATOR - N.I.C.

24 CHEST TYPE FREEZER - N.I.C.

1/4" = 1'-0"5 Center Island Table and Merchandise Display1/4" = 1'-0"6 Center Island Merchandise Display

1/4" = 1'-0"7 Center Island Table and Showing South Wall

25 SALES DISPLAY GONDOLA.

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 471 / 578



36" (MIN)

35"-37"

60
" (

MI
N)

(0' - 1 1/2") 0' - 1 1/4" TO 0' - 1 1/2"

GRAB BAR

(MIN)

12"

12" 42" (MIN)

54" (MIN)

TOILET PAPER 
DISPENSER

15
" M

IN
.*

48
" M

AX
.*

17
" -

 19
"*

*SEE TABLE 604.9 IN THE ADA GUIDELINES 
FOR MOUNTING HEIGHTS FOR EQUIPMENT  
PRIMARILY SERVING CHILDREN AGES 3-12 

7"-9"

TRANSFER SIDE

33
" -

 36
"*

33
" -

 36
"*

AMBULATORY ACCESSIBLE STALL

17"-19"

32" MIN. CLEAR

42
" M

IN
.

60" (MIN)

56
" W

AL
L M

OU
NT

 - 5
9"

 F
LO

OR
 M

OU
NT

16"-18"

WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE STALL

42
" M

IN
.

4" MAX

4"
 M

AX
.

ALTERNATE 
DOOR LOCATION

18
"

39
" -

 41
"

39" - 41"

(MIN)
0' - 8"

(M
IN

)
0' 

- 9
"

2' 
- 3

" (
MI

N)

0' - 6" (MAX) TOE CLEARANCE

2' 
- 1

0"
 (M

AX
)

3' 
- 4

" (
MA

X)

INSULATE HOT WATER PIPES AND 
DRAIN TO PREVENT CONTACT

MIRROR

2' 
- 6

"

4' - 0"

1' - 5" (MIN)

1' - 7" (MAX)

CLEAR
FLOOR
SPACE

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TI

TL
E:

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E:

©2018

De
sig

ne
rs:

Da
te 

Pr
int

ed
:

S1
20

 P
ro

jec
t N

um
be

r:
Pr

oje
ct 

Na
me

:
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r:

COPYRIGHT 2018 - Studio 120 Architecture.  This document, and the ideas and design concepts incorporated 
herein, as an instrument of professional service, cannot be used, in whole or in part for this or any other project, 
without the written authorization of Studio 120 Architecture.

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r

De
sig

ne
r

DRAWN CHECK

PROJECT:

SHEET NUMBER

DESIGN

SU
B-

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

T:

D
AT

E 
IS

SU
ED

:
C

O
M

PL
ET

IO
N

:

E:
\O

ffic
e P

ro
jec

ts\
23

 C
lub

 B
as

eb
all

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\R
ev

it\0
02

-1
67

-1
7 C

ity
 of

 S
co

tts
blu

ff 2
3 C

lub
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts.
rvt

5/2
9/2

01
9 4

:09
:32

 P
M

A-10.00

C
O

N
C

ES
SI

O
N

'S
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
AR

C
H

IT
EC

TU
R

AL
 D

ET
AI

L 
SH

EE
T

002-167-17

JU
N

E 
3,

 2
01

9

twstws

Pr
oj

ec
t S

ta
tu

s

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

OV
EM

EN
TS

00
2-

16
7-

17

Checker

23
 C

LU
B 

BA
SE

BA
LL

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS

PO
 B

O
X 

11
85

SC
O

TT
SB

LU
FF

, N
EB

R
AS

KA
  6

93
63

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SC

O
TT

SB
LU

FF

1/2" = 1'-0"1 ADA EQUIPMENT DETAIL

1/2" = 1'-0"3 ADA SINK DETAIL

R
ev

is
io

n 
Sc

h e
du

le
N

o.
D

at
e

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 472 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Consent4

Council to acknowledge receipt of and take no action on a liability 
claim from Acerina Anaya. The claim will be withdrawn and 
forwarded to the City’s insurance carrier.

Staff Contact: City Council

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 473 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 474 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 475 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 476 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 477 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 478 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 479 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 480 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 481 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 482 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Claims1

Council to consider and take action on claims of the City.

Staff Contact: Liz Hilyard, Finance Director

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 483 / 578



5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 1 of 21

Expense Approval Report
City of Scottsbluff, NE By Vendor Name

Post Dates 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 00743 - 3M COMPANY

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

763.91DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESPAVEMENT TAPE ADHESIVE

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 763.91

Vendor 00743 - 3M COMPANY Total: 763.91

Vendor: 09702 - AC ELECTRIC MOTOR SERVICE

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

1,923.11EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 1,923.11

Vendor 09702 - AC ELECTRIC MOTOR SERVICE Total: 1,923.11

Vendor: 02583 - ADVANCE AUTO PARTS

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

8.49VEHICLE MAINTENANCEVEH MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 8.49

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

11.51EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPOLICE #21- OIL AND AIR FILT

11.68EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEWATER #33- OIL AND AIR FILT

135.91EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEFIRE #10- RADIATOR & CAP

3.07EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEWATER #38- OIL FILTER

65.38EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCETRANS #435- OIL, FUEL, AIR FI

2.66EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEADMIN CAR- OIL FILTER

6.86EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPARKS #320- OIL AND AIR FILT

3.18EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPARKS #397- OIL FILTER

43.98EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCETRANS #4044- AIR & FUEL FIL

3.04EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEADMIN CHEVY- OIL FILTER

48.08EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCETRANS #442- AIR & FUEL FILT

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 335.35

Vendor 02583 - ADVANCE AUTO PARTS Total: 343.84

Vendor: 07593 - AIRPORT DEVELOPMENT,LLC

Fund: 321 - TIF PROJECTS

5,979.09DEBT SVC(PRINC) - TIFAIRPORT REDEV. - TIF 4/30/19

9,932.66DEBT SVC (INT) - TIFAIRPORT REDEV. - TIF 4/30/19

Fund 321 - TIF PROJECTS Total: 15,911.75

Vendor 07593 - AIRPORT DEVELOPMENT,LLC Total: 15,911.75

Vendor: 09719 - ALFA LAVAL INC

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

559.41EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 559.41

Vendor 09719 - ALFA LAVAL INC Total: 559.41

Vendor: 01746 - AL'S TOWING

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

95.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTOW SERVICE-PD

85.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTOW SERVICE-PD

95.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTOW SERVICE-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 275.00

Vendor 01746 - AL'S TOWING Total: 275.00

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 484 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 2 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 04575 - AUTOZONE STORES, INC

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

9.79EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPOLICE #8- ENGINE THERMOS

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 9.79

Vendor 04575 - AUTOZONE STORES, INC Total: 9.79

Vendor: 09764 - B & D DIAMOND PRO

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

7,206.05GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 7,206.05

Vendor 09764 - B & D DIAMOND PRO Total: 7,206.05

Vendor: 00295 - B & H INVESTMENTS, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

10.75BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT-PD

10.75BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT-PD

10.75BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT-PD

10.75BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT-PD

40.50DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDep. sup.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 83.50

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

17.50DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESWATER DELIVER X 2 BOTTLES

41.50DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSALT DELIVERY AND UNIT REN

17.50DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESWATER DELIVERY X 2 BOTTLE

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 76.50

Vendor 00295 - B & H INVESTMENTS, INC Total: 160.00

Vendor: 01599 - BENZEL PEST CONTROL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

182.00BUILDING MAINTENANCETERMITE CONTROL AGREEME

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 182.00

Vendor 01599 - BENZEL PEST CONTROL Total: 182.00

Vendor: 09716 - BLACK HILLS GAS DISTRIBUTION LLC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

177.82HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

129.32HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

87.80HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

129.32HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

155.15HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

460.67HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

117.35HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,257.43

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

732.08HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 732.08

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

97.72HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 97.72

Fund: 641 - WATER

133.90HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 133.90

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

113.31HEATING FUELMonthly Energy Bill

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 113.31

Vendor 09716 - BLACK HILLS GAS DISTRIBUTION LLC Total: 2,334.44

Vendor: 00405 - BLUFFS SANITARY SUPPLY INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

167.96JANITORIAL SUPPLIESJan. sup.

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 485 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 3 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

58.95DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESTOWELS

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 226.91

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

92.94DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESBREAK ROOM SUPPLIES

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 92.94

Vendor 00405 - BLUFFS SANITARY SUPPLY INC. Total: 319.85

Vendor: 00735 - CAPITAL BUSINESS SYSTEMS INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

44.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 44.00

Vendor 00735 - CAPITAL BUSINESS SYSTEMS INC. Total: 44.00

Vendor: 00055 - CARR- TRUMBULL LUMBER CO, INC.

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

8.40DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 8.40

Vendor 00055 - CARR- TRUMBULL LUMBER CO, INC. Total: 8.40

Vendor: 07911 - CELLCO PARTNERSHIP

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

265.19CELLULAR PHONEMAY CELL PHONE

43.41DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESWIFI FOR MOBILE COMMAND

1,145.42TELEPHONECELL PHONES-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,454.02

Vendor 07911 - CELLCO PARTNERSHIP Total: 1,454.02

Vendor: 08610 - CENTURION HOLDINGS LLC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

225.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCont. srvcs.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 225.00

Vendor 08610 - CENTURION HOLDINGS LLC Total: 225.00

Vendor: 02396 - CITIBANK N.A.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

165.41DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP REC

25.98DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESLABEL MAKER TAPE

51.45DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP PARK

-53.49DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCREDIT - REMOVE SALES TAX

49.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESBROTHER TN420 BLACK

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 239.34

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

39.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESOFFICE SUPPLIES

62.27DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP - PAPER AND KEY TAGS

55.97DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP - INK CARTRIDGES

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 158.23

Fund: 661 - STORMWATER

27.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 661 - STORMWATER Total: 27.99

Vendor 02396 - CITIBANK N.A. Total: 425.56

Vendor: 05859 - CITIBANK, N.A.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

391.36BUILDING MAINTENANCESHOWER HEADS AND SHOWE

54.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESWATER COOLER BRACKET- BR

28.47DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESGROUT FOR SHOWER TILE ST

88.66FIREARMS RANGE SUPPLIESFIREARMS RANGE SUPPL-PD

-5.77GROUNDS MAINTENANCEREFUND - PARKS

-25.60BUILDING MAINTENANCEREFUND TAX FROM RECEIPT 4

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 532.11

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 486 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 4 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

6.97DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPPLIES

15.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

89.91DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 111.88

Fund: 641 - WATER

374.21DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 374.21

Vendor 05859 - CITIBANK, N.A. Total: 1,018.20

Vendor: 01976 - CLARK PRINTING LLC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

288.25DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPPL-PD

97.16DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 385.41

Vendor 01976 - CLARK PRINTING LLC Total: 385.41

Vendor: 00267 - CONTRACTORS MATERIALS INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

52.92GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

19.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDUST MASK

92.75DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESLIME

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 164.67

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

81.73DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 81.73

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

89.96DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCENTRAL GARAGE- LEATHER  

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 89.96

Vendor 00267 - CONTRACTORS MATERIALS INC. Total: 336.36

Vendor: 00406 - CRESCENT ELECT. SUPPLY COMP INC

Fund: 641 - WATER

25.31BUILDING MAINTENANCEBUILDING MAINT

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 25.31

Vendor 00406 - CRESCENT ELECT. SUPPLY COMP INC Total: 25.31

Vendor: 09767 - CROELL INC

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

682.00STREET MAINTENANCECONCRETE FOR STREET REPAI

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 682.00

Vendor 09767 - CROELL INC Total: 682.00

Vendor: 07689 - CYNTHIA GREEN

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

76.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDep. sup.

17.88DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESOFF SUPP

28.10DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESOFF SUPP

58.20DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDep. sup.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 180.18

Vendor 07689 - CYNTHIA GREEN Total: 180.18

Vendor: 03321 - DALE'S TIRE & RETREADING, INC.

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

2,417.53VEHICLE MAINTENANCETIRE REPAIRS FOR FLEET

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 2,417.53

Vendor 03321 - DALE'S TIRE & RETREADING, INC. Total: 2,417.53

Vendor: 00404 - DAS STATE ACCOUNTING-CENTRAL FINANCE

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

6.77TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

2.63TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 487 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 5 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

2.04TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

1.16TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

4.94TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

10.22TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

39.61TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

18.61TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

2.35TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

2.35TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

3.29TELEPHONELONG DISTANCE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 93.97

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

7.59TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 7.59

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

5.22TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 5.22

Fund: 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

8.31TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 8.31

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

2.90TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 2.90

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

2.45TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 2.45

Fund: 641 - WATER

1.93TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 1.93

Fund: 661 - STORMWATER

4.18TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 661 - STORMWATER Total: 4.18

Fund: 721 - GIS SERVICES

1.34TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 721 - GIS SERVICES Total: 1.34

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

1.38TELEPHONEMonthly Long Distance

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 1.38

Vendor 00404 - DAS STATE ACCOUNTING-CENTRAL FINANCE Total: 129.27

Vendor: 00573 - DEMCO, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

28.95PROGRAMMINGPrgrm.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 28.95

Vendor 00573 - DEMCO, INC Total: 28.95

Vendor: 07421 - DUANE E. WOHLERS

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

800.00DISPOSAL FEESHAULING RECYCLING TO DEN

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 800.00

Vendor 07421 - DUANE E. WOHLERS Total: 800.00

Vendor: 09345 - ELIZABETH HILYARD

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

202.51SCHOOL & CONFERENCEEXPENSE - GILMORE BELL PUB

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 202.51

Vendor 09345 - ELIZABETH HILYARD Total: 202.51

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 488 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 6 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 01003 - ELLIOTT EQUIPMENT COMPANY INC.

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

180.59EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEES STOCK- RUBBER GRIPPERS

286.35EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEES #824- CAMERA

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 466.94

Vendor 01003 - ELLIOTT EQUIPMENT COMPANY INC. Total: 466.94

Vendor: 09927 - FARMERS STATE BANK

Fund: 321 - TIF PROJECTS

3,748.34DEBT SVC (INT) - TIFELITE HEALTH REDEV - TIF 4/3

Fund 321 - TIF PROJECTS Total: 3,748.34

Vendor 09927 - FARMERS STATE BANK Total: 3,748.34

Vendor: 02460 - FASTENAL COMPANY

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

8.38DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP PARK

3.02DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESPARKS

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 11.40

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

38.58DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP - HEX LAGS

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 38.58

Vendor 02460 - FASTENAL COMPANY Total: 49.98

Vendor: 07574 - FAT BOYS TIRE AND AUTO

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

13.00EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPARKS STOCK TUBE

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 13.00

Vendor 07574 - FAT BOYS TIRE AND AUTO Total: 13.00

Vendor: 00548 - FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

20.08POSTAGEHR POSTAGE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 20.08

Vendor 00548 - FEDERAL EXPRESS CORPORATION Total: 20.08

Vendor: 00794 - FLOYD'S TRUCK CENTER SCOTTSBLUFF

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

57.44EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCETRANS #444- FILTERS

21.58EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEES #824- FILTERS

332.46EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEES #815- FILTERS

35.71EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEES #815- HOOD LATCH

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 447.19

Vendor 00794 - FLOYD'S TRUCK CENTER SCOTTSBLUFF Total: 447.19

Vendor: 09946 - FRANCHETTI MATTHEW

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

36.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 36.00

Vendor 09946 - FRANCHETTI MATTHEW Total: 36.00

Vendor: 07904 - FREMONT MOTOR SCOTTSBLUFF, LLC

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

1.78EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPARKS #320- BUSH-CLU

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 1.78

Vendor 07904 - FREMONT MOTOR SCOTTSBLUFF, LLC Total: 1.78

Vendor: 05600 - GALLS INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

91.98UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGUNIFORMS-PD

22.95UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGUNIFORMS-PD

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 489 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 7 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

63.35UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGCOLLAR BRASS FOR UNIFORM

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 178.28

Vendor 05600 - GALLS INC Total: 178.28

Vendor: 00022 - GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORPORATION

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

71.79DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP REC

0.98DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESMisc.

40.39BOOKSMisc.

75.03PROGRAMMINGMisc.

126.45PROGRAMMINGPrgrm.

79.42DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESWATER, DETERGENT, CLEANI

1.63PROGRAMMINGPrgrm.

92.24DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESMisc.

39.30PROGRAMMINGMisc.

22.60PROGRAMMINGPrgrm.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 549.83

Fund: 215 - SPECIAL PROJECTS

296.88DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCAR SEATS-PD

Fund 215 - SPECIAL PROJECTS Total: 296.88

Vendor 00022 - GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORPORATION Total: 846.71

Vendor: 00602 - GENERAL TRAFFIC CONTROLS, INC

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

3,691.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESTRAFFIC SIGNAL CONTROLLER

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 3,691.00

Vendor 00602 - GENERAL TRAFFIC CONTROLS, INC Total: 3,691.00

Vendor: 10040 - HALLEY PATRICIA

Fund: 223 - KENO

95.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTREE REBATE

Fund 223 - KENO Total: 95.00

Vendor 10040 - HALLEY PATRICIA Total: 95.00

Vendor: 04371 - HAWKINS, INC.

Fund: 641 - WATER

3,176.05CHEMICALSCHEMICALS

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 3,176.05

Vendor 04371 - HAWKINS, INC. Total: 3,176.05

Vendor: 04299 - HD SUPPLY FACILITIES MAINTENANCE LTD

Fund: 641 - WATER

1,416.52DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 1,416.52

Vendor 04299 - HD SUPPLY FACILITIES MAINTENANCE LTD Total: 1,416.52

Vendor: 09305 - HONEY WAGON EXPRESS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

180.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 180.00

Vendor 09305 - HONEY WAGON EXPRESS Total: 180.00

Vendor: 00299 - HULLINGER GLASS & LOCKS INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

789.00BUILDING MAINTENANCESHOP LOCK

40.00BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT-PD

111.75DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESFIVE SETS FIRE PANEL KEYS F

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 940.75

Vendor 00299 - HULLINGER GLASS & LOCKS INC. Total: 940.75

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 490 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 8 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 08793 - HYDRONIC WATER MANAGEMENT

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

425.00EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEquip. main.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 425.00

Vendor 08793 - HYDRONIC WATER MANAGEMENT Total: 425.00

Vendor: 06423 - HYDROTEX PARTNERS, LTD

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

1,259.78OIL & ANTIFREEZECENTRAL GARAGE- OIL

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 1,259.78

Vendor 06423 - HYDROTEX PARTNERS, LTD Total: 1,259.78

Vendor: 00525 - IDEAL LAUNDRY AND CLEANERS, INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

89.25JANITORIAL SUPPLIESJan. sup.

130.00JANITORIAL SUPPLIESJANITORIAL SUPP

50.75DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESMATS, SUPPLIES

112.64DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSHOP SUPP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 382.64

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

31.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP - MATS, TOWELS

31.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP - MATS, TOWELS

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 63.98

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

99.97DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESRUGS, MOPS, SHOP TOWELS

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 99.97

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

21.35CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL SVC

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 21.35

Fund: 641 - WATER

21.36CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL SVC

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 21.36

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

33.24DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESWAYNE & TONY COVERALLS

8.96UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGWAYNE & TONY COVERALLS

33.24DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESWAYNE & TONY COVERALLS

8.96UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGWAYNE & TONY COVERALLS

33.24DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESWAYNE & TONY COVERALLS

8.96UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGWAYNE & TONY COVERALLS

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 126.60

Vendor 00525 - IDEAL LAUNDRY AND CLEANERS, INC. Total: 715.90

Vendor: 00937 - INDEPENDENT PLUMBING AND HEATING, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

183.75BUILDING MAINTENANCEBUILD MAINT PARK

117.41DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP PARK

76.07GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

24.75GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

7.20GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

5.77GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUD MAINT PARK

146.60BUILDING MAINTENANCECLEVELAND

6.00GROUNDS MAINTENANCEMEN'S RR CAMPGROUND

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 567.55

Vendor 00937 - INDEPENDENT PLUMBING AND HEATING, INC Total: 567.55

Vendor: 09291 - INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

415.28BOOKSBks.

360.08BOOKSBks.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 775.36

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 491 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 9 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Fund: 211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY

10.52BOOKSBks.

Fund 211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY Total: 10.52

Vendor 09291 - INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES INC Total: 785.88

Vendor: 08525 - INTRALINKS, INC

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

1,221.07DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES4 - DELL OPTIPLEX 5050

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 1,221.07

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

1,570.51DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES4 - DELL OPTIPLEX 5050

159.51DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSONICWALL (WATER/WASTE

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 1,730.02

Fund: 641 - WATER

3,335.87DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES4 - DELL OPTIPLEX 5050

159.51DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSONICWALL (WATER/WASTE

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 3,495.38

Fund: 661 - STORMWATER

392.62DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES4 - DELL OPTIPLEX 5050

Fund 661 - STORMWATER Total: 392.62

Vendor 08525 - INTRALINKS, INC Total: 6,839.09

Vendor: 05696 - INVENTIVE WIRELESS OF NE, LLC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

57.95CONTRACTUAL SERVICESRIVERSIDE CAMPGROUND IN

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 57.95

Vendor 05696 - INVENTIVE WIRELESS OF NE, LLC Total: 57.95

Vendor: 00192 - J G ELLIOTT CO.INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

70.00BONDINGNOTARY BOND-PD

70.00BONDINGNOTARY BOND-PD

16.25DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESRENEWAL PREMIUM - NOTAR

48.75BONDINGRENEWAL PREMIUM - NOTAR

292.50BONDINGRENEWAL PREMIUM - NOTAR

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 497.50

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

16.25BONDINGRENEWAL PREMIUM - NOTAR

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 16.25

Vendor 00192 - J G ELLIOTT CO.INC. Total: 513.75

Vendor: 06131 - JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

17.98DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 17.98

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

139.96DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP - ROUNDUP

10.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP - POUR SPOUT

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 150.95

Vendor 06131 - JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL Total: 168.93

Vendor: 08067 - JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

71.96DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP PARK

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 71.96

Vendor 08067 - JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL Total: 71.96

Vendor: 09474 - JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

130.66EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT PARK

57.41EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT PARK

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 492 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 10 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

13.43EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT PARK

0.92EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUP MAINT PARK

160.40EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT PARK

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 362.82

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

130.93EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPARKS #397- SENSOR

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 130.93

Vendor 09474 - JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL Total: 493.75

Vendor: 10038 - JOHNSON EARL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

1,000.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,000.00

Vendor 10038 - JOHNSON EARL Total: 1,000.00

Vendor: 01556 - KING WILLIAM

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

20.95GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 20.95

Vendor 01556 - KING WILLIAM Total: 20.95

Vendor: 09371 - KIRK BERNHARDT

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

18.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE

900.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 918.00

Vendor 09371 - KIRK BERNHARDT Total: 918.00

Vendor: 09747 - KNOW HOW LLC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

29.29EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT PARK

24.52DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESHALOGEN LIGHT AND CONNE

-8.53DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESRETURN HALOGEN LIGHT

19.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSHOP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 65.27

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

91.07EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPARKS #397- HYD HOSE AND  

65.80EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCETRANS #449- HYD HOSE FITTI

271.24DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCENTRAL GARAGE- HEATER A

89.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCENTRAL GARAGE- OZZY JUIC

89.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCENTRAL GARAGE- OZZY JUIC

269.97DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCENTRAL GARAGE- OZZY JUIC

26.90EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEPOLICE #4- WIPER BLADES

18.54EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCETRASN #499- HYD HOSE FITTI

2.42DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCENTRAL GARAGE- EXTRACTO

199.90EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCETRANS #442- BATTERY

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 1,125.82

Vendor 09747 - KNOW HOW LLC Total: 1,191.09

Vendor: 03941 - LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

43.26DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 43.26

Vendor 03941 - LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC Total: 43.26

Vendor: 07838 - MAILFINANCE INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

148.76RENT-MACHINESPOSTAGE METER LEASE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 148.76

Vendor 07838 - MAILFINANCE INC Total: 148.76

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 493 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 11 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 08317 - MATHESON TRI-GAS INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

75.79DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP PARK

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 75.79

Vendor 08317 - MATHESON TRI-GAS INC Total: 75.79

Vendor: 07628 - MENARDS, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

40.20DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP PARK

110.72GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

27.68GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

18.45GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

99.99DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP REC

9.98DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP PARK

179.19DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP PARK

23.72DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESLED LIGHTS AND BOLTS FOR E

41.41DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESLIGHT AND BOTLS FOR ENGIN

27.68GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUNDS MAINT

5.59DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 584.61

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

119.94DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

31.68DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

13.97DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 165.59

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

74.91DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

11.25DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 86.16

Vendor 07628 - MENARDS, INC Total: 836.36

Vendor: 07253 - MICHAEL B KEMBEL

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

375.00BUILDING MAINTENANCEREPLACE BOTTOM PANEL OF  

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 375.00

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

337.50BUILDING MAINTENANCEREPAIR OVERHEAD DOOR ON  

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 337.50

Vendor 07253 - MICHAEL B KEMBEL Total: 712.50

Vendor: 00705 - MIDLANDS NEWSPAPERS, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

21.38LEGAL PUBLICATIONSLEGAL NOTICE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 21.38

Vendor 00705 - MIDLANDS NEWSPAPERS, INC Total: 21.38

Vendor: 07938 - MIDWEST CONNECT, LLC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

230.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPPL-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 230.00

Vendor 07938 - MIDWEST CONNECT, LLC Total: 230.00

Vendor: 00278 - MONUMENT CAR WASH INC

Fund: 641 - WATER

25.57VEHICLE MAINTENANCEVEH MAINT

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 25.57

Vendor 00278 - MONUMENT CAR WASH INC Total: 25.57

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 494 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 12 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 09109 - NE AMATEUR SOFTBALL ASSOC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

1,270.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP REC

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,270.00

Vendor 09109 - NE AMATEUR SOFTBALL ASSOC Total: 1,270.00

Vendor: 00942 - NE DEPT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

2,121.29ADMIN COSTS & FEESLOAN PAYMENTS

313,029.96DEBT SERVICE-PRINCIPALLOAN PAYMENTS

9,915.35DEBT SERVICE-INTERESTLOAN PAYMENTS

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 325,066.60

Vendor 00942 - NE DEPT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY Total: 325,066.60

Vendor: 05373 - NEBRASKA  SAFETY & FIRE EQUIPEMENT INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

105.00EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT-PD

75.00EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT-PD

56.00EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 236.00

Vendor 05373 - NEBRASKA  SAFETY & FIRE EQUIPEMENT INC. Total: 236.00

Vendor: 00578 - NEBRASKA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

181.82ELECTRIC POWERW/WW POWER

14,600.04ELECTRIC POWERW/WW POWER

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 14,781.86

Fund: 641 - WATER

4,040.98ELECTRIC POWERW/WW POWER

2,109.10ELECTRIC POWERW/WW POWER

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 6,150.08

Vendor 00578 - NEBRASKA PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT Total: 20,931.94

Vendor: 10046 - NELSON MEISSA

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

25.00PARK SHELTER FEEPARK REFUND

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 25.00

Vendor 10046 - NELSON MEISSA Total: 25.00

Vendor: 00139 - NORTHWEST PIPE FITTINGS, INC. OF SCOTTSBLUFF

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

14.90GROUNDS MAINTENANCEIRR REPAIR

11.01GROUNDS MAINTENANCEIRR REPAIR

44.02GROUNDS MAINTENANCEIRR REPAIR

16.25GROUNDS MAINTENANCEIRR REPAIR

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 86.18

Fund: 641 - WATER

94.90DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUP

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 94.90

Vendor 00139 - NORTHWEST PIPE FITTINGS, INC. OF SCOTTSBLUFF Total: 181.08

Vendor: 00285 - OREGON TRAIL PLUMBING, HEATING & COOLING INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

142.00BUILDING MAINTENANCECAMPGROUND RR

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 142.00

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

95.00BUILDING MAINTENANCECHECK A/C IN OFFICE

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 95.00

Vendor 00285 - OREGON TRAIL PLUMBING, HEATING & COOLING INC Total: 237.00

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 495 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 13 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 09876 - OWEN DEVELOPMENT, LLC

Fund: 321 - TIF PROJECTS

301.37DEBT SVC (INT) - TIFOWEN ORAL SUR REDEV. - TIF  

Fund 321 - TIF PROJECTS Total: 301.37

Vendor 09876 - OWEN DEVELOPMENT, LLC Total: 301.37

Vendor: 10047 - PAMALA RENTERIA

Fund: 213 - CEMETERY

150.00MISCELLANEOUSQUIT CLAIM DEED

Fund 213 - CEMETERY Total: 150.00

Vendor 10047 - PAMALA RENTERIA Total: 150.00

Vendor: 00487 - PANHANDLE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES INC

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

93.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL SVC

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 93.00

Fund: 641 - WATER

80.00SAMPLESSAMPLES

80.00SAMPLESSAMPLES

66.00SAMPLESSAMPLES

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 226.00

Vendor 00487 - PANHANDLE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES INC Total: 319.00

Vendor: 00017 - PANHANDLE HUMANE SOCIETY

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

5,174.59CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 5,174.59

Vendor 00017 - PANHANDLE HUMANE SOCIETY Total: 5,174.59

Vendor: 09087 - PAUL MENDOZA

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

36.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 36.00

Vendor 09087 - PAUL MENDOZA Total: 36.00

Vendor: 01276 - PLATTE VALLEY BANK

Fund: 321 - TIF PROJECTS

30,431.12DEBT SVC(PRINC) - TIFFAIRFIELD INN REDEV - TIF 4/

29,872.39DEBT SVC (INT) - TIFFAIRFIELD INN REDEV - TIF 4/

Fund 321 - TIF PROJECTS Total: 60,303.51

Vendor 01276 - PLATTE VALLEY BANK Total: 60,303.51

Vendor: 10045 - QA BALANCE SERVICES INC

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

105.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL SVC

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 105.00

Vendor 10045 - QA BALANCE SERVICES INC Total: 105.00

Vendor: 00266 - QUILL CORPORATION

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

139.96DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDEPT SUPP

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 139.96

Vendor 00266 - QUILL CORPORATION Total: 139.96

Vendor: 04089 - REGIONAL CARE INC

Fund: 812 - HEALTH INSURANCE

32,721.26PREMIUM EXPENSEHEALTH INS. PREMIUM - JUN

Fund 812 - HEALTH INSURANCE Total: 32,721.26

Vendor 04089 - REGIONAL CARE INC Total: 32,721.26

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 496 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 14 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 04257 - RIGHT BRAIN UNLIMITED

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

569.02GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 569.02

Vendor 04257 - RIGHT BRAIN UNLIMITED Total: 569.02

Vendor: 09564 - ROCKSTEP SCOTTSBLUFF LLC

Fund: 321 - TIF PROJECTS

7,504.44DEBT SVC (INT) - TIFMONUMENT MALL REDEV - TI

Fund 321 - TIF PROJECTS Total: 7,504.44

Vendor 09564 - ROCKSTEP SCOTTSBLUFF LLC Total: 7,504.44

Vendor: 09973 - ROD CLAUSE

Fund: 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

227.40ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTLB840 GRANT

Fund 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 227.40

Vendor 09973 - ROD CLAUSE Total: 227.40

Vendor: 10041 - RODRIGUEZ JOSE R

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

185.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTOW SERVICE-PD

150.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTOW SERVICE-PD

120.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTOW SERVICE-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 455.00

Vendor 10041 - RODRIGUEZ JOSE R Total: 455.00

Vendor: 02324 - RON'S TOWING

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

175.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESTOW SERVICE-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 175.00

Vendor 02324 - RON'S TOWING Total: 175.00

Vendor: 00366 - ROOSEVELT PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT

Fund: 641 - WATER

1,907.57ELECTRIC POWERELECTRIC POWER

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 1,907.57

Vendor 00366 - ROOSEVELT PUBLIC POWER DISTRICT Total: 1,907.57

Vendor: 09997 - RURAL HEALTH DEVELOPMENT, INC.

Fund: 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

6,383.33ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTLB 840 GRANT

Fund 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 6,383.33

Vendor 09997 - RURAL HEALTH DEVELOPMENT, INC. Total: 6,383.33

Vendor: 00257 - SANDBERG IMPLEMENT, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

22.60EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT PARK

38.56EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEUNIT U3

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 61.16

Vendor 00257 - SANDBERG IMPLEMENT, INC Total: 61.16

Vendor: 00286 - SCB CO WEED CONTROL

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

710.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESSPRAY DESIGNATED WEED AR

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 710.00

Vendor 00286 - SCB CO WEED CONTROL Total: 710.00

Vendor: 06112 - SCHANK HOLDINGS INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

334.43BUILDING MAINTENANCEBldg. main.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 334.43

Vendor 06112 - SCHANK HOLDINGS INC Total: 334.43

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 497 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 15 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 10042 - SCOTT AARON

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

36.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE FEES

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 36.00

Vendor 10042 - SCOTT AARON Total: 36.00

Vendor: 00852 - SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY COURT

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

207.00LEGAL FEESLEGAL FEES-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 207.00

Vendor 00852 - SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY COURT Total: 207.00

Vendor: 00111 - SCOTTSBLUFF BODY & PAINT

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

79.13VEHICLE MAINTENANCEVEH MAINT-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 79.13

Vendor 00111 - SCOTTSBLUFF BODY & PAINT Total: 79.13

Vendor: 00108 - SCOTTSBLUFF WINSUPPLY COMPANY  

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

863.05GROUNDS MAINTENANCEIRR REPAIR

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 863.05

Vendor 00108 - SCOTTSBLUFF WINSUPPLY COMPANY  Total: 863.05

Vendor: 00786 - SHERWIN WILLIAMS  

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

24,896.00STREET REPAIR SUPPLIESYELLOW, WHITE, RED & BLUE  

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 24,896.00

Vendor 00786 - SHERWIN WILLIAMS  Total: 24,896.00

Vendor: 01031 - SIMON CONTRACTORS

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

981.00GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 981.00

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

218.54STREET REPAIR SUPPLIESRECYCLED BASE GRAVEL

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 218.54

Vendor 01031 - SIMON CONTRACTORS Total: 1,199.54

Vendor: 00513 - SNELL SERVICES INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

1,108.59BUILDING MAINTENANCEBLDG MAINT PARK

160.23BUILDING MAINTENANCE23 CLUB ICE MACHINE OUTLE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 1,268.82

Vendor 00513 - SNELL SERVICES INC. Total: 1,268.82

Vendor: 09617 - SOUCIE ANDREW

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

295.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 295.00

Vendor 09617 - SOUCIE ANDREW Total: 295.00

Vendor: 09663 - SOUNDSLEEPER SECURITY INC.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

14.95CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 14.95

Vendor 09663 - SOUNDSLEEPER SECURITY INC. Total: 14.95

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 498 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 16 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 00054 - STATE HEALTH LAB

Fund: 641 - WATER

393.00SAMPLESSAMPLES

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 393.00

Vendor 00054 - STATE HEALTH LAB Total: 393.00

Vendor: 01235 - STATE OF NE.

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

105.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL-PD

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 105.00

Vendor 01235 - STATE OF NE. Total: 105.00

Vendor: 00325 - TEXAS PNEUDRAULIC INC

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

137.99EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEES #815- REAR DOOR CYLINDE

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 137.99

Vendor 00325 - TEXAS PNEUDRAULIC INC Total: 137.99

Vendor: 07537 - TRANS IOWA EQUIPMENT LLC

Fund: 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE

200.67EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCETRANS- ADJUSTING ROD & N

Fund 725 - CENTRAL GARAGE Total: 200.67

Vendor 07537 - TRANS IOWA EQUIPMENT LLC Total: 200.67

Vendor: 00568 - TWIN CITY AUTO, INC

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

10,000.00COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENTEAST OVERLAND GRANT #2

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 10,000.00

Vendor 00568 - TWIN CITY AUTO, INC Total: 10,000.00

Vendor: 08821 - TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC

Fund: 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

116.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUB ONLINE

Fund 621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES Total: 116.00

Fund: 631 - WASTEWATER

116.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUB ONLINE

Fund 631 - WASTEWATER Total: 116.00

Fund: 641 - WATER

116.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUB ONLINE

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 116.00

Vendor 08821 - TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC Total: 348.00

Vendor: 08828 - US BANK

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

45.00SUBSCRIPTIONSSbscrp. rnwl

266.56SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

19.97SUBSCRIPTIONSSbscrp.

175.00MEMBERSHIPSRENEW CPA PERMIT - E.HILYA

99.99MEMBERSHIPSEMT PREPARATION SUBSCRIP

357.10SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

10.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

10.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

525.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

8.21BUSINESS TRAVELBus. trvl.

190.46EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT-PD

37.43EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT-PD

100.04UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGUNIFORM DUTY HATS

190.46EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCEEQUIP MAINT-PD

49.98DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESCAKE FOR LIEUTENANT PROM

115.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCEIIMC CMC CERTIFICATION FEE

127.30SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

36.17GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 499 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 17 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

22.98GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

14.69GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

14.68GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

22.24GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

22.24GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

557.06UNIFORMS & CLOTHINGSTAFF SWIMSUITS

30.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDIGITAL ARTWORK OF NEW D

2,981.51BUILDING MAINTENANCEWESTMOOR POOL FILTERS

327.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

40.78GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

40.78GASOLINEGASOLINE-PD

327.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCESCHOOLS & CONF-PD

508.50DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESLIFEGUARD SUPPLIES

35.00DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESTVALUE DESKTOP MAINTENA

534.25DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESLIFEGUARD SUPPLIES

10.00PROGRAMMINGPrgrm.

117.49DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESDep. sup.

10.00PROGRAMMINGPrgrm.

7.70POSTAGEPOSTAGE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 7,987.57

Fund: 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

-58.60SCHOOL & CONFERENCEREFUND - AIRFARE SL

373.34DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPPLIES

150.00MEMBERSHIPSNE ECON DEV. ASSN. ANNUAL  

43.37SCHOOL & CONFERENCESTARR - FUEL

75.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCENE.GOV EVENT REGISTRATIO

Fund 224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Total: 583.11

Fund: 661 - STORMWATER

4.99CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCONTRACTUAL SVC

Fund 661 - STORMWATER Total: 4.99

Vendor 08828 - US BANK Total: 8,575.67

Vendor: 00110 - VOGEL WEST, INC

Fund: 212 - TRANSPORTATION

25.89DEPARTMENT SUPPLIESSUPP - PAINT REMOVER

Fund 212 - TRANSPORTATION Total: 25.89

Vendor 00110 - VOGEL WEST, INC Total: 25.89

Vendor: 06089 - WESTERN COOPERATIVE COMPANY

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

676.03GROUNDS MAINTENANCEGROUND MAINT PARK

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 676.03

Vendor 06089 - WESTERN COOPERATIVE COMPANY Total: 676.03

Vendor: 01168 - WESTERN LIBRARY SYSTEM

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

27.50CONTRACTUAL SERVICESCont. srvcs.

15.00SCHOOL & CONFERENCEConf.

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 42.50

Vendor 01168 - WESTERN LIBRARY SYSTEM Total: 42.50

Vendor: 09672 - WESTERN STATES BANK

Fund: 321 - TIF PROJECTS

11,750.26DEBT SVC(PRINC) - TIFREGANIS REDEV - TIF  4/30/19

16,622.71DEBT SVC (INT) - TIFREGANIS REDEV - TIF  4/30/19

Fund 321 - TIF PROJECTS Total: 28,372.97

Vendor 09672 - WESTERN STATES BANK Total: 28,372.97

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 500 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 18 of 21

Amount(None)(None)Account NameDescription (Payable) (None)

Vendor: 10039 - WILSON ZACHARIAH

Fund: 111 - GENERAL

54.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESUMPIRE

Fund 111 - GENERAL Total: 54.00

Vendor 10039 - WILSON ZACHARIAH Total: 54.00

Vendor: 09750 - WYOMING WATER DEVELOPMENT OFF

Fund: 641 - WATER

945.00CONTRACTUAL SERVICESPAWS FEASIBILITY STUDY

Fund 641 - WATER Total: 945.00

Vendor 09750 - WYOMING WATER DEVELOPMENT OFF Total: 945.00

Grand Total: 615,044.54

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 501 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 19 of 21

Report Summary

Fund Summary
Fund Expense Amount

111 - GENERAL 52,653.56

211 - REGIONAL LIBRARY 10.52

212 - TRANSPORTATION 32,571.25

213 - CEMETERY 1,751.74

215 - SPECIAL PROJECTS 296.88

223 - KENO 95.00

224 - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 7,202.15

321 - TIF PROJECTS 116,142.38

621 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 3,703.56

631 - WASTEWATER 344,501.85

641 - WATER 18,502.78

661 - STORMWATER 429.78

721 - GIS SERVICES 1.34

725 - CENTRAL GARAGE 4,460.49

812 - HEALTH INSURANCE 32,721.26

Grand Total: 615,044.54

Account Summary
Account Number Account Name Expense Amount

111-42206-171 PARK SHELTER FEE 25.00

111-52111-111 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 330.64

111-52111-121 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 97.16

111-52111-141 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 458.21

111-52111-142 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 518.25

111-52111-143 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 43.41

111-52111-151 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 401.66

111-52111-171 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 868.59

111-52111-172 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 2,649.94

111-52121-151 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 257.21

111-52121-171 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 130.00

111-52161-142 FIREARMS RANGE SUPPL 88.66

111-52181-141 UNIFORMS & CLOTHING 163.39

111-52181-142 UNIFORMS & CLOTHING 114.93

111-52181-172 UNIFORMS & CLOTHING 557.06

111-52222-151 BOOKS 815.75

111-52223-151 PROGRAMMING 313.96

111-52225-151 SUBSCRIPTIONS 64.97

111-52311-111 MEMBERSHIPS 175.00

111-52311-141 MEMBERSHIPS 99.99

111-52411-112 POSTAGE 20.08

111-52411-143 POSTAGE 7.70

111-52511-141 GASOLINE 77.71

111-52511-142 GASOLINE 157.80

111-53111-142 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 6,243.54

111-53111-151 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 252.50

111-53111-171 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 1,237.95

111-53111-172 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 1,080.00

111-53161-143 LEGAL PUBLICATIONS 21.38

111-53211-142 LEGAL FEES 207.00

111-53421-141 BUILDING MAINTENANC 762.26

111-53421-142 BUILDING MAINTENANC 61.50

111-53421-151 BUILDING MAINTENANC 334.43

111-53421-171 BUILDING MAINTENANC 2,530.17

111-53421-172 BUILDING MAINTENANC 3,163.51

111-53441-142 EQUIPMENT MAINTENA 654.35

111-53441-151 EQUIPMENT MAINTENA 425.00

111-53441-171 EQUIPMENT MAINTENA 453.27

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 502 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 20 of 21

Account Summary
Account Number Account Name Expense Amount

111-53451-142 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 79.13

111-53471-171 GROUNDS MAINTENAN 10,732.80

111-53521-111 HEATING FUEL 177.82

111-53521-141 HEATING FUEL 129.32

111-53521-142 HEATING FUEL 217.12

111-53521-151 HEATING FUEL 155.15

111-53521-171 HEATING FUEL 460.67

111-53521-172 HEATING FUEL 117.35

111-53561-111 TELEPHONE 6.77

111-53561-112 TELEPHONE 2.63

111-53561-114 TELEPHONE 2.04

111-53561-115 TELEPHONE 1.16

111-53561-121 TELEPHONE 4.94

111-53561-141 TELEPHONE 10.22

111-53561-142 TELEPHONE 1,185.03

111-53561-143 TELEPHONE 3.29

111-53561-151 TELEPHONE 18.61

111-53561-171 TELEPHONE 2.35

111-53561-172 TELEPHONE 2.35

111-53571-141 CELLULAR PHONE 265.19

111-53631-111 RENT-MACHINES 148.76

111-53711-111 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 317.51

111-53711-141 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 327.00

111-53711-142 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 1,917.96

111-53711-151 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 15.00

111-53721-151 BUSINESS TRAVEL 8.21

111-53751-114 COMMUNITY DEVELOP 10,000.00

111-53811-111 BONDING 48.75

111-53811-142 BONDING 432.50

211-52222-151 BOOKS 10.52

212-52111-212 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 4,892.54

212-52171-212 STREET REPAIR SUPPLIE 25,114.54

212-53111-212 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 710.00

212-53421-212 BUILDING MAINTENANC 432.50

212-53491-212 STREET MAINTENANCE 682.00

212-53521-212 HEATING FUEL 732.08

212-53561-212 TELEPHONE 7.59

213-52111-213 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 1,580.27

213-52999-213 MISCELLANEOUS 150.00

213-53561-213 TELEPHONE 5.22

213-53811-213 BONDING 16.25

215-52111-142 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 296.88

223-53111-113 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 95.00

224-52111-113 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 373.34

224-52311-114 MEMBERSHIPS 150.00

224-53561-113 TELEPHONE 8.31

224-53711-113 SCHOOL & CONFERENCE 59.77

224-59111-114 ECONOMIC DEVELOPME 6,610.73

321-57221-111 DEBT SVC(PRINC) - TIF 48,160.47

321-57222-111 DEBT SVC (INT) - TIF 67,981.91

621-52111-621 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 269.41

621-53111-621 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 116.00

621-53193-621 DISPOSAL FEES 800.00

621-53451-621 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 2,417.53

621-53521-621 HEATING FUEL 97.72

621-53561-621 TELEPHONE 2.90

631-52111-631 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 1,824.58

631-53111-631 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 335.35

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 503 / 578



Expense Approval Report Post Dates: 05/21/2019 - 06/03/2019

5/31/2019 10:27:26 AM Page 21 of 21

Account Summary
Account Number Account Name Expense Amount

631-53195-631 ADMIN COSTS & FEES 2,121.29

631-53441-631 EQUIPMENT MAINTENA 2,482.52

631-53451-631 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 8.49

631-53531-631 ELECTRIC POWER 14,781.86

631-53561-631 TELEPHONE 2.45

631-57110-631 DEBT SERVICE-PRINCIPA 313,029.96

631-57115-631 DEBT SERVICE-INTEREST 9,915.35

641-52111-641 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 5,381.01

641-52117-641 SAMPLES 619.00

641-52611-641 CHEMICALS 3,176.05

641-53111-641 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 1,082.36

641-53421-641 BUILDING MAINTENANC 25.31

641-53451-641 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 25.57

641-53521-641 HEATING FUEL 133.90

641-53531-641 ELECTRIC POWER 8,057.65

641-53561-641 TELEPHONE 1.93

661-52111-661 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 420.61

661-53111-661 CONTRACTUAL SERVICE 4.99

661-53561-661 TELEPHONE 4.18

721-53561-721 TELEPHONE 1.34

725-52111-725 DEPARTMENT SUPPLIES 913.29

725-52181-725 UNIFORMS & CLOTHING 26.88

725-52531-725 OIL & ANTIFREEZE 1,259.78

725-53441-725 EQUIPMENT MAINTENA 2,145.85

725-53521-725 HEATING FUEL 113.31

725-53561-725 TELEPHONE 1.38

812-53861-112 PREMIUM EXPENSE 32,721.26

Grand Total: 615,044.54

Project Account Summary
Project Account Key Expense Amount

**None** 498,080.50

2122852111 296.88

2123153111 95.00

3121657221 5,979.09

3121657222 9,932.66

3121757221 11,750.26

3121757222 16,622.71

3121857221 30,431.12

3121857222 29,872.39

3121957222 7,504.44

3122057222 3,748.34

3122157222 301.37

6002052111 420.61

6002053111 4.99

6002053561 4.18

Grand Total: 615,044.54

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 504 / 578



Account # Status Contact Service Address Refund Amount

065-6704-02 Inactive NATHAN R LUEHRS 416 VALLEY VIEW DR 4 SCOTTSBLUFF NE 69361 995.53

035-3909-05 Inactive CHELSY B SANCHEZ 1313 AVE G SCOTTSBLUFF NE 69361 16.66

065-6703-01 Active DR FOOTE 416 VALLEY VIEW DR 3 SCOTTSBLUFF NE 69361 2374.88

3 $3,387.07

Total

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 505 / 578

ehilyard
Typewritten Text
Utility Refunds - 06/03/2019



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item SBYC1

(Informational only):

Staff Contact: 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 506 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Public Inp1

Council to receive a presentation on City of Scottsbluff NPPD 
Retail.

Staff Contact: Terry Rajewich, NPPD

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 507 / 578



City of Scottsbluff

NPPD Retail Briefing

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 508 / 578



2

NPPD Overview

RELIABILITY  /  RATES  /  RELATIONSHIPS 

➢ Partnership and Reliability

➢ Our Vision:  Dedicated to enhancing the quality of life for Nebraskans now, and in the 

future.

➢ Our Mission: Safely generate and deliver reliable, low cost, sustainable energy and 

related services, while providing outstanding customer service.

➢ We are involved as stakeholders; We care about your Community’s success

➢ Rate Stability

➢ 2019 will be our sixth year with no overall rate increase

➢ Sustainability and Technology

➢ We are involved in helping customers be successful through sustainability and self 

service programs

➢ Community Development

➢ We are involved in helping communities grow through economic development  and 

other types of support

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 509 / 578



3

NPPD Retail Community Service

• Retail Service to over 91,500 customers in 79 communities

• NPPD operates your municipal electric system under a 25 year 
Professional Retail Operating (lease) agreement 

• NPPD takes care of all maintenance and capital additions to the 
system, billing and collections at no additional cost to the 
communities/customers we serve

• Rates are set by a publicly elected Board of Directors

• NPPD takes all customer calls for outages, billing questions, etc.

• NPPD addresses daily needs as well as outage restorations with our 
statewide resources

RELIABILITY  /  RATES  /  RELATIONSHIPS 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 510 / 578



Community Partnership

➢ What does NPPD do for you financially:

✓ 2019 is our sixth year with no overall rate increase – we’re 

working hard to continue this trend 

✓ Retail has made great strides to improve efficiencies in 

distribution costs which contributes to rate stability

✓ Continued stability requires significant investments in 

technology, facilities, and equipment

RELIABILITY  /  RATES  /  RELATIONSHIPS 4

2018 Lease Payment $2,578,446

2018 Municipal Discount Value $189,504

2018 Gross Revenue Tax $920,178

2018 City Sales Tax $221,899

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 511 / 578



NPPD Retail 

2019 Initiatives

5

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 512 / 578



Green = Phase I   Yellow = Phase II

Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI)

Scottsbluff

Kearney

Norfolk

York

6

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 513 / 578



7

Investing In Renewables For You!

http://www.nppd.com/innovation/solar/community-solar/

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 514 / 578



LED Conversion Status

8

Total M1 Streetlights 19,545

Total M1 Installed 6,816

Total M1 Remaining 12,729

*As of March 2019

65%

35%

Total M1 Installed

Total M1 Remaining

Total M1 Installed

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 515 / 578



Web Portal Home 

Screen options and layout are configurable

Spanish or English

Multi-Account View

9

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 516 / 578



10

Strengthen Our Partnership With You!

• As we’ve discussed, NPPD is making long term investments 

in technology, equipment, facilities and workforce to 

continue serving our customers at a high level.

• We focus day in and day out on building quality relationships 

with you, ensuring reliability, and maintaining rate stability 

you can count on.

• Public Power remains strong in Nebraska and NPPD looks 

forward to setting new goals and rate targets that will help 

NPPD continue our rate stability for many years to come.

• Thank you for your long term commitment with us!

RELIABILITY  /  RATES  /  RELATIONSHIPS 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 517 / 578



QUESTIONS?

11

Terry Rajewich

Retail Account Manager 

Office: 308-630-5418

Cell: 308-641-0621

tkrajew@nppd.com

RELIABILITY  /  RATES  /  RELATIONSHIPS 

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 518 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Public Inp2

Council to receive a presentation on Scotts Bluff County Trends 
Study.

Staff Contact: Terry Rajewich, NPPD

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 519 / 578



Economic & Demographic Trends

Scottsbluff, Scotts Bluff County, 

and the Surrounding Area

Presented by: 

Nebraska Public Power District
(877) 275-6773

econdev@nppd.com

sites.nppd.com

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 520 / 578

mailto:econdev@nppd.com


Study Area

Sioux

Scotts Bluff

Banner

Box Butte

Morrill

Scottsbluff

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 521 / 578



PROF. & BUS.

SERV.

19.6%

1.6%

5.5%

Manufacturing

5.8%

22.2%

1.8%

4.2%

Professional and

Business 

Services

8.6%

17.7%

10.0%

2.8%

Nonfarm Wage & Salary Employment by Major 

Economic Sector, Scotts Bluff County, 2017

Government

Natural Resources and Mining

Construction

Manufacturing

Trade, Transportation, and Utilities

Information

Financial Activities

Professional and Business Services

Education and Health Services

Leisure and Hospitality

Other Services

14.8% 0.3%

5.6%

6.8%

18.8%

2.4%

8.4%

Professional 

and Business 

Services

14.8%

15.2%

10.3%

2.6%

Metro Area W&S Employment, 2017

19.5%

3.7%

4.7%

Manufacturing

15.4%

21.0%

1.0%

4.3%

7.6%

12.3%

7.9%

2.5%

Non-Metro Area W&S Employment, 2017

Source: U.S. Dept. of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 522 / 578



Labor Force & Employment

95

100

105

110

Nonfarm (W&S) Employment, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska,

Metro, and Non-Metro Nebraska,  2008–2017

(Index, 2008=100)

Metro Area

Nebraska

Non-Metro

Scotts Bluff

County

+6.8%

+5.4%

+3.2%

-2.6%

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment & Wages (QCEW), Released June 2018

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 523 / 578



80

90

100

110

120

Manufacturing (W&S) Employment, Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska,

Metro, and Non-Metro Nebraska,  2008–2017

(Index, 2008=100)

Non-Metro

Nebraska

Metro Area

Scotts Bluff County

-1.9%

-3.3%
-5.1%

-15.4%

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment & Wages (QCEW), Released June 2018

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 524 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 525 / 578



Resident & Work Flow Patterns

Work Destination = where residents in a selected area 

are working (commute to work)

Home Destination = where workers in a selected area 

live (labor shed)

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 526 / 578



Work Destination Report
Where Scottsbluff Residents Work

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 527 / 578



Home Destination Report
Where People Who Work in Scottsbluff Live

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 528 / 578



Inflow/Outflow Report –Scottsbluff in Scotts Bluff County, Nebraska

Selection Area Labor Market Size (Primary Jobs)

Count Share Count Share Count Share

Employed in the Selection Area 10,051 100.0% 10,369 100.0% 10,312 100.0%

Living in the Selection Area 6,408 63.8% 6,463 62.3% 6,377 61.8%

Net Job Inflow (+) or Outflow (-) 3,643 - 3,906 - 3,935 -

In-Area Labor Force Efficiency (Primary Jobs)

Count Share Count Share Count Share

Living in the Selection Area 6,408 100.0% 6,463 100.0% 6,377 100.0%

Living and Employed in the Selection Area 3,658 57.1% 3,506 54.2% 3,558 55.8%

Living in the Selection Area but Employed Outside 2,750 42.9% 2,957 45.8% 2,819 44.2%

In-Area Employment Efficiency (Primary Jobs)

Count Share Count Share Count Share

Employed in the Selection Area 10,051 100.0% 10,369 100.0% 10,312 100.0%

Employed and Living in the Selection Area 3,658 36.4% 3,506 33.8% 3,558 34.5%

Employed in the Selection Area but Living Outside 6,393 63.6% 6,863 66.2% 6,754 65.5%

Inflow/Outflow Report

2015 2014 2013

2015 2014 2013

2015 2014 2013

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 529 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 530 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 531 / 578



Total Male Female

United States 37.7 36.3 39.0

Nebraska 36.2 35.1 37.5

Scotts Bluff County 39.6 38.3 40.7

Gering 36.5 33.5 39.3

Henry 50.7 50.8 50.5

Lyman 35.3 31.5 37.8

McGrew 48.4 50.2 44.4

Melbeta 33.7 29.4 39.3

Minatare 34.6 36.5 32.9

Mitchell 40.1 35.6 46.4

Morrill 35.8 35.7 36.0

Scottsbluff 36.0 35.3 37.6

Terrytown 31.2 32.0 30.9

Banner County 47.9 49.5 44.7

Box Butte County 40.5 37.2 44.3

Morrill County 41.6 42.0 40.9

Sioux County 47.4 51.2 43.5

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American Community Survey, March 2018

Scotts Bluff County & the Surrounding Area

Median Age

Five-Year Estimate, 2012–2016
Median Age by Location and Gender,

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 532 / 578



Retail Sales

2017 2017 Retail 2017 2017

Population Sales (x $1,000) Per Cap Sales ($) Pull Factor

Nebraska 1,920,076 23,755,032 12,372 1.00

Non-Metro Nebraska 862,659 8,675,366 10,057 0.81

Scotts Bluff County 36,363 455,691 12,532 1.01

Banner County 742 138 186 0.02

Box Butte County 10,886 90,876 8,348 0.67

Morrill County 4,836 27,854 5,760 0.47

Sioux County 1,203 3,823 3,178 0.26
Source: U.S. Census Bureau and Nebraska Department of Revenue, May 2018

2017 Retail Sales (Non-Motor Vehicle) Pull Factors,

Nebraska, Scotts Bluff County & Surrounding Counties

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 533 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 534 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 535 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 536 / 578



Thank You!

Nebraska Public Power District
(877) 275-6773

econdev@nppd.com

sites.nppd.com

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 537 / 578

mailto:econdev@nppd.com


City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Public Inp3

Council to consider and take action on a Community Festival 
Permit from the Scottsbluff Firefighter’s Local 1454 for a Circus 
on June 8th and 9th at Panhandle Coop; 900 Block of Broadway, 
Scottsbluff.

Staff Contact: Parrish Abel

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 538 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 539 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 540 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 541 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 542 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 543 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 544 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 545 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 546 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Public Inp4

Council to consider and take action on a Business Promotional 
Event Permit for Riverside Zoological Foundation dba Riverside 
Discovery Center at 1600 So. Beltline Hwy, for a Chimps & Cheese 
fundraiser event to include a special designated liquor license on 
June 28, 2019 from 5:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.

Staff Contact: Kim Wright, City Clerk

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 547 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 548 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 549 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 550 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 551 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 552 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 553 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 554 / 578



City of Scottsbluff, Nebraska
Monday, June 3, 2019

Regular Meeting

Item Reports1

Council to receive an update, discuss, and consider action on the 
Riverside Discovery Center Contract.

Staff Contact: Nathan Johnson, City Manager

Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 555 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 556 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 557 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 558 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 559 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 560 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 561 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 562 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 563 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 564 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 565 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 566 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 567 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 568 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 569 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 570 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 571 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 572 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 573 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 574 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 575 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 576 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 577 / 578



Scottsbluff Regular Meeting - 6/3/2019 Page 578 / 578


